

Racial health disparity in cancer: Assessments of need

Edited by

Jennie L. Williams, Jennifer Freedman, Patricia Thompson, Folakemi Odedina and Camille Ragin

Published in Frontiers in Oncology Frontiers in Public Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2926-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2926-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Racial health disparity in cancer: Assessments of need

Topic editors

Jennie L. Williams – Stony Brook University, United States Jennifer Freedman – Duke University, United States Patricia Thompson – Cedars Sinai Medical Center, United States Folakemi Odedina – Mayo Clinic Florida, United States Camille Ragin – Fox Chase Cancer Center, United States

Citation

Williams, J. L., Freedman, J., Thompson, P., Odedina, F., Ragin, C., eds. (2023). *Racial health disparity in cancer: Assessments of need*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2926-3



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Racial health disparity in cancer: assessments of need

Jennie L. Williams, Jennifer A. Freedman, Camille Ragin, Folakemi T. Odedina and Patricia Thompson

- 07 Variation in Cancer Incidence Rates Among Non-Hispanic Black Individuals Disaggregated by Nativity and Birthplace, 2005-2017: A Population-Based Cancer Registry Analysis Adana A. M. Llanos, Jie Li, Jennifer Tsui, Joseph Gibbons, Karen Pawlish, Fechi Nwodili, Shannon Lynch, Camille Ragin and Antoinette M. Stroup on behalf of African-Caribbean Cancer Consortium (AC3)
- 18 Assessing Real-World Racial Differences Among Patients With Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer in US Community Practices

Ruoding Tan, Lourenia Cassoli, Ying Yan, Vincent Shen, Bann-mo Day and Edith P. Mitchell

28 Racial Disparities in Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy: Does Aggressive Surgical Treatment Overcome Cancer Health Inequities?

Devon C. Freudenberger, Xiaoyan Deng, Vignesh Vudatha, Andrea N. Riner, Kelly M. Herremans, Dipankar Bandyopadhyay, Leopoldo J. Fernandez and Jose G. Trevino

35 Addressing Health Disparities Across the Cancer Continuum—a Los Angeles Approach to Achieving Equity Laurel J. Finster, Celina H. Shirazipour, Loraine A. Escobedo,

Myles Cockburn, Zul Surani and Robert W. Haile

44 A Cancer Health Needs Assessment Reveals Important Differences Between US-Born and Foreign-Born Latinos in California

> Juanita Elizabeth Quino, Fabian Perez, Angelica Perez, April Pangia Vang, Leonie Avendano, Julie Dang, Moon S. Chen Jr, Alexa Morales Arana, Sienna Rocha, Miriam Nuno, Primo N. Lara Jr, Laura Fejerman and Luis G. Carvajal-Carmona

- 53 Changes in Cancer Mortality by Race and Ethnicity Following the Implementation of the Affordable Care Act in California Maria Elena Martinez, Scarlett L. Gomez, Alison J. Canchola, Debora L. Oh, James D. Murphy, Winta Mehtsun, K. Robin Yabroff and Matthew P. Banegas
- 63 Commencing colorectal cancer screening at age 45 years in U.S. racial groups

John M. Carethers

71 Molecular and pathological subtypes related to prostate cancer disparities and disease outcomes in African American and European American patients

> Joakin O. Mori, Jason White, Isra Elhussin, Babatunde M. Duduyemi, Balasubramanyam Karanam, Clayton Yates and Honghe Wang

85 Racial disparities in liver cancer: Evidence for a role of environmental contaminants and the epigenome Adriana C. Vidal, Cynthia A. Moylan, Julius Wilder, Delores J. Grant,

Adriana C. Vidal, Cynthia A. Moylan, Julius Wilder, Delores J. Grant, Susan K. Murphy and Cathrine Hoyo

94 Cancer screening and breast cancer family history in Spanish-speaking Hispanic/Latina women in California

Lizeth I. Tamayo, Fabian Perez, Angelica Perez, Miriam Hernandez, Alejandra Martinez, Xiaosong Huang, Valentina A. Zavala, Elad Ziv, Susan L. Neuhausen, Luis G. Carvajal-Carmona, Ysabel Duron and Laura Fejerman

110 Breast cancer subtype and clinical characteristics in women from Peru

Valentina A. Zavala, Sandro Casavilca-Zambrano, Jeannie Navarro-Vásquez, Lizeth I. Tamayo, Carlos A. Castañeda, Guillermo Valencia, Zaida Morante, Mónica Calderón, Julio E. Abugattas, Henry L. Gómez, Hugo A. Fuentes, Ruddy Liendo-Picoaga, Jose M. Cotrina, Silvia P. Neciosup, Katia Roque, Jule Vásquez, Luis Mas, Marco Gálvez-Nino, Laura Fejerman and Tatiana Vidaurre

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Paolo Boffetta, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Jennie L. Williams i jennie.williams@ stonybrookmedicine.edu Patricia Thompson Patricia.Thompson@cshs.org

RECEIVED 22 May 2023 ACCEPTED 01 June 2023 PUBLISHED 21 June 2023

CITATION

Williams JL, Freedman JA, Ragin C, Odedina FT and Thompson P (2023) Editorial: Racial health disparity in cancer: assessments of need. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1226697. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1226697

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Williams, Freedman, Ragin, Odedina and Thompson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Racial health disparity in cancer: assessments of need

Jennie L. Williams^{1,2*}, Jennifer A. Freedman^{3,4}, Camille Ragin⁵, Folakemi T. Odedina⁶ and Patricia Thompson^{7*}

¹Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, United States, ²Stony Brook Medicine, Stony Brook, NY, United States, ³Department of Medicine, Division of Medical Oncology, School of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, ⁴Duke Cancer Institute, Durham, NC, United States, ⁵Cancer Prevention and Control Program, Fox Chase Cancer Center, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁶Mayo Clinic Comprehensive Cancer Center, Jacksonville, FL, United States, ⁷Cedars Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States

KEYWORDS

cancer disparities, determinants of cancer burdens, cancer health equity, black indigenous and people of color (BIPOC), structural and systemic racism

Editorial on the Research Topic

Racial health disparity in cancer: assessments of need

Globally, societal inequities and inequalities impact human health and contribute directly to the disparities in cancer incidence, progression, and outcomes between populations. In the United States (US), this includes inequities and inequalities that permeate all aspects of cancer care and control. Disparities are observed across the entirety of the cancer care continuum, including etiology, prevention, early detection, diagnosis, interception, treatment, survivorship, and end-of-life care. This results in higher cancer-related morbidity and mortality in Black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC), people living in poverty and/or rural communities, persons with disability, and individuals who are part of LGBTQA+ communities. This problem persists nearly a century after the initiation of legislation establishing NCI (1937) and despite extensive advances in surveillance mechanisms, prevention, early detection, diagnosis, and treatment of many cancers. With the establishment of SEER in 1973, gender, racial and ethnic disparity have been detected and continue to be monitored. However, it took 27 years after the establishment of SEER before a national concerted effort was put forth to address and mitigate cancer disparity under the purview of NCI Center to Reduce Cancer Health Disparities. And while cancer is declining with advocacy, community partnership, and investment in research and education, African American/Black patients in the US continue to have the highest cancer mortality rates and shortest survival for most cancers (1). In contrast, cancer incidence rates have historically been lower for the US Hispanic/Latino and Asian populations. However, disparities including younger age onset of certain cancers [e.g., colorectal among Hispanics/Latinos (2), breast cancer among Asian women (3)], more infection-related cancers among US Hispanics/Latinos (4) and Asian Americans (5), and disproportionate late-stage diagnoses for some cancers and among subpopulations (4, 5) are emergent concerns; which is further acerbated by the projected growth of these populations.

While racial- and ethnicity-related cancer disparities are often framed in terms of differences in access to care and individual- or group-level adherence to health behaviors, this can be highly counterproductive in efforts to understand, address, and mitigate cancer

disparities. To effectively address this concern, it is important to recognize that individual-level, ancestry-related (e.g., genetics, genomics, and physiology), societal-level (e.g., structural and systemic racism), social-level (e.g., socioeconomic status and educational level), neighborhood-level (e.g., diet and pollution), and institutional-level (e.g., access to care) factors act together and intersect to influence not only an individual's health but also the health of the community, and, therefore, collectively contribute to health disparities that arise therein. With the rapid diversification of the racial and ethnic composition of the US population, including growth among US Hispanics/Latinos, Asian Americans, and individuals of mixed races/ethnicities, wider adoption of methods to disaggregate race and ethnicity to account for individual-level, ancestry-related, societal-, social-, neighborhood-, and institutionallevel factors that differ within and between groups will be needed to understand, address, and mitigate the burden of cancer more precisely in communities. These methods will need to include partnering with diverse groups in basic, translational, and clinical cancer research and education. BIPOC, LGBTQA+ populations, rural communities, and low-income people remain underrepresented in cancer research, including genomic projects and clinical trials.

While it is acknowledged that an in-depth 'omics' understanding of the molecular differences in cancers that develop in different populations and communities and how these differences can inform cancer etiology, prevention, detection, diagnosis, interception, treatment, survivorship and end-of-life is essential for advancing and achieving cancer health equity, it is also necessary to understand all of the individual-level, ancestry-related, societal-, social-, neighborhood-, and institutional-level factors that act solely and in concert throughout the natural history of cancer in communities and how these contribute to cancer health disparities. This Research Topic was intended to solicit unpublished research on cancer disparities in racially and ethnically diverse populations. We were looking to generate a publication highlighting the multiple factors that solely and in combination influence cancer and cancer burden at the community-level and contribute to differences between population groups. This included focusing on individual-, ancestryrelated-, societal-, social-, neighborhood-, and institutional-level determinants of cancer burdens in different populations and how

they individually and jointly contribute to cancer disparities. This Research Topic aimed to promote and advocate for more research efforts toward understanding and addressing the many drivers of cancer health disparities toward ultimately aiding in mitigating cancer health disparities. Nine reports of original cancer research, a perspective, a mini-review, and a methods paper are all included in this Research Topic. Together, these efforts draw attention to the many often interrelated factors (e.g., genetic, genomic, screening, environment, socioeconomic, and racism) contributing to cancer disparities. The works of these authors and their teams also emphasize the greater need to engage racially, ethnically, culturally, and sexual/gender diverse individuals and communities in cancerrelevant research and education as an essential step towards understanding and addressing the cancer burden in communities to advance evidence-based strategies to achieve cancer health equity for all individuals, their families, and their communities.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Giaquinto AN, Miller KD, Tossas KY, Winn RA, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Cancer statistics for African American/Black people 2022. *CA: A Cancer J Clin* (2022) 72:202–29. doi: 10.3322/caac.21718

2. Garcia S, Pruitt SL, Singal AG, Murphy CC. Colorectal cancer incidence among hispanics and non-Hispanic whites in the united states. *Cancer Causes Control* (2018) 29:1039–46. doi: 10.1007/s10552-018-1077-1

 Gomez SL, Yao S, Kushi LH, Kurian AW. Is breast cancer in Asian and Asian American women a different disease? J Natl Cancer Inst (2019) 111:1243–4. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djz091

5. Lee RJ, Madan RA, Kim J, Posadas EM, Yu EY. Disparities in cancer care and the Asian American population. *Oncologist* (2021) 26:453–60. doi: 10.1002/onco.13748

^{4.} Miller KD, Ortiz AP, Pinheiro PS, Bandi P, Minihan A, Fuchs HE, et al. Cancer statistics for the US Hispanic/Latino population, 2021. CA: A Cancer J Clin (2021) 71:466–87. doi: 10.3322/caac.21695



Variation in Cancer Incidence Rates Among Non-Hispanic Black Individuals Disaggregated by Nativity and Birthplace, 2005-2017: A Population-Based Cancer Registry Analysis

Adana A. M. Llanos^{1,2*}, Jie Li³, Jennifer Tsui⁴, Joseph Gibbons⁵, Karen Pawlish³, Fechi Nwodili⁶, Shannon Lynch⁷, Camille Ragin⁷ and Antoinette M. Stroup^{3,8,9} on behalf of African-Caribbean Cancer Consortium (AC3)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Imtiaz Ahmad Siddiqui, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, United States

Reviewed by:

Kevin Kensler, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States Zaki A Sherif, Howard University, United States

*Correspondence:

Adana A. M. Llanos al4248@cumc.columbia.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 18 January 2022 Accepted: 16 March 2022 Published: 08 April 2022

Citation:

Llanos AAM, Li J, Tsui J, Gibbons J, Pawlish K, Nwodili F, Lynch S, Ragin C and Stroup AM (2022) Variation in Cancer Incidence Rates Among Non-Hispanic Black Individuals Disaggregated by Nativity and Birthplace, 2005-2017: A Population-Based Cancer Registry Analysis. Front. Oncol. 12:857548. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.857548 ¹ Department of Epidemiology, Mailman School of Public Health, Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY, United States, ² Cancer Population Science, Herbert Irving Comprehensive Cancer Center, New York, NY, United States, ³ New Jersey State Cancer Registry, New Jersey Department of Health, Trenton, NJ, United States, ⁴ Department of Population and Public Health, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ⁵ Department of Sociology, San Diego State University, San Diego, CA, United States, ⁶ Rutgers University School of Arts and Sciences, Douglass Residential College, New Brunswick, NJ, United States, ⁷ Cancer Prevention and Control Program, Fox Chase Cancer Center-Temple Health, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁸ Department of Biostatistics and Epidemiology, Rutgers School of Public Health, Piscataway, NJ, United States, ⁹ Cancer Prevention and Control, Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey, New Brunswick, NJ, United States

Objectives: Compared to other racial and ethnic groups, little to no disaggregated cancer incidence data exist for subgroups of non-Hispanic Blacks (NHBs), despite heterogeneity in sociodemographic characteristics and cancer risk factors within this group. Our objective was to examine age-adjusted cancer incidence by nativity and birthplace among NHB cancer cases diagnosed in New Jersey.

Methods: Race, ethnicity, and birthplace data from the New Jersey State Cancer Registry were used to classify NHB cancer cases diagnosed between 2005-2017. Thirteen waves of population estimates (by county, nativity, gender, age-group) were derived from the American Community Survey using Integrated Public-Use Microdata to approximate yearly demographics. Age-adjusted cancer incidence rates (overall and by site) by birthplace were generated using SEER*Stat 8.3.8. Bivariate associations were assessed using chi-square and Fisher's exact tests. Trend analyses were performed using Joinpoint 4.7.

Results: Birthplace was available for 62.3% of the 71,019 NHB cancer cases. Immigrants represented 12.3%, with African-born, Haitian-born, Jamaican-born, 'other-Caribbean-born', and 'other-non-American-born' accounting for 18.5%, 17.7%, 16.5%, 10.6%, and 36.8%, respectively. Overall, age-adjusted cancer incidence rates were lower for NHB immigrants for all sites combined and for several of the top five cancers, relative to

7

American-born NHBs. Age-adjusted cancer incidence was lower among immigrant than American-born males (271.6 vs. 406.8 per 100,000) and females (191.9 vs. 299.2 per 100,000). Age-adjusted cancer incidence was lower for Jamaican-born (114.6 per 100,000) and other-Caribbean-born females (128.8 per 100,000) than African-born (139.4 per 100,000) and Haitian-born females (149.9 per 100,000). No significant differences in age-adjusted cancer incidence were observed by birthplace among NHB males. Age-adjusted cancer incidence decreased for all sites combined from 2005-2017 among American-born males, immigrant males, and American-born females, while NHB immigrant female rates remained relatively stable.

Conclusions: There is variation in age-adjusted cancer incidence rates across NHB subgroups, highlighting the need for more complete birthplace information in population-based registries to facilitate generating disaggregated cancer surveillance statistics by birthplace. This study fills a knowledge gap of critical importance for understanding and ultimately addressing cancer inequities.

Keywords: cancer surveillance, cancer incidence, non-Hispanic Black subgroups, within-group differences, cancer inequities, population-based study, cancer registry data

INTRODUCTION

Non-Hispanic Blacks (NHBs) represent the second-largest racial/ethnic minority group in the United States (US)comprising approximately 13.4% of the population, as of 2019 (1). The NHB population is a diverse group that includes descendants of enslaved Africans brought to the Americas during the transatlantic slave trade beginning in the 16th century and immigrants arriving more recently from across the African diaspora and their descendants. Immigrants account for 10% of the NHB population, with Jamaican-born, Haitian-born, and Nigerian-born individuals accounting for the three largest NHB subgroups by birthplace (2, 3). Inequities in cancer incidence, mortality, and survival exist by race and ethnicity for many cancer sites (4), with evidence showing the highest sexspecific cancer incidence among NHB males and the highest sexspecific mortality among NHB females (5). Furthermore, 5-year relative survival for all cancers combined is lowest among NHBs (5, 6). Despite the knowledge that NHBs disproportionately shoulder the burden of cancer (7) and that NHBs in the US are not a monolithic group (2), little to no cancer surveillance statistics exist for subgroups of NHBs, in contrast to subgroups of Asian American/Pacific Islander (8-15) and Hispanic/Latinx individuals (13, 15-17).

While limited data are currently available on cancer incidence among disaggregated NHB groups (18, 19), a handful of studies show significant heterogeneity in cancer mortality by NHB subgroup in the US (20–23). African-born NHBs have higher incidence of infection-related cancers (18) and Caribbean-born NHBs have lower risk of cancer mortality (20–23) compared to American-born NHBs, suggesting that the aggregation of all NHBs into a singular group in cancer surveillance masks withingroup differences and limits the ability to inform targeted intervention needs for higher-risk communities. Cancer surveillance programs in the US have successfully begun generating cancer profiles for subgroups of Asian American/Pacific Islander (24) and Hispanic/Latinx (25), yet, to our knowledge, no such profiles exist for NHB subgroups. As a starting point, we examined variation in age-adjusted cancer incidence by birthplace among NHB cancer cases diagnosed in New Jersey (NJ)-the fourth most racially/ethnically diverse state in the US, with substantial socioeconomic, geographic, and subgroup diversity within the NHB population. Further, we highlight methodologic limitations related to generation of race and ethnicity subgroup data and next steps for standardization and systematic data collection of NHB subgroups.

METHODS

Age-adjusted cancer incidence rates (overall and by site) were generated using cancer incidence data from the New Jersey State Cancer Registry (NJSCR). The NJSCR is a population-based registry that collects data on all cancer cases diagnosed in NJ. NJSCR consistently receives awards for data quality and completeness from the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Program of Cancer Registries (NPCR), and the National Cancer Institute's (NCI) Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program (SEER). The Rutgers University Institutional Review Board approved this study.

All NHB cancer cases diagnosed from 2005-2017 were included. Subgroup categories (American-born, NHB immigrants, and unknown) were created using country of birth and US birth state data from NJSCR. Individuals born in the US and its territories were considered American-born (26); otherwise, they were grouped as NHB immigrants or unknown. NHB immigrant subgroups by birthplace (Africanborn, Haitian-born, Jamaican-born, other Caribbean-born, and other NHB immigrants) were created using nativity and country of birth. The group classified as 'other Caribbean-born' included individuals born in Caribbean countries other than Haiti and Jamaica (e.g., Trinidad and Tobago, Grenada, Antigua and Barbuda, Barbados), while other NHB immigrants included individuals not classified in one of the previous subgroups. For NHB population estimates, we used Integrated Public-Use Microdata (IPUMS) from the American Community Survey (ACS, 1-year waves) for 2005–2017. To estimate the NHB population: 1) we considered individuals classified as NHB in some way (e.g., multiracial–NHB and another race) as exclusively NHB in this study (3), and 2) we classified major origin sites of NHB immigrants residing in NJ, including Haitian, Jamaican, other Caribbean countries, and sub-Saharan African.

Cancer incidence data and population estimates were processed in SEER*Prep 2.5.7 to create SEER*Stat databases. We used chi-square and Fisher's exact tests to examine associations between NHB subgroup and age group (0-39, 40-64, or \geq 65 years), gender (male or female), vital status (alive or deceased), cancer site (SEER Site Recode based on International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, 3rd edition), cancer stage (SEER summary stage), county of residence (health care regions), and census tract poverty (<5%, 5-<10%, 10-<20%, or \geq 20%). Bivariate analyses were completed in SAS 9.4. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

Incidence rates for all cancers combined and rates by cancer site across NHB subgroups and gender were computed in SEER*Stat 8.3.8. Rates are per 100,000 and age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. Trend analysis to examine estimated annual percent change in age-adjusted incidence rates over the study period was performed using Joinpoint 4.7. We used the log-linear model and Monte Carlo Permutation method for significance tests, and the significance level was set at P<0.05.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics of NHB Cancer Cases Diagnosed in NJ

Between January 1, 2005 and December 31, 2017, there were 71,019 incident cancers diagnosed among NHB individuals in NJ (**Table 1**). Among those with documented birthplace, NHB immigrants represented 12.3%, while American-born represented 87.7%. Among NHB immigrants, 18.5% were born in an African country, 17.7% in Haiti, 16.5% in Jamaica, 10.6% in another Caribbean country (not Haiti or Jamaica), and 36.8% elsewhere (not in the US or an African or Caribbean country). NHB cases with unknown birthplace (37.7%) were younger, diagnosed at earlier stages, and alive at the end of follow-up. The proportion of cases with unknown birthplace varied across the study period, ranging from as low as 28.6% (in 2005) to as high as 50.2% (in 2017) (**Supplementary Table 1**). Compared to American-born NHBs, significantly larger proportions of cases among NHB immigrants were diagnosed at 0-39 years (6.1% vs.

4.1%) and 40-64 years (50.3% vs. 40.9%), and a smaller proportion at age ≥ 65 years (43.6% vs. 55.0%). Stage distribution was similar between American-born and NHB immigrant cases. There was some variation by birthplace in terms of regions of New Jersey where the largest proportions of NHB cases resided. Larger proportions of NHB immigrant groups regions generally resided in Essex and Passaic counties, Bergen and Hudson counties, and Middlesex and Union counties. NHB immigrant populations increased most in a few contiguous counties, from Essex to Mercer County (**Figure 1**). However, the change in representation of specific ancestries of NHB immigrants varies across the state. For example, southern counties experienced an increase in Haitian and Jamaican populations during the study period.

As of December 31, 2017, 52.3% of NHB cancer cases overall were deceased and there was an indication that the proportion of American-born cases who died was larger than that of NHB immigrants (80.0% vs. 59.2%). Only 10.7% of deceased cases were missing birthplace information. We also found that slightly higher proportions of NHB immigrants were lost to follow-up in earlier years of the study period than American-born cases, but follow-up rates were similar in more recent years (**Supplementary Table 2**).

Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence Among NHBs in NJ

Relative to American-born individuals, NHB immigrants had lower cancer incidence rates for all cancer sites combined and for several of the top five cancers diagnosed among NHBs. Among NHB males, the age-adjusted cancer incidence rate for all sites combined was 607.9/100,000 (Table 2). Age-adjusted cancer incidence was higher in American-born NHB males than immigrant NHB males (271.6 vs. 406.8/100,000). Notably, cancer incidence for all sites combined among other NHB immigrant males was exceptionally high (803.4/100,000). While prostate cancer incidence did not differ among American-born and immigrant NHB males, incidence rates for several cancer sites were lower among NHB immigrants than among American-born males: lung and bronchus (26.2 vs. 77.5/ 100,000), colon and rectum (30.3 vs. 44.9/100,000), kidney and renal pelvis (7.9 vs. 15.8/100,000), bladder (7.7 vs. 17.1/100,000), and other sites (95.8 vs. 149.7/100,000). Although none of the differences reached statistical significance, cancer incidence rates varied among NHB males across immigrant subgroups.

Among NHB females, age-adjusted cancer incidence for all sites combined was 431.1/100,000. Age-adjusted cancer incidence was lower among immigrant NHB females than American-born females (191.9 vs. 299.2/100,000). Similar to males, cancer incidence for all sites combined among other NHB immigrant females was quite high (614.9/100,000). Cancer incidence rates among NHB females varied across immigrant subgroups: incidence was lower among Jamaicanborn (114.6/100,000) and other Caribbean-born females (128.8/ 100,000) compared to African-born (139.4/100,000) and Haitian-born females (149.9/100,000). All site-specific cancer incidence rates (except corpus and uterine) were lower among

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of non-Hispanic Black (NHB) cancer cases diagnosed in New Jersey by nativity and birthplace, 2005-2017.

Sociodemographic characteristic		American- born ²			NHB immig	rants ³⁻⁷		Unknown birthplace ⁸	P (2,3,4,5,6,7,8)
	cancer cases ¹	mod	African- born ³	Haitian- born⁴	Jamaican- born ⁵	Other Caribbean- born ⁶	Other immigrants ⁷	Dirtriplace	
	N (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Total	71019 (100.0)	38834 (54.7)	1004 (18.5)	960 (17.7)	896 (16.5)	574 (10.6)	1999 (36.8)	26752 (37.7)	
Age Group							()		<0.0001*
0-39	3772 (5.3)	1600 (4.1)	110 (11.0)	73 (7.6)	46 (5.1)	34 (5.9)	69 (3.5)	1840 (6.9)	
40-64	33540 (47.2)	15886 (40.9)	613 (61.1)	475 (49.5)	459 (51.2)	324 (56.4)	862 (43.1)	14921 (55.8)	
≥65	33707 (47.5)	21348 (55.0)	281 (28.0)	412 (42.9)	391 (43.6)	216 (37.6)	1068 (53.4)	9991 (37.3)	
Gender		(0010)	(2010)	(1210)					<0.0001*
Male	35522 (50.0)	18687 (48.1)	566 (56.4)	457 (47.6)	425 (47.4)	272 (47.4)	989 (49.5)	14126 (52.8)	
Female	35497 (50.0)	20147	438	503	471 (52.6)	302 (52.6)	1010 (50.5)	12626	
Primary Site [°]		(51.9)	(43.6)	(52.4)				(47.2)	
Male									<0.0001*^
Prostate	14034 (39.5)	4677 (25.0)	239 (42.2)	188 (41.1)	164 (38.6)	125 (46.0)	324 (32.8)	8317 (58.9)	
Lung and Bronchus	4271 (12.0)	3493 (18.7)	30 (5.3)	32 (7.0)	43 (10.1)	14 (5.1)	127 (12.8)	532 (3.8)	
Colon and Rectum	3363 (9.5)	2000 (10.7)	62 (11.0)	45 (9.8)	43 (10.1)	33 (12.1)	112 (11.3)	1068 (7.6)	
Kidney and Renal Pelvis	1510 (4.3)	760 (4.1)	18 (3.2)	6 (1.3)	14 (3.3)	15 (5.5)	25 (2.5)	672 (4.8)	
Urinary Bladder	1161 (3.3)	707 (3.8)	6 (1.1)	4 (0.9)	15 (3.5)	10 (3.7)	27 (2.7)	392 (2.8)	
Other	11183 (31.5)	7050 (37.7)	211 (37.3)	182 (39.8)	146 (34.4)	75 (27.6)	374 (37.8)	3145 (22.3)	
Female									<0.0001*
Breast	10864 (30.6)	5130 (25.5)	145 (33.1)	168 (33.4)	150 (31.8)	120 (39.7)	251 (24.9)	4900 (38.8)	
Lung and Bronchus	4119 (11.6)	3320 (16.5)	21 (4.8)	25 (5.0)	24 (5.1)	9 (3.0)	84 (8.3)	636 (5.0)	
Colon and Rectum	3710 (10.5)	2090 (10.4)	29 (6.6)	36 (7.2)	47 (10.0)	31 (10.3)	117 (11.6)	1360 (10.8)	
Corpus and Uterus NOS	2452 (6.9)	1252 (6.2)	34 (7.8)	45 (8.9)	35 (7.4)	19 (6.3)	104 (10.3)	963 (7.6)	
Pancreas	1200 (3.4)	963 (4.8)	24 (5.5)	24 (4.8)	17 (3.6)	5 (1.7)	41 (4.1)	126 (1.0)	
Other	13152 (37.1)	7392 (36.7)	185 (42.2)	205 (40.8)	198 (42.0)	118 (39.1)	413 (40.9)	4641 (36.8)	
SEER Summary Stage									<0.0001*
In Situ	4904 (6.3)	1771 (4.3)	41 (3.7)	47 (4.4)	62 (6.4)	33 (5.3)	57 (2.7)	2893 (9.3)	
Local	30060 (38.5)	12148 (29.5)	387 (35.3)	346 (32.6)	365 (37.4)	218 (35.2)	576 (27.7)	16020 (51.6)	
Regional	14209 (18.2)	8145 (19.8)	207 (18.9)	223 (21.0)	182 (18.7)	146 (23.6)	348 (16.7)	4958 (16.0)	
Distant	18515 (23.7)	13278 (32.3)	303 (27.7)	294 (27.7)	261 (26.8)	153 (24.7)	766 (36.8)	3460 (11.1)	
Unknown/Unstaged	10319 (13.2)	5792 (14.1)	157 (14.3)	150 (14.2)	105 (10.8)	69 (11.1)	332 (16.0)	3714 (12.0)	
Health Care Region (counties)			(· ··/					<0.0001*^
Region 1 (Sussex, Warren)	334 (0.5)	169 (0.4)	9 (0.9)	5 (0.5)	8 (0.9)	3 (0.5)	11 (0.6)	129 (0.5)	
Region 2 (Essex, Passaic)	21017 (29.6)	11614 (29.9)	318 (31.7)	377 (39.3)	325 (36.3)	188 (32.8)	861 (43.1)	7334 (27.4)	
Region 3 (Bergen, Hudson)	7139 (10.1)	4212 (10.8)	123 (12.3)	102 (10.6)	142 (15.8)	140 (24.4)	240 (12.0)	2180 (8.1)	
Region 4 (Morris, Somerset)	2704 (3.8)	1319 (3.4)	78 (7.8)	28 (2.9)	83 (9.3)	41 (7.1)	89 (4.5)	1066 (4.0)	
Region 5 (Hunterdon, Mercer)	5123 (7.2)	2622 (6.8)	91 (9.1)	70 (7.3)	46 (5.1)	8 (1.4)	108 (5.4)	2178 (8.1)	
Region 6 (Middlesex, Union)	11174 (15.7)	6203 (16.0)	269 (26.8)	295 (30.7)	183 (20.4)	140 (24.4)	315 (15.8)	3769 (14.1)	
Region 7 (Monmouth, Ocean)	4247 (6.0)	2256 (5.8)	33 (3.3)	38 (4.0)	38 (4.2)	27 (4.7)	134 (6.7)	1721 (6.4)	
Region 8 (Burlington, Camden)	11687 (16.5)	6222 (16.0)	58 (5.8)	24 (2.5)	41 (4.6)	19 (3.3)	154 (7.7)	5169 (19.3)	
Regions 9 and 10 (Atlantic, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, and Salem)	7560 (10.6)	4204 (10.8)	25 (2.5)	21 (2.2)	30 (3.3)	8 (1.4)	87 (4.4)	3185 (11.9)	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Sociodemographic characteristic	All NHB	American-				Unknown	P (2,3,4,5,6,7,8)		
	cancer born ² cases ¹	born-	African- born ³	Haitian- born⁴	Jamaican- born ⁵	Other Caribbean- born ⁶	Other immigrants ⁷	birthplace ⁸	(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Unknown	34 (0.1)	13 (0.03)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	21 (0.1)	
Census Tract Poverty									<0.0001*^
<5%	11567 (16.3)	5616 (14.5)	200	154	173 (19.3)	130 (22.6)	368 (18.4)	4926 (18.4)	
			(19.9)	(16.0)					
5 - <10%	13781 (19.4)	6982 (18.0)	250	177	187 (20.9)	122 (21.3)	346 (17.3)	5717 (21.4)	
			(24.9)	(18.4)					
10 - <20%	20580 (29.0)	10989	298	338	296 (33.0)	181 (31.5)	651 (32.6)	7827 (29.3)	
		(28.3)	(29.7)	(35.2)					
≥20%	24969 (35.2)	15183	256	291	239 (26.7)	141 (24.6)	629 (31.5)	8230 (30.8)	
		(39.1)	(25.5)	(30.3)					
Unknown	122 (0.2)	64 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	5 (0.3)	52 (0.2)	
Vital Status (as of December 2017)									<0.0001*
Alive	33869 (47.7)	7755 (20.0)	646	484	480 (53.6)	351 (61.1)	254 (12.7)	23899	
	. ,	. ,	(64.3)	(50.4)	. /	. ,	. /	(89.3)	
Deceased	37150 (52.3)	31079	358	476	416 (46.4)	223 (38.9)	1745 (87.3)	2853 (10.7)	
	. ,	(80.0)	(35.7)	(49.6)	. ,	. ,		. ,	

P-values generated using bivariate analysis comparing sociodemographic characteristics by birthplace and nativity.

¹Based on NAACCR NHIA, NJSCR Race1, and Birthplace (state and county): NHIA = 0 (Non-Hispanic) and Race1 = 2 (Black).

²American-Born: NHB cancer cases born in the United States of America and its territories.

³African-born: NHB cancer cases born in any nation of Africa.

⁴Haitian-born: NHB cancer cases born in Haiti.

⁵Jamaican-born: NHB cancer cases born in Jamaica.

⁶Other Caribbean-born: NHB cancer cases born in any Caribbean nation other than Haiti and Jamaica.

⁷Other non-US-born: NHB cancer cases not included in the groups above (non-US-born).

⁸Unknown birthplace: NHB cancer cases missing data on birthplace.

*P-values significant with and without inclusion of cases with unknown birthplace.

^P-values generated using Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests.

^oTop 5 cancer sites based on NHB age-adjusted (6 age groups) invasive cancer incidence rates 2005-2017 by gender.

immigrant than American-born NHB females: breast (52.4 vs. 76.2/100,000), lung and bronchus (12.4 vs. 49.0/100,000), colon and rectum (18.5 vs. 31.2/100,000), pancreas (8.6 vs. 14.4/ 100,000), and other sites (83.5 vs. 110.1/100,000).

Age-Adjusted Cancer Incidence Trends Among NHBs in NJ

We observed significant decreasing trends in age-adjusted cancer incidence for all sites combined from 2005-2017 among

American-born males, immigrant males, and American-born females, while NHB immigrant female rates remained relatively stable (**Table 3**). Among American-born NHB males, age-adjusted cancer incidence for all sites combined decreased by 4.57% per year. This group also experienced statistically significant reductions in age-adjusted incidence for several site-specific cancers during this time: prostate (-9.37%), lung and bronchus (-3.70%), colon and rectum (-4.85%). Although not statistically significant, age-adjusted kidney and renal pelvis



Gender / Cancer Site [°]	All NHB ¹ Rate (95% Cl)	American- born ² Rate (95% CI)	NHB immigrants ³⁻⁷ Rate (95% CI)	African-born ³ Rate (95% Cl)	Haitian-born ⁴ Rate (95% Cl)	Jamaican- born ⁵ Rate (95% CI)	Other Caribbean- born ⁶ Rate (95% CI)	Other NHB immigrants ⁷ Rate (95% CI)
Male								
All sites	607.9 (601.3,	406.8 (400.8,	271.6 (259.8,	197.2 (176.1,	195.2 (174.7,	175.8 (156.8,	175.1 (151.7,	803.4 (750.3,
combined	614.5)	412.9)	283.9)*	220.1)	217.5)	196.7)	202.1)	859.3) ⁺⁺
Prostate	235.9 (231.9,	101.9 (98.9,	103.8 (96.6,	84.2 (70.8,	83.6 (70.1,	64.0 (53.4,	80.4 (65.7, 98.6)	271.2 (240.6,
	240.0)	104.9)	111.3)	99.4)	99.1)	76.3)		304.7)
Lung and	77.5 (75.1,	77.5 (74.8,	26.2 (22.6,	9.6 (6.0, 15.1)	15.4 (9.9, 23.0)	20.1 (13.9,	8.9 (4.5, 18.0)	101.3 (83.2,
bronchus	79.9)	80.1)	30.2)*			28.5)		122.2) ^{††}
Colon and	59.4 (57.3,	44.9 (42.9,	30.3 (26.3,	22.6 (15.6,	19.6 (13.3,	17.2 (11.8,	20.9 (13.6, 32.4)	92.7 (75.2,
rectum	61.6)	46.9)	34.6)*	31.6)	27.8)	24.5)		113.2) ^{††}
Kidney and	24.4 (23.2,	15.8 (14.7,	7.9 (6.0, 10.3)*	8.4 (4.1, 15.1)	2.3 (0.8, 5.7)	5.0 (2.7, 9.5)	12.4 (4.2, 27.2)	19.7 (12.2, 30.1)
renal pelvis	25.8)	17.0)						
Urinary bladder	22.5 (21.2, 23.9)	17.1 (15.9, 18.5)	7.7 (5.6, 10.2)*	4.5 (1.2, 10.7)	2.8 (0.6, 7.5)	5.5 (2.8, 10.3)	6.9 (3.0, 15.7)	25.6 (16.4, 38.0)
Other	188.2 (184.5,	149.7 (146.1,	95.8 (88.9,	68.0 (56.1,	71.6 (60.0,	64.1 (52.0,	45.6 (34.9, 59.8)	292.9 (261.4,
	191.8)	153.3)	103.2)*	81.7)	84.9)	78.3)		327.1) ⁺⁺
Female								
All sites	431.1 (426.6,	299.2 (295.1,	191.9 (184.3,	139.4 (124.9,	149.9 (136.3,	114.6 (103.7,	128.8 (111.2,	614.9 (575.1,
combined	435.6)	303.4)	199.9)*	155.1)	164.7)†	126.7)†	148.9)†	656.8) ⁺⁺
Breast	130.1 (127.6,	76.2 (74.1,	52.4 (48.8,	40.5 (33.6,	44.7 (38.0,	33.8 (28.4,	45.7 (37.5, 56.1)	137.9 (120.3,
	132.6)	78.3)	56.4)*	48.6) [†]	52.5)	40.4) [†]	, , ,	157.6)
Lung and	50.4 (48.8,	49.0 (47.4,	12.4 (10.5,	8.0 (4.5, 12.9)	8.6 (5.4, 13.2)	5.6 (3.5, 9.3) [†]	3.7 (1.6, 9.2) [†]	53.8 (42.4, 67.5)
bronchus	51.9)	50.7)	14.6)*		(- , - ,	(, ,	- (-, - ,	
Colon and	45.6 (44.1,	31.2 (29.9,	18.5 (16.2,	8.6 (5.4, 13.0) [†]	10.6 (7.3,	11.4 (8.2,	11.7 (7.8, 18.4)	73.1 (59.8, 88.6)††
rectum	47.1)	32.6)	21.1)*		15.1) [†]	15.9) [†]	(,)	(, ,
Corpus and	29.2 (28.0,	18.3 (17.3,	16.6 (14.4,	13.2 (8.8, 19.0)	13.0 (9.4, 17.8)	8.4 (5.8, 12.4) [†]	7.8 (4.6, 14.0) [†]	61.2 (49.2, 75.3)**
uterus NOS	30.4)	19.3)	19.0)	(0.0, 0.00)		(,)		, . 510)
Pancreas	15.0 (14.1, 15.9)	14.4 (13.5, 15.3)	8.6 (7.0, 10.5)*	8.4 (4.9, 13.4)	8.6 (5.4, 13.2)	4.3 (2.4, 7.7)	1.6 (0.5, 6.6) [†]	28.5 (20.1, 39.2) ^{+†}
Other	160.9 (158.1, 163.7)	110.1 (107.6, 112.6)	83.5 (78.2, 89.0)*	60.7 (51.1, 71.6) [†]	64.5 (55.3, 74.9) [†]	51.2 (43.5, 60.1) [†]	58.3 (44.5, 75.3) [†]	260.5 (234.3, 288.9) ^{††}

TABLE 2 | Age-adjusted cancer incidence (per 100,000) among non-Hispanic Black (NHB)¹ individuals in New Jersey by nativity and birthplace, and by gender, 2005-2017.

¹Based on NAACCR NHIA, NJSCR Race1, and Birthplace (state and county): NHIA = 0 (Non-Hispanic) and Race1 = 2 (Black).

²American-Born: NHB cancer cases born in the United States of America and its territories.

³African-born: NHB cancer cases born in any nation of Africa.

⁴Haitian-born: NHB cancer cases born in Haiti.

⁵Jamaican-born: NHB cancer cases born in Jamaica.

⁶Other Caribbean-born: NHB cancer cases born in any Caribbean nation other than Haiti and Jamaica.

⁷Other non-US-born: NHB cancer cases not included in the groups above (non-US-born).

^oTop 5 cancer sites based on NHB age-adjusted (6 age groups) invasive cancer incidence rates 2005-2017 by gender.

*Indicates statistically significant difference in incidence rates in comparison to American-born NHBs.

¹Incidence rates in these immigrant subgroups were significantly lower than rates for NHB immigrants combined.

^{+†}Incidence rates for these cancers were significantly higher among individuals in the Other NHB immigrant subgroup compared to rates for all NHBs combined.

cancer incidence decreased by 2.15% per year from 2005-2015 and by 26.22% from 2015-2017. Overall, among NHB immigrant males, age-adjusted cancer incidence for all sites combined decreased by 4.76% per year, and prostate cancer by 9.13% per year. A trend towards decreasing cancer incidence among African-born, Jamaican-born, and other Caribbean-born males was observed, but no estimates reached statistical significance. Conversely, Haitian-born and other NHB immigrant males experienced large reductions in prostate cancer incidence from 2005-2017 (15.16% and 24.27%, respectively).

Among NHB females, cancer incidence trends varied between 2005-2017. Among American-born females, cancer incidence for all sites combined decreased by 3.11% per year from 2005-2012 and 10.44% per year from 2015-2017, while a non-significant increase was recorded from 2012-2015. In this group, incidence of cancers of the breast (-1.98%), lung and bronchus (-1.61% for

2005-2015 only), and colon and rectum (-5.35%) significantly decreased. Although there were no significant trends for all sites combined or most site-specific cancers among NHB immigrant females overall or in subgroups, uterine cancer incidence among Jamaican-born females decreased significantly by 9.06%. Due to zero cases for some cancers among various NHB subgroups by birthplace, we could not calculate annual percent change for some site-specific cancers in some years.

DISCUSSION

This is one of few studies focusing on cancer incidence among NHB, disaggregated by American-born and immigrant subgroups. We observed evidence of within-group differences in age-adjusted cancer incidence rates by NHB subgroup in NJ.

TABLE 3 | Age-adjusted cancer incidence trends for top 5 cancer sites among non-Hispanic Black (NHB)¹ individuals in New Jersey by nativity and birthplace, and by gender, 2005-2017.

Gender / Cancer Site ^{\circ}	American-born ²		NHB immigrants		African-born		Haitian-born		Jamaica	n-born	Other Carib- bean-born		Other NHB immigrants	
	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC
Male														
All sites combined	2005- 2017	-4.57*	2005- 2017	-4.76*	2005- 2017	-5.23	2005- 2017	-8.36	2005- 2017	-3.82	2005- 2017	-3.38	2005- 2017	-13.79*
Prostate	2005- 2017	-9.37*	2005- 2017	-9.13*	2005- 2017	-4.73	2005- 2017	-15.16*	2005- 2017	-5.48	2005- 2017	-2.96	2005- 2017	-24.27*
Lung and bronchus	2005- 2017	-3.70*	2005- 2017	-3.49	-	-	2005- 2017	-12.03	2005- 2017	-6.02	-	-	2005- 2017	-3.38
Colon and rectum	2005- 2017	-4.85*	2005- 2017	-1.33	2005- 2017	-4.50	2005- 2017	-12.34	-	-	-	-	2005- 2017	-5.42
Kidney and renal pelvis	2005- 2015	-2.15*	2005- 2017	-1.41	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2005- 2017	-11.40
	2015- 2017	-26.22	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-
Urinary bladder	2005- 2015	-1.78	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	2015- 2017	-31.13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Female	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC	Years	APC
All sites combined	2005- 2012	-3.11*	2005- 2017	-0.51	2005- 2017	-1.86	2005- 2017	-2.47	2005- 2017	1.64	2005- 2017	-0.36	2005- 2017	1.55
	2012- 2015	2.39	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	2015- 2017	-10.44*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Breast	2005- 2017	-1.98*	2005- 2017	-0.47	2005- 2017	-1.18	2005- 2017	4.78	2005- 2017	3.86	2005- 2017	-6.25	2005- 2017	0.45
Lung and bronchus	2005- 2015	-1.61*	2005- 2017	-1.00	_	-	_	-	_	-	_	-	_	-
	2015- 2017	-13.20	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Colon and rectum	2005- 2017	-5.35*	2005- 2017	-1.18	2005- 2017	-5.77	2005- 2017	-4.76	2005- 2017	4.38	-	-	2005- 2017	1.29
Corpus and uterus NOS	2005- 2017	0.77	2005- 2017	2.53	-	-	-	-	2005- 2017	-9.06*	-	-	2005- 2017	4.06
Pancreas	2005- 2017	0.99	2005- 2017	0.60	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

^oTop 5 cancer sites based on NHB age-adjusted (6 age groups) invasive cancer incidence rates 2005-2017 by gender.

¹Based on NAACCR NHIA, NJSCR Race 1, and Birthplace (state and county): NHIA = 0 (Non-Hispanic) and Race1 = 2 (Black).

*Annual percent change (APC) is significantly different from zero at alpha = 0.05.

-Unable to calculate APC due to there being zero case counts in some years.

Notably, NHB immigrant males and females had lower cancer incidence rates than their American-born counterparts for all cancer sites combined and for several of the top five cancers diagnosed among NHBs. Cancer incidence was lower among Jamaican-born and other Caribbean-born females compared to African-born and Haitian-born females. Also, decreasing cancer incidence rates were largely significant for American-born NHBs, but less so for NHB immigrant subgroups. Prior studies examining the relationship between birthplace and cancer outcomes among Hispanic/Latinx populations have shown complex and inconsistent patterns, including a lower probability of being diagnosed with early-stage cancer (27) than their American-born counterparts, while also experiencing lower mortality rates (28). Neighborhood context, including ethnic density and poverty, and length of residence in the US, also influence cancer and other health outcomes

differently across subgroups (29–31). More nuanced examination of the structural and neighborhood-level impacts on cancer outcomes is needed within NHB populations moving forward.

Lower cancer incidence rates were observed in the largest NHB immigrant groups compared to American-born NHBs for all cancer sites combined. This observation aligns with previous studies that report lower cancer mortality rates among NHB immigrant compared to American-born cases (20, 21, 32), suggesting higher cancer incidence and mortality rates among NHB compared to other racial groups is not only attributed to Black race. Explanations for lower cancer incidence among NHB immigrants may include the healthy immigrant effect and differences in lifestyle, attitudes, and perceptions among NHB subgroups. For example, tobacco exposure is the primary risk factor attributed to the development of many cancers. A recent study from the Cancer Prevention and Control Project of Philadelphia (CAP3) showed that Black immigrants have lower smoking prevalence compared to American-born Blacks (3.4% vs. 15%) (33). Findings also showed that as time in the US increased, immigrants had a 4% increase in the odds of ever smoking (33). Further research is, therefore, needed to better understand NHB subgroup differences in smoking behaviors to develop targeted interventions for tobacco exposure among NHB. Additionally, early interventions may be needed for NHB immigrants to prevent the increased likelihood of smoking as their time in the US increases.

The leading cancers among NHB males and females are prostate and breast cancer. We observed no difference in prostate cancer incidence between subgroups of immigrants and American-born NHB, suggesting similar biological risk factors (e.g., such as family history, genetics) and social determinants of health rooted in structural racism (34-37). Studies by the African Caribbean Cancer Consortium (AC3) have compared factors associated with prostate cancer risk between American-born and immigrant NHB men, showing that nativity did not significantly predict the likelihood of prostate cancer screening among NHB men (38). Other studies collectively support the role of genetic polymorphisms in the immune/inflammation genes associated with prostate cancer among both American-born and Caribbean-born NHB men (39-41). This observation is not unusual as there is mounting evidence that the immunologic/inflammatory pathways play an important role in prostate cancer biology among Black men in contrast to White men (42-44). Unlike prostate cancer, we observed lower breast cancer incidence among NHB immigrants compared to American-born females, which might indicate that breast cancer phenotypes differ across NHB subgroups. Among breast cancer cases diagnosed in South Florida from 2006-2017, Caribbean-born NHB immigrants were diagnosed with a larger proportion of estrogen receptorpositive (ER+) and progesterone receptor-positive (PR+) tumors compared to American-born NHB (ER+: 68.7% vs. 61%; P =0.019 and PR+: 58.3% vs. 50.4%; P = 0.02) (45).

Lung and colorectal cancers are the second and third leading causes of cancer among NHB males and females. NHB immigrants have lower lung cancer incidence than their American-born counterparts. This is expected given the lower smoking prevalence among immigrant groups as described above (33). Kidney and bladder cancers are among the top five cancers for males, and for both cancers, NHB immigrants have lower incidence than American-born NHBs. Again, these differences might be attributed to differences in smoking behaviors between the two groups, as well as to differences in other relevant factors [e.g., diet and hypertension (46, 47)] across NHB groups. NHB immigrants also have lower colorectal cancer incidence than American-born NHBs. Recent findings from the CAP3 study showed that, while NHB immigrants are less likely to have health insurance, they are more likely to adhere to colorectal cancer screening than American-born NHBs (48). Therefore, differences in colorectal cancer incidence may not

be related to access issues but to other factors, including diet (46) and neighborhood contextual factors (49, 50).

Uterine and pancreatic cancers are among the top five cancers among NHB females. NHB immigrants females have lower pancreatic cancer incidence than American-born NHBs, which may also be attributed to differences in smoking behavior. However, there was no significant difference in uterine cancer incidence between the two subgroups. This may be due to shared risk factors across birthplace subgroups (e.g., obesity, family history, and other lifestyle factors) (51). It is important to note that Caribbean immigrants are more often diagnosed with uterine cancer at a younger age and have worse survival than their American-born counterparts (51).

NHB immigrants were less likely than American-born NHBs to reside in census tracts with marked poverty, consistent with a national Pew Study showing that NHB immigrants aged >25 years were more likely to have a bachelor's degree and less likely to live in a high-poverty neighborhood than American-born NHBs (52). Moreover, we found that NHB immigrant cases were more likely to be alive at the end of study follow-up. This could be attributed to the "immigrant paradox," where recent immigrants report better overall health than their native-born peers or those who spent more time in the US because of differences in diet, acculturation, and other risk factors associated with cancer development (53). However, this has mostly been studied in Hispanic populations and requires further investigation in NHB populations (53). Differences in neighborhood contextual factors-which are rooted in structural racism (e.g., neighborhood disinvestment, food deserts, environmental chemical exposures)-might also contribute to differences in vital status (54-58).

An important limitation of this study was that missing birthplace data among NHB cancer cases in NJSCR records were relatively high (~38%) and could have led to underestimated cancer incidence rates. Deceased cancer cases are less likely to have unknown birthplace and nativity because death certificate is a major source for this information. This is supported by our findings of lower proportions of unknown birthplace for cancers that tend to be aggressive and/or have lower survival rates (e.g., lung and pancreas) and higher proportions of unknown birthplace for less aggressive cancers and/or those with higher survival rates (e.g., prostate and breast). Another interesting point is that that the proportion of NHB cancer cases with unknown birthplace is higher in recent years compared to earlier years. One reason for this might be that a larger proportion of cases diagnosed at the beginning of the study period (i.e., 2005-2009) are likely to be deceased compared to those diagnosed closer to the end of follow-up (i.e., 2015-2017). While some studies have reported variation in cancer mortality across NHB subgroups (20, 21, 32)-given greater availability of birthplace data among deceased cancer cases (59) -to our knowledge, to date, only one published study has reported variability in cancer incidence between some African-born and US-born individuals (18). Although information on birthplace is routinely collected in Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program registries, these data are missing for a large

proportion of cases, likely in a non-random manner (60, 61). The percentage of missing data in our study is similar to cancer incidence studies that focused on Hispanic subgroups (up to 32%) (8, 62). To address missingness, prior studies have applied a series of approaches, including algorithms incorporating surname from cancer registries with (62) and without (8) linkage to death records. Most NHB cases in the current analysis with unknown birthplace were *in situ* or localized stage and <65 years at diagnosis, suggesting that combining incidence and death record data would not improve birthplace data missingness. As an alternative, studies in Hispanic subgroups have imputed missing birthplace using geographic location (62). This, combined with other data sources (e.g., birth records, death records), could further minimize missing birthplace data. Another consideration is that our simplistic definition of "NHB" race might have also led to an underestimation of cancer incidence rates. Relatedly, the use of ACS-based estimates to approximate NHB populations is subject to sampling errors. We also acknowledge that categorizing all African immigrants into one subgroup was not ideal given the geographically, culturally, and ethnically distinct populations that exist in Africa. However, insufficient case counts with birthplaces across multiple African countries (and geographic regions) limited our ability to further disaggregate the African-born subgroup. Nonetheless, we believe this study highlights some important differences in cancer incidence rates among NHB subgroups by birthplace and nativity-albeit in crudely disaggregated categories -that certainly warrant analysis in larger studies in the future. Lastly, the use of cancer registry data limited our ability to assess individual-level cancer risk factors that vary between NHB subgroups as explanations for the observed variation in cancer incidence. Despite the lack of complete data on birthplace and risk factor-related data, our findings add new knowledge about variation in cancer incidence, inclusive of Caribbean-born Black individuals in the US.

Despite these limitations, our novel data—generated from a population-based cancer registry in a state with substantial within-group variation in the NHB population—demonstrate differences in age-adjusted cancer incidence rates among NHBs by nativity and birthplace. Overall, cancer incidence for all sites combined and for the top five cancers, including some screendetected cancers, was lower among NHB immigrants. Also, variation in cancer incidence trends by birthplace was observed. Improved collection of birthplace and African ancestry information in cancer registries is critically needed to enhance the ability to generate unbiased cancer surveillance statistics in disaggregated NHB groups by birthplace. These data are essential to understanding inequities and informing targeted strategies for cancer prevention and control, especially in subgroups shouldering a disproportionate burden.

REFERENCES

 Meites E, Szilagyi PG, Chesson HW, Unger ER, Romero JR, Markowitz LE. Human Papillomavirus Vaccination for Adults: Updated Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* (2019) 68(32):698–702. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6832a3

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Rutgers University Institutional Review Board. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: AL, JT, JG, AS. Data curation: JL, JG, KP. Formal analysis: JL, JG. Funding acquisition: AL, JT, AS. Methodology: AL, JT, JG, KP, AS. Writing – original draft: AL, FN, JT, SL, CR, AS. Writing – review & editing: All authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Cancer Institute (Cancer Center Support Grant Number P30CA072720 provided funding support to AL and JT; 5P30CA006927 and 5U54CA221705 provided funding support to CR and SL; and R13CA249974 to the African Caribbean Cancer Consortium). New Jersey State Cancer Registry is funded by the National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) Program (#75N91021D00009), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Program of Cancer Registries (#5NU58DP006279) with additional support from the State of New Jersey and the Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey. The funders had no role in the design of the study; the collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data; the writing of the manuscript; and the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022. 857548/full#supplementary-material

- 2. Anderson A, Lopez G. Key Facts About Black Immigrants in the U.S. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center (2018).
- 3. Tamir C, Anderson M. One-in-Ten Black People Living in the U.s. Are Immigrants. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center (2022).
- 4. American Cancer Society. *Cancer Facts & Figures 2021*. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society (2021).

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(1):7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654
- Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, et al. Seer Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2017. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute (2020).
- DeSantis CE, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Cancer Statistics for African Americans, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin (2019) 69(3):211–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21555
- Gomez SL, Noone AM, Lichtensztajn DY, Scoppa S, Gibson JT, Liu L, et al. Cancer Incidence Trends Among Asian American Populations in the United States, 1990-2008. J Natl Cancer Inst (2013) 105(15):1096–110. doi: 10.1093/ jnci/djt157
- Thompson CA, Gomez SL, Hastings KG, Kapphahn K, Yu P, Shariff-Marco S, et al. The Burden of Cancer in Asian Americans: A Report of National Mortality Trends by Asian Ethnicity. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev* (2016) 25(10):1371–82. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0167
- Torre LA, Sauer AM, Chen MSJr., Kagawa-Singer M, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Cancer Statistics for Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders, 2016: Converging Incidence in Males and Females. CA Cancer J Clin (2016) 66(3):182–202. doi: 10.3322/caac.21335
- Lee E, Liu L, Zhang J, Stern MC, Barzi A, Hwang A, et al. Stomach Cancer Disparity Among Korean Americans by Tumor Characteristics: Comparison With non-Hispanic Whites, Japanese Americans, South Koreans, and Japanese. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev* (2017) 26(4):587–96. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0573
- Ladabaum U, Clarke CA, Press DJ, Mannalithara A, Myer PA, Cheng I, et al. Colorectal Cancer Incidence in Asian Populations in California: Effect of Nativity and Neighborhood-Level Factors. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2014) 109 (4):579–88. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2013.488
- Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Jones PD, Morris C, Ransdell JM, Kwon D, et al. Liver Cancer: A Leading Cause of Cancer Death in the United States and the Role of the 1945-1965 Birth Cohort by Ethnicity. *JHEP Rep* (2019) 1(3):162–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhepr.2019.05.008
- Trinh QD, Nguyen PL, Leow JJ, Dalela D, Chao GF, Mahal BA, et al. Cancer-Specific Mortality of Asian Americans Diagnosed With Cancer: A Nationwide Population-Based Assessment. *JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst* (2015) 107(6):djv054– djv. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv054
- Goggins WB, Lo FFK. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Survival of US Children With Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Evidence From the SEER Database 1988–2008. *Cancer Causes Control* (2012) 23(5):737–43. doi: 10.1007/s10552-012-9943-8
- Martinez Tyson D, Medina-Ramirez P, Flores AM, Siegel R, Aguado Loi C. Unpacking Hispanic Ethnicity-Cancer Mortality Differentials Among Hispanic Subgroups in the United States, 2004-2014. *Front Public Health* (2018) 6:219. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00219
- Chen C, Markossian TW, Silva A, Tarasenko YN. Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Mortality Among Hispanic Women: Sub-Ethnic Disparities and Survival Trend Across Time: An Analysis of SEER 1992-2013. *Cancer Epidemiol* (2018) 52:134–41. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2017.12.003
- Medhanie GA, Fedewa SA, Adissu H, DeSantis CE, Siegel RL, Jemal A. Cancer Incidence Profile in Sub-Saharan African-Born Blacks in the United States: Similarities and Differences With US-Born non-Hispanic Blacks. *Cancer* (2017) 123(16):3116–24. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30701
- Auguste A, Gathere S, Pinheiro PS, Adebamowo C, Akintola A, Alleyne-Mike K, et al. Heterogeneity in Head and Neck Cancer Incidence Among Black Populations From Africa, the Caribbean and the USA: Analysis of Cancer Registry Data by the AC3. *Cancer Epidemiol* (2021) 75:102053. doi: 10.1016/ j.canep.2021.102053
- Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Ragin C, Hage RW, Hylton T, Kobetz EN. Black Heterogeneity in Cancer Mortality: US-Blacks, Haitians, and Jamaicans. *Cancer Control* (2016) 23(4):347–58. doi: 10.1177/107327481602300406
- Pinheiro PS, Medina H, Callahan KE, Kwon D, Ragin C, Sherman R, et al. Cancer Mortality Among US Blacks: Variability Between African Americans, Afro-Caribbeans, and Africans. *Cancer Epidemiol* (2020) 66:101709. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2020.101709
- Fang J, Madhavan S, Alderman MH. Influence of Nativity on Cancer Mortality Among Black New Yorkers. *Cancer* (1997) 80(1):129–35. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970701)80:1<129::AID-CNCR17>3.0.CO;2-#

- Singh GK, Siahpush M. All-Cause and Cause-Specific Mortality of Immigrants and Native Born in the United States. Am J Public Health (2001) 91(3):392–9. doi: 10.2105/ajph.91.3.392
- 24. American Cancer Society. *Cancer Facts & Figures 2016*. Atlanta: American Cancer Society (2016).
- Miller KD, Ortiz AP, Pinheiro PS, Bandi P, Minihan A, Fuchs HE, et al. Cancer Statistics for the US Hispanic/Latino Population, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(6):466–87. doi: 10.3322/caac.21695
- 26. United States Census Bureau. *About the Foreign-Born Population* (2021). Available at: https://www.census.gov/topics/population/foreign-born/about. html.
- Kouri EM, He Y, Winer EP, Keating NL. Influence of Birthplace on Breast Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment for Hispanic Women. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2010) 121(3):743–51. doi: 10.1007/s10549-009-0643-3
- Keegan TH, Quach T, Shema S, Glaser SL, Gomez SL. The Influence of Nativity and Neighborhoods on Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis and Survival Among California Hispanic Women. *BMC Cancer* (2010) 10:603. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-603
- Borrell LN, Lancet EA. Race/Ethnicity and All-Cause Mortality in US Adults: Revisiting the Hispanic Paradox. Am J Public Health (2012) 102(5):836–43. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2011.300345
- 30. Morey BN, Gee GC, Shariff-Marco S, Yang J, Allen L, Gomez SL. Ethnic Enclaves, Discrimination, and Stress Among Asian American Women: Differences by Nativity and Time in the United States. *Cultural Diversity Ethnic Minority Psychol* (2020) 26(4):460–71. doi: 10.1037/cdp0000322
- Pruitt SL, Tiro JA, Xuan L, Lee SJ. Hispanic and Immigrant Paradoxes in U.s. Breast Cancer Mortality: Impact of Neighborhood Poverty and Hispanic Density. Int J Environ Res Public Health (2016) 13(12):1238. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph13121238
- Pinheiro PS, Callahan KE, Boscoe FP, Balise RR, Cobb TR, Lee DJ, et al. Cancer Site-Specific Disparities in New York, Including the 1945-1965 Birth Cohort's Impact on Liver Cancer Patterns. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2018) 27(8):917–27. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-18-0194
- 33. Blackman E, Ashing K, Gibbs D, Kuo YM, Andrews A, Ramakodi M, et al. The Cancer Prevention Project of Philadelphia: Preliminary Findings Examining Diversity Among the African Diaspora. *Ethn Health* (2021) 26(5):659–75. doi: 10.1080/13557858.2018.1548695
- Vince RAJr., Jamieson S, Mahal B, Underwood W3rd. Examining the Racial Disparities in Prostate Cancer. Urology (2021) online ahead of print. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2021.08.004
- Ashing KT, Jones V, Bedell F, Phillips T, Erhunmwunsee L. Calling Attention to the Role of Race-Driven Societal Determinants of Health on Aggressive Tumor Biology: A Focus on Black Americans. JCO Oncol Pract (2022) 18 (1):15–22. doi: 10.1200/OP.21.00297
- 36. Lynch SM, Sorice K, Tagai EK, Handorf EA. Use of Empiric Methods to Inform Prostate Cancer Health Disparities: Comparison of Neighborhood-Wide Association Study "Hits" in Black and White Men. *Cancer* (2020) 126 (9):1949–57. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32734
- Poulson MR, Helrich SA, Kenzik KM, Dechert TA, Sachs TE, Katz MH. The Impact of Racial Residential Segregation on Prostate Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment. *BJU Int* (2021) 127(6):636–44. doi: 10.1111/bju.15293
- Cobran EK, Wutoh AK, Lee E, Odedina FT, Ragin C, Aiken W, et al. Perceptions of Prostate Cancer Fatalism and Screening Behavior Between United States-Born and Caribbean-Born Black Males. J Immigr Minor Health (2014) 16(3):394–400. doi: 10.1007/s10903-013-9825-5
- 39. Kidd LR, Jones DZ, Rogers EN, Kidd NC, Beache S, Rudd JE, et al. Chemokine Ligand 5 (CCL5) and Chemokine Receptor (CCR5) Genetic Variants and Prostate Cancer Risk Among Men of African Descent: A Case-Control Study. *Hered Cancer Clin Pract* (2012) 10(1):16. doi: 10.1186/1897-4287-10-16
- Rogers EN, Jones DZ, Kidd NC, Yeyeodu S, Brock G, Ragin C, et al. Toll-Like Receptor-Associated Sequence Variants and Prostate Cancer Risk Among Men of African Descent. *Genes Immun* (2013) 14(6):347–55. doi: 10.1038/gene.2013.22
- 41. Jones DZ, Ragin C, Kidd NC, Flores-Obando RE, Jackson M, McFarlane-Anderson N, et al. The Impact of Genetic Variants in Inflammatory-Related Genes on Prostate Cancer Risk Among Men of African Descent: A Case Control Study. *Hered Cancer Clin Pract* (2013) 11(1):19. doi: 10.1186/1897-4287-11-19

- 42. Reams RR, Agrawal D, Davis MB, Yoder S, Odedina FT, Kumar N, et al. Microarray Comparison of Prostate Tumor Gene Expression in African-American and Caucasian American Males: A Pilot Project Study. *Infect Agent Cancer* (2009) 4 Suppl 1:S3. doi: 10.1186/1750-9378-4-S1-S3
- Kiely M, Ambs S. Immune Inflammation Pathways as Therapeutic Targets to Reduce Lethal Prostate Cancer in African American Men. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(12):2874. doi: 10.3390/cancers13122874
- 44. Wallace TA, Prueitt RL, Yi M, Howe TM, Gillespie JW, Yfantis HG, et al. Tumor Immunobiological Differences in Prostate Cancer Between African-American and European-American Men. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(3):927–36. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2608
- Barreto-Coelho P, Cerbon D, Schlumbrecht M, Parra CM, Hurley J, George SHL. Differences in Breast Cancer Outcomes Amongst Black US-Born and Caribbean-Born Immigrants. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2019) 178(2):433–40. doi: 10.1007/s10549-019-05403-9
- Greenberg MR, Schneider D, Northridge ME, Ganz ML. Region of Birth and Black Diets: The Harlem Household Survey. *Am J Public Health* (1998) 88 (8):1199–202. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.88.8.1199
- Ravenell J, Seixas A, Rosenthal DM, Williams O, Ogedegbe C, Sevick MA, et al. Effect of Birthplace on Cardiometabolic Risk Among Blacks in the Metabolic Syndrome Outcome Study (Metso). *Diabetol Metab Syndr* (2016) 8:14. doi: 10.1186/s13098-016-0130-z
- Blackman EL, Ragin C, Jones RM. Colorectal Cancer Screening Prevalence and Adherence for the Cancer Prevention Project of Philadelphia (CAP3) Participants Who Self-Identify as Black. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:690718. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.690718
- Singh GK, Jemal A. Socioeconomic and Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Mortality, Incidence, and Survival in the United States, 1950-2014: Over Six Decades of Changing Patterns and Widening Inequalities. J Environ Public Health (2017) 2017:2819372. doi: 10.1155/2017/2819372
- Danos DM, Ferguson TF, Simonsen NR, Leonardi C, Yu Q, Wu XC, et al. Neighborhood Disadvantage and Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Incidence: A Population-Based Study in Louisiana. *Ann Epidemiol* (2018) 28(5):316–21.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2018.02.004
- Schlumbrecht M, Huang M, Hurley J, George S. Endometrial Cancer Outcomes Among non-Hispanic US Born and Caribbean Born Black Women. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2019) 29:897–903. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2019-000347
- 52. Anderson M. A Rising Share of the U.S. Black Population is Foreign Born. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center (2015).
- Teruya SA, Bazargan-Hejazi S. The Immigrant and Hispanic Paradoxes: A Systematic Review of Their Predictions and Effects. *Hisp J Behav Sci* (2013) 35 (4):486–509. doi: 10.1177/0739986313499004
- Plascak JJ, Rundle AG, Xu X, Mooney SJ, Schootman M, Lu B, et al. Associations Between Neighborhood Disinvestment and Breast Cancer Outcomes Within a Populous State Registry. *Cancer* (2021) 21(1):2031. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33900

- Beyer KMM, Zhou Y, Laud PW, McGinley EL, Yen TWF, Jankowski C, et al. Mortgage Lending Bias and Breast Cancer Survival Among Older Women in the United States. J Clin Oncol (2021) 39(25):2749–57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.21.00112
- Poulson M, Cornell E, Madiedo A, Kenzik K, Allee L, Dechert T, et al. The Impact of Racial Residential Segregation on Colorectal Cancer Outcomes and Treatment. *Ann Surg* (2021) 273(6):1023–30. doi: 10.1097/SLA. 000000000004653
- 57. Collin LJ, Gaglioti AH, Beyer KM, Zhou Y, Moore MA, Nash R, et al. Neighborhood-Level Redlining and Lending Bias are Associated With Breast Cancer Mortality in a Large and Diverse Metropolitan Area. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev* (2021) 30(1):53–60. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-1038
- Kish JK, Yu M, Percy-Laurry A, Altekruse SF. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Survival by Neighborhood Socioeconomic Status in Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Registries. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr (2014) 2014(49):236–43. doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/lgu020
- Pinheiro P.S. CKE, Kobetz EN. Disaggregated Hispanic Groups and Cancer: Importance, Methodology, and Current Knowledge. In: A Ramirez, editor. Advancing the Science of Cancer in Latinos. Cham: Springer (2020). TE.
- 60. Montealegre JR, Zhou R, Amirian ES, Scheurer ME. Uncovering Nativity Disparities in Cancer Patterns: Multiple Imputation Strategy to Handle Missing Nativity Data in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Data File. *Cancer* (2014) 120(8):1203–11. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28533
- Lin SS, O'Malley CD, Lui SW. Factors Associated With Missing Birthplace Information in a Population-Based Cancer Registry. *Ethn Dis* (2001) 11 (4):598–605.
- Pinheiro PS, Sherman RL, Trapido EJ, Fleming LE, Huang Y, Gomez-Marin O, et al. Cancer Incidence in First Generation U.s. Hispanics: Cubans, Mexicans, Puerto Ricans, and New Latinos. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev* (2009) 18(8):2162–9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0329

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Llanos, Li, Tsui, Gibbons, Pawlish, Nwodili, Lynch, Ragin and Stroup. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Assessing Real-World Racial Differences Among Patients With Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer in US Community Practices

Ruoding Tan^{1*}, Lourenia Cassoli¹, Ying Yan¹, Vincent Shen¹, Bann-mo Day¹ and Edith P. Mitchell²

¹ Genentech Inc., San Francisco, CA, United States, ² Gastroesophageal Center, Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia, PA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sophie A. Lelièvre, Institut de Cancérologie de l'Ouest (ICOk), France

Reviewed by:

Kimberly Johnson, Washington University in St. Louis, United States Xiangzhu Zhu, Vanderbilt University, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Ruoding Tan tan.ruoding@gene.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Life-Course Epidemiology and Social Inequalities in Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

> Received: 20 January 2022 Accepted: 14 April 2022 Published: 24 May 2022

Citation:

Tan R, Cassoli L, Yan Y, Shen V, Day B-m and Mitchell EP (2022) Assessing Real-World Racial Differences Among Patients With Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer in US Community Practices. Front. Public Health 10:859113. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.859113 **Objective:** Real-world data characterizing differences between African American (AA) and White women with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (mTNBC) are limited. Using 9 years of data collected from community practices throughout the United States, we assessed racial differences in the proportion of patients with mTNBC, and their characteristics, treatment, and overall survival (OS).

Methods: This retrospective study analyzed de-identified data from 2,116 patients with mTNBC in the Flatiron Health database (January 2011 to March 2020). Characteristics and treatment patterns between AA and White patients with mTNBC were compared using descriptive statistics. OS was examined using Kaplan-Meier analysis and a multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model.

Results: Among patients with metastatic breast cancer, more AA patients (23%) had mTNBC than White patients (12%). This difference was particularly pronounced in patients who lived in the Northeast, were aged 45–65, had commercial insurance, and had initial diagnosis at stage II. AA patients were younger and more likely to have Medicaid. Clinical characteristics and first-line treatments were similar between AA and White patients. Unadjusted median OS (months) was shorter in AA (10.3; 95% confidence interval [CI]: 9.1, 11.7) vs. White patients (11.9; 95% CI: 10.9, 12.8) but not significantly different. After adjusting for potential confounders, the hazard ratio for OS was 1.09 (95% CI: 0.95, 1.25) for AA vs. White patients.

Conclusions: The proportion of patients with mTNBC was higher in AA than White mBC patients treated in community practices. Race did not show an association with OS. Both AA and White patients with mTNBC received similar treatments. OS was similarly poor in both groups, particularly in patients who had not received any documented anticancer treatment. Effective treatment remains a substantial unmet need for all patients with mTNBC.

Keywords: triple-negative breast cancer, racial differences, African American, real-world, community practices, Flatiron Health

INTRODUCTION

African American (AA) women with breast cancer have long experienced significant health disparities. Despite having similar breast cancer incidence as White women, AA women are more likely to be diagnosed with late-stage breast cancer and have an approximately 40% higher mortality rate than White women (1).

Breast cancer is heterogeneous in nature, with prognosis and survival varying considerably by subtype. Compared with other breast cancer subtypes, triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is a particularly aggressive form of breast cancer. It is more likely to arise in younger women, be of higher histologic grade, present at a more advanced stage, relapse earlier, and show worse prognosis (2–5). Previous epidemiological studies have found the incidence of TNBC to be twice as high among AA women as White women (2, 4, 6). The disproportionally higher incidence of the TNBC subtype in AA women may contribute to the racial disparity in breast cancer mortality.

While there is abundant evidence of racial differences in the prevalence of TNBC, it remains unclear whether there are racial differences in treatment patterns and clinical outcomes between AA and White patients. To date, real-world studies comparing racial differences in treatments and clinical outcomes between AA and White TNBC patients have yielded mixed findings. While some studies reported shorter survival for AA women with TNBC compared with White women (2, 7–11), other studies found no evidence of a survival difference (12–17). Research in this area has often been limited to single-institution data with small sample sizes, regional data from a single state, or databases with limited clinical and treatment variables.

Factors contributing to racial differences in TNBC prevalence and potential differences in outcomes include biological, social, economic, and environmental factors. Emerging preclinical and clinical data suggest that TNBC in AA women may have a uniquely aggressive biology. Some studies comparing the genetic risk factors in TNBC by race found AA patients have a higher rate of pathogenic variants (18) or different gene expression patterns (19). However, the extent to which genetic risk factors contribute to the observed racial difference in incidence and outcomes is unclear. Other biological features that may contribute to the difference in incidence and prognosis between AA and White women with TNBC include differences in the tumor immune microenvironment; expression of breast cancer-associated cancer stem cells; prevalence of obesity, which is known to be linked to an increased risk of metabolic disorder; and tissue inflammation (20).

Beyond biological factors, many sociodemographic factors are associated with health outcomes in breast cancer, including TNBC. Among them, status and type of health insurance coverage are important factors commonly studied and have farreaching implications for care including time to diagnosis and quality of treatment. Lack of insurance and type of insurance (i.e., Medicaid vs. private insurance) were found to be significantly associated with worse survival in patients with TNBC (21). Other social determinants of health, such as geographic location (rural vs. urban, disadvantaged vs. average neighborhood) and family structure (married vs. unmarried), may also predict the quality of care that patients receive, which ultimately influences outcomes (22, 23).

In this study, we analyzed recent data with wide geographic representation of community oncology practices across the United States. We assessed racial differences across the care continuum of patients, ranging from diagnosis to treatment to survival. Our goal was to better understand how patient and disease characteristics, treatments received, and differential access to care may underlie racial differences in prevalence and outcomes of mTNBC in community oncology practices.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Source: Flatiron Health Database

The Flatiron Health Database is an oncology-focused, realworld database primarily generated from OncoEMR[®], a proprietary electronic health record (EHR) system used by community oncologists throughout the USA. This retrospective, observational study evaluated data from Flatiron Health's longitudinal, demographically, and geographically diverse database derived from electronic health record data from more than 280 community-based cancer treatment clinics and academic centers, representing more than 2.2 million active US patients with cancer. The database is composed of patient-level structured and unstructured data, curated via technology-enabled abstraction. Structured data (e.g., patient demographics, drugs ordered) are prespecified by the software and captured during routine patient care. Data were de-identified and provisions were made to prevent reidentification for patient confidentiality. The Flatiron database contains detailed documentation of treatments, biomarkers, and clinical outcomes.

Study Cohort

The study cohort (Figure 1) was comprised of all AA and White women (\geq 18 years of age) with a confirmed diagnosis of metastatic breast cancer (mBC) between January 1, 2011 and January 1, 2020. Patients were required to have data collected during at least one visit within 6 months of their metastatic diagnosis and identifiable information to assess tumor estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) expression. To ensure that only real-world patients treated in a community oncology setting were included in the analysis, patients who received an investigational drug in any line of therapy or were treated in an academic setting were also excluded. In line with previous studies (24), the cohort of patients with mBC was subsequently categorized by breast cancer subtype (HER2+, ER+/PR+, TNBC). The final cohort of patients with mTNBC was identified for outcomes analysis if patients had \geq 1 negative result for ER and PR and \geq 1 negative or equivocal result for HER2 status. Among them, those who received HER2-targeted and/or hormonal therapy for mBC were further excluded from the analysis. Patients of races other than AA or White were also excluded from further analysis.



Study Variables and Outcomes

Race/ethnicity was collected through routine oncology clinical care. Other patient sociodemographic characteristics included age, geographic location (state and region), and insurance status at the time of mBC diagnosis. Disease characteristics included stage at initial diagnosis, metastatic disease type, number and location of metastases, and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status (the most recent within 1 year of mBC diagnosis).

The primary clinical outcome for this study was overall survival (OS), which was measured from the time of metastatic diagnosis date until time of death. Patients not reported as having died at the time of the analyses were censored at the last activity date or the study end date.

Time to treatment initiation (TTI) was also evaluated as duration between date of metastatic diagnosis and firstline treatment start date. First-line treatments for patients with mTNBC were captured and grouped into broad categories (i.e., single-agent chemotherapy, combination chemotherapy, targeted therapy and/or cancer immunotherapy, and other treatments) and drug class (i.e., taxanes, platinums, anthracyclines, cyclophosphamide, antimetabolites, and microtubule inhibitors).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated for all study variables, including means, standard deviations, medians, and ranges for continuous variables, and frequencies and counts for categorical variables. Comparisons of patient characteristics and treatment patterns between AA and White patients were conducted using *t*-tests. For categorical variables, Chi-square tests were used when $\leq 20\%$ of the groups for comparison had expected frequencies <10; otherwise, the Fisher's exact test was used.

The proportion of each mBC subtype was described as the proportions of TNBC, HER2+, and ER+/PR+ phenotypes out of all mBC patients in the Flatiron Enhanced Data Mart. To further assess racial differences in the proportion of patients with mTNBC in the study cohort, a ratio was constructed by dividing the proportion of mBC that was mTNBC in AA patients by the proportion of mBC that was mTNBC in White patients. These ratios were calculated for the overall patient cohort as well as for patients in relevant subgroups determined by state of residence, age group, geographic region, insurance status, and disease stage at initial diagnosis.

The Kaplan-Meier method was used to estimate median OS in patients with mTNBC, with log-rank tests performed to compare the unadjusted difference in OS between AA and White patients. A Cox proportional hazards model was used to adjust for the potential effect of key prognostic variables on OS including age (<65 years, \geq 65 years), region (Northeast, South, West, Midwest missing), type of occurrence (recurrent, de novo, unknown), ECOG performance status at mTNBC diagnosis (0– 1, \geq 2, unknown), and treatment (received or not). Differences in OS between AA and White patients were also evaluated within subgroups of patients stratified by age group, insurance type, location, ECOG performance status, disease stage at diagnosis, sites or number of metastases, receipt of treatment, and type of first-line treatment.



FIGURE 2 | Proportion of mBC that is mTNBC in African American and White patients by key characteristics. mBC, metastatic breast cancer; mTNBC, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer.



FIGURE 3 | Proportion of mBC that is mTNBC in AA and White patients by US state. ^aProportion of mTNBC in mBC is 1.86 (22.88%/12.29%) times higher in AA than in White patients (national average using Flatiron data). ^bData from 18 states were excluded due to small N (<10) of reported mTNBC cases. ^cSource: Flatiron Health Data. AA, African American; mBC, metastatic breast cancer; mTNBC, metastatic triple-negative breast; NA, not applicable.

Of the 21,804 patients diagnosed with mBC, 1,538 eligible patients with mTNBC were identified (**Figure 1**).

Proportion of mTNBC Subtype

Twenty-one US states reported mTNBC cases by race. Among all mBC patients in the Flatiron data, the proportion of mTNBC subtype in AA patients was approximately 1.9 times that of White patients (AA vs. White: 23 vs. 12%). Racial differences in the proportion of mTNBC (AA vs. White) were particularly pronounced among patients aged 45-65 years (26 vs. 13%; Supplementary Table 1), treated in the Northeast (27 vs. 11%), with commercial insurance (25 vs. 13%), and with initial diagnosis at disease stage II (30 vs. 13%). The magnitude of difference in the proportion of TNBC in AA compared with White patients was similar regardless of insurance status (Figure 2). Seven states (New Jersey, Ohio, California, Florida, New York, Pennsylvania, and Louisiana) had more than twice as many AA than White mBC patients with the mTNBC subtype. Louisiana had the highest proportion of mTNBC in AA (32%) mBC patients, compared to all states with available data (Figure 3).

Patient Characteristics

Patient baseline demographics, clinical characteristics, and firstline treatments are shown in **Table 1**. Compared with White patients at the time of mBC diagnosis, AA patients were younger (mean: 60 years vs. 63 years; p < 0.001), more likely to have Medicaid coverage (10 vs. 3%, p < 0.001), and less likely to have Medicare coverage (18 vs. 26%, p = 0.003). Geographic location differed significantly between AA and White patients, with more AA women residing in the South (68 vs. 44%, p <0.001). Clinical and cancer characteristics were similar between AA and White patients, including the distribution of disease stage at initial diagnosis, disease recurrence, ECOG performance status, and the sites and number of metastases.

Time to Treatment Initiation and First-Line Treatment

TTI and first-line treatment were also similar in AA and White patients. Overall, 25% of patients in each racial group had no documentation in the database of receiving anticancer treatment after mBC diagnosis (**Table 1**).

Among patients who received first-line treatment, more than half initiated treatment <30 days after diagnosis, and median TTI did not differ by race. More than half of the patients received single-agent chemotherapy as their first-line treatment (AA: 53%; White: 55%), with capecitabine being the most frequently administered chemotherapy agent within this class. Combination chemotherapy was used to treat 37% of patients with similar frequencies between AA and White patients; platinum-based therapy was the most frequently administered combination therapy (**Table 1**).

Overall Survival

The median OS was <1 year in both AA and White patients (AA: 10.3 months, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 9.1, 11.7; White: 11.9 months, 95% CI: 10.9, 12.8). Although median OS was numerically shorter in AA patients, this difference was not statistically significant (unadjusted hazard ratio = 1.06[95% CI: 0.93, 1.21; p = 0.413]; Figure 4). After adjusting for key prognostic factors, AA patients did not appear to have a significantly greater risk of death compared with White patients (adjusted hazard ratio = 1.09 [95% CI: 0.95-1.25; p = 0.226]). We also assessed differences in OS between AA and White patients in subgroups defined by age, insurance type, region, ECOG performance status, disease stage at diagnosis, sites and number of metastases, receipt of treatment, and type of firstline treatment (Figure 5). The results consistently showed no association between race and OS, regardless of subgroups, except for patients located in the West.

DISCUSSION

Racial differences in mTNBC prevalence, disease characteristics, and clinical outcomes have been well-documented (19, 20). Most of these data, however, have been derived from singlecenter studies or from population-based surveillance system data. Single-center data can lack generalizability and often have small sample sizes. While population-based surveillance system databases provide large sample sizes and reliable epidemiologic data, these databases tend to have limited information on patient clinical characteristics and treatment patterns. In this observational study, we sought to gain greater insight into racial differences in the proportion of mBC that is mTNBC and outcomes in real-world settings; we did this by interrogating the Flatiron Health database, a large database which includes data from demographically and geographically diverse community oncology practices in the United States.

We first examined racial differences in the percentage of mBC cases with the triple-negative phenotype in a cohort of mBC patients from January 2011 to March 2020. We found AA women with mBC were more likely to be diagnosed with the mTNBC subtype than White women. The difference between AA and White patients was more pronounced in mBC patients who were younger, had commercial insurance, were initially diagnosed at an earlier stage, and lived in several geographic "hotspot" areas such as Louisiana. These results are not only consistent with data derived from various cancer registries (4, 6, 25), but also expand on these prior findings by comparing the proportion of the mTNBC subtype among all mBC cases by AA and White race in subgroups defined by region, age, insurance type, and disease stage.

We further assessed whether race was associated with clinical outcomes within the cohort of patients with mTNBC, a question that remains inadequately addressed due to the conflicting real-world evidence generated so far. Data generated from this mTNBC patient cohort suggest that OS was poor among the entire cohort and did not differ significantly between AA and White patients overall and within subgroups stratified by

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of patients with mTNBC by race.

	White (<i>n</i> = 1,155)	African American ($n = 383$)	<i>p</i> -value
Demographic Characteristics			
Mean age at metastatic diagnosis, years (SD)	63 (12)	60 (12)	<0.001
Insurance ^a			
Commercial	469 (41)	146 (38)	0.423
Medicaid	39 (3)	38 (10)	< 0.001
Medicare	301 (26)	70 (18)	0.003
Missing	337 (29)	138 (36)	0.014
Region			
Northeast	239 (21)	62 (16)	
Midwest	200 (17)	33 (9)	
South	505 (44)	261 (68)	< 0.001
West	176 (15)	18 (5)	
Missing	35 (3)	9 (2)	
Clinical Characteristics			
Disease stage at initial diagnosis			
0–II	474 (41)	141 (37)	
III–IV	585 (51)	215 (56)	0.172
Unknown	96 (8)	27 (7)	
Disease type			
De novo	309 (27)	98 (26)	
Recurrent	751 (65)	258 (67)	0.641
Unknown	95 (8)	27 (7)	
ECOG PS at metastatic diagnosis			
0 or 1	562 (49)	170 (44)	
≥2	118 (10)	38 (10)	0.280
Unknown	475 (41)	175 (46)	
Number of metastases ^b , median (range)	2 (1-6)	2 (1-6)	0.960
Sites of metastasis ^b			
CNS/Brain	364 (32)	108 (28)	0.248
Bone	580 (50)	195 (51)	0.859
Liver	410 (35)	127 (33)	0.441
Lung	579 (50)	205 (54)	0.274
Lymph node	544 (47)	179 (47)	0.949
Other	401 (35)	127 (33)	0.621
Treatment Characteristics			
Patients with documented treatment	869 (75)	287 (75)	
First-line regimens-treatment grouping			
Single-agent chemotherapy ^c	477 (55)	151 (53)	
Chemotherapy combination treatment ^d	318 (37)	114 (40)	
Targeted therapy or cancer immunotherapy	69 (8)	20 (7)	0.780
Other therapy	<10	<10	
Time to first-line treatment for mTNBC			
Median time to first-line treatment from metastatic diagnosis, months (range)	1 (<1-40)	1 (<1–36)	
Time to treatment <1 month	469 (54)	154 (54)	
Time to treatment 1 to <2 months	216 (25)	71 (25)	0.939
Time to treatment 2 to <3 months	72 (8)	27 (9)	
Time to treatment \geq 3 months	112 (13)	35 (12)	

Data are n (%) unless otherwise stated.

CNS, central nervous system; ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status; mTNBC, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer; SD, standard deviation. ^aInsurance type was collected at the time of metastatic diagnosis. Patients may have had multiple insurance types.

^bSites and number of metastases were measured at the time of metastatic diagnosis. Patients may have had metastases at multiple sites.

^cAntimetabolites were the most frequently used single-agent chemotherapy (Áfrican American: 24%; White: 23%), and capecitabine was the most used agent within this class. ^dPlatinum-based treatments were the most frequently used chemotherapy combination treatments (African American: 20%; White: 23%).



demographic, clinical, and treatment characteristics. In contrast to previous reports of population-based surveillance that found significantly increased mortality from TNBC in AA women compared with White women (2, 7), our findings are consistent with more recent data from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network Outcomes database (12), the Carolina Breast Cancer Study database (14), and several single institutions across the United States (13, 15-17). A recent analysis of data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program demonstrated greater mortality from non-metastatic TNBC in AA women compared to White women, but the disparity varied by patient, disease, and treatment characteristics (11). The inconsistency among studies is likely a result of the multiple factors that contribute to outcomes including biological factors, as well as various social, economic, and environmental factors that are known to affect access to care. These factors must be carefully considered to accurately discern differences in outcomes. Further it must also be noted that variation is likely to occur in population-based vs. community-based vs. clinical trial-based data.

Our data show that patients who received care in the community oncology setting faced a high unmet need regardless of race. This is not only reflected by the poor OS, but also by the lack of evidence of first-line treatment initiation in a notable proportion of patients in both racial groups. Consistent with a previous study that examined treatment patterns in real-world patients with mTNBC treated in the community setting (10), we found one in four patients with mTNBC in both racial groups had missing documentation of anticancer treatment in the Flatiron database. It is important to note that some patients with mTNBC may have forgone treatment due to poor performance status and concerns about treatment tolerance. However, since reasons for lack of treatment were not documented, this cannot be verified. It is also possible that some patients received cancer treatments outside of the Flatiron network that were not captured in the database.

The present analysis has several limitations that are inherent to electronic health record-based retrospective observational studies. First, there was limited information on the social determinants of health in this dataset, which reduced our ability to further assess how socioeconomic disparities interplay with racial disparity in patients with mTNBC. The adjustment for insurance coverage and geographic location in the regression model can be considered as a proxy for socioeconomic status; however, more granular, multilevel data to characterize access to care, quality of care, and socioeconomic well-being are needed to better understand factors and mechanisms driving racial disparity in mTNBC. Secondly, incomplete/missing information on performance status and comorbidity burden may also lead to misclassification and unmeasured confounding. Thirdly, while Tan et al.

		AA		White				
Variable	Category	n	Median (months)	n	Median (months)		95% CI	Favors AA Favors White patients patients
All		383	10.32	1155	11.86	1.06	(0.93, 1.21)	+
Age at mBC	≥65	129	6.57	542	10.02	1.37	(1.10, 1.70)	
diagnosis	≥45 to <65	214	12.25	501	12.91	1.01	(0.84, 1.22)	+
	<45	40	9.69	112	11.37	0.84	(0.5, 1.25)	-•
Documented	Yes	287	11.70	869	13.47	1.07	(0.92, 1.25)	•
treatment	No	96	4.47	286	5.19	1.03	(0.79, 1.35)	+
First-line	Single-agent chemo	151	10.91	477	12.78	1.11	(0.90, 1.36)	
treatment	Chemo combination	114	12.39	318	14.42	1.09	(0.85, 1.39)	-•-
	Targeted/Immunotherapy	20	13.31	69	14.19	0.81	(0.39, 1.67)	
ECOG PS	0 or 1	170	10.15	562	11.6	1.13	(0.93, 1.38)	-
	≥2	38	2.89	118	5.19	1.37	(0.91, 2.06)	
Insurance	Commercial	146	9.76	469	9.86	1.10	(0.89, 1.36)	
	Medicaid	38	9.03	39	12.48	1.35	(0.81, 2.26)	_ _
	Medicare	70	10.15	301	11.89	1.22	(0.90, 1.65)	-
Region	Northeast	62	9.69	239	11.99	1.25	(0.91, 1.71)	-
	Midwest	33	9.03	200	11.70	1.12	(0.74, 1.69)	_ _
	South	261	11.56	505	11.14	0.94	(0.79, 1.12)	-
	West	18	7.39	176	14.69	1.99	(1.14, 3.48)	
Stage at initial	0–11	141	9.56	474	12.12	1.18	(0.95, 1.45)	•
diagnosis	III–IV	215	10.71	585	11.63	0.95	(0.79, 1.14)	+
Metastasis	CNS/Brain	108	12.85	364	11.76	0.86	(0.68, 1.09)	
	Bone	195	8.97	580	11.63	1.16	(0.97, 1.40)	•
	Liver	127	7.56	410		1.18	(0.94, 1.47)	•
	Lung	205	11.24	579	12.06	1.04	(0.87, 1.24)	+
	Lymph node	179	10.22	544	12.81	1.13	(0.94, 1.37)	•
Number of metastases	0–3	286		886		1.03	(0.88, 1.20)	+
	≥4	92	9.46	265	11.86	1.13	(0.88, 1.45)	

FIGURE 5 | Overall survival from time of mTNBC diagnosis in African American and White patients by patient subgroups. AA, African American; CI, confidence interval; CNS, central nervous system; ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status; HR, hazard ratio; mBC, metastatic breast cancer; mTNBC, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer.

this study has improved generalizability compared to existing racial disparity research in mTNBC, which is predominantly conducted in regional or single institution settings (2, 7, 13-16), our study cohort was restricted to patients receiving care in the community oncology setting, and findings may not be representative of those treated in other settings (e.g., academic, research institutions) or those who do not engage with the healthcare system. For patients treated in the community oncology setting, there may be disparities in the usage of the Flatiron proprietary data system across urban, suburban, and rural communities. The selection of the Flatiron network for clinical record keeping may also have been preferred by certain types of community practices, leading to potential selection bias that could affect patient outcome. Lastly, our conclusions must be interpreted with respect to how race/ethnic information is captured. In contrast to registries such as SEER or National Program of Cancer Registries, race/ethnicity information in the Flatiron database is self-reported and voluntary. This data acquisition approach may not reliably account for multi-ethnic individuals or other genetic ancestry heterogeneity. In this study cohort, approximately 11% of patients had missing race/ethnicity information, a proportion that is larger than in other registry databases. Overall, we believe these limitations are outweighed by the study's strengths including its large, geographically diverse, well-characterized cohort assessing racial differences in patient outcomes across the care continuum from diagnosis to treatment to OS outcomes.

In summary, we found large differences between AA and White women in the proportion of the mTNBC subtype among women with mBC, especially in younger patients and patients who lived in geographic "hotspots". Time to treatment initiation and type of first-line treatment were similar between AA and white patients. OS was poor among the entire cohort and did not differ significantly between racial groups, suggesting that mTNBC is an aggressive disease, regardless of race. Effective treatment remains a substantial unmet need for patients with mTNBC. Considering the lack of racial differences in this patient cohort, prospective studies are needed to further elucidate the biological differences that may have predictive or prognostic significance for AA patients with mTNBC.

REFERENCES

- DeSantis CE, Ma J, Goding Sauer A, Newman LA, Jemal A. Breast cancer statistics, (2017). racial disparity in mortality by state. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2017) 67:439–48. doi: 10.3322/caac.21412
- Bauer KR, Brown M, Cress RD, Parise CA, Caggiano V. Descriptive analysis of estrogen receptor (ER)-negative, progesterone receptor (PR)-negative, and HER2-negative invasive breast cancer, the so-called triple-negative phenotype: a population-based study from the California cancer registry. *Cancer.* (2007) 109:1721–8. doi: 10.1002/cncr.22618
- Dent R, Trudeau M, Pritchard KI, Hanna WM, Kahn HK, Sawka CA, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: clinical features and patterns of recurrence. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2007) 13:4429–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0 6-3045
- Scott LC, Mobley LR, Kuo TM, Il'yasova D. Update on triple-negative breast cancer disparities for the United States: A population-based study from the United States Cancer Statistics database, 2010 through 2014. *Cancer*. (2019) 125:3412–7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32207

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because the data that support the findings of this study have been originated by Flatiron Health, Inc. These de-identified data may be made available upon request, and are subject to a license agreement with Flatiron Health; interested researchers should contact DataAccess@flatiron.com to determine licensing terms. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to DataAccess@flatiron.com.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RT, LC, and EM contributed to the conception and design. YY, VS, and B-mD performed data analysis and interpretation. All authors wrote the manuscript and approved the final version. All authors are accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

The authors declare that this study received funding from Genentech, Inc. The funder had the following involvement: study design, data analysis, interpretation of data, and writing of this article.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

These data were presented, in part, at the San Antonio Breast Cancer Virtual Symposium, December 8–12, 2020. Support for third-party editorial assistance was provided by Holly Strausbaugh, PhD and Katherine Stevens-Favorite, PhD (Twist Medical, Burlingame, CA, USA), and funded by Genentech.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.859113/full#supplementary-material

- Anders CK, Carey LA. Biology, metastatic patterns, and treatment of patients with triple-negative breast cancer. *Clin Breast Cancer*. (2009) 9(Suppl. 2):S73– 81. doi: 10.3816/CBC.2009.s.008
- Amirikia KC, Mills P, Bush J, Newman LA. Higher population-based incidence rates of triple-negative breast cancer among young African–American women: Implications for breast cancer screening recommendations. *Cancer*. (2011) 117:2747–53. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25862
- Lund MJ, Trivers KF, Porter PL, Coates RJ, Leyland-Jones B, Brawley OW, et al. Race and triple negative threats to breast cancer survival: A populationbased study in Atlanta, GA. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2009) 113:357–70. doi: 10.1007/s10549-008-9926-3
- Shen Y, Dong W, Esteva FJ, Kau S-W, Theriault RL. Bevers TB. Are there racial differences in breast cancer treatments and clinical outcomes for women treated at MD Anderson Cancer Center? *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2007) 102:347–56. doi: 10.1007/s10549-006-9337-2
- Sachdev JC, Ahmed S, Mirza MM, Farooq A, Kronish L, Jahanzeb M. Does race affect outcomes in triple negative breast cancer? *Breast Cancer (Auckl)*. (2010) 4:23–33. doi: 10.1177/117822341000400003

- Skinner KE, Haiderali A, Huang M, Schwartzberg LS. Real-world effectiveness outcomes in patients diagnosed with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. *Future Oncol.* (2021) 17:931–41. doi: 10.2217/fon-2020-1021
- Cho B, Han Y, Lian M, Colditz GA, Weber JD, Ma C, et al. Evaluation of racial/ethnic differences in treatment and mortality among women with triple-negative breast cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* (2021) 7:1016–23. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.1254
- Warner ET, Tamimi RM, Hughes ME, Ottesen RA, Wong Y-N, Edge SB, et al. Racial and ethnic differences in breast cancer survival: mediating effect of tumor characteristics and sociodemographic and treatment factors. *J Clin Oncol.* (2015) 33:2254–61. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.57.1349
- Sturtz LA, Melley J, Mamula K, Shriver CD, Ellsworth RE. Outcome disparities in African American women with triple negative breast cancer: A comparison of epidemiological and molecular factors between African American and Caucasian women with triple negative breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*. (2014) 14:62. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-62
- O'Brien KM, Cole SR, Tse C-K, Perou CM, Carey LA, Foulkes WD, et al. Intrinsic breast tumor subtypes, race, and long-term survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:6100–10. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1533
- Pacheco JM, Gao F, Bumb C, Ellis MJ, Ma CX. Racial differences in outcomes of triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2013) 138:281–9. doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2397-6
- Dawood S, Broglio K, Kau S-W, Green MC, Giordano SH, Meric-Bernstam F, et al. Triple receptor–negative breast cancer: the effect of race on response to primary systemic treatment and survival outcomes. *J Clin Oncol.* (2009) 27:220–6. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.17.9952
- Prasad S, Efird JT, James SE, Walker PR, Zagar TM, Biswas T. Failure patterns and survival outcomes in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC): A 15 year comparison of 448 non-hispanic black and white women. *Springerplus*. (2016) 5:756. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2444-6
- Chang CS, Kitamura E, Johnson J, Bollag R, Hawthorn L. Genomic analysis of racial differences in triple negative breast cancer. *Genomics*. (2019) 111:1529– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2018.10.010
- Dietze EC, Sistrunk C, Miranda-Carboni G, O'Regan R, Seewaldt VL. Triplenegative breast cancer in African-American women: Disparities vs. biology. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2015) 15:248–54. doi: 10.1038/nrc3896
- Siddharth S, Sharma D. Racial disparity and triple-negative breast cancer in African-American women: A multifaceted affair between obesity, biology, and socioeconomic determinants. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2018) 10:514. doi: 10.3390/cancers10120514

- Biswas T, Prasad S, Zagar T, Efird J, James SE, Walker PR, et al. Insurance status as a strong predictor of outcome in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC): A multi-institutional retrospective study. J Clin Oncol. (2013) 31:abstr1069. doi: 10.1200/jco.2013.31.15_suppl. 1069
- Hossain F, Danos D, Prakash O, Gilliland A, Ferguson TF, Simonsen N, et al. Neighborhood social determinants of triple negative breast cancer. *Front Public Health.* (2019) 7:18. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00018
- Parise C, Caggiano V. The influence of marital status and race/ethnicity on risk of mortality for triple negative breast cancer. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0196134. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196134
- 24. Luhn P, Chui SY, Hsieh AF Yi J, Mecke A, Bajaj PS, et al. Comparative effectiveness of first-line nab-paclitaxel vs. paclitaxel monotherapy in triple-negative breast cancer. *J Comp Eff Res.* (2019) 8:1173–85. doi: 10.2217/cer-2019-0077
- Moss JL, Tatalovich Z, Zhu L, Morgan C, Cronin KA. Triple-negative breast cancer incidence in the United States: Ecological correlations with area-level sociodemographics, healthcare, and health behaviors. *Breast Cancer*. (2021) 28:82–91. doi: 10.1007/s12282-020-01132-w

Conflict of Interest: RT, LC, YY, VS, and B-mD are employed by Genentech, Inc. and hold stock in F. Hoffmann-La Roche, Ltd.

The remaining author declares that aside from the medical editing support she received, the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tan, Cassoli, Yan, Shen, Day and Mitchell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Racial Disparities in Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy: Does Aggressive Surgical Treatment Overcome Cancer Health Inequities?

Devon C. Freudenberger¹, Xiaoyan Deng², Vignesh Vudatha¹, Andrea N. Riner³, Kelly M. Herremans³, Dipankar Bandyopadhyay², Leopoldo J. Fernandez¹ and Jose G. Trevino^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patricia Thompson, Cedars Sinai Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Luis G. Carvajal-Carmona, University of California, Davis, United States Maurizio Cardi, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

*Correspondence: Jose G. Trevino jose.trevino@vcuhealth.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 18 March 2022 Accepted: 23 May 2022 Published: 08 June 2022

Citation:

Freudenberger DC, Deng X, Vudatha V, Riner AN, Herremans KM, Bandyopadhyay D, Fernandez LJ and Trevino JG (2022) Racial Disparities in Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy: Does Aggressive Surgical Treatment Overcome Cancer Health Inequities? Front. Oncol. 12:899488. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.899488 ¹ Division of Surgical Oncology, Department of Surgery, Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine, Richmond, VA, United States, ² Department of Biostatistics, Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine, Richmond, VA, United States, ³ Department of Surgery, University of Florida College of Medicine, Gainesville, FL, United States

Background: Advanced cancer states perpetuate health-related disparities. Peritonealbased cancers are clinically advanced cancers that present a significant clinical dilemma. Peritoneal cancers are managed aggressively with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). While racial and ethnic disparities are prevalent in cancer, there are no studies investigating if racial disparities exist in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis managed with CRS and HIPEC. We hypothesized that this advanced disease state further delineates racial disparities.

Methods: A retrospective chart review was conducted on patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis receiving CRS and HIPEC at a single institution from January 1, 2017-October 4, 2021. Descriptive statistics were used to compare racial groups. The Cox Proportional Hazards Model and Log Rank Test were used for multivariate and overall survival analysis.

Results: In total, 67 patients underwent CRS and HIPEC, of which 41 (61.2%) were White, 20 (29.8%) were Black, 3 (4.5%) were Asian, and 3 (4.5%) were Other race. When compared to White patients, Black patients had lower income (p=0.0011), higher incidence of hypertension (p=0.0231), and lower performance status (p=0.0441). Cancer type, including colorectal, appendiceal, ovarian, etc., was similar between groups (p=0.8703). Despite these differences in sociodemographic and morbidity factors, when comparing Black patients to White patients, there were no differences in peritoneal cancer index score (13.2 vs. 12.3, p=0.6932), estimated blood loss (748 vs. 655 mL, p=0.6332), minor/major complication rates (1.1 vs. 1.2, p=0.7281; 0.4 vs. 0.7, p=0.3470, respectively), 30-day readmission rates (25.0% vs. 17.1%, p=0.6210), disease recurrence (40.0% vs. 51.2%, p=0.3667), or 30-day mortality (0.0% vs. 2.4%, p=1.0000). Overall survival was similar for Black and White patients (p=0.2693). The occurrence of a

major complication was the only factor associated with overall survival (HR 2.188 [1.502, 3.188], p< 0.0001).

Conclusions: Despite differences in patient socioeconomic factors and comorbid conditions, outcomes were similar between Black and White patients receiving CRS and HIPEC at our institution. While larger studies with more diverse patient populations are needed to confirm these findings, our data provide evidence that aggressive surgical management across diverse patient populations allows for equitable outcomes.

Keywords: peritoneal carcinomatosis, cytoreductive surgery, HIPEC (heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy), surgical outcomes, racial disparities

INTRODUCTION

Advanced cancer states perpetuate health-related disparities through multiple mechanisms, including tumor biology, genetics, and sociodemographic factors (1). There has been much effort to examine and mitigate these disparities and provide more equitable care for diverse patient populations. Peritoneal carcinomatosis, however, is one such advanced cancer that has largely been overlooked in this realm of research.

Peritoneal carcinomatosis, or peritoneal surface malignancy/ metastasis, is the dissemination of cancer along the peritoneum of the abdominal cavity. This peritoneal surface malignancy/ metastasis occurs primarily as peritoneal mesothelioma or secondarily to a variety of abdominal and gynecologic cancers including colorectal, appendiceal, gastric, ovarian, and fallopian cancer (2) and represents a Stage IV cancer that is localized to the peritoneal lining. The presence of peritoneal carcinomatosis tends to yield a poor prognosis for patients and previous dogma viewed peritoneal carcinomatosis as an incurable systemic disease process. Fortunately, treatment advances have led to a paradigm shift where peritoneal carcinomatosis is viewed as a localized, potentially curable disease. This shift in clinical management has primarily occurred with the introduction of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC), which have been shown to improve survival in select patients (3).

CRS and HIPEC is an advanced, complex, morbid, and aggressive surgical treatment modality for peritoneal surface malignancies. During this treatment modality all macroscopic resectable tumor is removed from the abdomen, which can include a variety of anatomic resections specific to the patient, such as peritonectomy, enterectomy, colectomy, cholecystectomy, omentectomy, hysterectomy, etc. Heated chemotherapy specific to the cancer, is then infused into the abdomen to assist in destruction of any remaining tumor deposits and microscopic disease (4). Morbidity and mortality are high (5), but CRS and HIPEC has been found to have lower 30-day morbidity and mortality than other complex surgical procedures such as an esophagectomy, pancreaticoduodenectomy, and hepatectomy (6). Given the known risks of morbidity and mortality associated with this procedure, it is imperative to identify patient populations that might not only be disproportionately affected by this disease but also those that will clinically benefit from such aggressive surgery.

Few studies have investigated the disparities present in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with CRS and HIPEC. The limited number of currently published studies have focused primarily on the impact of socioeconomic status and insurance status on patient outcomes, overlooking possible racial disparities within this patient population (7-9). Racial disparities exist in the diagnosis, treatment, management, and survival of cancer (10-15). Black patients have been shown to have higher rates of cancer-related mortality when compared to White patients (11, 16). Additionally, racial disparities are further perpetuated in the surgical treatment of cancer. Black patients undergoing major cancer surgery have been shown to have worse postoperative outcomes, including more complications, higher rates of in-hospital mortality, higher likelihood of needing postoperative blood transfusions, and longer hospital stays (17, 18). Recent encouraging data has shown that cancer surgeryrelated mortality has improved for both Black and White patients, but Black patients continue to be disproportionately affected compared to White patients (14). Therefore, we feel it is imperative that cancer-related investigations on higher risk and reward surgery in aggressive disease processes for racial/ethnic diverse patient populations should be investigated.

To our knowledge, there have been no studies investigating potential racial disparities in perioperative and postoperative outcomes for patients receiving CRS and HIPEC in the setting of peritoneal carcinomatosis. The aim of this study was to investigate this amongst patients receiving CRS and HIPEC at a single highvolume, tertiary institution. We hypothesized that racial disparities exist amongst patients receiving CRS and HIPEC, and thus, should be identified for improvement of patient outcomes and equity of care.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient Selection and Data

A retrospective chart review was completed for all patients who underwent CRS and HIPEC at our institution from January 1, 2017 to October 4, 2021. Patients eligible for inclusion in this study were 18 years of age and older and received first-time CRS and HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis. Patients were excluded if they were less than 18 years old or received HIPEC exclusively for palliation of ascites. This study was approved by the institutional review board at Virginia Commonwealth University Health System.

Clinical data including patient demographics, risk factors, oncologic history, and intraoperative and postoperative outcomes were obtained from the electronic medical record for each patient. Demographics included age, sex, race (White, Black, Asian, or Other), ethnicity (Hispanic or Non-Hispanic), insurance status (private payor or government-based payor), distance traveled to the hospital (obtained by calculating the distance from the patient's listed zip code city center to the treating medical center), and median household income (obtained using the patient's listed zip code and US Census Data from the American Community Survey 5-year estimates from 2015 to 2019 (19)).

Risk factors included the patient's preoperative American Association of Anesthesiologist Physical Status Classification System score (ASA score) and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status (ECOG-PS), and presence of comorbidities including hypertension, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), coronary artery disease, chronic kidney disease, and current smoking status. Oncologic history included the patient's type of cancer and receipt of neoadjuvant chemotherapy prior to CRS and HIPEC.

Intraoperative variables included the length of surgery, calculated peritoneal cancer index (PCI), cytoreduction score (CC score), intraoperative receipt of blood transfusion, estimated blood loss (EBL), number of bowel anastomoses created, and creation of an ostomy. Postoperative variables included minor complications defined by the Clavien-Dindo classification types I-II and major complications defined by the Clavien-Dindo classification types III-IV within 30 days of surgery, length of hospital stay, readmission within 30 days of surgery, 30-day mortality, postoperative recurrence of disease defined by radiographic or biopsy-proven evidence, length of follow-up, and length of survival. Length of survival was calculated from the date of surgery to the patient's known date of death or date of last record in the institution's electronic health system.

Statistical Analysis

The data were stratified by racial groups. Differences between racial groups' demographic factors, preoperative risk factors, intraoperative outcomes, and postoperative outcomes were compared using descriptive and inferential statistics.

Multivariate analysis for clinical factors associated with survival was performed with the Cox Proportional Hazards Model. Explanatory factors included in the model were age, sex, race, insurance, income, neoadjuvant chemotherapy, minor complications, major complications, readmission at 30 days, and recurrence of cancer. The backward selection method was used. The significance level for removing effects from the model was specified at 0.1. Overall survival, the primary outcome, was also calculated and the Log Rank Test was used to compare the distribution of survival time between Black and White patients. Lastly, a power analysis was performed using a two-sided Log Rank Test to ensure adequate sample size for detecting differences in results. An alpha-value of 0.05 was used for determining significance. All statistical analyses were completed using SAS Version 9.4 (Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

A total of 67 patients underwent CRS and HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis during the specified time period and met inclusion criteria. The racial breakdown included 41 (61.1%) White patients, 20 (29.9%) Black patients, 3 (4.5%) Asian patients, and 3 (4.5%) patients listed as Other race. Given the small sample sizes for Asian and Other races, these patients were excluded from further analysis.

Patient demographics, preoperative risk factors, and oncologic history are presented in **Table 1**. Age, distribution of sex, and preoperative body mass index (BMI) were similar between Black and White patients. In terms of preexisting comorbidities, Black patients had higher rates of hypertension requiring medication compared to White patients (70.0% vs. 39.0%, p=0.0231), but otherwise comorbidities were present in both populations at comparable rates. Preoperative assessment of risk according to the ASA Score was similar between groups (p=0.9795). However, preoperative patient performance status as measured via the ECOG-PS was worse in Black patients compared to White patients (p=0.0441).

Socioeconomic factors were analyzed as well to ascertain any differences in social determinants of health. Both groups were insured with private or government insurance at similar rates; no patient was uninsured. White and Black patients traveled similar distances to the medical center for treatment (63.0 vs. 34.9 miles, p=0.3596). Black patients had significantly lower household income than White patients (\$53,719 vs. 69,294, p=0.0011).

With respect to patient oncologic history, the type of cancer as well as receipt of neoadjuvant chemotherapy were similar between racial groups (p=0.8703 and p=0.7608, respectively). In total, the most common cancers were of colorectal (37.8%) and appendiceal (26.2%) origin.

Intraoperative and Postoperative Clinical Outcomes

Intraoperative and postoperative outcomes by race are presented in **Table 2**. A complete breakdown of each complication is reported in **Supplementary Table 1**. At the time of surgery, the mean PCI scores were similar between Black and White patients indicating similar extents of peritoneal disease (13.2 vs. 12.3, respectively). Length of surgery, estimated blood loss, the number of anastomoses created, and creation of an ostomy were similar between Black and White patients as well.

Postoperatively, outcomes were similar between Black and White patients. The mean complication rates for both minor and major complications occurring within 30 days of surgery were similar between Black and White patients. Only one type of postoperative complication was noted to be statistically significant and higher in one group in relation to the other; Black patients experienced higher rates of prolonged intubation (defined as remaining intubated for greater than 48 hours after surgery) compared to White patients (15.0% vs. 0.0%,

TABLE 1	Patient demographics and preoperative demographics by race.
---------	---

	Black (n = 20)	White (n = 41)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	55.5 (36.0-73.0)	55.3 (23.0-75.0)	0.9540
Sex			0.9416
Female	12 (60.0%)	25 (61.0%)	
Male	8 (40.0%)	16 (39.0%)	
BMI (kg/m²)	31.9 (21.8-53.9)	30.0 (18.4-57.8)	0.3483
Insurance			0.9354
Private	11 (55.0%)	23 (56.1%)	
Government	9 (45.0%)	18 (43.9%)	
Household Income (USD,	53,719 (27,063-92,069)	69,294 (36,379-107,321)	0.0011
mean)			
Distance Traveled (miles,	34.9 (3.0-102.0)	63.0 (4.1-822.0)	0.3596
mean)		× ,	
Comorbidities			
Hypertension	14 (70.0%)	16 (39.0%)	0.0231
Coronary artery disease	0 (0.0%)	5 (12.2%)	0.1620
Diabetes mellitus	4 (20.0%)	10 (24.4%)	0.7019
COPD	1 (5.0%)	1 (2.4%)	1.0000
Chronic kidney disease	1 (5.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0.3279
Current Smoker	2 (10.0%)	2 (4.9%)	0.5915
ASA Score	× ,		0.9795
1	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	
2	3 (15.0%)	7 (17.1%)	
3	16 (80.0%)	32 (78.1%)	
4	1 (5.0%)	2 (4.9%)	
5	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	
ECOG-PS			0.0441
0	11 (55.0%)	34 (82.9%)	
1	8 (40.0%)	7 (17.1%)	
2	1 (5.0%)	0 (0.0%)	
Primary Cancer Type			0.8703
Appendiceal	6 (30.0%)	10 (24.4%)	
Colorectal	7 (35.0%)	16 (39.0%)	
Esophageal	0 (0.0%)	1 (2.4%)	
Gastric	1 (5.0%)	1 (2.4%)	
Ovarian/Fallopian	2 (10.0%)	8 (19.5%)	
Small bowel	1 (5.0%)	2 (4.9%)	
Other	3 (15.0%)	3 (7.3%)	
Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy	13 (65.0%)	25 (61.0%)	0.7608
Preoperative Albumin	4.4 (3.1-4.8)	4.2 (3.6-5.0)	0.1701

p=0.0317). Black and White patients had similar lengths of hospital stay (13.1 vs 11.6 days, respectively; p=0.5012). Readmission to the hospital within 30 days of discharge was also similar between races (p=0.6210). Recurrence of disease after surgery, as evidenced radiographically or biopsy-proven,

occurred in 47.5% (29/61) of the patients, but recurrence rates were similar amongst Black and White patients (p=0.3677). Mortality within 30 days of the index operation was not statistically different between Black and White patients (0.0% vs. 2.4%, p=1.000).

TABLE 2 | Patient intraoperative and postoperative outcomes within 30 days of surgery by race.

	, , ,		
	Black (n = 20)	White (n = 41)	<i>p</i> -value
PCI Score	13.2 (2-35)	12.3 (3-26)	0.6932
Length of Surgery (min)	590 (386-780)	642 (367-1098)	0.2975
EBL (mL)	748 (100-2500)	655 (50-3000)	0.6332
No. of anastomoses (median)	1 (0-3)	1 (0-3)	0.6290
Ostomy Creation	2 (10.0%)	5 (12.2%)	1.0000
Hospital LOS (days)	13.1 (5.0-26.0)	11.6 (3.0-48.0)	0.5012
Minor Complications	1.1 (0-3)	1.2 (0-5)	0.7281
Major Complications	0.4 (0-4)	0.7 (0-8)	0.3470
Total Complications	1.5 (0-7)	2.0 (0-11)	0.4579
Readmission within 30 days	5 (25.0%)	7 (17.1%)	0.6210
30-day mortality	0 (0.0%)	1 (2.4%)	1.0000
Recurrence after surgery	8 (40.0%)	21 (51.2%)	0.3667

Multivariate and Survival Analysis

Multivariate analysis was conducted to identify factors associated with survival. After controlling for explanatory factors, only sex and the occurrence of major complication were included in the final model. The occurrence of a major complication was the only factor, however, associated with survival (HR: 2.188, 95% CI 1.502-3.188, p<0.001), indicating that for each major complication suffered, the risk of death more than doubled. Sex was not found to be significantly associated with survival (HR: 4.195, p=0.0742).

Survival analysis was completed to compare overall survival between Black and White patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with CRS and HIPEC (**Figure 1**). There was no statistically significant difference in the distribution of survival time among Black and White patients (p=0.2693).

Power Analysis

A power analysis for sample size was performed using a two-sided Log Rank Test to ensure the results were not underpowered. Using an overall sample size of 61 subjects (20 Black patients and 41 White patients) a power of 80.5% at a 5% significance level was achieved to detect a hazard ratio of 2.3 (corresponding to a moderate effect size of 0.65, under exponentiality assumptions for the survival functions) between the comparison groups. Two assumptions were made including 4.6 years of follow-up based on the maximum followup time of 56 months and no subjects dropping out of the study. This indicates that the study is not underpowered.

DISCUSSION

Health disparity research is at the forefront of cancer research in efforts to establish more equitable care across diverse patient



populations. Despite low awareness among surgeons, the surgical management of cancer is fraught with disparities (1, 17, 18, 20-23). There is sparce literature examining health disparities in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with CRS and HIPEC with no literature evaluating the presence of racial disparities in this population. We present a patient population with comparable preoperative demographics and risk factors, who had similar perioperative outcomes. Despite having lower income and presumably higher financial vulnerability, Black patients in our study had similar outcomes compared to White patients. This finding contrasts the results reported by Rieser et al. who found that for colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis, patients with lower socioeconomic status had longer lengths of stay, more complications, and higher rates of 90-day readmission and 30-day mortality (7). The authors argued that patients with lower socioeconomic status experience multiple disadvantages and worse overall survival compared to higher socioeconomic status patients that was not explained by individual cancer biology characteristics. Locoregional differences may influence why our results do not corroborate the findings reported by Rieser et al.

When comparing racial groups, hypertension was the only comorbidity that disproportionately affected Black patients, consistent with prevalence rates of hypertension nationally (24). Interestingly, however, there were no differences in the rates of other comorbidities, although Black patients share a higher burden of diseases such as chronic kidney disease and diabetes (25, 26). This likely reflects the underlying referral and selection patterns for patients that are relatively healthy at baseline and can withstand a complex and morbid surgery.

Previous studies have reported the association of insurance status with overall survival, but insurance was not a predictive factor in our patient population (8, 9). Overall survival was similar between Black and White patients in our study. Stratification by insurance status is the only other sociodemographic factor that has been examined for difference in overall survival with varying results. In a 2021 study of 124 patients with colorectal cancer receiving CRS and HIPEC, patients who were underinsured had worse survival than insured patients (8). However, in a smaller study of 31 patients with varying cancers undergoing CRS and HIPEC, there was no difference in survival by insurance status (9).

We also found that the occurrence of a major complication postoperatively was associated with overall survival. This agrees with results from a similar study investigating colorectal cancer patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC (7).

Notably, our study represents a diverse patient population. Nearly one third of the patients were Black. This is remarkable because other studies have reported proportions of 10% or less, or race was not reported (7, 8). In a 2019 study of the National Cancer Database characterizing the patient population undergoing cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy (defined as receipt of HIPEC at the time of surgery or intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the perioperative period) for appendiceal cancer, only 6.60% of patients were reported as Black race, and the majority, 88.2%, were reported as White race, likely disproportionately representing the diversity of the patients with appendiceal cancer (27). There is otherwise a paucity of literature characterizing the racial distribution of patients that undergo CRS and HIPEC. This raises the larger and more concerning question as to why so few Black patients compared to White patients are receiving CRS and HIPEC, when incidence rates of some cancers treated with CRS and HIPEC are higher among Black patients (28). This also raises the question of what, if any, underlying factors may be preventing this population from potentially receiving treatment.

Our results argue that since postoperative and oncologic outcomes are similar between Black and White patients, Black patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis should be referred for and treated with CRS and HIPEC equitably. However, Byrne et al. reported that in patients with appendiceal cancer, White race and non-Hispanic ethnicity were both positive predictors for receiving CRS and HIPEC (OR: 2.00, 95% CI 1.40-2.86; OR: 1.92, 95% CI 1.21-3.05, respectively) (27). Given that CRS and HIPEC are complex and highly specialized procedures primarily conducted at tertiary care centers, the level of specialization itself may potentially be contributing to lack of access to care. Previous research has shown that hospital factors are influential in racial health disparities for cancer surgery (1, 21). When compared to White patients, Black patients with colorectal cancer were less likely to be referred to high-volume hospitals for the treatment of their cancer (29). However, racial disparities were erased when patients received care for colorectal cancer in the setting of an equal access healthcare system (22).

We do acknowledge the multiple limitations of our study. First, these findings are from a small sample over a four-year timeframe, representative of a single institution's patient population. Therefore, these results may not be applicable to the entire patient population that undergoes this procedure and may reflect the high-quality equitable care delivered at our institution. Although our power analysis indicates that our results are not underpowered, we acknowledge that the sample size is small and further investigation with larger sample sizes is warranted. Second, given limited sample sizes within each cancer type, all patients treated with CRS and HIPEC were grouped together without stratifying for different cancer types. Doing so may potentially neglect the underlying and unique biologic and physiologic differences of each cancer that influence survival. However, this lack of stratification holds validity for viewing CRS and HIPEC as a treatment modality for peritoneal carcinomatosis regardless of the cancer type. Lastly, although racial disparities in referral for or access to CRS and HIPEC are important to assess, such an analysis extends beyond the scope of this current study, which demonstrates that once this treatment modality has been accessed, outcomes are similar regardless of race.

Despite these limitations, these results are encouraging, yet necessitate the need for further investigation. Specifically, further study must be undertaken to investigate any possible racial/ ethnic disparities in larger, more nationally diverse and representative patient populations, in hopes of confirming our findings. Additionally, as previously mentioned, there is little data characterizing the patient population that is actually receiving CRS and HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis. This presents an opportunity to better examine which populations are undergoing CRS and HIPEC, and to identify what factors and disparities are present that limit access to a possible cure for cancer.

In conclusion, advanced cancer states perpetuate health disparities, especially with respect to race. We hypothesized that the advanced cancer state of peritoneal carcinomatosis would demonstrate such racial disparities. Our results, however, contradicted this, and demonstrated that regardless of a patients' race, outcomes are similar after CRS and HIPEC, despite differences in socioeconomic status and comorbidities. Therefore, aggressive surgical management of peritoneal carcinomatosis promotes equitable outcomes across diverse patient populations and more efforts should be taken to investigate disparities in this patient population.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Virginia Commonwealth University IRB. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DF designed the project, acquired, analyzed and interpreted data, and wrote the manuscript. XD and DB analyzed and interpreted data. VV, AR, and KH interpreted data and revised the manuscript. LF and JT designed the project and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript, approved the submitted version, and are accountable for the content of the work.

FUNDING

Services and products in support of the research project were generated by the VCU Massey Cancer Center Biostatistics Shared Resource, supported, in part, with funding from NIH-NCI Cancer Center Support Grant P30 CA016059. The authors are additionally supported by the National Human Genome Research Institute (T32 HG008958 to AR, KH) and National Cancer Institute (R01 CA242003 to JGT, U54 CA233444 to JGT, U54 CA233444-03S1 to AR and JT, and T32 CA093423-13 to DCF) of the National Institutes of Health and the Joseph and Ann Matella Fund for Pancreatic Cancer Research (JT).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the patients and their families who have entrusted us with their care at the Massey Cancer Center at Virginia Commonwealth University.

REFERENCES

- Nizam W, Yeo HL, Obeng-Gyasi S, Brock MV, Johnston FM. Disparities in Surgical Oncology: Management of Advanced Cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2021) 28:8056–73. doi: 10.1245/s10434-021-10275-9
- Chicago Consensus Working Group. The Chicago Consensus Guidelines for Peritoneal Surface Malignancies: Introduction. Ann Surg Oncol (2020) 27:1737–40. doi: 10.1245/s10434-020-08318-8
- Levine EA, Stewart JH, Shen P, Russell GB, Loggie BL, Votanopoulos KI. Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Peritoneal Surface Malignancy: Experience With 1,000 Patients. J Am Coll Surg (2014) 218:573–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.12.013
- 4. Rajeev R, Turaga KK. Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy and Cytoreductive Surgery in the Management of Peritoneal Carcinomatosis. *Cancer Control* (2016) 23:36–46. doi: 10.1177/107327481602300107
- Huang C-Q, Min Y, Wang S-Y, Yang X-J, Liu Y, Xiong B, et al. Cytoreductive Surgery Plus Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy Improves Survival for Peritoneal Carcinomatosis From Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Current Evidence. Oncotarget (2017) 8:55657–83. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17497
- Foster JM, Sleightholm R, Patel A, Shostrom V, Hall B, Neilsen B, et al. Morbidity and Mortality Rates Following Cytoreductive Surgery Combined With Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy Compared With Other High-Risk Surgical Oncology Procedures. JAMA Netw Open (2019) 2: e186847. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.6847
- Rieser CJ, Hoehn RS, Zenati M, Hall LB, Kang E, Zureikat AH, et al. Impact of Socioeconomic Status on Presentation and Outcomes in Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases Following Cytoreduction and Chemoperfusion: Persistent Inequalities in Outcomes at a High-Volume Center. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2021) 28:3522–31. doi: 10.1245/s10434
- Hanna DN, Ghani MO, Hermina A, Mina A, Bailey CE, Idrees K, et al. Impact of Insurance Status on Oncologic and Perioperative Outcomes After Cytoreductive Surgery With Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2021) 29(1):253–9. doi: 10.1245/s10434-021-10670-2
- Chokshi RJ, Kim JK, Patel J, Oliver JB, Mahmoud O. Impact of Insurance Status on Overall Survival After Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (CRS-HIPEC). *Pleura Peritoneum* (2020) 5:1– 7. doi: 10.1515/pap-2020-0105
- Clegg LX, Li FP, Hankey BF, Chu K, Edwards BK. Cancer Survival Among US Whites and Minorities: A SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results) Program Population-Based Study. Arch Intern Med (2002) 162:1983–5. doi: 10.1001/archinte.162.17.1985
- Singh GK, Jemal A. Socioeconomic and Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Mortality, Incidence, and Survival in the United States, 1950-2014: Over Six Decades of Changing Patterns and Widening Inequalities. J Environ Public Health (2017) 2017:1–19. doi: 10.1155/2017/2819372
- Ellis L, Canchola AJ, Spiegel D, Ladabaum U, Haile R, Gomez SL. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Survival: The Contribution of Tumor, Sociodemographic, Institutional, and Neighborhood Characteristics. J Clin Oncol (2018) 36:25–33. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.2049
- 13. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin (2019) 69:7–34. doi: 10.3322/caac.21551
- Lam MB, Raphael K, Mehtsun WT, Phelan J, Orav EJ, Jha AK, et al. Changes in Racial Disparities in Mortality After Cancer Surgery in the US, 2007-2016. JAMA Netw Open (2020) 3:1–11. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.27415
- Haider AH, VK S, KA R, Velopulos C, JM B, EE C, et al. Racial Disparities in Surgical Care and Outcomes in the United States: A Comprehensive Review of Patient, Provider, and Systemic Factors. J Am Coll Surg (2013) 216:482– 92.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.11.014
- Aizer AA, Wilhite TJ, Chen M-H, Graham PL, Choueiri TK, Hoffman KE, et al. Lack of Reduction in Racial Disparities in Cancer-Specific Mortality Over a 20-Year Period. *Cancer* (2014) 120:1532–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28617

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022.899488/ full#supplementary-material

- Sukumar S, Ravi P, Sood A, Gervais M-K, Hu JC, Kim SP, et al. Racial Disparities in Operative Outcomes After Major Cancer Surgery in the United States. World J Surg (2015) 39:634–43. doi: 10.1007/s00268-014-2863-x
- Sathianathen NJ, Jarosek SL, Fan Y, Krishna SR, Konety BR. Racial Disparities in Surgical Outcomes Among Males Following Major Urologic Cancer Surgery. Am J Prev Med (2018) 55:S14–21. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.05.012
- 19. United States Census Bureau. Quick Facts United States (2021). Available at: http://www.census.gov/quickfacts.
- Britton BV, Nagarajan N, Zogg CK, Selvarajah S, Schupper AJ, Kironji AG, et al. Awareness of Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Surgical Outcomes and Care: Factors Affecting Acknowledgment and Action. *Am J Surg* (2016) 212:102–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.07.022
- Breslin TM, Morris AM, Gu N, Wong SL, Finlayson EV, Banerjee M, et al. Hospital Factors and Racial Disparities in Mortality After Surgery for Breast and Colon Cancer. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:3945–50. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2008.20.8546
- Gill AA, Enewold L, Zahm SH, Shriver CD, Stojadinovic A, McGlynn KA, et al. Colon Cancer Treatment: Are There Racial Disparities in an Equal-Access Healthcare System? *Dis Colon Rectum* (2014) 57:1059–65. doi: 10.1097/DCR.00000000000177
- Reames BN, Birkmeyer NJO, Dimick JB, Ghaferi AA. Socioeconomic Disparities in Mortality After Cancer Surgery: Failure to Rescue. JAMA Surg (2014) 149:475–81. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2013.5076
- Ogunniyi MO, Commodore-Mensah Y, Ferdinand KC. Race, Ethnicity, Hypertension, and Heart Disease: JACC Focus Seminar 1/9. J Am Coll Cardiol (2021) 78:2460–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.06.017
- 25. Vart P, Powe NR, McCulloch CE, Saran R, Gillespie BW, Saydah S, et al. National Trends in the Prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease Among Racial/ Ethnic and Socioeconomic Status Groups, 1988-2016. JAMA Netw Open (2020) 3:e207932. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.7932
- Cheng YJ, Kanaya AM, Araneta MRG, Saydah SH, Kahn HS, Gregg EW, et al. Prevalence of Diabetes by Race and Ethnicity in the United States, 2011-2016. *JAMA* (2019) 322:2389–98. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.19365
- Byrne RM, Gilbert EW, Dewey EN, Herzig DO, Lu KC, Billingsley KG, et al. Who Undergoes Cytoreductive Surgery and Perioperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Appendiceal Cancer? An Analysis of the National Cancer Database. J Surg Res (2019) 238:198–206. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2019.01.039
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71:7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654
- Liu JH, Zingmond DS, McGory ML, SooHoo NF, Ettner SL, Brook RH, et al. Disparities in the Utilization of High-Volume Hospitals for Complex Surgery. *JAMA* (2006) 296:1973–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.296.16.1973

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Freudenberger, Deng, Vudatha, Riner, Herremans, Bandyopadhyay, Fernandez and Trevino. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Addressing Health Disparities Across the Cancer Continuum a Los Angeles Approach to Achieving Equity

Laurel J. Finster^{1*}, Celina H. Shirazipour¹, Loraine A. Escobedo¹, Myles Cockburn², Zul Surani¹ and Robert W. Haile¹

¹ Cancer Research Center for Health Equity, Division of Medical Oncology, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ² Norris Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Southern California, Keck School of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jennifer Freedman, Duke University, United States

Reviewed by:

Steven Patierno, Duke University, United States Jennie L. Williams, Stony Brook University, United States

> *Correspondence: Laurel J. Finster laurel.finster@cshs.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 04 April 2022 Accepted: 07 June 2022 Published: 05 July 2022

Citation:

Finster LJ, Shirazipour CH, Escobedo LA, Cockburn M, Surani Z and Haile RW (2022) Addressing Health Disparities Across the Cancer Continuum—a Los Angeles Approach to Achieving Equity. Front. Oncol. 12:912832. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.912832 **Introduction:** Different models have been developed to address inequities across the cancer care continuum. However, there remains a scarcity of best practices on understanding and responding to the burden of cancer in a defined catchment area. As such, the National Cancer Institute (NCI) recently provided a framework to maximize the impact on cancer burden, including a greater focus on community outreach and engagement. In this paper, we describe how Cedars Sinai Cancer (CSC), a health system that serves one of the most diverse counties in the US, implemented the framework to define its catchment area, characterize its population, identify high risk priority groups, and make decisions to address health disparities.

Methods: We provide a review of the methods used to assess socio-ecological levels of influence. Data were reviewed from numerous national, statewide, and county sources and supplemented by locally administered questionnaires, heat maps, and community profile summaries to gain more localized snapshots of cancer disparities in Los Angeles County. Lastly, feedback was solicited from external peer groups, community stakeholders, and key decision-makers, and the proposed catchment area was aligned with the State's Cancer Plan and the NCI Catchment Area and Community Outreach and Engagement Mandate.

Results: The selected CSC catchment area meets NCI criteria and has potential to demonstrate impact both at the population level and within specialty populations. As a result, strategies are being developed to organize community outreach and engagement, as well as research across basic, clinical, and population sciences to guide cancer control and prevention efforts.

Discussion: To maintain a high level of cultural inclusion and sensitivity, multiple layers of data are needed to understand localized pictures of cancer disparities and underlying causes. Community engagement remains essential to implementing policy, best practice, and translational science for broader impact.

35
Impact: The clinical and translation work conducted at any cancer center requires an understanding of the determinants of health that contribute to the differences in cancer incidence and mortality among different groups. The NCI-aligned approach that we highlight is critical to support the design of future cancer control strategies that address and possibly reduce local health inequities.

Keywords: cancer prevention and control, health equity (MeSH), healthcare disparities (MeSH), cultural diversity, social determinants of health (MeSH), community outreach and engagement

INTRODUCTION

Health disparities exist based on social, economic, and environmental factors, including gender, race, ethnicity, gender identity, sexual orientation, age, disability, geographic location, and socioeconomic status (1). Many different models have been developed to suggest how to address these disparities (2–6). What all models have in common is the intersection of multiple health domains (e.g., health behaviors, the built environment, health systems, etc.) and socio-ecological levels of influence (e.g., individual, interpersonal, community, and social levels) (7–10).

The National Cancer Institute (NCI) now requires cancer centers to define their catchment area with geographical boundaries, and address cancer burden and inequities within that region through research and community outreach and engagement (11). To support this goal, the NCI outlined seven areas for research and outreach activities (12): (1) define the catchment area (i.e. select the area and describe the demographics, special populations, and cancer burden); (2) assess the needs of the catchment area (i.e., basic, clinical, and population science research is conducted to address the cancer burden from prevention through survivorship); (3) engage the population in the catchment area (i.e., involvement of the population in setting a research agenda, and reaching out to the population through research, outreach, and education); (4) address disparities (i.e. identify and aim to develop solutions that decrease disparities for the populations experiencing cancer burden in the catchment area); (5) ensure that the demographics of the catchment area are represented in clinical trials (i.e. research studies reflect the demographic distribution of the chosen area); (6) translate research into policy (i.e. research should lead to policy change from local through international levels, including health care systems and government legislation); and (7) extend the reach of research and policy beyond the catchment area (i.e. collaboration with other cancer centers, organizations, and government).

The structure provided by these guidelines is essential when considering the vast diversity of municipal regions of the United States, such as Los Angeles, California, which is home to roughly 10 million people (13). The County has a large Latinx¹ population, is considered the capital of Asia America, has the second-largest sexual and gender minority population in the

Abbreviations: CRHCE, Cancer Research Center for Health Equity; CSMC, Cedars Sinai Medical Center; COE, community outreach and engagement; LAC, Los Angeles County.

country, spans a vast socioeconomic gradient, and covers both urban and semirural geographies (14–16). As such, the County is home to a large number of individuals who experience health inequities, with greater vulnerability among those who are foreign-born, lower socio-economic status, and living in areas with high ethnic concentration. Using a mixed methods approach, Cedars-Sinai Cancer embarked on a two-year assessment to meet NCI catchment area criteria while also maintaining a high level of cultural inclusion and sensitivity needed for serving one of the most diverse counties in the US.

METHODS

Below we highlight the series of steps taken to define, characterize, respond to, and engage the population in our cancer center catchment area.

Step I: Defining the Catchment Area

Decisions were made regarding the catchment area based on geographic considerations, peer review to meet NCI criteria, and having a population size for which we could feasibly demonstrate measurable impact of our community outreach and engagement (COE) activities and COE-facilitated research. Our COE efforts focus on adherence to cancer screening guidelines and major behavioral and lifestyle factors, such as physical activity and tobacco use, and dissemination of the latest, most accurate cancer information. When considering the geographic area, we followed NCI metrics and County data. NCI requires clear geographic boundaries; a population of >4,000,000; greater than 80% of cancer patients residing within catchment area; and that the area is within 60 miles of the medical facility (CSC) to maximize clinical impact (12). These metrics were examined and linked with Los Angeles County (LAC) data on Service Planning Areas (SPAs).SPAs are geographic regions within LAC organized by the Department of Public Health. For each SPA, the county provides public health services, clinical services, and data targeted to the specific health needs of SPA-specific populations (17). Access to these data for smaller regions reveals important disparities that are often overlooked in aggregate data. For example, as noted in Figure 1, by breaking down key health indicators by SPA, striking disparities emerge in almost every health category for Antelope Valley (SPA 1), a semirural region in Northern LAC.

We presented the areas that met the NCI metrics to internal committees at CSC, external advisors, community outreach

¹Latinx is a term used to represent Latino/a/x populations.



coordinators, and key decision-makers to ensure that we were aligned with the State's Cancer Plan and the NCI Catchment Area and Community Outreach and Engagement Mandate. Ultimately, CSC determined its catchment area to encompass service planning areas: Antelope Valley, San Fernando Valley, Metro, West, South Bay (**Figure 2**).

Characterizing the Population

The selected catchment area has a combined population of 5,768,445 individuals (Figure 3).

To gain a better understanding of the catchment area population and its diversity, as well as information on common cancers, secular trends, and mortality, we acquired aggregated and linked data from multiple primary and secondary sources.

Secondary Data Collection

First, we started with data at the national level (NCI, Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program; The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; American Community Survey; the American Cancer Society) to characterize national trends in cancer incidence and mortality and assess selected behavioral risk factors for populations of interest in our catchment area. Next, we reviewed statewide data from the California Cancer Registry and the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS). CHIS is the nation's largest state health





survey and is conducted by the UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. At the time, the CHIS data cycle did not include comprehensive cancer screening questions; however, we have now partnered with CHIS to include cancer screening questions in the next data cycle (2021-2022) and to oversample CSC's catchment area populations of Latinx and Asians age 50+ to increase the number of participants in these groups. At the county level, we collated information from the Los Angeles County Cancer Surveillance Program and Los Angeles County Department of Public Health. Finally, we applied innovative geospatial mapping of these data to identify local hotspots for screenable cancers diagnosed at late stages with overlays of other relevant data (e.g., density and location of Federally Qualified Health Centers – FQHCs) to better understand local cancer disparities (discussed below).

Primary Data Collection

We supplemented our secondary data collection with additional questionnaires to better understand barriers to adherence that individuals face with cancer preventionand early detection efforts. We focused on social and behavioral risk factors in different racial and ethnic pockets through the administration of culturally adapted questionnaires, as exemplified with the Cancer and Healthcare in Los Angeles Survey (CHILAS). The CHILAS survey was developed with input and feedback from large communities in the catchment area (Korean, Filipinx, and Latinx) to identify major factors that characterize and influence screening behavior, medical history, and health care access. To date, a total of 3,200 surveys have been completed. Of these, 381 surveys have been collected from the Korean community,

yielding interesting results. For example, the top barriers for not getting screened were not having health insurance and not feeling sick, suggesting the importance of financial concerns and cultural considerations. Also, we observed that mammography rates among age-eligible women (N=216) were low at 37% (N=80), whereas colonoscopy rates among age-eligible participants (N=284) were higher at 64% (N=182), leading us to question: "What are the unique factors for low mammography screening in Korean women in Los Angeles County (that do not apply to colonoscopy)?"

In the Filipinx community, upon review and feedback from our Filipinx community advisory board, the CHILAS survey was further adapted, and a recruitment strategy was implemented to form a Filipinx Cohort. A total of 1,492 surveys were collected from the Filipinx community in two waves. For screenable cancers, in contrast to Koreans, low adherence to colorectal cancer screening guidelines was identified. In waves 1 and 2, we found that 61% (386 out of 629) of age-eligible men and women had ever had an FOBT and/or colonoscopy, and in wave 2 where the question was updated to ask about most recent screening, only 44% (126 out 287) of age-eligible men and women are up to date with colorectal cancer screening (had FOBT within a year and/or had a colonoscopy within the last 10 years). This finding is consistent with the national trend of Filipinx Americans underutilizing life-saving screening tests for colorectal cancer, resulting in later stage of diagnosis and poorer survival (18). With this information, we began to think about how to best increase screening within this population in our local setting.

Community Profile Snapshots

With both primary and secondary data, we developed community profile summaries for several racial/ethnic/gender/sexual orientation minority groups. These profiles highlight noteworthy cancer trends, as well as other social determinates of health such as income, poverty, access to health care, mental health, and literacy. Further, we examined risk behaviors such as substance abuse, physical inactivity, and poor nutrition (**Supplement A**).

Step 2 & 3: Conduct Community Engaged Research That Addresses the Needs of the Catchment Area

Fifteen different cancer disparities were identified from our initial assessment, which has led to several culturally tailored research initiatives designed to address the needs of the catchment area. Below we provide two examples of studies that span the cancer control continuum, from data collection and interpretation, to designing, implementing, evaluating, and disseminating COE research.

Late-Stage Breast Cancer

In partnership with the Los Angeles County Cancer Surveillance Program, we explored the geographic distribution of late-stage cancer for selected cancers for which there are effective screening protocols. Analysis that examined the geographic distribution of late-stage breast cancer in Los Angeles County found that, using cancer registry data from 2000 through 2017, the densest concentration of late-stage breast cancer for all racial/ethnic



groups combined was in our catchment area (Figure 4A). In Metro (SPA 4), analysis at finer geographic resolution showed that the Koreatown area has one of the densest concentrations of latestage breast cancer among all race/ethnic groups (Figure 4B). These high-density areas were near many Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs), noted by stars in Figure 4B, that offer free or low-cost breast cancer screening services. This includes the Every Woman Counts program funded by the State of California, indicating that these communities remain underserved despite high geographic accessibility to care. Koreatown is one of the few local neighborhoods in Los Angeles County where populations of Korean ancestry predominantly live. To effectively reach these individuals, promote early breast cancer screening, and encourage the use of free or low-cost screening services, our community outreach coordinator conducted in-language workshops in partnership with churches (noted by grey circles in Figure 4C). Through these workshops, subsequent focus groups, and existing literature, cultural barriers were identified as an important factor in screening adherence in this population (19). Some of these barriers include: lack of insurance, poor health literacy, not knowing where to go to get screened, lack of follow-up care, fear of being a burden to the family, and inability to afford testing. Another significant challenge was limited English proficiency, which is problematic for navigating an already complicated healthcare system, especially for those who are uninsured or underinsured (20, 21). With this information and building on a network of churches in Los Angeles that have committed to cancer prevention and control activities, grant funding was secured through the California Breast Cancer Research Program to answer the question: Does a culturally adapted "Faith in Action!" curriculum to educate and certify lay health navigators to provide breast cancer screening navigation within faith-based settings increase the adherence to breast cancer screening guidelines among Korean American women? The project is examining an innovative, culturally adapted cancer screening training for lay health navigators to increase adherence to breast cancer screening guidelines among underserved Korean American women. Navigation includes facilitation of follow-up care for those who have an abnormal mammography result, clinical breast exam findings, or are diagnosed with breast cancer. We work closely with members of our Korean Community Advisory Board (CAB), an extensive network of community partners established through

our Health and Faith Initiative, to help us articulate the voice of the community to program staff by advising on projects and activities conducted by the research team and providing input to the overall project. Specifically, we have worked together to: (1) refine and finalize the adapted Cancer 101 cancer education training curriculum; (2) participate in decision making for planning of the study development and implementation and help with recruitment based on their knowledge of the population; (3) review the progress of the study; (4) provide guidance on developments in the community that could affect intervention implementation; (5) contribute to interpretation of study findings; and (5) participate in dissemination of study findings. A pastor of one of the larger churches serves as a multi-PI on this intervention study. This is one example of community-engaged research conducted to address the cancer burden in our catchment area that provides the community with a strong voice in all aspects of the study.

Melanoma

In the United States (US), melanoma mortality rates have declined by nearly 18% since 2014 in non-Latinx White (NLW) individuals (2); however, similar trends are not apparent in those of lower socioeconomic status (SES), including the Latinx community, and those living in rural areas (3–10). This may be attributed to less access to the information and services that are critical for preventing, detecting, and treating melanoma.

Data from the California Cancer Registry and other literature show that the melanoma burden is increasing in Latinx adults in California, who represent the largest ethnic group in the state, at 39% (11), and typically presents with more advanced disease (8, 13, 14, 22, 23). While US melanoma incidence rates remain low among Latinx adults compared to NLWs (4.6 vs 24.9 per 100,000 from 2012-2016), melanoma mortality is higher compared with other non-white racial/ethnic groups (13, 15). Differences in primary melanoma location (leg/hip/foot) and clinicopathologic subtypes (acral and nodular) in Latinx adults compared with NLWs tend to hamper early detection (8, 15–17). Likewise, physician- and self-skin examination is reported at lower rates in Latinx adults compared to NLW adults (18). In collaboration with Stanford University, we conducted focus groups among low socio-economic and/or Latinx individuals in both urban and rural communities across California to better understand awareness of melanoma prevention and screening practices, and to obtain feedback on primary and secondary prevention strategies in local communities. The interview topics included: 1) awareness and views of melanoma risk, prevention, and early detection screening practices; 2) acceptability of primary and secondary prevention strategies in their respective community; and 3) barriers and facilitators of engagement in melanoma prevention and care. Using a hybrid inductive and deductive approach, thematic analysis was used for data analysis. Findings were organized within a socioecological model (individual, interpersonal, community and health system/policy level). These factors include ethnicity, cultural and gender identity, geography, skin color, gender norms, socioeconomic status, lack of trust, and insufficient access to health care. Latinx participants and those living in semi-rural regions reported more barriers (24). As a result, we are now working with the California Cancer Registry to ascertain individuals in these populations who have been recently diagnosed with melanoma, plus their network of family and friends in both high-density (Bay Area, City of Los Angeles) and semirural communities (Salinas, Antelope Valley). This pilot intervention, which includes innovative health communications such as storyboard sketches and whiteboard animations using plain language, as well as use of teledermoscopy through mobile devices, was designed with feedback on early concepts to ensure the communications will reach the target audiences. We are testing the efficacy of a culturally and linguistically appropriate health education intervention, delivered by trusted messengers such as community health workers, to promote melanoma prevention and early detection alongside health care navigation. This is another example of the research conducted within our catchment area that directly responds to the needs of the population, this one introducing innovative design, navigation, and teledermoscopy to address reported barriers.

In summary, we used the following process to identify cancers and behaviors of primary, initial focus. 1) We considered publicly available data such as cancer registry data (SEER, California Cancer Registry, LA County Cancer Surveillance Program), with a focus on top five cancers and cancers with increasing incidence rates, such as liver cancer in Latinx and breast cancer in selected Asian populations. 2) We generated our own quantitative data from: a) conducting geospatial analyses of cancer registry data; b) conducting our own survey, CHILAS, described above; c) sexual and gender minority questionnaire; and d) the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) described above. 3) We also conducted study-specific surveys when useful. 4) In addition, we continue to seek qualitative input from community advisory boards (CABs, described below), townhall meetings, media events, and participation at community events, such as PRIDE events in greater LAC to identify issues of concern to them and to set priorities. 5) We considered strengths at Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (CSMC) that we may leverage to address specific disparities. 6) We aligned our efforts with the NCI Catchment Area and Community Outreach and Engagement Mandate and the State of California's 5-Year Cancer Plan.

RESULTS

 Table 1 lists important cancers/behaviors/disparities, as identified by the community and our quantitative analyses, with consideration of our strengths at CSMC using the process we described above.

Step 4: Address Disparities

Through partnerships with churches, community organizations, Federally Qualified Health Centers, non-profit organizations, and trained community navigators, our COE team has reached over

TABLE 1 | Noteworthy Disparities/Risk Behaviors in Current CSC Populations of Scientific Impact.

Population	Cancer Disparity	Social and Behavioral Risk Factors
Latinx	Liver cancer	 Obesity
	 Late-stage melanoma 	 Physical inactivity
	Colorectal cancer	
Korean	Breast cancer	 Low screening compliance
	 Colorectal cancer 	 High rates smoking/alcohol
	 Thyroid cancer 	
Filipinx	Thyroid cancer	 Obesity
	 Breast cancer 	 Low screening compliance
	Prostate cancer	 Smoking
Black	 Prostate cancer 	 Smoking
	 Triple-negative breast 	 Secondhand smoke
	cancer	
	 Pancreatic cancer 	
LGBTQ+ ²	 Lung cancer 	 Medical mistrust/discrimination
	 HPV-related cancers 	 HPV awareness & vaccine uptake
		 Smoking, other drug use
		 Transgenders: adverse health behaviors
		 Cancer screening disparities
Non-Latinx Whites	 Late-stage melanoma 	Low SES cancer screening disparities

16,000 community members of Filipinx (18%), Latinx (20%), LGBTQ+ (25%), Korean (27%), and African American and other (10%) descent in our catchment area with science-based tailored cancer information in our newly defined catchment area. Based on pre/post workshop surveys, there was an 84% improvement in knowledge, behavior, and attitudes concerning cancer risk and prevention for all groups if a community member attended community outreach events, while reduction in barriers to cancer screening was most effective through navigator/ promotora training. Knowledge of cancer risk and prevention was also shown to have improved more if there were physical events (33.3%), compared to virtual events (16.1%). With this feedback on our COE strategies, we have a more narrowed focus on a smaller set of cancers and behaviors and have built toward step 4 of NCI's guidelines, addressing disparities, by developing culturally sensitive, sustainable, scalable, and exportable interventions. We are investing in areas where we believe we have the potential to make a difference in either incidence (long term), mortality, or survivorship experience.

For the Korean breast cancer example, we started by noting the increasing incidence from cancer registry data, increased density of late-stage breast cancer in Koreatown (from our geospatial mapping), and low adherence to breast cancer screening guidelines from our CHILAS data. The grant-funded intervention we describe was facilitated by the CAB and utilizes capacity building among our community partners, training of navigators, and workshops and media events to increase awareness of this issue in the Korean community.

For the melanoma example, we noted that melanoma mortality rates in the US are highest among older men and individuals of lower socioeconomic status. Our findings from our qualitative exploratory study have enriched existing data regarding inequities in lower SES Latinx and non-Latinx White (NLW) individuals and have been critical in designing current interventions that deliver more effective primary and secondary melanoma prevention for underserved populations across geographic regions. At the healthcare systems and health policy level, this work adds to infrastructure and models for collaboration, and is aligned with the Wipe Out Melanoma - California statewide initiative, which is increasing the number of research studies, clinical trials, educational campaigns, and opportunities for the community to engage in melanoma prevention and early detection.

Key to step 4 in the NCI guidelines is the continued involvement of the population in setting a research agenda, and reaching out to the population through research, outreach, and education. The entire research portfolio developed as a result of the methods employed in this paper span across basic, clinical, and population science to guide cancer control and prevention efforts. Through further development of our community advisory boards, and a bidirectional relationship between community outreach and education and research, the populations in the catchment area are at the center of our endeavors. As part of an ongoing assessment process, community leaders representing populations with cancer disparities serve on four active community advisory boards:1) LGBTQ+ Community Advisory Board, 2) Filipinx Community Advisory Network, 3) Latinx Community Advisory Board, and 4) Korean American Community Advisory Board. Representatives from these advisory boards and networks comprise a larger 22 member Cedars-Sinai Cancer Community Advisory Board, which meets quarterly that helps to maintain engagement, guide research into policy implementation and standards of practice, and facilitate translational research across CSMC.

Policy and Standard of Practice

An example of how we are guiding research into policy is through our collaboration with

The California Dialogue on Cancer and their Health Equity Taskforce. The CRCHE faculty and staff were instrumental in writing for the first time a section on LGBTQ+ and cancer. Given that there are no reliable cancer registry data stratified by sexual and gender minority status, the CRCHE has been engaged in advocacy efforts to help expand the California Cancer Registry's data dictionary to include these important variables. The efforts are currently underway with support from the State's Comprehensive Cancer Control Program which will ultimately impact Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) to become more inclusive of LGBTQ+ populations. This important effort will enable organizations and cancer centers to develop a standardized and coordinated cancer control and research agenda to better serve this population.

Community Outreach and Engagement and Translational Science

For COE to inform and facilitate research in the other research programs, Cancer Biology (CB) and Experimental Therapeutics (ET), senior leadership at CRCHE work closely with the CSMC Executive Committee and Leadership Council, which includes other Associate Directors, program co-leaders, and program members where COE and catchment area topics are addressed on a regular basis. These meetings are exclusively focused on COE and the catchment area. An example that emerged from our meetings with ET is a community-based study of Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) in the Latinx population that is currently a cross-sectional study of NAFLD prevalence that will facilitate a future, planned intervention trial. An example for CB is the initiative to use organoid models to address selected cancer disparities, such as breast cancer in transgender subjects with a focus on hormones and sex differences in bladder cancer.

DISCUSSION

In this paper, we highlighted how CSC, through guidance from the NCI catchment area framework, has aimed to address health disparities in historically underserved communities. The approach to research and population engagement (steps 2 and 3) has allowed us to work towards solutions that address disparities and aim to alleviate the cancer burden (step 4). Although we have not yet reached the stage of presenting

 $^{^2}$ We use the term lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning, plus anyone else that considers themselves part of this community (LGBTQ+) to encompass the diversity of this population.

catchment area-level results, our work has led to funded grants that are implementation science based and are presently in the implementation and evaluation phase. The next step currently underway is step 5, which focuses on the representation of the catchment area population in clinical trials. Inclusion of racial and ethnic minorities in cancer clinical trials is critical to increasing the generalizability and knowledge of the risks and benefits of new interventions; however, evidence points to low participation among racial/ethnic minority populations (25–27). in response, CRCHE continues to consult with our CABs, cancer survivorship groups, and coalitions to identify and address barriers for participating in clinical trials, as well as identify opportunities within our existing initiatives to increase accruals, including partnerships with providers, FQHCs, employer groups, and community organizations.

Each cancer center faces its unique challenges in defining, characterizing, and addressing the needs in their catchment area population. We have found that there is not a 'one size fits all' approach, especially in regions such as Los Angeles County that have diverse populations with pockets of dense, ethnic enclaves. Approaches must aim to be sensitive and inclusive of all races, ethnicities, and sexual and gender identities, a goal achieved through continuous tailoring and community engagement. A consideration of multiple health domains and socio-ecological influence is required, as well as a continued and localized assessments of cancer needs and disparities coupled with understanding of racial/ethnic-specific and localized cancerrelevant social and behavioral risk factors; otherwise, trends can be missed, and disparities can widen. Our mixed-methods approach to implementing that framework set forward by the NCI, in concert with continued community outreach and education partnerships, provides a narrative for other cancer centers aiming to create a sustained population-level reduction of cancer burden for individuals and communities experiencing health disparities.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Department of Health and Human Services. The Secretary's Advisory Committee on National Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Objectives for 2020. In: *Phase I Report: Recommendations for the Framework and Format of Healthy People 2020. Section IV: Advisory Committee Findings and Recommendations* Washington DC: Department of Health and Human Services (2008). Available at: http://www.healthypeople.gov/sites/default/files/PhaseI_0.pdf.
- Marmot M, Friel S, Bell R, Houweling TAJ, Taylor S. Closing the Gap in a Generation: Health Equity Through Action on the Social Determinants of Health. *The Lancet* (2008) 372:1661–69. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61690-6
- 3. Warnecke RB, Oh A, Breen N, Gehlert S, Paskett E, Tucker KL, et al. Approaching Health Disparities From a Population Perspective: The National Institutes of Health Centers for Population Health and Health

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LF, CS, RH, ZS contributed to conception and design of the study. LE, MC contributed to data curation and visualization. LF wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The late-stage breast cancer study is funded by California Breast Cancer Research Foundation (CBCRP) Award Number B27BB4290; the melanoma study is funded by Mary E. Brenneisen Fund at Stanford Medicine and in part, the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health, Award Number UL1TR003142. Additionally, this manuscript is the result of work supported by resources at Cedars Sinai Cancer in Los Angeles, California.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank every one of our community partners, patient advisory boards, external peer groups, community stakeholders, key decision makers, clinician partners, and community health workers for generously sharing your time, experiences, challenges, and insights. Without you, this work would not be possible. Further, we would like to acknowledge our community outreach coordinators for their dedication and commitment to the communities in our catchment area. Lastly, we would like to thank Yu-Chen Lin for providing survey data included in this paper.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022. 912832/full#supplementary-material

Disparities. Am J Public Health (2008) 98(9):1608–15. doi: 10.2105/ Ajph.2006.102525

- Krieger N. Theories for Social Epidemiology in the 21st Century: An Ecosocial Perspective. Int J Epidemiol (2001) 30(4):668–77. doi: 10.1093/ije/30.4.668
- Gee GC, Payne-Sturges DC. Environmental Health Disparities: A Framework Integrating Psychosocial and Environmental Concepts. *Environ Health Perspect* (2004) 112(17):1645–53. doi: 10.1289/ehp.7074
- Gee GC, Ford CL. STRUCTURAL RACISM AND HEALTH INEQUITIES: Old Issues, New Directions. *Du Bois Rev* (2011) 8(1):115–32. doi: 10.1017/ S1742058X11000130
- Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer Health Disparities in Racial/Ethnic Minorities in the United States. *Br J Cancer* (2020) 124:315–32. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6

- Chandra A, Acosta J, Carman KG, Dubowitz T, Leviton L, Martin LT, et al. Building a National Culture of Health: Background, Action Framework, Measures, and Next Steps. *Rand Health Q* (2017) 6(2):3. doi: 10.7249/RR1199
- Trujillo MD, Plough A. Building a Culture of Health: A New Framework and Measures for Health and Health Care in America. Soc Sci Med (2016) 165:206–13. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.043
- Cho S, Crenshaw KW, McCall L. Toward a Field of Intersectionality Studies: Theory, Applications, and Praxis. *Signs* (2013) 38(4):785–810. doi: 10.1086/ 669608
- Blake KD, Ciolino HP, Croyle RT. Population Health Assessment in NCI-Designated Cancer Center Catchment Areas. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2019) 28(3):428–30. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-18-0811
- Paskett ED, Hiatt RA. Catchment Areas and Community Outreach and Engagement: The New Mandate for NCI-Designated Cancer Centers. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2018) 27(5):517–9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-17-1050
- U.S. Census Bureau. Data From: American Community Survey 2015-2019 Table Dp05. Washington DC: United States Census Bureau (2020).
- Los Angeles County Economic Development Corporation. An Economic Profile of the Asian Community in Los Angeles County (2017). Available at: https://laedc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Asians_in-LA.pdf.
- The Williams Institute. The LGBT Divide in California: A Look at the Socioeconomic Well-Being of LGBT People in California. Los Angeles: University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) (2016).
- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health. Supplement to Community Health Assessment, Service Planning Area 1. Antelope Valley: Los Angeles County Department of Public Health (2014).
- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health. Key Indicators of Health by Service Planning Area (2017). Available at: http://publichealth.lacounty. gov/ha/docs/2015LACHS/KeyIndicator/PH-KIH_2017-sec%20UPDATED. pdf.
- Maxwell AE, Danao LL, Bastani R. Dissemination of Colorectal Cancer Screening by Filipino American Community Health Advisors: A Feasibility Study. *Health Promot Pract* (2013) 14(4):498–505. doi: 10.1177/1524839912458108
- Kim DH, Lin Y-C, Jeon CY, Finster L, Levine AJ, Surani Z, et al. Abstract D020: Addressing the Needs of Cedars-Sinai Cancer's Catchment Area: Cancer Screening Compliance Among the Korean Community in Los Angeles. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2020) 29(6 Supplement 2): D020–0. doi: 10.1158/1538-7755.Disp19-d020
- Sabado P, Jo A, Kagawa-Singer M, Juhn E. Community Collaborative for Colorectal Cancer Screening in Los Angeles Koreatown. J Health Care Poor Underserved (2015) 26(2 Suppl):164–70. doi: 10.1353/hpu.2015.0053

- Jo AM, Maxwell AE, Wong WK, Bastani R. Colorectal Cancer Screening Among Underserved Korean Americans in Los Angeles County. J Immigr Minor Health (2008) 10(2):119–26. doi: 10.1007/s10903-007-9066-6
- Pollitt RA, Swetter SM, Johnson TM, Patil P, Geller AC. Examining the Pathways Linking Lower Socioeconomic Status and Advanced Melanoma. *Cancer* (2012) 118(16):4004–13. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26706
- Tripp MK, Watson M, Balk SJ, Swetter SM, Gershenwald JE. State of the Science on Prevention and Screening to Reduce Melanoma Incidence and Mortality: The Time is Now. CA Cancer J Clin (2016) 66:460–80. doi: 10.3322/caac.21352
- 24. Swetter SM, Mesia RJ, Espinosa PR, Hutchison H, Safaeinili N, Finster LJ, et al. A Qualitative Exploration of Melanoma Awareness and Prevention Among Latinx and non-Latinx White Populations in Urban and Rural California. J Clin Oncol (2022) suppl 16:abstr 9588. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2022.40.16_suppl.9588
- Ford JG, Howerton MW, Lai GY, Gary TL, Bolen S, Gibbons MC, et al. Barriers to Recruiting Underrepresented Populations to Cancer Clinical Trials: A Systematic Review. *Cancer* (2008) 112(2):228–42. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23157
- 26. Ford ME, Siminoff LA, Pickelsimer E, Mainous AG, Smith DW, Diaz VA, et al. Unequal Burden of Disease, Unequal Participation in Clinical Trials: Solutions From African American and Latino Community Members. *Health Soc Work* (2013) 38(1):29–38. doi: 10.1093/hsw/hlt001
- Duma N, Vera Aguilera J, Paludo J, Haddox CL, Gonzalez Velez M, Wang Y, et al. Representation of Minorities and Women in Oncology Clinical Trials: Review of the Past 14 Years. J Oncol Pract (2018) 14(1):e1–e10. doi: 10.1200/ JOP.2017.025288

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Finster, Shirazipour, Escobedo, Cockburn, Surani and Haile. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



A Cancer Health Needs Assessment Reveals Important Differences Between US-Born and Foreign-Born Latinos in California

Juanita Elizabeth Quino^{1,2†}, Fabian Perez^{1,2,3†}, Angelica Perez^{1†}, April Pangia Vang^{1,2†}, Leonie Avendano⁴, Julie Dang¹, Moon S. Chen Jr¹, Alexa Morales Arana^{1,2}, Sienna Rocha^{1,2}, Miriam Nuno^{3,5}, Primo N. Lara Jr¹, Laura Fejerman^{1,3} and Luis G. Carvajal-Carmona^{1,2,6,7*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jennie L. Williams, Stony Brook University, United States

Reviewed by:

Martha Jane Felini, University of North Texas Health Science Center, United States Deukwoo Kwon, University of Miami, United States

*Correspondence:

Luis G. Carvajal-Carmona Igcarvajal@ucdavis.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 24 February 2022 Accepted: 07 June 2022 Published: 07 July 2022

Citation:

Quino JE, Perez F, Perez A, Vang AP, Avendano L, Dang J, Chen MS, Arana AM, Rocha S, Nuno M, Lara PN Jr., Fejerman L and Carvajal-Carmona LG (2022) A Cancer Health Needs Assessment Reveals Important Differences Between US-Born and Foreign-Born Latinos in California. Front. Oncol. 12:883200. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.883200 ¹ Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States, ² Genome Center, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ³ Department of Public Health Sciences, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁴ California Department of Public Health, Environmental Health Investigations Branch, Richmond, CA, United States, ⁵ Department of Surgery, University of California Davis Health, Sacramento, CA, United States, ⁶ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Medicine, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁷ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁷ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁸ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, School of Medicine, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁹ Center for Advancing Cancer Health Equity, S

Background: Cancer is the leading cause of death among Latinos, the largest minority population in the United States (US). To address cancer challenges experienced by Latinos, we conducted a catchment area population assessment (CAPA) using validated questions from the National Cancer Institute (NCI) population health assessment supplement at our NCI-designated cancer center in California.

Methods: A mixed-methods CAPA was administered by bilingual-bicultural staff, with a focus on understanding the differences between foreign-born and US-born Latinos.

Results: 255 Latinos responded to the survey conducted between August 2019 and May 2020. Most respondents were foreign-born (63.9%), female (78.2%), and monolingual Spanish speakers (63.2%). Results showed that compared to US-born Latinos, foreign-born individuals were older, had lower educational attainment, were most likely to be monolingual Spanish speakers, were low-income, and were more likely to be uninsured. Foreign-born Latinos had lower levels of alcohol consumption and higher consumption of fruits and vegetables. The rate of preventive cancer screenings for breast, cervical and colorectal cancer did not differ by birthplace, although a low fraction (35.3%) of foreign-born Latinas who were up-to-date compared to US-born Latinas (83.3%) with colorectal cancers (cervical p=0.0002, breast p=0.0039, and colorectal p=0.0196) is significantly associated with being up to date with cancer screening. Individuals who had a check-up of two or more years ago are 84% less likely to be up to date with pap smears than those

44

who had a check-up within the year (p=0.0060). Individuals without health insurance are 94% less likely to be up to date with mammograms and colonoscopy/FIT tests (p=0.0016 and p=0.0133, respectively) than those who are insured. There is no significant association between screening and nativity.

Conclusions: Considerable differences in socio-economic and environmental determinants of health and colorectal cancer screening rates were observed between US-born and foreign-born Latinos. The present study represents the foundation for future targeted intervention among immigrant populations at our cancer center's catchment area.

Keywords: health disparities, nativity, needs assessment, Latino health, preventative screenings

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a leading cause of death among Latinos, the largest racial/ethnic minority group in the United States (1). California has the largest Latino population in the country (39%), with most individuals being of Mexican ancestry (2). Relative to non-Latino whites (NLW), Latinos generally have ~25% lower cancer incidence (3). The incidence of common malignancies such as breast, colorectal, lung, and prostate cancers are lower in individuals from this ethnic category, but members of this minority experience higher incidence rates of infection-related cancers like cervical, gastric, and liver compared to NLWs (3). Given the high prevalence of obesity among Latinos, especially among Mexican-Americans, obesity-related cancer incidence rates have increased in recent years (4, 5). Our group and others have also shown that genetic ancestry (acknowledging that Latinos have varying levels of ancestry derived from Europeans, Africans, and Indigenous Americans (6-9) mediates cancer risk and tumor characteristics in this population (10, 11). In addition to infection, obesity, and genetic ancestry risk factors, socio-environmental factors (e.g., socioeconomic status, access to health care, poor diet, physical activity) can also influence the risk profiles in Latinos (3, 12-15).

The University of California Davis Comprehensive Cancer Center (UCDCCC) has a catchment area with a large Latino population, with counties such as San Joaquin, Merced, Stanislaus, and Colusa, where 50% or more inhabitants have Latino heritage and experience vast socio-economic and environmental disparities (Figure 1) (16). A significant fraction of Latinos in these communities are both undocumented and uninsured, representing a major cancer prevention and care challenge. To address health challenges experienced by Latinos in the region, the Latinos United for Cancer Health Advancement (LUCHA) initiative was launched. The goal of LUCHA is to advance health equity in Latino communities through respectful, bi-directional, and community-engaged, translational, clinical, and public health approaches to cancer research. To improve the understanding of local community needs and disentangle cancer health disparities affecting the Latino community, a catchment area health assessment (CAPA) was conducted as an initial LUCHA effort. The CAPA laid the foundation for a strategic plan to better

serve the catchment area through health education that emphasizes the importance of public health literacy, early detection, and cancer prevention.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Measures

A 64-question survey (see details in supplementary material) was developed using validated questions from the National Cancer Institute (NCI) population health assessment supplement (7). Questions in the supplement were reviewed by LUCHA staff, translated to Spanish, edited, and face-validated to ensure that they were culturally appropriate for Latinos residing in California. Data collection took place in the nineteen county UCDCCC catchment area from August 2019 to May 2020. The priority was to capture predictors of cancer screening while also gauging factors influencing the health status of Latinos in the catchment area. The survey included four categories: sociodemographics, lifestyle and behavioral factors, social determinants of health, and cancer screening. Specifically, questions were asked about birthplace, language use, and length of time in the U.S. for foreign-born participants.

Our survey was created in English and was re-written at a 6thgrade reading level to ensure it was easy to understand for most adults in the catchment area. The English version was tested in two groups, one consisting of internal members of the UCDCCC Office of Community Outreach and Education and the other of community members with different educational attainment levels. The internal group consisted of eight staff members who all had at least a bachelor's degree and were of mixed ethnic/ racial backgrounds. The external group included all eight members of the UCDCCC's Community Advisory Board who had a diverse educational backgrounds ranging from high school diplomas to medical degrees and had representation from the following ethnic backgrounds: Asian Americans, Blacks, NLWs, and Latinos.

Once the survey was translated into Spanish by LUCHA native Spanish speakers, the translated survey was completed by ten native Spanish-speaking community members to ensure that it was appropriate for the most common Spanish forms



(Mexican and Central American) spoken in the region. The external Spanish-speaking group included people from Mexican, Colombian, and Guatemalan backgrounds with varying levels of education, most of which were high school or GED equivalent and a few with college and graduate-level degrees. The internal group included six bilingual staff members with varying levels of Spanish proficiency, all of whom were college-educated and came from different Latin American countries. During group testing, the time it took to complete the survey was measured since the assumption was that most participants would be answering in person and would not want to spend significant amounts of time filling out the survey. Once feedback was received for both the English and Spanish versions, the team implemented the suggestions and resorted to the second round of group testing internally and with a few external stakeholders. After the second round of testing, the survey was finalized and was sent to the UC Davis IRB for final approval.

Participant Identification and Eligibility

The participant eligibility criteria included self-identified Latino adults over 18 years living within the UCDCCC catchment area (**Figure 1**). Candidate participants were asked to complete a brief questionnaire to assess eligibility, and verbal consent was obtained for participation. Pre-survey questions included information on birth year, race/ethnicity, and residence zip code.

Data Collection

The survey was then implemented online and in-person (selfadministered and coordinator administered using interviewing techniques such as question and answer dialogue) by the LUCHA bilingual-bicultural team. Data was initially collected in community settings, including outdoor health and wellness events, churches, and partnerships with community clinics, agencies, and family centers. This initial effort resulted in over 200 completed surveys at 17 community events. However, in March 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown, the collection effort was redirected to solely online collection, with the dissemination of survey links occurring through community partners, listservs, online classes, and social media. Surveys were available in both English and Spanish. For surveys collected in person, participants were approached by LUCHA staff to participate. Consent was obtained either verbally and/or in writing. Participants were also given the option to complete the survey at home by taking a flyer with a link to the survey. All study data collected was managed using the Qualtrics Research Suite, a web-based survey tool. Fifty-one surveys were collected online, and 204 were done in person and entered by staff.

Statistical Analysis

We used descriptive statistics to describe socio-demographic variables, health characteristics and behaviors, and cancer screening. As seen in the tables, numbers do not reflect the total number of participants, given that some questions were left unanswered. Denominators reflect those that answered the questions. Analyses focused on comparisons of foreign-born versus US-born Latinos. Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to assess group differences with two-sided tests and a significance level of 0.05. Cancer screening proportions were calculated using recommended age ranges by national guidelines. Multivariable logistic regression models were used to identify variables associated with cancer screening. We used Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) to select optimal variables. Age was kept as a confounding variable, and nativity was kept as a variable of interest. We calculated unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for numerous binary outcomes. Model performance for cancer screenings was assessed using the area under the curve (AUC) analysis under R library pROC() function with bootstrapping technique. Average AUC and 95% confidence intervals are calculated with bootstrap replicates to estimate the second significant digit of the confidence interval.SAS v9.4 and R Studio v4.0.0 were used to conduct statistical analyses.

RESULTS

Socio-Demographics

255 participants completed the surveys and were included in the analysis. A high fraction of participants were foreign-born Latinos (63.9%), female (78.2%), and monolingual Spanish speakers (63.2%). The average age of foreign-born participants was higher than US-born (44.7 versus 36.1, p<0.0001, **Table 1**). In general, foreign-born respondents had lower educational attainment, a higher fraction of monolingual Spanish speakers. They reported a lower opinion of their English-speaking ability compared to US-born respondents (21.9% of foreign-born reported speaking English very well vs. 84.6% among US-born participants: p<0.0001, see **Table 1**). Moreover, while over 50% of individuals in both groups reported being employed, foreign-born respondents had a larger proportion of homemakers (24.7%).

TABLE 1 | Demographics of participants stratified by nativity. (N=246).

Variable	Overall (N=255)	U.S. Born (N=83)	Foreign-Born (N=163)	p-value
Age Group				
18-30y	67 (27.5%)	36 (47.4%)	27 (17.0%)	<0.0001*
31-40y	60 (24.6%)	17 (22.4%)	42 (26.4%)	
41-50y	53 (21.7%)	12 (15.8%)	40 (25.2%)	
51-65y	52 (21.3%)	7 (9.2%)	42 (26.4%)	
66y+	12 (4.9%)	4 (5.3%)	8 (5.0%)	
Mean Age (sd)	41.9 (14.1)	36.1 (15.2)	44.7 (12.7)	<0.0001*
Sex				
Male	55 (21.8%)	18 (21.7%)	37 (23.1%)	0.7994
Female	197 (78.2%)	65 (78.3%)	123 (76.9%)	
Language Spoken at Home				
English	41 (16.4%)	29 (35.4%)	10 (6.3%)	<0.0001
Spanish	158 (63.2%)	20 (24.4%)	134 (84.3%)	
Both	51 (20.4%)	33 (40.2%)	15 (9.4%)	
English Speaking Ability				
Very Well	72 (38.7%)	44 (84.6%)	28 (21.9%)	<0.0001*
Well	39 (21%)	7 (13.5%)	30 (23.4%)	
Not Well	64 (34.4%)	1 (1.9%)	61 (47.7%)	
Not At All	11 (5.9%)	0 (0.0%)	9 (7.0%)	
Education				
<high school<="" td=""><td>61 (25.0%)</td><td>3 (3.7%)</td><td>52 (34.0%)</td><td><0.0001</td></high>	61 (25.0%)	3 (3.7%)	52 (34.0%)	<0.0001
High school graduate	57 (23.4%)	16 (19.5%)	39 (25.5%)	
Some college/Vocational	65 (26.6%)	30 (36.6%)	34 (22.2%)	
College grad or higher	61 (25.0%)	33 (40.2%)	28 (18.3%)	
Occupational Status				
Employed	140 (57.1%)	51 (62.2%)	87 (55.1%)	<0.0001
Student	25 (10.20%)	15 (18.3%)	10 (6.3%)	
Homemaker	40 (16.3%)	1 (1.2%)	39 (24.7%)	
Unemployed/Disabled/Retired	40 (16.3%)	15 (18.3)	22 (13.9%)	
Family Annual Income				
<\$35k	107 (47.1%)	28 (35.9%)	74 (52.1%)	0.0126
\$35k-\$74.9k	78 (34.4%)	28 (35.9%)	49 (34.5%)	
\$75k+	42 (18.5%)	22 (28.2%)	19 (13.4%)	

Two-sided p-values form Chi-square test are used, unless a cell had less than 10, Fisher's exact test was used. *denotes Fischer's exact test. **denotes Independent T-Test for continuous variables. Bolded p-value indicates significance level of p<0.05.

vs. 1.2%, p<0.0001). In contrast, US-born respondents included more students (18.3% vs. 6.3%, p<0.0001, **Table 1**). A larger fraction of foreign-born individuals had an annual income of less than \$35,000/year (52.1% vs. 35.9%, p=0.0126).

Health Characteristics and Behaviors

Most participants had health insurance (72.4%). However, the fraction of uninsured was significantly higher among foreign-born than US-born (38.6% vs. 5.2%, p<0.0001, **Table 2**) participants. Only 12.7% of participants reported not having a location to obtain regular healthcare services, and 84.5% of all participants had been seen for a routine check-up in the last two years (**Table 2**). For the location of health care services, foreign-born individuals more commonly went to community clinics/healthcare centers (52.3% vs. 37.2%), emergency rooms (3.4% vs. 2.6%), or some other place (2.6% vs. 0.0%) than their US-born counterparts, who instead reported going to the doctor's office or used HMO most often (52.6% vs. 20.5%, p<0.0001, **Table 2**). Significant differences were not seen between the two groups regarding delayed medical treatment within the last year, opinion of health condition, or confidence in getting medical information.

Analysis of health behaviors showed that nearly 60% of the participants completed the Hepatitis B vaccine series (**Table 2**),

with a lower fraction among foreign-born participants (67.9% for US-born vs. 53.1% for foreign-born; p=0.0098, **Table 2**). In general, foreign-born Latinos had healthier lifestyles and diets compared to US-born, with reported lower alcohol consumption (23.1% vs. 42.1%, p=0.0033), and more consumption of fruits (74.3% vs. 53.2%, p=0.0016) and vegetables (63.5% vs. 57.1%, p=0.3594, **Table 2**). No differences were observed in exercise, BMI, and history of cancer (personal and familial).

Cancer Screening Rates

As fewer respondents were old enough to assess their adherence to cancer screenings, our study had limited power to detect differences in screening rates between foreign-born and US-born Latinos. We, however noted that most female participants were up-to-date with pap smears and mammograms (78.5% and 72.9%, respectively, **Figure 2**). The foreign-born group had a lower fraction of women up-to-date with their breast cancer screening (70.1% vs. 86.7%), although this difference was not significant. A low fraction of female participants had colorectal cancer screening (53.5%) or were up to date with screening (41.9%). Furthermore, a lower fraction of foreign-born Latinas was up to date with such screening (35.3% vs. 83.3%, p=0.0666, **Figure 2**).

TABLE 2 | Health characteristics of participants stratified by nativity. (N = 246).

Variable	Overall (N=255)	U.S. Born (N=83)	Foreign-Born (N=163)	p-value
Health Insurance				
Private	124 (54.4%)	52 (67.5%)	70 (48.3%)	<0.0001*
Public	31 (13.6%)	14 (18.2%)	16 (11.0%)	
Some other Source	10 (4.4%)	7 (9.1%)	3 (2.07%)	
None	63 (27.6%)	4 (5.2%)	56 (38.6%)	
Location to get health care services	· · · · · ·			
Clinic or health center	122 (51.7%)	29 (37.2%)	88 (52.3%)	<0.0001*
Doctor's office or HMO	72 (30.5%)	41 (52.6%)	31 (20.5%)	
Hospital emergency room	8 (3.4%)	2 (2.6%)	6 (4.0%)	
Some other place	4 (1.7%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (2.6%)	
	()			
There is no place	30 (12.7%)	6 (7.7%)	22 (14.6%)	
Time Since Last Routine Check-up				0 1000*
<1y	169 (70.7%)	62 (78.5%)	103 (66.9%)	0.1298*
1-2y	33 (13.8%)	11 (13.9%)	21 (13.6%)	
2-5у	13 (5.4%)	3 (3.8%)	10 (6.5%)	
5y+	16 (6.7%)	3 (3.8%)	12 (7.8%)	
Never	8 (3.3%)	0 (0.0%)	8 (5.2%)	
Traveling to Another Country for Me	dical Care			
Yes	34 (13.7%)	9 (11.1%)	25 (15.4%)	0.4352*
No	214 (86.3%)	72 (88.9%)	137 (84.6%)	
Delayed Medical Care in the Last 12	· /	()		
Yes	70 (30.2%)	21 (26.6%)	47 (31.8%)	0.4175
No	162 (69.8%)	58 (73.4%)	101 (68.2%)	0.4170
	102 (09.070)	30 (73.476)	101 (00.270)	
Opinion of Health Condition	10 (7.00()	0 (0 00/)	10 (0 00())	0 7050*
Excellent	19 (7.9%)	8 (9.8%)	10 (6.6%)	0.7256*
Very Good	43 (17.9%)	17 (20.7%)	26 (17.2%)	
Good	108 (22.1%)	34 (41.5%)	70 (46.4%)	
Fair	53 (22.1%)	19 (23.2%)	33 (21.9%)	
Poor	17 (7.1%)	4 (4.9%)	12 (7.9%)	
Confidence in Getting Medical Inform	nation			
Completely Confident	60 (25.0%)	30 (37.0%)	30 (19.7%)	0.0744*
Very Confident	68 (28.3%)	20 (24.7%)	46 (30.3%)	
Somewhat confident	71 (29.6%)	21 (25.9%)	48 (31.6%)	
A little confident	30 (12.5%)	7 (8.6%)	22 (14.5%)	
Not Confident at all	11 (4.6%)	3 (3.7%)	6 (3.9%)	
Hep B Vaccine	11 (1.070)	0 (0.1 70)	0 (0.070)	
At least 3 doses	80 (57.6%)	36 (67.9%)	43 (53.1%)	0.0098*
	13 (9.4%)			0.0090
Less than 3 doses		7 (13.2%)	4 (4.9%)	
No doses	46 (33.1%)	10 (18.9%)	34 (42.0%)	
Current Smoker				
Yes	18 (7.6%)	6 (7.3%)	12 (7.8%)	1.0000*
No	218 (92.4%)	76 (92.7%)	141 (92.2%)	
Alcohol Consumption in the Last 30	Days			
Yes	65 (28.8%)	32 (42.1%)	33 (23.1%)	0.0033
No	161 (71.2%)	44 (57.9%)	110 (76.9%)	
Atleast One Serving of Fruit/Day				
Yes	148 (66.7%)	41 (53.2%)	104 (74.3%)	0.0016
No	74 (33.3%)	36 (46.8%)	36 (25.7%)	
Atleast One Serving of Vegetables/D		00 (40.070)	00 (20.170)	
° °	•	44 (57 10/)	07 (60 50/)	0.0504
Yes	133 (60.7%)	44 (57.1%)	87 (63.5%)	0.3594
No	86 (39.3%)	33 (42.9%)	50 (36.5%)	
Exercise per Week (minimum 20min)				
0-3 days	98 (46.0%)	31 (43.1%)	63 (47.0%)	0.5864
4-7 days	115 (54.0%)	41 (56.9%)	71 (53.0%)	
BMI				
Normal	51 (23.9%)	24 (30.8%)	27 (20.8%)	0.1251
Overweight	63 (29.6%)	17 (21.8%)	43 (33.1%)	
Obese	99 (46.5%)	37 (47.4%)	60 (46.2%)	
Malignancy Identified by a Health Pr		- \/		
Yes	26 (10.6%)	7 (8.5%)	18 (11.4%)	0.6566*
No	220 (89.4%)	75 (91.5%)	140 (88.6%)	0.0000
	220 (00.470)	10 (01.070)	0,000 011	
Family History of Cancer	110 /51 10/)		00 /50 70/)	0.0404
Yes No	118 (51.1%)	35 (45.5%)	80 (53.7%)	0.2404
	113 (48.9%)	42 (54.5%)	69 (46.3%)	

Two-sided p-values from Chi-square test are reported, unless a cell had less than 10, then Fisher's exact test was used. *denotes Fischer's exact test. Bolded p-value indicates significance level of p<0.05.



FIGURE 2 | Cancer screening rates in survey participants. Two-sided pvalues from Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test are reported. Age inclusion: 21-65yo females for papsmear (N = 158); 40-75yo females for mammogram (N = 85); 50-75yo for colonoscopy/FIT (N = 43).

Multivariable Predictors of Cancer Screening Rates

After adjusting for age, education, health insurance, and place of birth, it was found that the longer it had been since a person had their last routine check-up, the lower their odds of being up-todate with cervical and breast cancer screenings. For cervical cancer screening, individuals are less likely to be up to date by 58% (p=0.1615) if they had their last check-up after one year and by 84% (p=0.0060) if they had their last check-up after two years compared to individuals who had their check-up within the year (**Table 3**).

When adjusting for education, check-up (not included in colorectal model), health insurance, and place of birth, each oneyear increase in age resulted in individuals being 1.09 (1.03-1.15, p=0.0038), 1.10 (0.97-1.25, p=0.1199), and 1.24 (1.05-1.46, p=0.0101) times more likely to be up to datefor cervical, breast, and colon cancer screening (**Table 3**). No statistical association was found between the place of birth and cancer screening rates.

Those who do not have health insurance are less likely to be up to date with cancer screenings than individuals who have health insurance. For breast and colorectal screenings, individuals with no health insurance were 94% less likely to be up to date (p=0.0016 and p=0.0133, **Table 3**).

Our breast screening model has the best performance at area under the curve (AUC) = 0.872 (0.787-0.956) followed by colorectal screening at AUC = 0.813 (0.701-0.925) and cervical screening at AUC = 0.790 (0.679-0.901). Using a person's age, education, nativity, health insurance, and time since the last routine check-up (for cervical and breast, not in the colorectal model) yields acceptable model accuracies (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, LUCHA is one of the few initiatives at NCIdesignated cancer centers that solely focus on advancing Latino cancer health equity. The current study is also the first Latinopopulation-focused CAPA.

This cancer health needs assessment showed that while individuals who identify as Latino are grouped into one racial/ ethnic category, there are substantial differences between foreign-born and US-born Latinos. In California, the state with

TABLE 3 | Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios (OR) from logistic regression for factors associated with cervical, breast and colorectal cancer screening.

	Cervical Cancer			Breast Cancer			Colorectal Cancer		
Variable	Unadjusted	Adjusted	p-value	Unadjusted	Adjusted	p-value	Unadjusted	Adjusted	p-value
Age (continuous)	1.04 (1.00-1.08)	1.09 (1.03-1.15)	0.0038	1.12 (1.02-1.22)	1.10 (0.97-1.25)	0.1199	1.27 (1.1-1.45)	1.24 (1.05-1.46)	0.0101
Education									
Some college or more	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)	
High school or less	0.37 (0.17-0.83)	0.23 (0.08-0.7)	0.0092	0.55 (0.18-1.67)	1.05 (0.22-4.94)	0.9501	0.32 (0.1-0.97)	0.37 (0.08-1.70)	0.1997
Time Since Last Routin	e Check-up								
≤ 1 year	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)	
1-2 years	0.30 (0.11-0.83)	0.42 (0.12-1.41)	0.1615	0.24 (0.06-1.04)	0.64 (0.09-4.64)	0.6590	0.66 (0.04-11.12)	NE	
2 or more years	0.15 (0.05-0.41)	0.16 (0.04-0.59)	0.0060	0.14 (0.04-0.51)	0.34 (0.05-2.38)	0.2753	0.09 (0.01-0.82)	NE	
Place of birth									
U.S. born	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)	
Foreign born	0.86 (0.36-2.04)	0.84 (0.24-2.92)	0.7843	0.43 (0.09-2.08)	3.73 (0.4-34.86)	0.2487	0.41 (0.09-1.78)	1.30 (0.21-8.07)	0.7794
Health Insurance									
Yes	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)		1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)	
No	0.59 (0.26-1.38)	0.82 (0.26-2.62)	0.7425	0.11 (0.04-0.37)	0.06 (0.01-0.34)	0.0016	0.03 (0.00-0.28)	0.06 (0.01-0.55)	0.0133

NE: Not estimated to avoid model overfitting due to small sample size. P-values for the adjusted model are reported, unadjusted p-values not shown. Bolded p-value indicates significance level of p<0.05.



the largest Latino population, about 13.2% are foreign-born, of which 59% are undocumented immigrants from Latin America, making this population particularly harder to reach by the cancer center's community outreach and engagement programs (17). As seen in Table 1, the survey showed that foreign-born Latinos were more likely to have lower levels of education, lower levels of English fluency, make less than \$35,000/year, and lack healthcare insurance. This reiterates the notion that the relationship between health and the Latino population is very complex (13). For example, a 2017 poll reported that 20% of Latinos experienced discrimination in a healthcare setting, and 17% relayed that they had avoided seeking medical care for themselves or family members due to concerns of being discriminated against or being treated poorly (18, 19). The fear of discrimination, alongside the anxiety of possible deportation among Latino families with mixed statuses, discourages families from seeking health services, leading to later cancer diagnosis, treatment, and outcome (15, 20).

Both social-ecological factors and ethnic heterogeneity play a role in cancer risk and mortality. Despite these differences, there was no association between nativity and cancer screenings among participants of the CAPA survey. Seventy percent or more of our survey respondents were current with their screenings for both breast and cervical cancer (Figure 2). However, for colorectal cancer screening, the fraction of up-to-date respondents was significantly smaller, even with a small sample size of screening eligible respondents. Supplementary Table 1 demonstrates that while nativity was not associated with screening, sociodemographic factors like college education were associated with increased screening adherence. This is not surprising given that college education is linked to an increase in social status and income, which is also linked to better health insurance and, thus, the ability to seek care.

Limitations of this study include the sample size (N=255), the polarized political climate (e.g., national and state election

campaigns), a heightened media focus on race issues during the survey period, and the COVID-19 pandemic (15). While the sample size for the current study is relatively small, interesting differences were uncovered that will be explored in future work. Additionally, while the survey did not ask for Protected Health Information (PHI), given the political climate, many individuals might have been hesitant to answer the survey due to fear or anxiety. The COVID-19 pandemic also altered the ability of surveyors to fan out into the community; subsequently, there was a rise in the completion of online surveys when the methodology was changed to a classroom setting (administered to UC Davis undergraduate students), which may explain a younger US-born sample and reflects some sample bias. With a vounger group of survey participants, some of them may not have been eligible for cancer screenings which impacts the results. We also did not follow the participants for a period of time and were unable to do a trend analysis.

The rate at which the Latino population is growing and their increasing numbers of new cancer cases make them a critical public health priority. In California, the public health concern lies in the economic burden of cancer care and the unique challenges Latinos face in different geographical areas. The findings reported here suggest a need for more efforts to create health equity and add to current literature that supports the notion that there are differences in healthcare utilization and access among Latinos. At UC Davis, this means bringing health screenings to the community in the form of mobile clinics, vaccine clinics, and hosting health education workshops while patients wait for appointments. We understand that it is unrealistic to expect individuals with limited educational attainment and language fluency to navigate such a complex health system. Moreover, despite the advances in cancer care, Latinos face many different structural and social challenges that influence their cancer prognosis. It is important to understand the gaps in cancer awareness and care access to eliminate cancer health disparities.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by UC Davis IRB. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JQ, FP, AP, and AV contributed equally. LC-C led the conception and design of the study. FP, AP, JQ, SR, and AM aided in study recruitment. JQ and AV organized the database. JQ, AV, LA, and MN performed the statistical analysis. JQ wrote the first draft of the manuscript. JD, MC, LF, and PL gave input throughout the process. LC-C served as head PI. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded with support from the UC Davis Cancer Center Support Grant from the National Cancer Institute (NCI,

REFERENCES

- 1. Street W. Cancer Facts & Figures for Hispanics & Latinos 2018-2020. (2018) (Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc.) p. 48.
- U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: California. Available at: https://www.census. gov/quickfacts/fact/table/CA/RHI725219#RHI725219 (Accessed January 3, 2022).
- Miller KD, Ortiz AP, Pinheiro PS, Bandi P, Minihan A, Fuchs HE, et al. Cancer Statistics for the US Hispanic/Latino Population, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(6):466–87. doi: 10.3322/caac.21695
- Ogden CL, Fryar CD, Martin CB, Freedman DS, Carroll MD, Gu Q, et al. Trends in Obesity Prevalence by Race and Hispanic Origin—1999-2000 to 2017-2018. JAMA (2020) 324(12):1208–10. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.14590
- Berger NA. Young Adult Cancer: Influence of the Obesity Pandemic. Obesity Silver Spring Md (2018) 26(4):641–50. doi: 10.1002/oby.22137
- Carvajal-Carmona LG, Ophoff R, Service S, Hartiala J, Molina J, Leon P, et al. Genetic Demography of Antioquia (Colombia) and the Central Valley of Costa Rica. *Hum Genet* (2003) 112(5-6):534–41. doi: 10.1007/s00439-002-0899-8
- Criollo-Rayo AA, Bohórquez M, Prieto R, Howarth K, Culma C, Carracedo A, et al. Native American Gene Continuity to the Modern Admixed Population From the Colombian Andes: Implication for Biomedical, Population and Forensic Studies. *Forensic Sci Int Genet* (2018) 36:e1–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.fsigen.2018.06.006
- Bedoya G, Montoya P, García J, Soto I, Bourgeois S, Carvajal L, et al. Admixture Dynamics in Hispanics: A Shift in the Nuclear Genetic Ancestry of a South American Population Isolate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103 (19):7234–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508716103
- 9. Carvajal-Carmona LG, Soto ID, Pineda N, Ortiz-Barrientos D, Duque C, Ospina-Duque J, et al. Strong Amerind/White Sex Bias and a Possible

P30CA093373) and the UC Davis Office of the Provost (Latinos United for Cancer Health Advancement, LUCHA, Initiative). JQ is supported by a diversity supplement from the National Cancer Institute (U54CA233306-1S) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH). JD receives support from NCI (P30CA093373), Bristol-Myers Squibb Foundation (A182016001), NIA (R61AG068948), and USDHHS (1CPMP19176). LF and LC-C received support from the California Initiative to Advance Precision Medicine (contract OPR18111). LC-C cancer health disparities and community engagement efforts receive support from NCI (P30CA093373, U54CA233306, and R01CA223978), National Center for Advancing Translational Science (UL1TR001860), the Heart, BrEast, and BrAin HeaLth Equity Research (HEAL-HER) Program and the Auburn Community Cancer Endowed Chair in Basic Science.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all individuals who participated in the study and our community partners.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022.883200/ full#supplementary-material

Sephardic Contribution Among the Founders of a Population in Northwest Colombia. *Am J Hum Genet* (2000) 67(5):1287–95. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9297 (07)62956-5

- Marker KM, Zavala VA, Vidaurre T, Lott P, Vasquez JN, Casavilca-Zambrano S, et al. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2-Positive Breast Cancer Is Associated With Indigenous American Ancestry in Latin American Women. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80(9):1893–901. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-3659
- Fejerman L, Hu D, Huntsman S, John EM, Stern MC, Haiman CA, et al. Genetic Ancestry and Risk of Mortality Among U.S. Latinas With Breast Cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(24):7243–53. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2014
- Zavala VA, Serrano-Gomez SJ, Dutil J, Fejerman L. Genetic Epidemiology of Breast Cancer in Latin America. *Genes* (2019) 10(2):153. doi: 10.3390/ genes10020153
- Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer Health Disparities in Racial/Ethnic Minorities in the United States. *Br J Cancer* (2021) 124(2):315–32. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6
- Stern MC, Fejerman L, Das R, Setiawan VW, Cruz-Correa MR, Perez-Stable EJ, et al. Variability in Cancer Risk and Outcomes Within US Latinos by National Origin and Genetic Ancestry. *Curr Epidemiol Rep* (2016) 3:181–90. doi: 10.1007/s40471-016-0083-7
- Martínez ME, Nodora JN, Carvajal-Carmona LG. The Dual Pandemic of COVID-19 and Systemic Inequities in US Latino Communities. *Cancer* (2021) 127(10):1548–50. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33401
- 16. U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Stanislaus County, California; Merced County, California; San Joaquin County, California. Available at: https:// www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/colusacountycalifornia, stanislauscountycalifornia,mercedcountycalifornia,sanjoaquincounty california/PST045221 (Accessed January 3, 2022).

- Census Table Results. Available at: https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q= nativity&g=0400000US06&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B05002 (Accessed January 28, 2022).
- The Dual Pandemic of COVID-19 and Systemic Inequities in US Latino Communities. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33405237/ (Accessed May 15, 2022).
- Boston 677 Huntington Avenue, Ma 02115 +1495-1000. Poll finds one-third of Latinos say they have experienced discrimination in their jobs and when seeking housing. Available at: https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/press-releases/ poll-latinos-discrimination/ (Accessed January 3, 2022). News. Published November 1, 2017.
- Kronenfeld JP, Graves KD, Penedo FJ, Yanez B. Overcoming Disparities in Cancer: A Need for Meaningful Reform for Hispanic and Latino Cancer Survivors. Oncologist (2021) 26(6):443–52. doi: 10.1002/onco.13729

Author Disclaimer: The opinions expressed in this article are the author's own and do not reflect the view of the National Institutes of Health, the Department of Health and Human Services, or the United States government. **Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Quino, Perez, Perez, Vang, Avendano, Dang, Chen, Arana, Rocha, Nuno, Lara, Fejerman and Carvajal-Carmona. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Changes in Cancer Mortality by Race and Ethnicity Following the Implementation of the Affordable Care Act in California

Maria Elena Martinez^{1,2*}, Scarlett L. Gomez^{3,4}, Alison J. Canchola³, Debora L. Oh³, James D. Murphy^{2,5}, Winta Mehtsun^{2,6}, K. Robin Yabroff⁷ and Matthew P. Banegas^{2,5}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jennifer Freedman, Duke University, United States

Reviewed by:

Omonefe Omofuma, National Cancer Institute (NIH), United States Marie-Rachelle NARCISSE, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, United States

*Correspondence:

Maria Elena Martinez e8martinez@health.ucsd.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 08 April 2022 Accepted: 17 June 2022 Published: 13 July 2022

Citation:

Martinez ME, Gomez SL, Canchola AJ, Oh DL, Murphy JD, Mehtsun W, Yabroff KR and Banegas MP (2022) Changes in Cancer Mortality by Race and Ethnicity Following the Implementation of the Affordable Care Act in California. Front. Oncol. 12:916167. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.916167 ¹ Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health and Human Longevity Science, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States, ² Moores Cancer Center, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States, ³ Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States, ⁴ Helen Diller Family Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, San Francisco, CA, United States, ⁵ Department of Radiation Medicine and Applied Sciences, University of California, San Diego School of Medicine, La Jolla, CA, United States, ⁶ Department of Surgery, University of California, San Diego School of Medicine, La Jolla, CA, United States, ⁷ Surveillance and Health Equity Science, American Cancer Society, Kennesaw, GA, United States

Although Affordable Care Act (ACA) implementation has improved cancer outcomes, less is known about how much the improvement applies to different racial and ethnic populations. We examined changes in health insurance coverage and cancer-specific mortality rates by race/ethnicity pre- and post-ACA. We identified newly diagnosed breast (n = 117,738), colorectal (n = 38,334), and cervical cancer (n = 11,109) patients < 65 years in California 2007-2017. Hazard rate ratios (HRR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated using multivariable Cox regression to estimate risk of cancer-specific death pre- (2007-2010) and post-ACA (2014-2017) and by race/ethnicity [American Indian/ Alaska Natives (AIAN); Asian American; Hispanic; Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (NHPI); non-Hispanic Black (NHB); non-Hispanic white (NHW)]. Cancer-specific mortality from colorectal cancer was lower post-ACA among Hispanic (HRR = 0.82, 95% CI = 0.74 to 0.92), NHB (HRR = 0.69, 95% CI = 0.58 to 0.82), and NHW (HRR = 0.90; 95% CI = 0.84 to 0.97) but not Asian American (HRR = 0.95, 95% CI = 0.82 to 1.10) patients. We observed a lower risk of death from cervical cancer post-ACA among NHB women (HRR = 0.68, 95% CI = 0.47 to 0.99). No statistically significant differences in breast cancer-specific mortality were observed for any racial or ethnic group. Cancer-specific mortality decreased following ACA implementation for colorectal and cervical cancers for some racial and ethnic groups in California, suggesting Medicaid expansion is associated with reductions in health inequity.

Keywords: Affordable Care Act, race and ethnicity, disparities, breast cancer, cervix cancer, colorectal cancer

INTRODUCTION

In the United States (U.S.), cancer care is inextricably linked with health insurance coverage (1). Prior studies have shown that, compared to privately-insured individuals, those who are uninsured or underinsured are less likely to undergo cancer screening and, therefore, more likely to present with later stage disease at time of diagnosis (2–4). Meanwhile, having health insurance is associated with shorter time to treatment initiation, receipt of guideline treatment, and improved survival (5).

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), which was signed into law on March 23, 2010, and went into full effect January 1, 2014, expanded Medicaid eligibility to nonelderly adults with incomes at or below 138% of the federal poverty level with or without dependent children (6). To date, 39 U.S. states and the District of Columbia have adopted Medicaid expansion. Studies have shown that the ACA Medicaid expansion increased health insurance coverage among adults aged 18 to 64 years (7); moreover, this expansion has contributed to reductions in racial and ethnic disparities in coverage (8). Other provisions of the ACA are also relevant to cancer care. Starting in 2014, private health insurers could no longer deny coverage based on pre-existing conditions such as cancer, raise premiums, or deny coverage for cancer care. The ACA also created health insurance Marketplace plans, allowing the purchase of private health insurance plans, which are required to offer essential health benefits, including but not limited to hospitalizations, ambulatory care, and prescription drugs. The ACA's required coverage for preventive care services, which includes screening for colon, breast, and cervical cancer without cost sharing (9), has begun to show benefits in increased cancer screening (10). These benefits of ACA implementation for cancer patients include reduced proportions of uninsured patients, earlier stage at diagnosis, improved care access, and decreased mortality (10-17). Despite variability in the implementation of Medicaid expansion, due to differences among state policies (18), few studies have reported cancer outcomes in individual states (19-21). Several studies have reported reductions in racial and ethnic disparities in early stage diagnosis (12, 22) but data on survival outcomes for different racial and ethnic groups are scarce (15, 23). Therefore, the true extent to which Medicaid expansion has resulted in specific improvements in cancer outcomes and reduced disparities among racial and ethnic populations remains unknown. Given the well-known racial and ethnic disparities in mortality that exist in the U.S. (24), understanding the extent to which the ACA implementation improves mortality and reduces disparities can help motivate additional initiatives to address mortality among particular racial or ethnic groups.

California was one of five U.S. states—including the District of Columbia—that opted to expand Medicaid coverage to its low-income residents before 2014 (25), and California now hosts the largest Medicaid program in the nation. This early Medicaid expansion in California, in concert with the state's large and diverse population, provides a unique opportunity for assessing cancer outcomes in California following ACA implementation. As National Cancer Institute (NCI)-designated cancer centers in the U. S. charged with assessing and addressing the cancer burden in their catchment areas, results from this study provide important data for these centers in California to work with state and regional stakeholders to improve the health of the nearly 180,000 cancer patients who are diagnosed annually in the state and reduce the estimated 60,000 number of deaths that occur per year (26). Against this backdrop, we examined changes in the distributions of health insurance coverage, in the postversus pre-ACA periods, among patients under 65 years of age in California with newly diagnosed breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer. In addition, we assessed cancer-specific mortality in the pre- and post-ACA periods for the three cancers, according to race and ethnicity. We limited our analysis to the three screenable cancers as these would benefit from ACA implementation through providing individuals with greater opportunities for early detection and, ultimately, reduced mortality. Breast cancer represents the second leading cause of cancer deaths in women and colorectal cancer is the third leading cause of cancer deaths in the United States (24). Even though cervix cancer is less common, mortality rates are higher in women of color than white women (24).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Participants and Disease Classification

Participants were identified among data retrieved from the California Cancer Registry (CCR), which is the largest population-based state cancer registry in the United States and contains demographic, diagnostic, treatment, and outcome information for cancer patients. The participant population comprised patients diagnosed in California aged less than 65 years with a first primary invasive female breast, colorectal, or cervical cancer between January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2017. We focused on this age group because newly diagnosed patients aged 65 years and older are age-eligible for Medicare coverage and the ACA provisions that affect insurance options affect people younger than age 65 years We used the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, 3rd Edition (ICD-O-3) site codes C50.0-50.9 for breast cancer, C18.0-C18.9, C19.9, C20.9, and C26.0 for colorectal cancer, and C53.0-C53.9 for cervical cancer, excluding histology codes 9050-9055, 9140, and 9590-9992. Patients were excluded from analyses hierarchically as follows (See Supplemental Figure 1): diagnosis by death certificate or autopsy only (n = 878 breast; n = 1,231 colorectal; n = 77 cervical); not screening-eligible age (n = 98,966 not age 40–64 years for breast; n = 84,965 not age 50-64 years for colorectal; n = 2,604 not age 18–64 years for cervical); stage unknown (n = 4,638for breast; n = 5,378 for colorectal; n = 863 for cervical); insurance status unknown (n = 2,952 for breast; n = 778 for colorectal; n = 296 for cervical); race and ethnicity other or unknown (n = 656 for breast; n = 255 for colorectal; n = 58 for cervical); no follow-up (n =50 for breast; n = 38 for colorectal; n = 15 for cervical). The final study population included a total of 167,181 cancer patients:

117,738 breast, 38,334 colorectal, and 11,109 cervical cancer. Our study was approved by the institutional review boards at each of our respective institutions; informed consent was waived because we analyzed de-identified the data retrieved for analysis.

Exposure Variables

Race and ethnicity were classified as American Indian/Alaska Native (AIAN), Asian American, Hispanic, Native Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander (NHPI), non-Hispanic Black (NHB), or non-Hispanic White (NHW), according to patient medical records and CCR classification system, supplemented by the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries' identification algorithm for Hispanic population groups using factors such as race and ethnicity, birthplace, and surnames. Primary and secondary sources of payment from the CCR data are based on the last admission for initial diagnosis and/or treatment. Because of the multiple ACA provisions that may affect access to cancer care outcomes, we included patients with all types of health insurance coverage. We classified insurance status according to five categories: private only; Medicare only or Medicare and private; any Medicaid; any military or public insurance other than Medicare or Medicaid; no insurance or self-pay. Given the increased recognition that the context within which we live, work, and play are important upstream determinants of health, we used a multi-component measure of neighborhood socioeconomic (nSES), based on patients' residential census block group at diagnosis and American Community Survey data, categorized into quintiles based on the statewide distribution (27). We considered nSES as a potential confounder in the analysis, as it has been demonstrated in numerous studies to be independently associated with cancer outcomes, independent of individual or patient-level factors (28, 29).

Follow-Up

Diagnosis year was categorized into three time periods: 2007-2010; 2011-2013; 2014-2017. We defined 2007-2010 as the period before the ACA implementation (i.e., pre-ACA) and 2014-2017 as the period after ACA implementation (i.e., post-ACA). Meanwhile, 2011-2013 was defined as the transition period before full Medicaid expansion, when individual counties in California were allowed to expand coverage and did so at different income thresholds (23). Follow-up time was calculated as the number of days from diagnosis until the date that occurred first among the following five: date of cancerspecific death (ICD-10 C50 for breast; C18, C19.9, C20.9, C26.0 for colorectal; C53 for cervical); date of death from another or unknown cause; date of last known contact; date 5 years after diagnosis; study end date of December 31, 2018. Follow-up time for survival extended through 2018 and was truncated at 5 years to allow for more equal opportunity for follow-up across the three time periods, and achieve balance between ensuring maximal inclusion of cases and contribution to follow up time. The median follow-up time for patients diagnosed in 2007-2010 was 5.0 years, and for 2011-2013 and 2014-2017, it was 5.0 years and 2.5 years, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

Changes in insurance type were assessed by calculating the percent point difference between post-ACA (2014-2017) and pre-ACA (2007-2010) periods. For mortality analyses, the hazard rate ratio (HRR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated using multivariable Cox regression to estimate associations with risk of 5-year cancer-specific death. Patients with an unknown cause of death were excluded from the Cox analysis. The proportional hazards assumption was tested separately for each cancer site by examining the correlation between time and scaled Schoenfeld residuals for all variables. Variables that violated the proportional hazards assumption were included in the model as an underlying stratification factor, which allowed the baseline hazard to vary by the levels of these factors. Models were adjusted for clustering by Census block group using a sandwich estimator of the covariance structure that accounts for intracluster dependence. Breast cancer models included timeperiod, race and ethnicity, age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, grade, histology, nSES, and diagnosis and/or treatment at an NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by stage, breast cancer subtype as defined below, surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation; and clustering by block group. Breast cancer subtype was defined according to the following categories: hormone receptor (HR) positive (estrogen and/or progesterone receptor positive)/ Her2neu (HER2) positive, HR+/HER2-, HR-/HER2+, and HR-/ HER2-. Colorectal cancer models included time-period, race and ethnicity, age, sex, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, histology, anatomical subsite, surgery, nSES, and diagnosis and/or treatment at an NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by stage, grade, chemotherapy, and radiation; and clustering by block group. Colorectal cancer models also were stratified by sex in secondary analysis; results were similar by sex. Cervical cancer models included time-period, race and ethnicity, age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, grade, histology, surgery, nSES, and diagnosis and/or treatment at an NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by stage, chemotherapy, and radiation; and clustering by block group. Wald global (and individual) tests for interaction were computed using cross-product terms in an overall, fully-adjusted model, which, to make the overall model comparable to the stratified models, featured underlying stratification by the stratification variable (race and ethnicity or time period) and was adjusted for all possible interactions with the stratification variable. Statistical significance was assessed with a threshold of p < 0.05. We conducted multivariable models to assess the intersectionality of ACA time period and race and ethnicity for each cancer site; one set of models assessed 5-year cancer-specific mortality by time period (2007-2010; 2011-2013; and 2014-2017) stratified by race and ethnicity and a second set assessed mortality by race and ethnicity stratified by time period. In addition, to assess potential changes resulting from the ACA implementation, we present two sets of multivariable models: one that does not include stage and treatment and one that does. All analyses were performed in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc).

To assess the robustness of our Cox regression analysis, given that we do not include data from a non-Medicaid expansion region, we conducted a sensitivity analysis by including cancer patients aged 65 years and older as a comparison group, including 141,026 cancer patients (79,691 breast, 59,084 colorectal, and 2,251 cervical cancer) aged \geq 65 years who met the same inclusion/exclusion criteria. A difference-in-difference analysis was used to compare mortality differences in post- vs. pre-ACA implementation between younger and older patients.

RESULTS

We included 117,738 breast, 38,334 colorectal, and 11,109 cervical cancer patients age <65 years who were newly diagnosed between 2007 and 2017 (**Table 1**). Differences in age distributions by cancer site reflect different screening eligibility ages for each cancer type, which resulted in a younger age for cervical cancer patients and an older age for colorectal cancer patients.

We assessed changes in distributions of health insurance coverage in three separate time periods (2007-2010, 2011-2013, and 2014-2017) for breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer (Table 2). For breast cancer, after the ACA implementation, the percentage of uninsured women decreased by 0.3 percentage points, while the percentage of women with Medicaid increased by 2.4 percentage points, and those with private insurance decreased by 1.9 percentage points. Meanwhile, among patients with colorectal cancer, post-ACA, the proportion who were uninsured decreased by 2.3 percentage points, while those with Medicaid coverage increased by 9.5 percentage points, and those with privately insured patients decreased by 3.7 percentage points. Of the three cancers assessed, cervical cancer patients represented the highest proportion of uninsured patients pre-ACA (4.6%) and post-ACA (2.0%), exhibiting a 2.6 percentage-point decline. Medicaid coverage among cervical cancer patients increased by 1.4 percentage points, and private insurance increased by 2.3 percentage points. Changes in insurance coverage pre- and post-ACA, by racial and ethnic group, exhibited decreases in the proportion of uninsured patients for all groups, with some variation in the magnitude of the decrease across the groups (Supplementary Table 1). The proportion of Medicaid-insured individuals increased among Asian American, Hispanic, NHB, and NHW patients yet not among AIAN or NHPI patients. Private insurance decreased among NHB and NHW patients.

Table 3 shows 5-year cancer-specific mortality, by time period, for breast, colorectal and cervical cancer, stratified by race and ethnicity, for the four largest racial and ethnic groups. No significant differences in mortality were observed over time for breast cancer patients. In the fully-adjusted model, risk of dying from colorectal cancer was significantly lower in the post-vs. pre-ACA periods for Hispanic (HRR = 0.82, 95% CI = 0.74 to 0.92), NHB (HRR = 0.69, 95% CI = 0.58 to 0.82), and NHW (HRR = 0.90, 95% CI = 0.84 to 0.97) patients but not Asian American (HRR = 0.95, 95% CI = 0.82 to 1.10) patients. A

statistically significant interaction between race and ethnicity and time period was observed in the fully-adjusted model (global pinteraction = 0.033); specifically, the HRR for NHB cases in 2011-2013 and 2014-2017 (compared to 2007-2010) were statistically significantly lower than the HRR for NHW cases (individual p-interaction = 0.005 for both time-periods). In addition, a statistically significantly lower risk of dying from cervical cancer was observed in the post- vs. pre-ACA period among NHB women in the fully adjusted model (HRR = 0.68, 95% CI = 0.47 to 0.99). When we assessed cancer-specific mortality differences by race and ethnicity stratified by time period, NHB women had a higher risk of dving from breast cancer compared to NHW patients for all three time periods (Supplemental Table 2). Whereas for colorectal cancer, NHB cases had a higher risk of dying from colorectal cancer compared to NHW cases only in the pre-ACA time-period.

In a sensitivity analysis, we assessed 5-year cancer-specific mortality by time period for breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer, stratified by race and ethnicity, for cancer patients aged 65 years and older (**Table 4**). Contrary to the mortality differences observed among younger patients in the fullyadjusted models, no statistically significant differences were observed for the post- vs. pre-ACA period for any racial and ethnic group among patients \geq 65 years with breast, colorectal, or cervical cancer. **Figure 1** shows results of the difference-indifference analysis for the associations found to be statistically significant in the younger group. A significantly lower mortality post- vs pre-ACA was observed in younger compared to older NHB colorectal cancer patients (p-interaction < 0.0001).

Given the small number of AIAN and NHPI patients represented in the CCR, we were unable to assess differences over time period stratified by these two racial groups. Nevertheless, in separate analyses to assess 5-year cancerspecific mortality for race and ethnicity stratified by time period (Supplementary Table 2), we observed higher (not statistically significant) breast cancer mortality among NHPI patients compared to NHW patients in the three time periods, yet we observed lower mortality for Asian American women. Similar mortality differences between NHPI and Asian American patients compared to NHW patients were observed for colorectal and cervical cancer. A mortality difference across time for AIAN patients compared to NHW patients was observed for cervical cancer: a lower yet non-statistically significant risk of dying was shown in the post-ACA period (HRR = 0.48, 95% CI = 0.20 to 1.17), which was not present before ACA implementation (HRR = 1.17; 95% CI = 0.70 to 1.97).

DISCUSSION

We assessed changes in distributions of health insurance coverage and 5-year cancer-specific mortality following implementation of the ACA among breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer patients younger than age 65 years, in California, an early adopter of Medicaid expansion under the ACA and the most populous U.S. state. Although reports on the

TABLE 1 | Characteristics by Cancer Site in Patients Under 65 Years of Age, California, 2007–2017.

	Cancer Site						
	Female	Breast	Colorectal F	emale & Male	Cer	vical	
	Ν	Col %	Ν	Col %	Ν	Col %	
	117,738	100.0	38,334	100.0	11,109	100.0	
Age, Years			0				
18–39	0	0.0	0	0.0	3,642	32.8	
40-49	36,778	31.2	0	0.0	3,517	31.7	
50–54	25,802	21.9	11,811	30.8	1,505	13.5	
55–59	26,794	22.8	12,671	33.1	1,314	11.8	
60-64	28,364	24.1	13,852	36.1	1,131	10.2	
Race and Ethnicity	007	0.0	000	0.7		1.0	
AIAN	667	0.6	260	0.7	111	1.0	
Asian	18,020	15.3	5,603	14.6	1,512	13.6	
Hispanic	26,540	22.5	8,972	23.4	4,461	40.2	
NHPI	739	0.6	215	0.6	90	0.8	
NH Black	7,835	6.7	3,256	8.5	668	6.0	
NH White	63,937	54.3	20,028	52.2	4,267	38.4	
Health Insurance	00.000	74.0	05 104	05.0	E 740	-	
Private only	88,082	74.8	25,134	65.6	5,748	51.7	
Medicare only or Medicare + Private	4,727	4.0	2,293	6.0	250	2.3	
Any Medicaid	20,767	17.6	7,700	20.1	4,260	38.3	
Any military/other public	2,866	2.4	1,966	5.1	477	4.3	
No insurance	1,296	1.1	1,241	3.2	374	3.4	
Marital Status	10.010	o 4 =					
Unmarried	40,812	34.7	14,676	38.3	5,634	50.7	
Married	72,540	61.6	22,062	57.6	5,068	45.6	
Unknown	4,386	3.7	1,596	4.2	407	3.7	
Year of Diagnosis							
2007–2010	40,782	34.6	13,053	34.1	4,160	37.4	
2011–2013	32,372	27.5	10,578	27.6	2,980	26.8	
2014–2017	44,584	37.9	14,703	38.4	3,969	35.7	
AJCC Stage							
	53,955	45.8	10,070	26.3	5,822	52.4	
	42,669	36.2	8,299	21.6	1,237	11.1	
	15,105	12.8	11,137	29.1	2,464	22.2	
	6,009	5.1	8,828	23.0	1,586	14.3	
Grade							
Grade I	24,814	21.1	4,277	11.2	1,465	13.2	
Grade II	48,463	41.2	23,961	62.5	3,381	30.4	
Grade III/IV	39,106	33.2	5,809	15.2	3,373	30.4	
Unknown	5,355	4.5	4,287	1.2	2,890	26.0	
Surgery							
No	7,823	6.6	5,574	14.5	4,077	36.7	
Yes	109,890	93.3	32,751	85.4	7,030	63.3	
Unknown	25	0.0	9	0.0	<5	0.0	
Chemotherapy							
No	57,033	48.4	18,522	48.3	5,775	52.0	
Yes	58,794	49.9	18,934	49.4	5,205	46.9	
Unknown	1,911	1.6	878	2.3	129	1.2	
Radiation							
No	58,547	49.7	31,417	82.0	5,500	49.5	
Yes	59,118	50.2	6,906	18.0	5,603	50.4	
Unknown	73	0.1	11	0.0	6	0.1	
Neighborhood (Census Block Group) Socioeconomic Status Statewide Quintile							
Quintile 1 (low)	14,876	12.6	6,340	16.5	2,812	25.3	
Quintile 2	19,415	16.5	7,622	19.9	2,469	22.2	
Quintile 3	22,586	19.2	7,878	20.6	2,201	19.8	
Quintile 4	26,945	22.9	7,802	20.4	1,890	17.0	
Quintile 5 (high)	30,397	25.8	7,355	19.2	1,428	12.9	
Not geocodable	3,519	3.0	1,337	3.5	309	2.8	
Seen at an NCI-Designated Cancer Center							
No	99,664	84.6	32,995	86.1	8,116	73.1	

AIAN, American Indian or Alaska Native; NHPI, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander; NH, non-Hispanic.

			Time P	eriod			Difference ^b
	2007-	2010	2011-	2011–2013		2017	
	Ν	%	N	%	Ν	%	
Breast Cancer							
Insurance status ^a							
Private	31,245	76.6	23,536	72.7	33,301	74.7	-1.9
Medicare	1,622	4.0	1,370	4.2	1,735	3.9	-0.1
Medicaid	6,509	16.0	6,048	18.7	8,210	18.4	2.4
Other public	932	2.3	1,008	3.1	926	2.1	-0.2
Uninsured	474	1.2	410	1.3	412	0.9	-0.3
Colorectal Cancer							
Insurance status							
Private	8,922	68.4	6,698	63.3	9,514	64.7	-3.7
Medicare	795	6.1	686	6.5	812	5.5	-0.6
Medicaid	2,036	15.6	1,978	18.7	3,686	25.1	9.5
Other public	773	5.9	754	7.1	439	3.0	-2.9
Uninsured	527	4.0	462	4.4	252	1.7	-2.3
Cervical Cancer							
Insurance status							
Private	2,139	51.4	1,476	49.5	2,133	53.7	2.3
Medicare	80	1.9	71	2.4	99	2.5	0.6
Medicaid	1,543	37.1	1,188	39.9	1,529	38.5	1.4
Other public	205	4.9	145	4.9	127	3.2	-1.7
Uninsured	193	4.6	100	3.4	81	2.0	-2.6

^aInsurance status categories: Private defined as private insurance only; Medicare defined as Medicare insurance only or Medicare and private insurance; Medicaid defined as any Medicaid insurance; Other public defined as any public insurance other than Medicare and Medicaid; Uninsured defined as no health insurance. ^bDifference between 2014–2017 and 2007–2010 time periods.

effect of this landmark legislation in the U.S. have been published (7–12, 22), data on cancer-specific mortality, particularly by racial and ethnic group, are scarce. In addition to decreases in the proportion of uninsured patients for all three cancers, across all racial and ethnic groups, we observed a decline in cancer-specific mortality following full ACA implementation. These results show the benefits of ACA implementation among NHB and Hispanic colorectal cancer patients and among NHB cervical cancer patients.

One goal of the ACA is to improve patient outcomes, which includes cancer survival. Published data on mortality outcomes for breast and colorectal cancer related to the ACA are mixed and scarce (15, 20, 23). To date, most studies have reported benefits of the ACA on cancer screening and stage at diagnosis (11, 14, 30). According to our research, there are two published reports on cancer mortality changes following ACA implementation, stratified by race and ethnicity (15, 23). One study reported no differences in breast, colorectal, and lung cancer mortality combined, between Black and White patients (15). In the second study (23), a two-year survival benefit associated with Medicaid expansion was greater in NHB patients, which resulted in narrowing disparities in cancer survival, similar to our findings. Our study addresses the limited literature on cancer-specific mortality (15, 20) and extends our understanding of racial and ethnic differences. We observed post-ACA reductions in colorectal cancer mortality of 10% among NHW, 18% among Hispanic, and 31% among NHB patients under age 65 years. Though, no significant changes in mortality were shown following the ACA for patients 65 years and older. These findings are consistent with a report from

Kentucky (20) and a large population-based national study (23) yet inconsistent with those reported by Lam et al., (15). Contrary to reported findings (15), we observed no differences in breast cancer mortality when comparing the post- and pre-ACA periods. This could be because (1) the percent of uninsured breast cancer patients in California pre-ACA was very low and (2) the reduction in uninsured women post-ACA was small. For patients with cervical cancer, NHB women exhibited a statistically significant, lower mortality post-ACA compared to pre-ACA, but this was not observed for other racial and ethnic groups. This lack of association could be due to insufficient power to detect differences, given it is a less common malignancy compared to the others. This could be because cervical cancer patients exhibited the smallest gains in Medicaid coverage and had the highest rate of being uninsured following ACA implementation. In addition, for breast and cervical cancer outcomes, the effect of the ACA could be weakened by that of existing screening programs in California for uninsured and lowincome women, which has been described in the literature (7, 8). Although our findings suggest a narrowing in some of the racial and ethnic disparities following ACA implementation, we were unable to conduct analyses specific to AIAN and NHPI patients, due to their small representation in the CCR.

Reports on changes in proportions of uninsured cancer patients following ACA implementation show greater reductions in Medicaid expansion states compared to non-expansion states (11, 14, 30–33). Among expansion states, a 2.6–2.9 percentage point drop in the proportion of uninsured cancer patients has been shown for post- vs. pre-ACA periods (11, 14, 26), which is consistent with our results for California. In addition, our results show that

TABLE 3 | Risk of 5-year cancer-specific death for time-period stratified by race/ethnicity among breast, colorectal, and cervix cancer patients less than 65 years of age, California, 2007-2017.

	NH V	Vhite	Asian A	merican	Hisp	anic	NHI	Black	p-int ^{a,}	p-int ^b
	HRR ^a (95% CI)	HRR ^b (95% Cl)	HRR ^a (95% CI)	HRR ^b (95% CI)	HRR ^a (95% CI)	HRR ^b (95% CI)	HRR ^a (95% CI)	HRR ^b (95% Cl)		
Breast car										
Time-period										
2007-	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.061	0.141
2010							d			
2011-	0.94	0.94	0.96	0.95	0.98	0.95	1.13 ^d	1.07		
2013	(0.87-1.01)	(0.87-1.01)	(0.82-1.14)	(0.80-1.12)	(0.88-1.10)	(0.85-1.05)	(0.99-1.30)	(0.93-1.23)		
2014-	1.02	0.97	1.16	1.10	1.00	0.92	0.97	0.88		
2017	(0.94-1.11)	(0.89-1.05)	(0.98-1.38)	(0.92-1.31)	(0.89-1.11)	(0.82-1.04)	(0.83-1.13)	(0.75-1.04)		
Colorectal	cancer									
Time-period										
2007-	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.455	0.033
2010										
2011-	1.09	1.03	1.07	1.03	1.07	0.97	0.97	0.81 ^d		
2013	(1.02-1.17)	(0.96-1.11)	(0.93-1.23)	(0.90-1.19)	(0.96-1.18)	(0.87-1.08)	(0.83-1.13)	(0.70-0.95)		
2014-	1.03	0.90	1.09	0.95	0.94	0.82	0.93	0.69 ^a		
2017	(0.95-1.10)	(0.84-0.97)	(0.94-1.26)	(0.82-1.10)	(0.84-1.04)	(0.74-0.92)	(0.79-1.10)	(0.58-0.82)		
Cervix can										
Time-period										
2007-	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.543	0.257
2010										
2011-	0.98	0.93	1.05	1.14	1.08	1.10	0.93	1.04		
2013	(0.83-1.17)	(0.79-1.10)	(0.76-1.43)	(0.83-1.58)	(0.91-1.28)	(0.93-1.30)	(0.65-1.32)	(0.72-1.49)		
2014-	1.09	1.00	1.09	1.09	1.07	1.03	0.73	0.68		
2017	(0.92-1.29)	(0.85-1.18)	(0.79-1.49)	(0.80-1.49)	(0.90-1.27)	(0.86-1.22)	(0.51-1.05)	(0.47-0.99)		

NH, non-Hispanic; HR, hazard rate ratio; CI, confidence interval; nSES, neighborhood socioeconomic status; NCI, National Cancer Institute.

^aCox regression. Breast cancer: Model adjusted for age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, grade, histology, nSES, and NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by HR/HER2 subtype; and clustering by block group. Colorectal cancer: Model adjusted for age, sex, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, histology, anatomical subsite, nSES, and NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by grade; and clustering by block group. Cervical cancer: Model adjusted for age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, histology, anatomical subsite, nSES, and NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by grade; and clustering by block group. Cervical cancer: Model adjusted for age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, grade, histology, nSES, and NCI cancer center; and clustering by block group.

^bCox regression. Breast cancer: Same as model in footnote a with additional underlying stratification by stage, surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation. Colorectal cancer: Same as model in footnote a additionally adjusted for surgery; with additional underlying stratification by stage, chemotherapy, and radiation. Cervical cancer: Same as model in footnote a additionally adjusted for surgery; with additional underlying stratification by stage, chemotherapy, and radiation.

^cGlobal p-interaction in a fully adjusted overall model with underlying stratification by race/ethnicity and including all possible cross-product interactions with race/ethnicity.

^dSignificantly different from NH White (individual cross-product interaction term P<0.05 in a fully adjusted overall model with underlying stratification by race/ethnicity and including all possible cross-product interactions with race/ethnicity). Bold text indicates statistical significance.

TABLE 4 | Risk of 5-year Cancer-Specific Death for Time Period Stratified by Race and Ethnicity among Breast, Colorectal, and Cervical Cancer Patients 65 Years of Age or Older, California, 2007–2017.

	1	NH White		Asian American		Hispanic		NH Black	
	HRR	(95% CI)	HRR	(95% CI)	HRR	(95% CI)	HRR	(95% CI)	
Breast Cancer ^b									
Time period									
2007-2010	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00		0.696
2011-2013	1.00	(0.93 to 1.07)	0.99	(0.80 to 1.23)	0.92	(0.79 to 1.08)	0.84	(0.68 to 1.04)	
2014-2017	0.97	(0.90 to 1.05)	1.05	(0.84 to 1.31)	0.89	(0.76 to 1.05)	0.95	(0.77 to 1.18)	
Colorectal Cance	er ^c								
Time period									
2007-2010	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00		0.660
2011-2013	0.99	(0.94 to 1.04)	0.96	(0.86 to 1.07)	0.97	(0.89 to 1.07)	1.01	(0.87 to 1.16)	
2014-2017	0.96	(0.91 to 1.01)	0.94	(0.84 to 1.05)	0.93	(0.85 to 1.03)	1.09	(0.95 to 1.25)	
Cervical Cancer	ł								
Time period									
2007-2010	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00		0.171
2011-2013	1.35	(1.00 to 1.83)	2.13	(1.11 to 4.09)	1.02	(0.68 to 1.52)	1.01	(0.37 to 2.71)	
2014-2017	1.00	(0.75 to 1.33)	1.79	(0.92 to 3.49)	1.05	(0.70 to 1.56)	0.41	(0.16 to 1.01)	

Bold text indicates statistical significance.

^aGlobal p-interaction in a fully adjusted overall model with underlying stratification by race and ethnicity and including all possible cross-product interactions with race and ethnicity. ^bBreast cancer model adjusted for age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, grade, histology, nSES, and NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by stage, HR/HER2 subtype, surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation; and clustering by block group.

^cColorectal cancer model adjusted for age, sex, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, histology, anatomical subsite, surgery, nSES, and NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by stage, grade, chemotherapy, and radiation; and clustering by block group.

^dCervical cancer model adjusted for age, insurance status, marital status, tumor size, lymph node involvement, grade, histology, surgery, nSES, and NCI cancer center; with underlying stratification by stage, chemotherapy, and radiation; and clustering by block group.



improvements in insurance coverage occurred among all racial and ethnic groups, which range from a 0.6 percentage point decrease in the proportion uninsured for NHW patients to a 1.6 decrease for Hispanic patients. Indeed, Han et al. (26), also have reported these higher decreases among Hispanic patients compared to other racial and ethnic groups. Meanwhile, breast cancer patients exhibited the smallest decrease (0.3%) in being uninsured; however, these patients began with low uninsured rates prior to ACA implementation (1.2%). Larger decreases in the proportion of uninsured individuals were observed for colorectal cancer patients (2.3 percentage points), which could be due to larger reductions in uninsured male compared to female patients, as reported in the literature (12). Although cervical cancer patients exhibited the highest decrease in being uninsured (2.6 percentage points) for all three cancers, these patients also exhibited the highest proportion of uninsured women pre- and post-ACA implementation. These results underscore the challenges faced by cervical cancer patients, who are younger than colorectal and breast cancer patients and, as such, may experience unstable coverage. Our study contributes to and expands the literature through assessing corresponding changes in Medicaid coverage following ACA implementation. Colorectal cancer patients exhibited the largest gains in Medicaid coverage (9.5 percentage points), whereas cervical cancer patients exhibited the lowest increase (1.4 percentage points), changes that are within the range of those reported in the literature (11, 14).

Our study of California exhibits several strengths: the population-based nature of its data; the racial and ethnic diversity of its participants; the relatively long follow-up post-ACA because California was an early-Medicaid expansion state. Nevertheless, with these strengths come some limitations. First, this study is representative of California, which may limit its generalizability to other U.S. states. Indeed, prior studies that have analyzed multiple states comprise a mix of early- and late-Medicaid expansion regions, which feature differences in baseline mortality (15); this mix may obscure results, as has been reported (14). Further, we did not include a non-expansion state for comparison, as others have done. Instead, we compared outcomes to cancer patients 65 years of age and older, who were not affected by the coverage expansion provisions of the ACA we are examining in this study. Second, unmeasured confounders also could have contributed to our observation of decreasing cancer rates, as demonstrated by the down-trending rates in the pre-ACA era. Although we had the advantage of longer followup post-ACA, we still were limited by the relatively small number of outcomes for cervical cancer mortality, which resulted in imprecise measures of association, and the relatively small number of AIAN and NHPI cases. Third, because health insurance status, as recorded in CCR data, is based on last admission for initial diagnosis and treatment. We were unable to ascertain health insurance changes following cancer diagnosis or treatment.

In conclusion, following ACA implementation in California, a decrease in the proportion of uninsured patients was observed among non-elderly, newly diagnosed breast, colorectal, and cervical cancer patients, which varied by cancer site and by racial and ethnic group. In addition, lower cancer-specific mortality was observed for NHW, NHB, and Hispanic colorectal cancer patients, and for NHB cervical cancer patients in the post- vs. pre-ACA phase. These results contribute to ongoing discussions regarding healthcare reform in the United States, as additional states consider Medicaid expansion against the backdrop of further efforts to weaken the ACA. Moreover, given the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has resulted in unemployment and lost health coverage, future analyses should assess shifts between health insurance coverage plans on cancer outcomes. Doing so could contribute to expanding Medicaid in particular U.S. states to address health inequity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: California Cancer Registry: ccrcal.org.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: JM, SLG, DO, KRY, MM. Formal Analysis: AC. Funding acquisition: SLG, MM. Investigation: JM, SLG, MM. Methodology: JM, SLG, DO, AC, MB, MM. Resources: SLG. Software: SLG. Supervision: SLG, MM. Writing – original draft: AC, MB, MM. Writing – review & editing: JM, SLG, DO, AC, WM, RY, MB, MM.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Cancer Institute at the National Institutes of Health (grant numbers U54CA132379, U54CA132384, 5P30CA023100, UH3CA233314). The collection

REFERENCES

- 1. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Health Insurance Status and Its Consequences. In: *America's Uninsured Crisis: Consequences for Health and Health Care.* Washington (DC: National Academies Press (US) (2009).
- American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network. Cancer Disparities: Chartbook National Academies Press (2018). Available at: https://www. fightcancer.org/sites/default/files/National%20Documents/Disparities-in-Cancer-Chartbook.pdf (Accessed February 15, 2022).
- Ward E, Halpern M, Schrag N, Cokkinides V, DeSantis C, Bandi P, et al. Association of Insurance With Cancer Care Utilization and Outcomes. CA Cancer J Clin (2008) 58:9–31. doi: 10.3322/CA.2007.0011
- Halpern MT, Ward EM, Pavluck AL, Schrag NM, Bian J, Chen AY. Association of Insurance Status and Ethnicity With Cancer Stage at Diagnosis for 12 Cancer Sites: A Retrospective Analysis. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9:222–31. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70032-9
- Bleyer A, Ulrich C, Martin S. Young Adults, Cancer, Health Insurance, Socioeconomic Status, and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. *Cancer* (2012) 118:6018–21. doi: 10.1002/cncr.27685
- United States Government. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (2010). Available at: https://www.congress.gov/111/plaws/publ148/PLAW-111publ148.pdf (Accessed March 15, 2022).
- Zhao J, Mao Z, Fedewa SA, Nogueira L, Yabroff KR, Jemal A, et al. The Affordable Care Act and Access to Care Across the Cancer Control Continuum: A Review at 10 Years. CA Cancer J Clin (2020) 70:165–81. doi: 10.3322/caac.21604
- Kaiser Family Foundation. Effects of the Aca Medicaid Expansion on Racial Disparities in Health and Health Care (2022). Available at: https://www.kff. org/medicaid/issue-brief/effects-of-the-aca-medicaid-expansion-on-racialdisparities-in-health-and-health-care/ (Accessed March 15, 2022).
- 9. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Preventive Care*. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about-the-aca/preventive-care/index. html (Accessed March 1, 2022).
- Sabik LM, Adunlin G. The Aca and Cancer Screening and Diagnosis. Cancer J (2017) 23:151–62. doi: 10.1097/PPO.00000000000261
- 11. Jemal A, Lin CC, Davidoff AJ, Han X. Changes in Insurance Coverage and Stage at Diagnosis Among Nonelderly Patients With Cancer After the

of cancer incidence data used in this study was supported by the California Department of Public Health pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 103885; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) National Program of Cancer Registries, under cooperative agreement 5NU58DP006344; the National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program under contract HHSN261201800032I awarded to the University of California, San Francisco, contract HHSN261201800015I awarded to the University of Southern California, and contract HHSN261201800009I awarded to the Public Health Institute, Cancer Registry of Greater California. The ideas and opinions expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the State of California, Department of Public Health, the National Cancer Institute, and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention or their Contractors and Subcontractors.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022.916167/full#supplementary-material

Affordable Care Act. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35:3906-15. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2017.73.7817

- Han X, Yabroff KR, Ward E, Brawley OW, Jemal A. Comparison of Insurance Status and Diagnosis Stage Among Patients With Newly Diagnosed Cancer Before Vs After Implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. JAMA Oncol (2018) 4:1713–20. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.3467
- Soni A, Sabik LM, Simon K, Sommers BD. Changes in Insurance Coverage Among Cancer Patients Under the Affordable Care Act. JAMA Oncol (2018) 4:122–4. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.3176
- 14. Takvorian SU, Oganisian A, Mamtani R, Mitra N, Shulman LN, Bekelman JE, et al. Association of Medicaid Expansion Under the Affordable Care Act With Insurance Status, Cancer Stage, and Timely Treatment Among Patients With Breast, Colon, and Lung Cancer. JAMA Netw Open (2020) 3:e1921653. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.21653
- Lam MB, Phelan J, Orav EJ, Jha AK, Keating NL. Medicaid Expansion and Mortality Among Patients With Breast, Lung, and Colorectal Cancer. JAMA Netw Open (2020) 3:e2024366. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.24366
- Nogueira L, Jemal A, Han X, Yabroff KR. Association of Medicaid Expansion Under the Affordable Care Act and Early Mortality Following Lung Cancer Surgery. J Clin Oncol (2021) 39:76–. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.39.28_suppl.76
- Xiao D, Zheng C, Jindal M, Johnson LB, DeLeire T, Shara N, et al. Medicaid Expansion and Disparity Reduction in Surgical Cancer Care at High-Quality Hospitals. J Am Coll Surg (2018) 226:22–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2017.09.012
- Kaiser Family Foundation. Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions: Interactive Map (2022). Available at: https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issuebrief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/ (Accessed March 15, 2022).
- Spada NG, Geramita EM, Zamanian M, van Londen GJ, Sun Z, Sabik LM. Changes in Disparities in Stage of Breast Cancer Diagnosis in Pennsylvania After the Affordable Care Act. J Women's Health (2021) 30:324–31. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2020.8478
- Gan T, Sinner HF, Walling SC, Chen Q, Huang B, Tucker TC, et al. Impact of the Affordable Care Act on Colorectal Cancer Screening, Incidence, and Survival in Kentucky. J Am Coll Surg (2019) 228:342–53.e1. doi: 10.1016/ j.jamcollsurg.2018.12.035
- 21. Chu QD, Li T, Hsieh MC, Yi Y, Gibbs JF, Lyons JM, et al. Positive Impact of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansion on

Louisiana Women With Breast Cancer. Cancer (2021) 127:688–99. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33265

- 22. Ji X, Castellino SM, Mertens AC, Zhao J, Nogueira L, Jemal A, et al. Association of Medicaid Expansion With Cancer Stage and Disparities in Newly Diagnosed Young Adults. J Natl Cancer Inst (2021) 21:djab105. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djab105
- Han H, Zhao J, Yabroff KR, Johnson CJ, Jemal A. Association Between Medicaid Expansion Under the Affordable Care Act and Survival Among Newly Diagnosed Cancer Patients. *JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst* (2022) djac077. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djac077
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin (2022) 72(1):7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21708
- Golberstein E, Gonzales G, Sommers BD. California's Early Aca Expansion Increased Coverage and Reduced Out-of-Pocket Spending for the State's Low-Income Population. *Health Aff (Millwood)* (2015) 34:1688–94. doi: 10.1377/ hlthaff.2015.0290
- 26. State of California. California Cancer Registry California (2021). Available at: https://explorer.ccrcal.org/application.html?site=1&data_type=1&graph_type= 2&compareBy=sex&chk_sex_3=3&chk_sex_2=2&race=1&age_range=1&seer_ area=1&advopt_precision=1&advopt_display=2 (Accessed March 15, 2022).
- 27. Yang J, Schupp CW, Harrati A, Clarke C, Keegan THM, Gomez SL. Developing an Area-Based Socioeconomic Measure From American Community Survey Data. Available at: https://cancerregistry.ucsf.edu/sites/ g/files/tkssra1781/f/wysiwyg/Yang%20et%20al.%202014_CPIC_ACS_SES_ Index_Documentation_3-10-2014.pdf (Accessed March 15, 2022).
- Ellis L, Canchola AJ, Spiegel D, Ladabaum U, Haile R, Gomez SL. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Cancer Survival: The Contribution of Tumor, Sociodemographic, Institutional, and Neighborhood Characteristics. J Clin Oncol (2018) 36(1):25–33. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.2049
- Shariff-Marco S, Yang J, John EM, Sangaramoorthy M, Hertz A, Koo J, et al. Impact of Neighborhood and Individual Socioeconomic Status on Survival After Breast Cancer Varies by Race/Ethnicity: The Neighborhood and Breast Cancer Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2014) 23(5):793–811. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0924
- 30. Han X, Jemal A, Zheng Z, Sauer AG, Fedewa S, Yabroff KR. Changes in Noninsurance and Care Unaffordability Among Cancer Survivors Following

the Affordable Care Act. J Natl Cancer Inst (2020) 112:688–97. doi: 10.1093/ jnci/djz218

- Nikpay SS, Tebbs MG, Castellanos EH. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansion and Gains in Health Insurance Coverage and Access Among Cancer Survivors. *Cancer* (2018) 124:2645–52. doi: 10.1002/ cncr.31288
- Nathan NH, Bakhsheshian J, Ding L, Mack WJ, Attenello FJ. Evaluating Medicaid Expansion Benefits for Patients With Cancer: National Cancer Database Analysis and Systematic Review. J Cancer Policy (2021) 29:100292. doi: 10.1016/j.jcpo.2021.100292
- 33. Le Blanc JM, Heller DR, Friedrich A, Lannin DR, Park TS. Association of Medicaid Expansion Under the Affordable Care Act With Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis. JAMA Surg (2020) 155:752–8. doi: 10.1001/ jamasurg.2020.1495

Conflict of Interest: WM: Flatiron Health - honorarium for a talk in disparities in healthcare. KRY: Serves on the Flatiron Health Equity Advisory Board. All honoraria are donated to her employer, the American Cancer Society.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Martinez, Gomez, Canchola, Oh, Murphy, Mehtsun, Yabroff and Banegas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Patricia Thompson, Cedars Sinai Medical Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Megan Hitchins, Cedars-Sinai Center for Bioinformatics and Functional Genomics, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE John M. Carethers icarethe@umich.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 12 June 2022 ACCEPTED 29 June 2022 PUBLISHED 22 July 2022

CITATION

Carethers JM (2022) Commencing colorectal cancer screening at age 45 years in U.S. racial groups. *Front. Oncol.* 12:966998. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.966998

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Carethers. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Commencing colorectal cancer screening at age 45 years in U.S. racial groups

John M. Carethers*

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, and Department of Human Genetics and Rogel Cancer Center, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

Screening for colorectal cancer (CRC) is cost-effective for reducing its mortality among the average-risk population. In the US, CRC incidence and mortality differ among racial/ethnic groups, with non-Hispanic Blacks (NHB) and American Indian/ Alaska Natives showing highest incidence and mortality and earlier presentation. Since 2005, some professional societies have recommended CRC screening for NHB to commence at 45 years or earlier; this was not implemented due to lack of recommendation from key groups that influence insurance payment coverage. In 2017 the highly influential U.S. Multi-Society Task Force for Colorectal Cancer recommended screening to commence at 45 years for NHB; this recommendation was supplanted by data showing an increase in early-onset CRCs in non-Hispanic Whites approaching the under-50-year rates observed for NHB. Subsequently the American Cancer Society and the USPSTF recommended that the entire average-risk population move to commence CRC screening at 45 years. Implementing screening in 45-49-year-olds has its challenges as younger groups compared with older groups participate less in preventive care. The US had made extensive progress pre-COVID-19 in closing the disparity gap for CRC screening in NHB above age 50 years; implementing screening at younger ages will take ingenuity, foresight, and creative strategy to reach a broader-aged population while preventing widening the screening disparity gap. Approaches such as navigation for non-invasive and minimally invasive CRC screening tests, removal of financial barriers such as co-pays, and complete follow up to abnormal non-invasive screening tests will need to become the norm for broad implementation and success across all racial/ethnic groups.

KEYWORDS

colon cancer screening, cancer disparity, early onset colon adenocarcinoma, African American (AA), screening age, colonoscopy, fecal immunochemical (FIT) test

Abbreviations: CRC, colorectal cancer; USPSTF, US Preventive Services Task Force; ACG, American College of Gastroenterology; ICSI, Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement; SSA, sessile serrated adenoma; NSAID, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; ACS, American Cancer Society; USMSTF, US Multi-Society Task force of Colorectal Cancer; CT, computed tomography; ACP, American College of Physicians; FIT, fecal immunochemical test; FOBT, fecal occult blood test; NHB, non-Hispanic Black; NHW, non-Hispanic White; AI/AN, American Indian/Alaska Native; CMS, Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services; MSI, microsatellite instability; mt-sDNA, multitarget-stool DNA test; COVID-19, coronavirus disease-2019.

Introduction

Implementation of colorectal cancer (CRC) screening by non-invasive or minimally invasive means is associated with reduced mortality from CRC. Screening identifies average-risk persons who might harbor neoplasia and identifies patients with CRCs at potentially curable stages (1, 2). CRCs generally develop from precursor adenomas driven by well-described genetic alterations that may take 1 to 2 decades to manifest as cancer (3), affording time to interrupt this process via polypectomy (4, 5). Completion of CRC screening after any abnormal test involves the use of colonoscopy. Although colonoscopy is the gold standard and enables polypectomy, there remain challenges for high-quality exams due to the need to have the patient travel to the medical exam with an accompanying person (because sedation is used), and desire for good bowel cleansing preparation. Detection of lesions at colonoscopy and prevention of death from CRC depends on the endoscopist's adenoma detection rate (6). Colonoscopy can still miss rightsided lesions even though it is the best test to detect them, due to discernability of proximal lesions from normal mucosa and differing biology of right-sided lesions (4, 7, 8). Utilization of CRC screening assumes that persons at average-risk are recommended for the test by providers, the person completes the test, and both provider and patient follow-through on results of the test. The intention in the US is universal CRC screening of at-risk men and women; yet pre-COVID-19 screening utilization rates were 65% of the eligible US population, meaning one-third of eligible persons were not getting screened, elevating their risk (1).

The age to commence CRC screening was determined to be 50 years based on the epidemiology of CRC in the 1990s and results of randomized controlled trials of FOBT showing reduction in CRC incidence and identifying earlier-staged lesions (9, 10). In the general population, 95% of CRCs occurred after 50 years, with 5% occurring earlier (10). Guidelines emerged incorporating data from studies into consensus recommendations for those ≥ 50 years, including tests to use (Table 1), the importance of follow-up of abnormal tests, and differentiating average-risk from high-risk individuals (those with family history of cancer or heritable syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease, or prior identified neoplasia) (11). Race as a risk factor (see below) was not considered in any major guidelines until 2017 (11) despite evidence for higher risk for CRC in specific groups. Recent data identifies a shift in age distribution of CRC for the general population, with 88% of CRCs occurring after 50 years and 12% occurring under 50 years, a more than doubling of early-onset cancers over the past 30 years (12-16). This shift is observed in persons born after 1960 with the largest group under 50 years showing increase being 45-49-year-olds (12, 13). This increase in early-onset CRC is environmental and not genetic, with several metabolic factors as possible etiologies (13, 16). Due to increased proportion of persons with CRC under 50 years, professional organizations began to modify recommendations for CRC screening commencement to 45 years (17, 18). The key recommendation for commencing screening at age 45 years came from the USPSTF in 2021, the group that CMS and other insurers generally follow due to their rigorous analytic methods and modeling.

Epidemiology of CRC in racial groups

Initiation of CRC screening in the US was for the entire atrisk population, with age and family history as primary determinants for screening commencement (2, 9, 11). However, the US population is made up of diverse racial and ethnic groups, each showing varying CRC incidence and mortality. Until recently, the non-Hispanic Black (NHB) population has had the highest incidence and mortality from CRC among non-Hispanic Whites (NHW), Asian/Pacific Islanders, American Indian/Alaska Native (AI/AN), and

TABLE 1 Currently available, FDA-approved tests for colorectal cancer screening (11).

Rank Order of Preference	Screening Test	Frequency if no findings		
Tier 1	Colonoscopy	Every 10 years		
	Fecal Immunochemical Test (FIT)	Annual		
Tier 2	Fecal DNA Test combined with FIT	Every 3 years		
	CT Colonography	Every 5 years		
	Flexible sigmoidoscopy	Every 5 years (10 years with FIT)		
Tier 3	Capsule colonoscopy	Every 5 years		
Relatively obsolete	Guaiac-based Fecal Occult Blood Test (FOBT)	Replaced by FIT		
	Barium Enema	Replaced by CT Colonography		
Not recommended	Methylated SEPTIN9 blood test	-		

Fecal DNA Test is also known as multitarget stool DNA test (mt-sDNA) or FIT-DNA test.

frontiersin.org

Hispanics (2, 10, 19, 20), and has been consistently documented since before the 1990s (21-23). Implementation of CRC screening has lowered incidence and mortality rates for all races and ethnicities; however, disparity still exists for NHB (1, 2, 10, 20, 21). There are several factors that contribute to the disparity. First is underlying socioeconomic inequalities that dictates which zip code one lives, influencing accessibility to fresh produce and high availability of tobacco and alcohol, accessibility to preventive care, and predicts education attainment and level of employment. This, in turn, influences individual metabolic derangements over the lifetime, with alterations in gut microbiome and increased metabolicinduced inflammation. This, in turn, alters colonic cell proliferation and increases genetic mishaps, and likelihood for adenoma formation that can transform into CRC (20). This notion is solidified by observations that NHB have higher incidence of high-risk precursor adenomas (24, 25), and present 0-8 years younger with CRC than NHW (2, 10, 20). Since the 1990s, the proportion of CRCs under 50 years in NHB was 10.6%, about double the rate for NHW for that time period (2, 10, 20). Second, NHB show 7-15% higher prevalence of proximal CRCs (between cecum and splenic flexure) compared to NHW (2, 26), where sensitivity of the highest sensitive screening test, colonoscopy, is less than distal sites at detecting lesions (4). This finding parallels increased prevalence of proximal high-risk adenomas in NHB (24, 25). Earlier age of onset for high-risk adenomas and CRC in NHB coupled with increased prevalence of proximal neoplasia even with colonoscopy as the screening modality could amplify the disparity. Proximal CRCs in NHB are mostly microsatellite stable, with less prevalence of microsatellite unstable (MSI) CRCs compared to NHW (26). Consistent with this, there is no evidence that sessile serrated adenomas (SSAs), which are proximal and demonstrate MSI, are increased in NHB (2, 27, 28). The lower prevalence of MSI CRCs among NHB may itself contribute towards poor outcomes as MSI is associated with longer survival and eligibility for immune checkpoint inhibition therapy (29). Third, colonic microenvironment may be altered in NHB to favor CRC, with increased inflammation to generate inflammation-associated microsatellite alterations (30), which are associated with metastasis and poor survival (31-34). Indeed, use of NSAIDs had no deleterious consequences in older NHB CRC patients as compared to shorter survival for older NHW CRC patients (35). The cytotoxic immune cell response to cancer may be hampered in NHB CRCs compared to NHW (26, 36, 37). The colonic microbiome in NHB often show increase in sulfidogenic bacteria and pro-inflammatory Fusobacterium and Enterobacter species, all associated with neoplasia (38, 39). Lastly, there has been longstanding screening utilization disparity between racial/ethnic groups in the US, with NHB utilization 15% lower than NHW in the 2000s and 3% lower in 2018 (40). Navigated colonoscopic screening can eliminate incidence and mortality disparity (41). COVID-19 has showcased disparities in outcome, and shares similarities with disparities observed for CRC (42, 43). One consequence of COVID-19 was reduction in population CRC screening that is predicted to cause unnecessary cancer deaths over the next decade (44). Recovery of population-based CRC screening levels is likely to be uneven among racial/ethnic groups, with NHB recovering slower, widening the screening gap (44). Overall, there may be multiple components that contribute to CRC disparities in NHB.

In 2022, AI/AN demonstrate the highest CRC incidence among racial/ethnic groups in the US, overtaking the high rates observed for NHB (1) (Table 2). This observation is buttressed by a now-recognized propensity for AI/AN developing highrisk-adenomas (23). It may be only a few years that CRC mortality for AI/AN surpasses the high rates of NHB (1, 20). This observed incidence increase may be the result of longer life span from improved co-morbidities. CRC screening utilization for AI/AN was 59% in 2018, lower than that of NHB (40). These observations seem to replicate the disparity-driven conditions observed for NHB.

TABLE 2 Age-adjusted colorectal cancer incidence rates, 2014-2018, and age-adjusted colorectal cancer mortality, 2015-2019, among U.S. racial
groups. Data are per 100,000 (adjusted to the 2000 US Census) (1).

	All	NH White	NH Black	Asian/PI	Am Indian/Alaska Native	Hispanic
Incidence Overall	36.5	36.1	42.6	29.0	49.2	32.8
Male	42.1	41.5	50.4	34.4	55.8	39.2
Female	31.6	31.3	37.1	24.6	43.9	27.6
*Early-onset (20-44 years)		6.7	7.9	6.3		
Deaths Overall	13.4	13.4	18.1	9.3	17.4	10.8
Male	16.0	15.8	22.7	11.1	21.3	13.7
Female	11.3	11.3	14.8	7.9	14.4	8.5

Data for early-onset colorectal cancer are age-adjusted colorectal cancer incidence rates, 2000-2012 (2000 US Standard Population) (15).

Policy recommendations for commencing CRC screening in racial groups

Risk for CRC derives from factors that are potentially modifiable (diet, weight, physical activity, aspirin use, socioeconomic status, and screening utilization), and factors that are not modifiable (age, family history, race). Major components that determine commencement of CRC screening are age and family history, with subsequent screening intervals determined by findings on the initial screen and family history (9, 20). Race had not been included in CRC screening recommendations (until 2017) despite several decades of demonstrated disparity for incidence and mortality from CRC for NHB in particular (2, 20, 45–47).

Because of the epidemiology observed for NHB for CRC, several organizations have made the recommendation to commence CRC screening in NHB at 45 years or earlier (2, 11, 46, 48) (Figure 1). The rationale for recommendation was shorter time between screening initiation and cancer formation in NHB (2). While the evidence was not deemed the highestgrade, the overall approach to CRC screening recommendations has generally included consideration of natural history and epidemiology for groups of individuals at risk. For instance, as with age, family history is a determinant when CRC screening commences (age 40 years) (11). Specific conditions are addressed in guidelines based on high-risk conditions, including presence of inflammatory bowel disease, Lynch syndrome, familial adenomatous polyposis, or personal history of colonic neoplasia (11). Generally, if a condition has propensity for earlier age of onset for CRC, shows higher morbidity and mortality at younger ages, and possesses higher prevalence of high-risk precursor adenomas (all of which describe the epidemiology of NHB patients with CRC), these observations should provide awareness and bestow rationale for adjusting the CRC screening initiation age (2). Earlier age

commencement for CRC screening in NHB was recommended by ACG, ICSI, and ACP over the past 2 decades (11, 46, 48) (Figure 1). These organizations, while influential to large constituencies, do not compel insurers to provide payment coverage for earlier screening. In 2017 the highly influential MSTF made their first-ever recommendation to include race in their guidelines, recommending that NHB commence screening at 45 years (11). This recommendation greatly increased awareness, with some healthcare organizations such as Kaiser Permanente enacting screening for NHB at 45 years (49). Despite awareness, it did not immediately modify private and public insurer payment coverage.

The one modifiable item that providers (and patients) greatly influence is screening utilization. Modifying diet and physical activity are possible but are hard for most individuals to comply over a lifetime. Socioeconomic circumstances for individuals are not readily adjustable to modify CRC risk. Screening, however, is a great equalizer as it can reduce CRC risk and erase disparities for incidence and mortality if highly utilized. This was illustrated by the Delaware Cancer Consortium with navigated screening colonoscopies in 10,000 NHB and NHW patients (41). Comparing patients at the start with those at completion of the study, screening for average-risk NHB increased from 47.8% to 73.5% and for average-risk NHW individuals increased from 58.0% to 74.7%, benefiting both groups (41). For NHB, screening implementation reduced advanced CRCs from 78% to 40% and increased local stage CRCs from 15% to 50% (41). Importantly, CRC incidence dropped for both NHB and NHW, completely erasing incidence disparity. CRC mortality disparity was nearly erased, with NHB dropping from 31.27 to 18.35 deaths/100,000, and NHW dropping from 19.45 to 16.94 deaths/100,000 (41). Noninvasive screening can also eliminate disparities. Kaiser Permanente demonstrated increased screening utilization among NHB from 42% to 80% and among NHW from 40% to 83% from 2000 to 2015-2019 (50). CRC incidence dropped for NHW (135 to 78 cases/100,000 from 2009 to 2017-2019) and



Improvement; ACS, American Cancer Society; USPSTF United States Preventative Services Task Force.

NHB (166 to 82 cases/100,000 from 2010 to 2017-2019), nearly eliminating incidence disparity (50). Likewise, CRC mortality disparity disappeared with reductions for NHW (33 to 20 cases/ 100,000 from 2007-2009 to 2017-2019) and NHB (54 to 21 cases/100,000 from 2007-2009 to 2017-2019) (50). These data show importance of CRC screening overall for all at-risk populations, as well as impact on health equity. The main factor for success and eliminating disparities in both studies is high utilization of screening across populations.

Initially recommended by ACS in 2018 (17), the age to commence CRC screening was lowered from 50 years to 45 years for the entire at-risk population upon recommendation by USPSTF (18) (Figure 1). USPSTF recommendations generally trigger acceptance by CMS and other insurers to provide payment coverage. The reason for ACS and ultimately USPSTF recommendation was not data specific to NHB, but data showing overall increase in CRC under of 50 years for men and women in the population (12, 17, 18). The NHB CRC trends in CRC incidence under age 50 years has slightly increased from over 11 to over 12/100,000, whereas the NHW CRC incidence has increased from a low of 7 to 12/100,000, indicating that NHW are the larger driver for the recent population increase (17). AI/AN are also known to have among the highest rates for CRC incidence under 50 years (51). The one advantage of a broader recommendation of the 45 year commencement age is that it makes implementation easier via a more uniform message and policy for patients and providers.

Lowering CRC screening age to 45 years adds >19M averagerisk persons to the screening pool (with 87M average-risk persons 50-74 years already in the screening pool) (52). With ~68% of 50-74 years and ~7% of 45-49 years obtaining screening previously, this policy change increases the unscreened population from ~27M to ~44M at-risk individuals, a 60% increase of pool size (52), and could constrain screening resources. The etiology of more CRCs under 50 years for both NHB and NHW is not known other than it is environmentallydriven; a targeted screening approach for under-age 50-years might be more ideal for resource efficiency if specific biomarkers are identified (13). Biomarker studies have been conducted nearly exclusively in NHW, with diagnostic accuracy of some existing biomarkers (e.g. mt-sDNA markers) not addressed with adequate power in other racial groups (3, 53). Furthermore, diagnostic accuracy has not been extended to those 45-49 years, with extrapolation of diagnostic accuracy from subjects aged \geq 50 years. CRC screening utilization via colonoscopy is lower in younger age groups compared to older age groups (54), making high utilization among 45-49-year-old individuals challenging. All in all, the approach to screening for this enlarged population will take utilization of non-invasive and minimally-invasive strategies (see Table 1) to optimally screen the at-risk US population beginning at 45 years - rural and urban, all races and ethnicities, all socioeconomic strata, and insured and underinsured/non-insured (55).

Discussion: Removing barriers and effective approaches for optimal CRC screening in racial groups

With modification to 45 years as initial CRC screening age, what test should be used to optimally screen 45-49 year-olds? At present, it is the best test that gets done (see Table 1) (53). Kaiser Permanente commenced screening in 45-49 year-old NHB individuals in 2018 via FIT after USMSTF recommended screening this racial group beginning at 45 years (11, 49). NHB aged 45-49 years, compared to NHB 50-54 years and NHW 50-54 years, had the lowest FIT completion rate despite FIT being mailed to 90% of eligible members. However, there were no automated electronic health reminders for this age group, and authors surmised that there was low provider awareness for screening in this age group and in NHB (49). This study reiterates that younger ages tend to have lower screening completion (54), and that there are provider, system, and patient barriers that may reduce CRC screening utilization (47). One study identified among non-screened average risk individuals that greatest barriers to screening with FIT/FOBT, multitarget-stool DNA (mt-sDNA) test, or colonoscopy were lack of knowledge, lack of provider recommendation, and suboptimal access (56). In those who had prior screening, barriers to completing the next FIT/FOBT or mt-sDNA test were lack of provider recommendation and lack of knowledge, and barriers to completing the next colonoscopy were psychosocial barriers and lack of provider recommendation (56, 57). NHB and Hispanic participants were more likely to report lack of knowledge and lack of provider recommendation than NHW individuals (56). Comorbidities, which are more prevalent in NHB compared to NHW (42), adversely influence screening recommendations and completion (58). To facilitate screening among diverse populations with varying socioeconomic and social challenges, there needs to be contextually-informed, multi-level, multicomponent interventions that target patients, providers, health systems, and communities (47, 55, 59). For instance, patients can benefit from navigation, providers can be educated to follow evidence-based guidelines, health systems can use electronic health records for systematic timely reminders to both providers and patients, and communities can address capacity, educational needs, and provide outreach (55). Policies need to be in place to remove barriers and promote uptake of evidence-based interventions, including removal of out-of-pocket costs for screening (55). Culturallysensitive interactions between provider and patient may improve screening rates, including utilizing providers from the same race/ethnic background as the patient (60).

Navigation has proven to be a powerful tool to increase CRC screening rates in all populations (41, 61, 62). Not only does navigation increase screening utilization, it can erase disparity

for CRC incidence and mortality between NHB and NHW, achieving health equity (41). There is a cost to navigation, which depends on the use of professional or volunteer navigators and the volume of patients for navigation. It is this author's opinion that (a) navigation should be a component of CRC screening for those that need it, (b) should be cost-effective, (c) should be covered by insurance as part of CRC screening, (d) be principally used for colonoscopic screening completion, but components of navigation may be used for non-invasive screening completion, and (e) should be broadly available. Navigation is an ideal tool to increase CRC screening utilization and in particular for NHB and other disparate populations, and may be critical for screening rate improvement in the COVID-19 era (44).

Universal screening for CRC in at-risk individuals beginning at 45 years will require use of non-invasive and minimally-invasive tests. Along the screening continuum, non-invasive tests with abnormal results require follow-up colonoscopy; the two should be coupled together as the screening test (meaning any negative test is listed as completed, whether non-invasive or minimally invasive, but any abnormal non-invasive test is not completed until after the follow-up colonoscopy). Within Kaiser Permanente, 90% of patients with an abnormal FIT test were referred to colonoscopy, but only 52% completed a pre-procedure visit and 43% completed colonoscopy within 1 year (63). Clinic visit transition from primary care to gastroenterology may need to be optimized to prevent leakage of FIT-positive patients (63). Some insurers separate the follow-up colonoscopy after an abnormal non-invasive test and list it as "diagnostic" instead of "screening", triggering co-pays from the patient and creating another (financial) barrier for screening completion. Professional organization advocacy has led to policy changes that at least partially rectified that issue.

Tools exist to remove barriers and increase screening utilization. Use of these tools will need to become the norm for broad implementation and success across all racial/ ethnic groups.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JC conceived, wrote, and edited this manuscript. The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Funding

Supported by the United States Public Health Service (R01 CA258519) and the Rogel Cancer Center of the University of Michigan. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Siegel R, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin (2022) 77:7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21708

2. Carethers JM. Screening for colorectal cancer in African americans: Determinants and rationale for an earlier age to commence screening. *Dig Dis Sci* (2015) 60:711–21. doi: 10.1007/s10620-014-3443-5

3. Carethers JM, Jung BH. Genetics and genetic biomarkers in sporadic colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 149:1177-90. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.06.047

4. Nishihara R, Wu K, Lochhead P, Morikawa T, Liao X, Qian ZR, et al. Longterm colorectal-cancer incidence and mortality after lower endoscopy. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:1095–105. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1301969 7. Carethers JM. One colon lumen but two organs. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141:411-2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.029

8. Carethers JM. Risk factors for colon location of cancer. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol (2018) 3:76. doi: 10.21037/tgh.2018.09.15

^{5.} Zauber AG, Winawer SJ, O'Brien MJ, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, van Ballegooijen M, Hankey BF, et al. Colonoscopic polypoectomy and long-term prevention of colorectl cancer deaths. *N Eng J Med* (2012) 366:687–96. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1100370

^{6.} Corley DA, Jensen CD, Markds AR, Zhao WK, Lee JK, Doubeni CA, et al. Adenoma detection rate and risk of colorectal cancer and death. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 370:1298–306. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1309086

^{9.} Winawer SJ, Fletcher RH, Miller L, Godlee F, Stolar MH, Mulrow CD, et al. Colorectal cancer screening; clinical guidelines and rationale. *Gastroenterol* (1997) 112:594–642. doi: 10.1053/gast.1997.v112.agast970594

10. Carethers JM. Clinical and genetic factors to inform reducing colorectal cancer disparities in African americans. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:531. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2018.00531

11. Rex DK, Boland CR, Dominitz JA, Giardiello FM, Johnson DA, Kaltenbach T, et al. Colorectal cancer screening: recommendations for physicians and patients from the U.S. multi-society task force on colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 153:307–23. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.05.013

12. Murphy CC, Singal AG, Baron JA, Sandler RS. Decrease in incidence of young-onset colorectal cancer before recent increase. *Gastroenterol* (2018) 155:1716–9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.045

13. Venugopal A, Carethers JM. Epidemiology and biology of early onset colorectal cancer. EXCLI J (2022) 21:162–82. doi: 10.17179/excli2021-4456

14. Carethers JM. The increasing incidence of colorectal cancers diagnosed in subjects under age 50 among races: cracking the conundrum. *Dig Dis Sci* (2016) 61:2767–9. doi: 10.1007/s10620-016-4268-1

15. Ashktorab H, Vilmenay K, Brim H, Laiyemo AO, Kibreab A, Nouraie M. Colorectal cancer in young African americans: is it time to revisit guidelines and prevention? *Dig Dis Sci* (2016) 61:3026–30. doi: 10.1007/s10620-016-4207-1

16. Hussan H, Patel A, Le Roux M, Cruz-Monserrate Z, Porter K, Clinton SK, et al. Rising incidence of colorectal cancer in young adults corresponds with increasing surgical resections in obese patients. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol* (2020) 11: e00160. doi: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000160

17. Wolf AMD, Fontham ETH, Church TR, Flowers CR, Guerra CE, LaMonte SJ, et al. Colorectal cancer screening for average-risk adults: 2018 guideline update from the American cancer society. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68:250–81. doi: 10.3322/caac.21457

18. Knudsen AB, Rutter CM, Peterse EFP, Lietz AP, Seguin CL, Meester RGS, et al. Colorectal cancer screening: an updated modeling study for the US preventive services task force. *JAMA* (2021) 325:1998–2011. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.5746

19. Carethers JM. Racial and ethnic factors in the genetic pathogenesis of colorectal cancer. J Assoc Acad Minor Phys (1999) 10:59-67.

20. Carethers JM. Racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. Adv Cancer Res (2021) 151:197–229. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2021.02.007

21. Giaquinto AN, Miller KD, Tossas KY, Winn RA, Jemal A, Siegel RL. Cancer statistics for African American/Black people 2022. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2022) 72:202–29. doi: 10.3322/caac.21718

22. Ashktorab H, Kupfer SS, Brim H, Carethers JM. Racial disparity in gastrointestinal cancer risk. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 153:910–23. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.018

23. Zavala V, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer health disparities in US racial/ethnic minorities. *Br J Cancer* (2021) 124:315–32. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6

24. Lieberman DA, Williams JL, Holub JL, Morris CD, Logan JR, Eisen GM, et al. Race, ethnicity, and sex affect risk for polyps >9 mm in average-risk individuals. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 147:351–8. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.04.037

25. Corley DA, Jensen CD, Marks AR, Zhao WK, de Boer J, Levin TR, et al. Variation of adenoma prevalence by age, sex, race, and colon location in a large population: implications for screening and quality programs. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2013) 11:172–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.09.010

26. Carethers JM, Murali B, Yang B, Doctolero RT, Tajima A, Basa R, et al. Influence of race on microsatellite instability and CD8⁺ T cell infiltration in colon cancer. *PloS One* (2014) 9(6):e100461. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100461

27. Ashktorab H, Delker D, Kanth P Goel A, Carethers JM, Brim H. Molecular characterization of sessile serrated adenoma/polyps from a large African American cohort. *Gastroenterology* (2019) 157:572–4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.04.015

28. Schroy PC3rd, Coe A, Chen CA, O'Brien MJ, Heeren TC. Prevalence of advanced colorectal neoplasia in white and black patients undergoing screening colonoscopy in a safety-net hospital. *Ann Intern Med* (2013) 159:13–20. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-159-1-201307020-00004

29. Koi M, Carethers JM. The colorectal cancer immune microenvironment and approach to immunotherapies. *Future Oncol* (2017) 13:1633–47. doi: 10.2217/fon-2017-0145

30. Devaraj B, Lee A, Cabrera BL, Miyai K, Luo L, Ramamoorthy S, et al. Relationship of EMAST and microsatellite instability among patients with rectal cancer. J Gastrointest Surg (2010) 14:1521-8. doi: 10.1007/s11605-010-1340-6

31. Raeker MO, Carethers JM. Immunological features with DNA microsatellite alterations in patients with colorectal cancer. *J Cancer Immunol* (2020) 2:116–27. doi: 10.33696/cancerimmunol.2.024

32. Tseng-Rogenski SS, Munakata K, Choi DY, Martin PK, Mehta S, Koi M, et al. The human DNA MMR protein MSH3 contains nuclear localization and export signals that enable nuclear-cytosolic shuttling in response to inflammation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2020) 40:e00029–20. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00029-20

33. Koi M, Garcia M, Choi C, Kim H-R, Koike J, Hemmi H, et al. Microsatellite alterations with allelic loss on 9p24.2 signify less aggressive colorectal cancer metastasis. *Gastroenterology* (2016) 150:944–55. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.12.032

34. Carethers JM, Koi M, Tseng-Rogenski S. EMAST is a form of microsatellite instability that is initiated by inflammation and modulates colorectal cancer progression. *Genes* (2015) 6:185–205. doi: 10.3390/genes6020185

35. Koi M, Okita Y, Takeda K, Koeppe E, Stoffel EM, Galanko JA, et al. Co-Morbid risk factors and NSAID use among white and black americans that predicts overall survival from diagnosed colon cancer. *PloS One* (2020) 15:e0239676. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239676

36. Basa RCB, Davies V, Li X, Murali B, Shah J, Yang B, et al. Decreased antitumor cytotoxic immunity among colon cancers from African americans. *PloS One* (2016) 11(6):e0156660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156660

 Peredes J, Zabaleta J, Garai J, Ji P, Imtiaz S, Spagnardi M, et al. Immunerelated gene expression, cellular cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion is reduced among African American colon cancer patients. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1498. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01498

38. Yazici C, Wolf PG, Kim H, Cross TL, Vermillion K, Carroll T, et al. Race dependent association of sulfidogenic bacteria with colorectal cancer. *Gut* (2017) 66:1983–94. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313321

39. Farhana L, Antaki F, Murshed F, Mahmud H, Judd SL, Nangia-Makker P, et al. Gut microbiome profiling and colorectal cancer in African americans and Caucasian americans. *World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol* (2018) 9:47–58. doi: 10.4291/wjgp.v9.i2.47

40. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Fedewa SA, Butterly LF, Anderson JC, et al. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2020. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2020) 70:145–64. doi: 10.3322/caac.21601

41. Grubbs SS, Polite BN, Carney J, Bowser W, Rogers J, Katurakes N, et al. Eliminating racial disparities in colorectal cancer in the real world: it took a village. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31:1928–30. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.8412

42. Carethers JM. Insights into disparities observed with COVID-19. J Intern Med (2021) 289:463-73. doi: 10.1111/joim.13199

43. Newman L, Winn R, Carethers JM. Similarities in risk for COVID-19 and cancer disparities. *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27:24–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-3421

44. Carethers JM, Sengupta R, Blakey R, Ribas A, D'Souza G. Disparities in cancer prevention in the COVID-19 era. *Cancer Prev Res* (2020) 13:893–6. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-20-0447

45. Carethers JM. Should African americans be screened for colorectal cancer earlier? *Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2005) 2:352–3. doi: 10.1038/ncpgasthep0241

46. Agrawal S, Bhupinderjit A, Bhutani MS, Boardman L, Nguyen C, Romero Y, et al. Colorectal cancer in African americans. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2005) 100:515–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.41829.x

47. Kupfer SS, Carr RM, Carethers JM. Reducing colorectal cancer risk among African americans. *Gastroenterol* (2015) 149:1302-4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.08.033

48. Qaseem A, Denberg TD, Hopkins RHJr, Humphrey LLJr, Levine JJr, Sweet DEJr, et al. Screening for colorectal cancer: a guidance statement from the American college of physicians. *Ann Intern Med* (2012) 156:378-86. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-156-5-201203060-00010

49. Coronado GD, Dickerson JF, Burnett-Hartman AN, Carethers JM, Lee J, McBurnie MA. The consortium for research on early onset colorectal cancer. reduced implementation and completion of average-risk annual FIT colorectal cancer screening in black patients aged 45-49 years. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2022), S1542-3565(22)00519-5. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.05.009

50. Doubeni CA, Corley DA, Zhao W, Lau YK, Jensen CD, Levin TR. Association between improved colorectal screening and racial disparities. *N Eng J Med* (2022) 386:796–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2112409

51. Kelly JJ, Alberts SR, Sacco F, Lanier AP. Colorectal cancer in Alaska native people, 2005-2009. *Gastrointest Cancer Res* (2012) 5:149–54.

52. Piscitello A, Edwards V DK. Estimating the screening-eligible population size, ages 45-74, at average risk to develop colorectal cancer in the united states. *Cancer Prev Res* (2020) 13:443–8. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-19-0527

53. Carethers JM. Fecal DNA testing for colorectal cancer screening. Annu Rev Med (2020) 71:59–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-103018-123125

54. Hornschuch M, Schwarz S, Haug U. 10-year prevalence of diagnostic and screening colonoscopy use in Germany: a claims data analysis. *Eur J Cancer Prev* (2022). doi: 10.1097/CEJ.00000000000736

55. Carethers JM, Doubeni CA. Causes of socioeconomic disparities in colorectal cancer and intervention framework and strategies. *Gastroenterol* (2020) 158:354–67. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.10.029

56. Zhu X, Parks PD, Weiser E, Jacobson DJ, Limburg PJ, Rutten LJF. Barriers to utilization of three colorectal cancer screening options – data from a national survey. *Prev Med Rep* (2021) 24:101508. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101508

57. Carethers JM. Closing the gap: how masculinity affects colorectal cancer screening in African American men. *Dig Dis Sci* (2022) 67:400–2. doi: 10.1007/s10620-021-06962-y

58. Coronado GD, Nielson CM, Keast EM, Petrik AF, Suis JM. The influence of multi-morbidities on colorectal cancer screening recommendations and completion. *Cancer Causes Control* (2021) 32:555–65. doi: 10.1007/s10552-021-01408-2

59. Ayanian JZ, Carethers JM. Bridging behavior and biology to reduce socioeconomic disparities in colorectal cancer risk. J Natl Cancer Inst (2012) 104:1343-4. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djs356

60. Carethers JM, Quezada SM, Carr RM, Day LW. Diversity within US gastroenterology physician practices: the pipeline, cultural competencies, and

gastroenterology societies approaches. Gastroenterol (2019) 156:829-33. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.10.056

61. Coronado GD, Rawlings AM, Petrik AF, Slaughter M, Johnson ES, Hannon PA, et al. Precision patient navigation to improve rates of follow-up colonoscopy, and individual randomized effectiveness trial. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2021) 30:2327–33. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-1793

62. DeGroff A, Schroy PC3rd, Morrissey KG, Slotman B, Rohan EA, Bethel J, et al. Patient navigation for colonoscopy completion: results of an RCT. *Am J Prev Med* (2017) 53:363–72. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.05.010

63. Coronado GD, Kihn-Stang A, Slaughter MT, Petrik AF, Thompson JH, Rivelli JS, et al. Follow-up colonoscopy after an abnormal stool-based cancer screening result: analysis of steps in the colonoscopy completion process. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2021) 21:356. doi: 10.1186/s12876-021-01923-1

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Camille Ragin, Fox Chase Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY

Nathan J. Bowen, Clark Atlanta University, United States Kutsal Yorukoglu, Dokuz Eylül University, Turkey YiFen Zhang, Jiangsu Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Honghe Wang hwang@tuskegee.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 25 April 2022 ACCEPTED 11 July 2022 PUBLISHED 10 August 2022

CITATION

Mori JO, White J, Elhussin I, Duduyemi BM, Karanam B, Yates C and Wang H (2022) Molecular and pathological subtypes related to prostate cancer disparities and disease outcomes in African American and European American patients. *Front. Oncol.* 12:928357. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.928357

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Mori, White, Elhussin, Duduyemi, Karanam, Yates and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Molecular and pathological subtypes related to prostate cancer disparities and disease outcomes in African American and European American patients

Joakin O. Mori^{1,2}, Jason White¹, Isra Elhussin^{1,2}, Babatunde M. Duduyemi³, Balasubramanyam Karanam¹, Clayton Yates¹ and Honghe Wang^{1*}

¹Department of Biology and Center for Cancer Research, Tuskegee University, Tuskegee, AL, United States, ²Department of Integrative Biosciences, Tuskegee University, Tuskegee, AL, United States, ³College of Medicine and Allied Health Sciences, University of Sierra Leone Teaching Hospital, Freetown, Sierra Leone

Prostate cancer (PCa) disproportionately affects African American (AA) men, yet present biomarkers do not address the observed racial disparity. The objective of this study was to identify biomarkers with potential benefits to AA PCa patients. Differentially expressed genes (DEG) analysis coupled with gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) and leading-edge genes analysis showed that the keratin family of genes, including KRT8, KRT15, KRT19, KRT34, and KRT80, constituted the single most prominent family of genes enriched in AA compared to European American (EA) PCa cell lines. In PCa patients (TCGA and MSKCC patient cohorts), KRT8, KRT15, and KRT19 expression were relatively higher in AA than in EA patients. The differences in the expression of KRT15 and KRT19, but not KRT8, were enhanced by Gleason score and ERG fusion status; in low Gleason (Gleason \leq 6 [TCGA cohort] and Gleason \leq 7 [MSKCC cohort]), the expression of KRT15 and *KRT19* was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher in AA than in EA patients. Survival analysis revealed that high expression of KRT15 and KRT19 was associated with increased risk of biochemical recurrence in low Gleason category patients in the TCGA patient cohort. Interestingly, KRT15 and KRT19 expression were also associated with an increased risk of death in the metastatic prostate adenocarcinoma cohort, suggesting the potential to predict the risks of disease recurrence and death in the low Gleason category and advanced disease conditions respectively. Gene set enrichment analysis revealed known oncogenic gene signatures, including KRAS and ERBB2, to be enriched in patients expressing high KRT15 and KRT19. Furthermore, high KRT15 and KRT19 were linked to the basal and LumA PCa subtypes, which are associated with poor postoperative androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) response compared to the LumB subtype. Taken together, the present study identifies genes with high expression in AA than in EA PCa. The identified genes are linked to oncogenic gene signatures, including KRAS and ERBB2, and to basal and LumA PCa subtypes that are associated with poor postoperative ADT response.
This study, therefore, reveals biomarkers with the potential to address biomarker bias in PCa risk stratification and/or prognosis.

KEYWORDS

cancer disparities, molecular subtype classification, prognosis, prostate cancer, oncogenic pathways

Introduction

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most common cancer and the second leading cause of cancer-related death among men in the United States. African American (AA) men are particularly disproportionately affected; AA men are about twice more likely to be diagnosed with PCa and over two times more like to die from PCa than EA men (1). The underlying cause of PCa health disparity is multifactorial, ranging from molecular differences to the lack of diversity in management strategy. For instance, transmembrane protease, serine 2 (TMPRSS2)-related gene rearrangements are most common in tumors from PCa patients of European ancestry but are significantly less frequent in PCa patients of African and Asian ancestries (2-5). Presently, the management of prostate confined tumors include either active surveillance, radical prostatectomy, or radiation. Active surveillance is recommended for low-risk disease patients: PSA<10 ng/mL, PSA density ≤ 0.15 ng/ mL/cm3, clinical-stage \leq T1c, Gleason sum \leq 6, positive cores \leq 2, and cancer involvement per core \leq 50% (6, 7). However, studies show that active surveillance might not be ideal for some patients, particularly AA men. Studies show AA patients recommended for active surveillance have adverse pathologic features at radical prostatectomy and poorer oncologic outcomes than EA men (6, 8-10). Additionally, the probability of discontinuing active surveillance was higher in black men than in non-black men (11). Furthermore, the disparity in PCa-associated death was observed to be more significant in low-grade (Gleason score \leq 6) disease patients than in intermediate (Gleason score 7) and high-grade disease (Gleason score ≥8) (10). Different histological, molecular subtypes with racial differences are associated with clinical outcomes have been well accepted in other cancers, like breast, ovarian cancers, etc. This, however, has not been established in PCa. The diverse causes of PCa disparity present a need to diversify management strategies. Thus, proper molecular subtyping would be more relevant to PCa aggressiveness, treatment response, and disparities in PCa. In this report, we aimed to identify biomarkers that may be used in clinical settings for accurate PCa patient risk stratification for a biomarker-guided, personalized treatment approach. Our overall findings demonstrated that cytokeratin 15 (KRT15) and KRT19 are differentially expressed between AA and EA PCa patients; significantly high expression in AA than in EA

patients. The findings also linked *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression to the basal and LumA PCa subtypes and further demonstrated that high expression of *KRT15* and *KRT19* was associated with increased risk of biochemical recurrence and reduced overall survival. Our findings may provide new mechanistic insights into PCa disparities and therapeutic approaches.

Materials and methods

Cell culture and RNA-seq

African American PCa cell lines RC77T and RC43T (12) along with RC165 were previously established and characterized in our out lab. The cells were cultured in Keratinocyte basal medium supplemented with 10ng/ml EGF and incubated at 37° C, 5% v/v CO₂. RNA sequencing was isolated from cultured cells using TRIzol[®] Reagent (Sigma Life Sciences, St. Louis, MO) following the manufacturer's protocol. Library preparation, quality control, and sequencing of extracted RNA were performed by Novogene Corporation Inc. (Sacramento, CA), with the sequencing data compiled as FastQ files for downstream analysis.

RNA-sequence analysis, DEG selection and RT-PCR

RNA-Sequence analyses was completed with Partek[®] Flow[®] 8.0 (Copyright[®], 2019 Partek Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) using default settings. Briefly, RNA FastQ files were obtained from Sequence Read Archive (SRA) using accession numbers [SRR8615579] (MDA PCa 2b, LNCaP, and VCaP), and [SRR10575173] (RWPE-2). The FastQ files for the AA cells line RC77T, RC43T, and RC165T were in-house. After the importation of RNA FastQ files into Partek Flow, raw reads were trimmed with a minimum PHRED quality of 20 and then aligned to hg19 using STAR 2.6.1 (13). Using Partek's E/M algorithm (14) and RefSeq Transcripts 90 – 2019-5-03, aligned reads were quantified into raw counts. Differential expression analysis of raw counts was completed using DESeq2 3.5 (15). To identify DEGs of interest, a pre-ranked gene list was constructed as previously described in Jaynes et al. (16). After importation into *GSEA_4.1.0.app [build: 27]* (17, 18), gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA), of biological processes [c5.go.bp.v7.4.symbols.gmt], was performed using the *GSEA Preranked* tool. Finally, the GSEA Leading-edge analysis tool was used to identify the most frequently occurring genes within the 20 gene sets with the highest normalized enrichment score.

The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) program's PCa (19) and the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) PCa cohort (20) data sets, obtained from cbioportal (21, 22), were used to evaluate the differences in gene expression between AA and EA PCa patients. In the TCGA data sets, the gene expression was first compared without patient stratification. After patients were stratified by first, Gleason score (Gleason score ≥ 8 (highrisk), Gleason-score = 7 (intermediate-risk), and Gleason score = 6 (low-risk), and then Gleason score and ERG fusion status before analysis of differences in gene expression. All analyses were performed using RStudio Version 1.4.1103 [©] 2009-2021 RStudio. Differences in expression were considered significant if $p \leq 0.05$. The MSKCC data set was used to validate gene expression in low Gleason (6 and 7) and ERG fusion negative groups. Both Gleason 6 and 7 were considered low Gleason group in the MSKCC because small sample size.

TRIzol[®] Reagent (Sigma) was used to isolate RNA, including mRNA from cells. cDNA was obtained from mRNA by reverse transcription using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (REF 4374966 or 4368814 by Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using PowerUpTM SYBR[®] Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) on a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). Each sample was prepared in triplicate and the housekeeping gene beta-actin was used as an internal control for gene expression normalization.

Immunohistochemistry

TMA was constructed from the FFPE blocks of representative ACCs using a manual tissue-arraying instrument. TMA tissue sections (5µM) obtained from core biopsies were used to run Immunohistochemistry (IHC). Tissues were incubated for 1 hour at 60°C, followed by deparaffinization in three Xylene baths. Rehydration was done in graded (100%, 95%, and 75%) ethanol concentrations, later transferred to distilled water. Antigen retrieval was performed with 1X IHC Antigen Retrieval Solution 10X High pH (REF 00-4956-58, eBioscience) for 10 minutes at 20 kPa. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked with 3% hydrogen peroxide in 1X PBS IHC Wash Buffer with Tween 20 (PBST) for 5 minutes. Sections were incubated in 3% goat serum for 45 minutes, followed by one-hour incubation with the primary antibody in 1X PBST. After washing twice with 1X PBST, the sections were incubated with peroxidase-labeled secondary antibody for 45 minutes. The staining was visualized with 3, 3'-

diaminobenzidine (DAB) as chromogen. Slides were counterstained with hematoxylin, dehydrated, and then mounted. All slides were interpreted by an experienced pathologist. For all IHC stains, tumors were scored as 0 (negative), 1+ (weakly positive), 2+ (moderate staining), 3+ (strong staining). The H-score was determined by adding the results of multiplication of the percentage of cells with staining intensity ordinal value with highest 300 possible values. *H*-*Score*=1*(% *cells* 1+)+2*(% *cells* 2+)+3*(% *cells* 3+). The work was carried out in accordance with the guidelines approved by Tuskegee University Institutional Review Board (IRB).

Pathway and function enrichment analysis

The oncogenic and immunogenic gene signature associated with the expression of the DEGs of interest was evaluated in the TCGA PCa cohort. mRNA expression data for the cohort was obtained from cBioportal (21, 22). To identify oncogenic and immunogenic gene signatures associated with gene expression, DEG analysis was performed using iDEP.92 (23). The results of the differentially expressed genes presented as LOG₂FC (fold change) were exported as.csv files for downstream analysis, including gene set enrichment and leading-edge gene analyses to identify enriched oncogenic/immunogenic and leading-edge genes, respectively. For gene set enrichment analysis, a pre-ranked gene list was constructed as previously described (16). After importation, of the pre-ranked gene list into the GSEA_4.1.0.app [build: 27] (17, 18), oncogenic and immunogenic gene set enrichment analysis were performed using the GSEAPreranked tool (default setting) with either the c6.all.v7.4.symbols.gmt [Oncogenic signature] and the c7.all.v7.4.symbols.gmt [Immunogenic signature] gene sets databases, respectively. Finally, the GSEA Leading-edge analysis tool was used to identify the most frequently occurring genes within the 20 gene sets with the highest normalized enrichment score.

Correlation of DEGs with PAM50 subtypes

To evaluate the association of gene expression with PCa subtypes, including LumA, LumB, and Basal subtypes, we used the PCa Transcriptome Atlas (PCTA) web tool (24) was used to. The analyses were based on the PCTA dataset using the Oneway ANOVA test. Differences in expression between the groups were considered significant if $p \leq 0.05$.

Survival outcome analysis

The Kaplan-Meier Plotter (25) was used to evaluate the associations of the expression of DEGs of interest with disease

outcomes, including biochemical recurrence (BCR) and overall survival (OS). Patients were split by either the Trichotomization or the Auto select best cutoff tool. The associations of the expression of the DEGs of interest with biochemical recurrence and overall survival were evaluated in the TCGA PCa and SU2C/PCF Dream Team cohorts, respectively. Association with biochemical recurrence was assessed by the Gleason category, including 6, 7, and \geq 8. The association with overall survival was assessed by follow-up period, including 24, 30, and 60-month follow-up periods. In addition to the association with individual gene expression, the impact of identified DEGs as a panel on overall survival was also evaluated. Association with disease outcome was considered significant if HR (hazard ratio) or p-value was \geq 2 or \leq 0.05.

Association of DEGs with immune cells infiltration

To quantify the tumor-associated immune cell populations, we used the Tumor Immune Estimation Resource–TIMER2.0 (26) to analyze the association of gene expression with the infiltration of the immune cells: CD8+ T cells, B cells, and macrophages. Associations were considered significant if \geq 50% of the algorithms used in TIMER2.0 predicted a statistically significant association.

Results

Genes differentially expressed between African American and European American prostate cancer cells

We performed RNA sequencing analysis, comparing AA PCa cell lines, RC77T, RC165T, RC43T, and MDA PCa 2b with the EA PCa cell lines LNCaP, RWPE2, and VCaP (Figure 1A). Differential gene expression (DEG) analysis revealed 592 significantly downregulated genes ($p \le 0.05$) and 951 significantly upregulated genes ($p \le 0.05$) in the AA cell lines compared to the EA cell lines (Figure 1B). Gene set enrichment analysis showed that the AA cell lines were positively enriched in 273 gene sets and negatively in 23 gene sets (Figure 1C), including gene sets associated with keratinocyte differentiation, response to retinoic acid, and keratinization (Figure 1D). Furthermore, Leading-edge analysis, revealed genes, including KRT8, KRT15, KRT19, KRT34, and KRT80, in the cytokeratin family of genes to be the most common among the leading-edge genes in the top 20 most common genes (Figures 1E, F). The differences in expression of the leading edge cytokeratin family genes observed in the RNA seq data was confirmed by Real-time PCR analysis (Figure 1G). KRT15, KRT19 and KRT8 were amplified and the expression were significiantly higher in the AA cancer cell lines compared to EA cell lines. *KRT34* and *KRT80* expression levels were too low or were hardly detected in all the prostate cancer cell lines (Data not shown). Additional genes identified, including *HSD17B2*, *CYP27B1*, *ZFP36L1*, *EGR1*, *VDR*, *CAPN1*, *FOXC1*, *EREG*, *GATA6*, *ALOX15B*, *LIPE*, *GJA1*, *ZFP36*, *CDH3*, and *RUNX* (Figure 1E) have been implicated in PCa progression (27–38).

Expression profile of differentially expressed keratins in patient populations

Since the cytokeratin family was the most enriched gene set in the AA cancer cells, we sought to determine if the same trend could be observed in PCa patients. For this analysis, we used the TCGA and MSKCC PCa patient cohorts. The characteristics of the cohorts were described previously in other studies (19, 20). The expression of KRT8, KRT15, and KRT19 was relatively higher in AA compared to EA PCa patients in both the TCGA (Supplementary Figures 1A, C) and MSKCC cohorts (Figure 2A); the difference in expression of KRT15 was statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) in the MSKCC (Figure 2A). The difference in expression of identified KRTs between AA and EA patients was influenced by the Gleason score and ERG fusion status. For instance, KRT19 expression was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher in AA in Gleason six patients but was not significant in EA in Gleason seven and Gleason ≥8 patients; a similar trend was observed for KRT15 (Supplementary Figure 1B). Additionally, the expression of both KRT15 and KRT19 was significantly higher in AA than in EA Gleason six, ERG fusion negative patients in the TCGA cohort (Figure 2A). The expression of *KRT80* was lower in AA patients in both the TCGA ($p \le 0.05$) and MSKCC cohorts and the differences in expression seem not to be influenced by Gleason or ERG fusion status (Supplementary Figure 1B and Figure 2A). The expression of KRT34 and KRT80 were too low for us to meaningfully evaluate differences in expression between AA and EA patients by the Gleason score and ERG fusion status (Figure 2A). The cytokeratin genes KRT5, KRT14, KRT8, and KRT18 have been used by multiple groups to distinguish prostatic basal and luminal epithelial cells (39, 40). KRT5 and KRT14 are enriched in basal epithelial cell types, while KRT8 and KRT18 are enriched in the luminal epithelial cell types. In the present study, we also sought to determine if there were differences, between AA and EA PCa patients, in the expression of the epithelial basal and luminal cell cytokeratins. Our analysis showed that the epression of basal cell KRT5 and KRT14 were significiantly higher in AA than in EA in the MSCKCC cohort bu only slightly higher in TCGA (Gleason six and ERG fusion negative) cohort, similar to that of KRT15 and KRT19 expression (Figure 2B). Luminal markers KRT8 and KRT18 expression had no difference in AA and EA patients in the MSCKCC and TCGA cohorts (Supplementary Figure 1C) and only KRT18 was slightly higher in EA than in AA MSCKCC cohort and in TCGA Gleason six and ERG fusion negativepatients (Figure 2C). To further validate



FIGURE 1

Analysis of differentially expressed genes (DEG) between AA and EA PCa cell lines. (A) AA and EA PCa cell lines. (B) volcano plots of DEGs; genes were differentially expressed if $FC \ge 2$ (LOG₂(FC) ≥ 1) and $p \le 0.05$ (-LOG₁₀P = 1.3). (C) GOBP (gene ontology biological processes) gene sets enriched in AA PCa cell lines relative to EA PCa cell lines. (D) representative gene set enrichment plots. (E) leading-edge genes in top 20 positively enriched gene sets. (F) proportions of leading-edge genes; the keratin family of genes constituted the single most prominent family of DEGs enriched in AA. (G) Validation of RNA-seq data by RT-qPCR. The expression of selected DEGs in cancer cell lines quantified by qRT-PCR were shown.



Distribution and median expression levels of keratins in AA and EA PCa patients (TCGA [ERG fusion negative] and MSKCC cohorts). (A) differentially expressed keratins (excluding *KRT8* – see C) in the TCGA (left column) and MSKCC (right column) cohorts. (B) basal cell keratins (*KRT5* and *KRT14*). (C) luminal cell keratins (*KRT8* and *KRT18*). Statistically significant differences in gene expression were determined using the nonparametric Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test: $*p \le 0.05$; $**P \le 0.01$. TCGA patients were stratified by Gleason (risk) categories; that is Gleason = 6 (low risk), Gleason = 7 (intermediate risk), and Gleason => 8 (high risk) categories. (D) Clinicopathological characteristics of prostate cancer patients in the deidentified prostate tumor cohort. (E) Immunohistochemical staining of KRT19 in prostate cancer tissues. Representative images of KRT19 negative, weak or strong staining. (F) boxplot of KRT19 H-Scores illustrating significant differences in AVs. EA prostate cancer patients. * P values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All the patients (upper panel) and patients with Gleason ≤ 6 (lower panel). ns, not significant.

the expression levels of newly identified pivotal and consistant DEGs in AA and EA PCa, KRT15 and KRT19 protein expression levels were validated by Immunohistochemistry (IHC) in prostate tumor samples (Figure 2D). The staining intensities of KRT19 were defined as negative, weak and strong staining (Figure 2E). KRT19 expression H-scores (Figure 2F) were significiantly higher in AA cancer patients compared with EA prostate cancer patients (upper panel, Wilcoxon test: p<0.05). The expression H-scores were significiantly higher in AA and lower in EA Gleason score 6 patients, too (Figure 2F, lower panel, Wilcoxon test: p<0.01). However, KRT15 expression levels were not statistically

significant in AA cancer patients compared with EA prostate cancer patients (data not shown).

KRT15 and *KRT19* expressions correlated with Basal and LumA prostate cancer subtypes

The PAM50 PCa subtypes including Basal, LumA, and LumB subtypes have been implicated in postoperative ADT response; Basal and LumA respond poorly to postoperative ADT compared to the LumB subtype. Using the PCa Transcriptome Atlas (PCTA) (24), we evaluated the association of *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression with the PAM50 PCa subtype. The expression of both *KRT15* and *KRT19* positively correlated with Basal and LumA PCa subtypes, and negatively with LumB PCa subtype (Figure 3 and Supplementary Figure 2), suggesting a positive correlation between *KRT15* and/or *KRT19* expression and poor response to postoperative ADT treatment.

Association of identified cytokeratin with disease outcomes

Since the expression pattern *KRT15* and *KRT19* was consistent across both the TCGA and MSKCC patient cohorts, we sought to evaluate how *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression levels correlate with disease prognosis in the TCGA patient cohort. Patients were trichotomized into low, intermediate, and high *KRT15* or *KRT19* expression, and the risk of BCR in the high expression group was compared to the low expression group. High expression of *KRT15* (HR = 517524189.71 [0 – Inf]; p = 0.35) or *KRT19* (HR = 477626013.78 [0 – Inf]; p = 0.086) was associated with a reduced probability of BCR free survival in the Gleason 6 patients (Figure 4A). Furthermore, the separation

between the BCR risk curve of the high *KRT19* expression group and the low *KRT19* expression group was greater (HR = 1459404193.89 [0 – Inf]; p = 0.059) in Gleason 6 and ERG fusion negative PCa patients (Figure 4D), suggesting the association between *KRT19* expression and risk of BCR is influenced by ERG fusion status. There was no significant association between *KRT15* or *KRT19* expression and risk of BCR Figures 4B, C).

In PCa, metastasis coupled with the development of castration resistance is the leading cause of death. Therefore, we next assessed the correlation of KRT15 and KRT19 expression with overall survival in the Metastatic Prostate Adenocarcinoma (SU2C/PCF Dream Team) patient cohort. High expression of both KRT15 and KRT19 was associated with a reduced probability of overall survival at both 24 and 30 months (Figures 5A, B). KRT15 was statistically significant at both 24 (HR = 2.25 [1.17 - 4.33]; p = 0.012) and 30 months (HR = 2.04 [1.04 - 3.98]; p = 0.033), while the association with *KRT19* was statistically significant (HR = 1.98 [1.03 - 3.81]; p = 0.038) at 24-months follow-up and diminished after 30-months (Figure 5C). However when we combined, KRT15 and KRT19, both were better at predicting overall survival (HR = 3.55 [1.48 - 8.53]; p = 0.003; Figure 5D) than either KRT15 or KRT19 alone. Taken together, the present result suggests both KRT15 and KRT19 could be novel prognosis markers in predicting overall survival in AA PCa patients.



All analyses were performed in PCTA (24) using the default setting.



FIGURE 4

Association of *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression with risk of BCR in PCa patients (TCGA cohort). (A) Gleason six patients' category. (B) Gleason seven patients' category. (C) Gleason 8+ patients' category. (D) Gleason six and ERG fusion negative patients' category.



Oncogenic and immunogenic gene signatures associated with *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression

To identify the functional or targetable gene signatures associated with *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression, ERG fusion negative patients (TCGA cohort) who presented with low Gleason were classified by tertile. Patients in the lower tertile were considered KRT19 negative, while those in the higher tertile were considered KRT19 positive. Differential gene expression analysis revealed 347 genes to be upregulated in KRT15 positive patients, while 37 genes were downregulated; in KRT19 positive versus KRT19 negative patients, 667 genes were upregulated, while 95 genes were downregulated (Figure 6A). Gene set enrichment analysis revealed gene signatures associated with common cancer-related genes including *KRAS*, *PTEN*, *ERBB2*, and *P53* to be significantly (NOM pval < 0.05 at FDR < 25%) enriched in both KRT15 positive and KRT19 positive patients (Figures 6B, C). Leading-edge analysis revealed *UPK3B*, *CRABP2*, *LGALS7*, *SERPINB13*, *LY6D*, *KRT4*, *KRT16*, *SCGB1A1*, *KRT13*, *TGM1*, *NTF3*, and *DTX2* as the leading genes (present in at least 6 gene sets) in the KRT15 positive patients; *TAGLN*, *NTF3*, *SERPINB13*, *LY6D*, *SLC6A14*, *SPRR3*, *KRT13*, *KRT4*, *KRT16*, *TGM1*, *CEACAM5*, *ANGPTL4*, *BCL3*, and *PTPRU* were the top leading genes (present in at least 5 gene sets) in KRT19 positive patients (Figure 6D). Eight of the leading-edge genes including *SERPINB13*, *LY6D*, *KRT4*, *KRT16*, *SCGB1A1*, *KRT13*, *TGM1*, and *NTF3* were common to



KRT15 positive and KRT19 positive patients. Furthermore, gene sets associated with the activation, inactivation, or functions of CD8+ T cells, B cells, Dendritic cells, CD4+ T cells, and macrophages were enriched in KRT15 positive patients (Figure 7A). In KRT19 positive, enriched gene sets included those associated with the activation, inactivation, or functions of natural killer cells, Treg cells, and macrophages in addition to CD8+ Tc cells, B cells, and macrophages

(Figure 7A). Leading-edge analysis revealed genes including LY6D, GPR87, DSC3, HBEGF, MX2, AREG, DUSP6, FOSL1, CYP4B1, EVC2, PADI3, NRG1, KRT5, CXCR2, GADD45B, CXCL3, LCN2, MT2A, IL1RN, CXCL2, MX1, BCL3, ETS2, and FGFR2; only CXCL2 and CXCL3 were common to both KRT15 and KRT19 positivity (Figure 7B).

The activation of CXCL2 and its associated receptor CXCR2 by KRAS signaling is thought to suppress immune response and



promote tumor proliferation (41, 42). Immune suppression is critical for tumor cell survival and progression (43). In the present study, using TIMER2.0 (26), we estimated the association of *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression with the infiltration of the immune cells (Figure 7C). The associations were considered significant if \geq 50% of the algorithms used in TIMER2.0 predicted a statistically significant association. There was a significant positive association of both *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression with CD8+ T cell infiltration. On the other hand, there was a significantly negative association between B cell infiltration and *KRT15*, but not *KRT19* expression. Macrophage, particularly M0 macrophage infiltration, was positively associated with *KRT19* expression, but not *KRT15* expression.

Discussion

In the United States, PCa disproportionately affects AA men; compared to EA men, AA men are more likely to be diagnosed and to die from PCa (1). While the cause of PCa disparity is multifactorial, mischaracterization of risks of PCa progression, leading to erroneous treatment recommendations, may be a contributing factor. For instance, active surveillance is the treatment option for many men with low-risk PCa. However, more African American men with early-stage cancer may harbor more aggressive disease and are more likely to die from PCa than other patients and may not be good candidates for active surveillance (6, 8–11). In the present

study, we identified gene sets associated with the development and differentiation of epithelial and epidermal cells; and hormone production, function, and metabolism positively enriched in AA PCa cell lines relative to EA PCa cell lines. Leading-edge gene analysis revealed gene sets including cytokeratin (*KRT*) genes: *KRT19*, *KRT8*, *KRT34*, *KRT80*, *KRT15*, and *KRT14* as the most prevalent family of genes in the top 20 most common genes. Other leading-edge genes included *HSD17B2*, *CYP27B1*, *CYP27B1*, *ZFP36L1*, *EGR1*, *VDR*, *CAPN1*, *FOXC1*, *EREG*, *GATA6*, *ALOX15B*, *LIPE*, *GJA1*, *ZFP36*, *CDH3*, and *RUNX*.

Cytokeratins are intermediate filaments involved in normal cell function and also associated with diseased conditions (44). Normal adult prostatic epithelium consists of basal, secretory luminal, and rare neuroendocrine and intermediate cells, which could be classified by cytokeratin and other differentiation markers. Luminal cells are the majority of the prostate epithelia and carry out the secretory function. The low-molecular-weight cytokeratins KRT8 and KRT18 are typical lineage markers for the luminal cells. The basal epithelial subpopulation expressed the classical highmolecular-weight basal cell markers KRT5, KRT14 and p63. In addition to a very small fraction of the epithelial cells called neuroendocrine (NE) cells (express a variety of NE markers (including chromogranins, synaptophysin, and CD56), there is also a population of transit-amplifying or intermediate prostate epithelial cells. These cells co-express markers of both the basal and luminal epithelial cell markers (KRT5, KRT14, KRT8, KRT18, KRT19, p63 and GSTpi). These rare rapid amplifying prostatic intermediate epithelial cells are proposed to be derived from urogenital or basal progenitor/ stem cell population and could differentiate into luminal cells expressing KRT8/18. Lineage plasticity is the ability of cells to trasform from one developmental lineage to another, which is essential for embryonic development, tissue repair and maintenance of homeostasis. This highly regulated cell differentiation process is also considered as a source of intratumoural heterogeneity when cancer cells adapt to tumour microenvironment, lineage plasticity can promote tumor progression, metastasis and therapy resistance (39, 40). Instead of undergoing normal differentiation to form the functional prostate, a subset of cells may arrest at an early stage and show aberrant differentiation causing disruption of the precise signaling pathways, which are critical for prostate morphogenesis during early development ultimately resulting in carcinogenesis. The underling mechanisms for increased intermediate epithelial cell population among AA PC patients remain unclear. Answers may lie in varying social conditions, underlying genetic factors, or unidentified biological factors. On the other hand, cytokeratins are implicated in tumorigenesis, drug responsiveness, cancer cell invasion, and metastasis; and are helpful cancer diagnostic and prognostic markers (44-54). In PCa, expression of KRT8, KRT18, and KRT19 by tumor cells disseminated to the bone, is associated with a worse prognosis (49); KRT18 and KRT5 expression correlates with metastases and hormone-escaped prostate carcinomas, respectively (55). Our findings demonstrate that KRT15 and KRT19 are differentially expressed in a Gleason score and ERG fusion status manner, with fusion negative AA patients expressing higher levels of both KRT15 and KRT19. Elevated KRT15 and KRT19 expression were also associated with an increased risk of biochemical recurrence in low Gleason score patients, more so in ERG fusion negative patients. Similarly, high expression of KRT19, or KRT15 was associated with worse survival in a metastatic prostate adenocarcinoma patient cohort (SU2C/PCF Dream Team) regardless of ERG fusion status. Similar findings were reported in breast cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma; KRT19 expression correlated with poor prognosis in breast cancer (56) and predicted early postoperative recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma (57). Interestingly, in clear cell renal cell carcinomas, the detection of KRT19 along with KRT7 was associated with better clinical outome (44). Elucidating how other signaling pathways and developmental regulators are integrated to modulate prostate organogenesis and differentiation will be of particular relevance for understanding their roles in prostate cancer. For example, mechanisms that drive progenitor cell plasticity in the context of epithelial differentiation and repair could also play a role in prostate tumor plasticity in mediating resistance to targeted cancer therapies.

In this study, our investigation identified a two-gene signature that accurately stratified cancer aggressiveness and provide biological measures indicating the likelihood of a more aggressive disease for AA patients newly diagnosed with localized cancers. Over the years, several prognostic tools for PCa have been developed including serum (4K, phi), urine (Progensa, T2-ERG, ExoDx, SelectMDx), and tissue-based bioimarkers (ConfirmMDx, Prolaris, Oncoytype DX, Decipher) (58). However, these markers do not account for differences associated with racial disparities in PCa. In our study, high expression of both KRT15 and KRT19 in low-risk ERG fusion negative patients was associated with the enrichment of common cancer-associated gene signatures, especially KRAS. The aberrant activation of KRAS signaling is a common driver of tumor development and progression in different types of cancers, including pancreatic cancer (59), non-small-cell lung cancer (60-63), colorectal cancer and melanoma (64), and pancreatic cancer (65). KRAS signaling is also thought to activate CXCL2 and its associated receptor CXCR2 resulting in suppressed immune response and tumor proliferation (41, 42). Immune suppression is critical for tumor cell survival and progression (43). The present study also shows high expression of KRT15 and KRT19 positively correlated with the PAM50 Basal and LumA phenotype, but negative with the LumB phenotype. The Basal and LumA have been shown to respond poorly to postoperative ADT compared to the LumB subtype (66, 67). Taken together, our study illustrates the potential of *KRT15* and *KRT19* as a PCa prognostic markers for patients who present with low Gleason, particularly African American patients. Although a limitation of our study design is the low number of patients, particularly AA and lack of clinical data, such as biochemical recurrence and overall survival for some patients, further validation with larger sized patient cohorts and mechanistic studies are needed to verify these findings. It's still worthnoting that current findings highlight the value of developing prognostic tools that can distinguish aggressive tumors vs indolent tumors particularly in low risk AA prostate cancer patients.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/; GSE203338.

Author contributions

HW and CY conceived the idea for the study and supervised the work. JM, HW, and BK involved in planning the project, carried out the experiments and interpreted the results. JM, JW, IE, and BD performed data and statistical analysis. JM, HW, CY and JW were involved in writing the manuscript with input from all authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by US National Institutes of Health (NIH) grants U54-MD007585-26 (NIH/NIMHD, CY; HW),

References

1. Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer health disparities in racial/ethnic minorities in the United States. *Br J Cancer*. (2021) 124(2):315–32. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6

2. Magi-Galluzzi C, Tsusuki T, Elson P, Simmerman K, LaFargue C, Esgueva R, et al. TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusion prevalence and class are significantly different in prostate cancer of caucasian, African-American and Japanese patients. *Prostate.* (2011) 71(5):489–97. doi: 10.1002/pros.21265

3. Yu JJ, Yu JJ, Mani RS, Cao Q, Brenner CJ, Cao X, et al. An integrated network of androgen receptor, polycomb, and TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusions in prostate cancer progression. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17(5):443–54. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.03.018

4. Farrell J, Young D, Chen Y, Cullen J, Rosner I, Kagan J, et al. Predominance of ERG–negative high–grade prostate cancers in African American men. *Mol Clin Oncol* (2014) 2(6):982–6. doi: 10.3892/mco.2014.378

U54 CA118623 (NIH/NCI, CY), and Department of Defense Grant (PC170315P1, W81XWH-18-1-0589, CY).

Conflict of interest

CY is a shareholder in Riptide biosciences and is a consultant in QED Therapeutics, Riptide Biosciences, and Amgen.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.928357/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Expression profile of keratins in all race AAM and EAM patients. (**A**, **B**) differentially expressed keratins (**A** no patient stratification applied; **B** patients stratified by Gleason score category). (**C**) epithelial basal and luminal cell keratins in all race annotated patients.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

Association of *KRT15* and *KRT19* expression with Basal, LumA, and LumB PCa subtypes (PCTA dataset) (24). **(A)** Lollipop plots. **(B)** Lineplots of mean trends. All analyses were performed in PCTA (24) using the default setting.

5. Giri VN, Ruth K, Hughes L, Uzzo RG, Chen DYT, Boorjian SA, et al. Racial differences in prediction of time to prostate cancer diagnosis in a prospective screening cohort of high-risk men: effect of TMPRSS2 Met160Val. *BJU Int* (2011) 107(3):466–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09522.x

6. Sundi D, Ross AE, Humphreys EB, Han M, Partin AW, Carter HB, et al. African american men with very low-risk prostate cancer exhibit adverse oncologic outcomes after radical prostatectomy: Should active surveillance still be an option for them? *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(24):2991–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.0302

7. Warlick C, Trock BJ, Landis P, Epstein JI, Carter HB. Delayed versus immediate surgical intervention and prostate cancer outcome. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98(5):355–7. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj072

8. Odom BD, Mir MC, Hughes S, Senechal C, Santy A, Eyraud R, et al. Active surveillance for low-risk prostate cancer in African American Men: A multi-

institutional experience. Urology (2014) 83(2):364-8. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2013.09.038

9. Yamoah K, Deville C, Vapiwala N, Spangler E, Zeigler-Johnson CM, Malkowicz B, et al. African American men with low-grade prostate cancer have increased disease recurrence after prostatectomy compared with Caucasian men. *Urol Oncol Semin Orig Investig* (2015) 33(2):70. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.07.005

10. Mahal BA, Berman RA, Taplin M-E, Huang FW. Prostate cancer-specific mortality across gleason scores in Black vs Nonblack Men. *JAMA - J Am Med Assoc* (2018) 320(23):2479–81. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.11716

11. Abern MR, Bassett MR, Tsivian M, Bañez LL, Polascik TJ, Ferrandino MN, et al. Race is associated with discontinuation of active surveillance of low-risk prostate cancer: Results from the Duke Prostate Center. *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis* (2013) 16(1):84–9. doi: 10.1038/pcan.2012.38

12. Theodore S, Sharp S, Zhou J, Turner T, Li H, Miki J, et al. Establishment and characterization of a pair of non-malignant and malignant tumor derived cell lines from an African American prostate cancer patient. *Int J Oncol* (2010) 37(6):1477–82. doi: 10.3892/ijo_00000800

13. Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, et al. STAR: Ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics.* (2013) 29(1):15–21. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts635

14. Xing Y, Yu T, Wu YN, Roy M, Kim J, Lee C. An expectation-maximization algorithm for probabilistic reconstructions of full-length isoforms from splice graphs. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2006) 34(10):3150–60. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl396

15. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol* (2014) 15(12):1–21. doi: 10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8

16. Jaynes JM, Sable R, Ronzetti M, Bautista W, Knotts Z, Abisoye-Ogunniyan A, et al. Mannose receptor (CD206) activation in tumor-associated macrophages enhances adaptive and innate antitumor immune responses. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12(530):6337. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aax6337

17. Mootha VK, Lindgren CM, Eriksson KF, Subramanian A, Sihag S, Lehar J, et al. PGC-1 α -responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nat Genet* (2003) 34(3):267–73. doi: 10.1038/ng1180

18. Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis: A Knowledge-Based Approach for Interpreting Genome-Wide Expression Profiles.; 2005 (2020). Available at: www.pnas.orgcgidoi (Accessed June 10).

19. Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. The Molecular Taxonomy of Primary Prostate Cancer. *Cell* (2015) 163(4):1011-25. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.025

20. Taylor BS T, Schultz N, Hieronymus H, Gopalan A, Xiao Y, Carver BS, et al. Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 18 (1):11–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.05.026

21. Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, Gross BE, Sumer SO, Aksoy BA, et al. The cBio cancer genomics portal: An open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. *Cancer Discov* (2012) 2(5):401–4. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0095

22. Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Gideon D, Gross B, Sumer SO, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cbioportal. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6(269):1–34. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004088

23. Ge SX, Son EW, Yao R. iDEP: An integrated web application for differential expression and pathway analysis of RNA-Seq data. *BMC Bioinf* (2018) 19(534). doi: 10.1186/s12859-018-2486-6

24. You S, Knudsen BS, Erho N, Alshalalfa M, Takhar M, Ashab HAD, et al. Integrated classification of prostate cancer reveals a novel luminal subtype with poor outcome. *Cancer Res* (2016) 76(17):4948–58. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0902

25. Lánczky A, Győrffy B. Web-based survival analysis tool tailored for medical research (KMplot): Development and implementation. *J Med Internet Res* (2021) 23(7):e27633. doi: 10.2196/27633

26. Li T, Fu J, Zeng Z, Cohen D, Li J, Chen Q, et al. TIMER2.0 for analysis of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2020). doi: 10.1093/NAR/GKAA407

27. Royo F, Zuñiga-Garcia P, Torrano V, Loizaga A, Sanchez-Mosquera P, Ugalde-Olano A, et al. Transcriptomic profiling of urine extracellular vesicles reveals alterations of CDH3 in prostate cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7(6):6835–46. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6899

28. Ashe H, Krakowiak P, Hasterok S, Sleppy R, Roller DG, Gioeli D. Role of the runt-related transcription factor (RUNX) family in prostate cancer. *FEBS J* (2021) 288(21):6112–26. doi: 10.1111/febs.15804

29. Karantanos T, Corn PG, Thompson TC. Prostate cancer progression after androgen deprivation therapy: Mechanisms of castrate resistance and novel

therapeutic approaches. Oncogene. (2013) 32(49):5501-11. doi: 10.1038/ onc.2013.206

30. Asangani IA, Dommeti VL, Wang X, Malik R, Cieslik M, Yang R, et al. Therapeutic targeting of BET bromodomain proteins in castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Nature.* (2014) 510:278–82. doi: 10.1038/nature13229

31. Zhu JG, Yuan DB, Chen WH, Han ZD, Liang YX, Chen G, et al. Prognostic value of ZFP36 and SOCS3 expressions in human prostate cancer. *Clin Transl Oncol* (2016) 18(8):782–91. doi: 10.1007/s12094-015-1432-6

32. Davidson B, Abeler VM, Førsund M, Holth A, Yang Y, Kobayashi Y, et al. Gene expression signatures of primary and metastatic uterine leiomyosarcoma. *Hum Pathol* (2014) 45(4):691–700. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2013.11.003

33. Tian B, Chunxiang E, Xiang Y, Teng P. Long noncoding RNA LIPE-AS1 drives prostate cancer progression by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA for microRNA-654-3p and thereby upregulating hepatoma-derived growth factor. *Urol Int* (2021) 105(9-10):875–90. doi: 10.1159/000516676

34. Zang Q, Xu L, Li J, Jia H. GATA6 activated long non-coding RNA PCAT1 maintains stemness of non-small cell lung cancer by mediating FRK. *J BUON*. (2020) 25(5):2371–81.

35. Zhang D, Liu X, Zhang Q, Chen X. MiR-138-5p inhibits the malignant progression of prostate cancer by targeting FOXC1. *Cancer Cell Int* (2020) 20(1):1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12935-020-01386-6

36. Carlberg C, Muñoz A. An update on vitamin D signaling and cancer. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 79:217–30. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.05.018

37. Li L, Ameri AH, Wang S, Jansson KH, Casey OM, Yang Q, et al. EGR1 regulates angiogenic and osteoclastogenic factors in prostate cancer and promotes metastasis. *Oncogene*. (2019) 38(35):6241–55. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0873-8

38. Maksymchuk OV, Kashuba VI. Altered expression of cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in metabolism of androgens and vitamin D in the prostate as a risk factor for prostate cancer. *Pharmacol Rep* (2020) 72(5):1161–72. doi: 10.1007/ s43440-020-00133-y

39. Wang Y, Hayward SW, Cao M, Thayer KA, Cunha GR. Cell differentiation lineage in the prostate. *Differentiation* (2001) 68(4-5):270–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-0436.2001.680414.x

 Wang ZA, Mitrofanova A, Bergren SK, Abate-Shen C, Cardiff RD, Califano A, et al. Lineage analysis of basal epithelial cells reveals their unexpected plasticity and supports a cell-of-origin model for prostate cancer heterogeneity. *Nat Cell Biol* (2013) 15(3):274–83. doi: 10.1038/ncb2697

41. Awaji M, Saxena S, Wu L, Prajapati DR, Purohit A, Varney ML, et al. CXCR2 signaling promotes secretory cancer-associated fibroblasts in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *FASEB J* (2020) 34(7):9405–18. doi: 10.1096/fj.201902990R

42. Zhang H, Ye YL, Li MX, Ye SB, Huang WR, Cai TT, et al. CXCL2/MIF-CXCR2 signaling promotes the recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and is correlated with prognosis in bladder cancer. *Oncogene*. (2017) 36(15):2095– 104. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.367

43. Hanahan D. Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. *Cancer Discov* (2022) 12(1):31-46. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059

44. Karantza V. Keratins in health and cancer: More than mere epithelial cell markers. Oncogene (2011) 30(2):127-38. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.456

45. Kim H, Choi GH, Na DC, Ahn EY, Il KG, JE L, et al. Human hepatocellular carcinomas with "Stemness"-related marker expression: Keratin 19 expression and a poor prognosis. *Hepatology* (2011) 54(5):1707–17. doi: 10.1002/hep.24559

46. Woelfle U, Sauter G, Santjer S, Brakenhoff R, Pantel K. Down-Regulated Expression of Cytokeratin 18 Promotes Progression of Human Breast Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(8):2670–4. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0114

47. Kawai T, Yasuchika K, Ishii T, Katayama H, Yoshitoshi EY, Ogiso S, et al. Keratin 19, a cancer stem cell marker in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(13):3081–91. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1936

48. Kawai T, Yasuchika K, Seo S, Higashi T, Ishii T, Miyauchi Y, et al. Identification of keratin 19-positive cancer stem cells associating human hepatocellular carcinoma using 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(6):1450–60. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0871

49. Weckermann D, Polzer B, Ragg T, Blana A, Schlimok G, Arnholdt H, et al. Perioperative activation of disseminated tumor cells in bone marrow of patients with prostate cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(10):1549–56. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.17.0563

50. Cheang MCU, Voduc D, Bajdik C, Leung S, McKinney S, Chia SK, et al. Basal-like breast cancer defined by five biomarkers has superior prognostic value than triple-negative phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(5):1368–76. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1658

51. Hembrough TA, Vasudevan J, Allietta MM, Glass WF, Gonias SL. A cytokeratin 8-like protein with plasminogen-binding activity is present on the external surfaces of hepatocytes, HepG2 cells and breast carcinoma cell lines. *J Cell Sci* (1995) 108(3):1071–82.

52. Ignatiadis M, Xenidis N, Perraki M, Apostolaki S, Politaki E, Kafousi M, et al. Different prognostic value of cytokeratin-19 mRNA-positive circulating tumor cells according to estrogen receptor and HER2 status in early-stage breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2007) 25(33):5194–202. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.11.7762

53. Iwaya K, Ogawa H, Mukai Y, Iwamatsu A, Mukai K. Ubiquitinimmunoreactive degradation products of cytokeratin 8/18 correlate with aggressive breast cancer. *Cancer Sci* (2003) 94(10):864–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2003.tb01368.x

54. Van de Rijn M, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Haas P, Kallioniemi O, Kononen J, et al. Expression of cytokeratins 17 and 5 identifies a group of breast carcinomas with poor clinical outcome. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 161(6):1991–6. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64476-8

55. Van Leenders GJLH, Aalders TW, Hulsbergen-van de Kaa CA, Ruiter DJ, Schalken JA. Expression of basal cell keratins in human prostate cancer metastases and cell lines. *J Pathol* (2001) 195(5):563–70. doi: 10.1002/path.993

56. Kabir NN, Rönnstrand L, Kazi JU. Keratin 19 expression correlates with poor prognosis in breast cancer. *Mol Biol Rep* (2014) 41(12):7729–35. doi: 10.1007/s11033-014-3684-6

57. Uenishi T, Kubo S, Yamamoto T, Shuto T, Ogawa M, Tanaka H, et al. Cytokeratin 19 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma predicts early postoperative recurrence. *Cancer Sci* (2003) 94(10):851–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2003.tb01366.x

58. Kohaar I, Petrovics G, Srivastava S. A rich array of prostate cancer molecular biomarkers: Opportunities and challenges. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(8):1813. doi: 10.3390/ijms20081813

59. Waters AM, Der CJ. KRAS: The critical driver and therapeutic target for pancreatic cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* (2018) 8(9):a031435. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a031435

60. Uras IZ, Moll HP, Casanova E. Targeting KRAS mutant non-small-cell lung cancer: Past, present and future. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(12):1–30. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21124325

61. Chapman AM, Sun KY, Ruestow P, Cowan DM, Madl AK. Lung cancer mutation profile of EGFR, ALK, and KRAS: Meta-analysis and comparison of never and ever smokers. *Lung Cancer*. (2016) 102:122–34. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2016.10.010

62. Ferrer I, Zugazagoitia J, Herbertz S, John W, Paz-Ares L, Schmid-Bindert G. KRAS-Mutant non-small cell lung cancer: From biology to therapy. *Lung Cancer*. (2018) 124:53–64. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.07.013

63. Adderley H, Blackhall FH, Lindsay CR. KRAS-mutant non-small cell lung cancer: Converging small molecules and immune checkpoint inhibition. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 41:711-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.02.049

64. Cicenas J, Tamosaitis L, Kvederaviciute K, Tarvydas R, Staniute G, Kalyan K, et al. KRAS, NRAS and BRAF mutations in colorectal cancer and melanoma. *Med Oncol* (2017) 34(2):26. doi: 10.1007/s12032-016-0879-9

65. Buscail L, Bournet B, Cordelier P. Role of oncogenic KRAS in the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of pancreatic cancer. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2020) 17(3):153-68. doi: 10.1038/s41575-019-0245-4

66. Zhao SG, Chang SL, Erho N, Yu M, Lehrer J, Alshalalfa M, et al. Associations of Luminal and Basal Subtyping of Prostate Cancer With Prognosis and Response to Androgen Deprivation Therapy. *JAMA Oncol* (2017) 3(12):1663–72. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0751

67. Aggarwal R, Rydzewski NR, Zhang L, Foye A, Kim W, Helzer KT, et al. Prognosis Associated with Luminal and Basal Subtypes of Metastatic Prostate Cancer. JAMA Oncol (2021) 7(11):1644–52. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.3987

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jennie L. Williams, Stony Brook University, United States

REVIEWED BY Benjamin Zhan, Texas State University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Adriana C. Vidal avidal@ncsu.edu Cathrine Hoyo choyo@ncsu.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 02 June 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 22 August 2022

CITATION

Vidal AC, Moylan CA, Wilder J, Grant DJ, Murphy SK and Hoyo C (2022) Racial disparities in liver cancer: Evidence for a role of environmental contaminants and the epigenome. *Front. Oncol.* 12:959852. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.959852

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Vidal, Moylan, Wilder, Grant, Murphy and Hoyo. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Racial disparities in liver cancer: Evidence for a role of environmental contaminants and the epigenome

Adriana C. Vidal^{1*}, Cynthia A. Moylan², Julius Wilder², Delores J. Grant³, Susan K. Murphy⁴ and Cathrine Hoyo^{1*}

¹Department of Biological Sciences, Center for Human Health and the Environment, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States, ²Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, School of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, ³Department of Biomedical and Biological Sciences, Julius L. Chambers Biomedical Biotechnology Research Institute, North Carolina Central University, Durham, NC, United States, ⁴Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Research, School of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

Liver cancer incidence has tripled since the early 1980s, making this disease one of the fastest rising types of cancer and the third leading cause of cancerrelated deaths worldwide. In the US, incidence varies by geographic location and race, with the highest incidence in the southwestern and southeastern states and among racial minorities such as Hispanic and Black individuals. Prognosis is also poorer among these populations. The observed ethnic disparities do not fully reflect differences in the prevalence of risk factors, e.g., for cirrhosis that may progress to liver cancer or from genetic predisposition. Likely substantial contributors to risk are environmental factors, including chemical and non-chemical stressors; yet, the paucity of mechanistic insights impedes prevention efforts. Here, we review the current literature and evaluate challenges to reducing liver cancer disparities. We also discuss the hypothesis that epigenetic mediators may provide biomarkers for early detection to support interventions that reduce disparities.

KEYWORDS

liver cancer, race, epigenetic, contaminants, epigenome

Introduction

Primary liver cancer incidence has tripled since the early 1980s, with most cases (~75%) classified as hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Liver cancer is among the fastest increasing cancers, and is the third leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide and in the US (1). While the incidence increased until 2015, it appears to have plateaued

among Asians/Pacific Islanders. Among non-Hispanic Blacks and American Indians/Alaska Natives, the incidence of HCC continues to increase (2).

In the US, over 40,000 primary liver cancer cases are diagnosed annually, but the incidence not only varies by race/ ethnicity, but also by geographic location. The highest liver cancer incidence is in the Western and Southern US and among ethnic minorities. Data from 2005 to 2014 suggest that the US age-adjusted incidence rate was 6-7.7/100,000 overall; yet, in Non-Hispanic Black individuals the rate was 10-13/ 100,000 and in Hispanics was 13-17/100,000 during the same period (3-6). Moreover, two-year survival is approximately 50%, and prognosis is poorer in minority populations (7-10). While deaths related to other malignancies such as lung, breast, and colorectal cancer declined over 40% from 1990-2016, liver cancer mortality is rising among both men and women (11). Consequently, liver cancer is projected to surpass breast and colorectal cancer by 2030 to become the leading cause of cancerrelated death in the US (12). The underlying causes of this rapid increase that disproportionately affects racial minorities are poorly understood.

The majority of HCC (over 90%) occurs in the background of chronic liver disease with cirrhosis of any etiology being the strongest risk factor (13). HCC has traditionally been driven by chronic liver disease from viral infections such as chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV). Increased vaccine rates and successful treatments have been associated with major declines in the incidence of HCC from these etiologies. However, the prevalence of these risk factors cannot fully explain the ethnic disparities observed. More recent data support a shifting of the underlying etiologies of HCC primarily due to the high prevalence of metabolic conditions that include obesity and diabetes, which increase the risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and its progression to NASH and cirrhosis. (14, 15). NAFLD represents a spectrum of chronic liver disease associated with obesity and insulin resistance that includes simple accumulation of fat in the liver (i.e., simple steatosis), to more severe non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) in which steatosis is complicated by necroinflammation and fibrosis, to cirrhosis, the end stage of fibrosis and scarring of the liver (16, 17). Although the potential for NAFLD to progress to fibrosis, cirrhosis and HCC is well

established, progression, and thus HCC risk varies substantially by age and obesity status (Figure 1).

The prevalence of metabolic conditions such as obesity and type II diabetes (but not NAFLD) is also higher in Non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, and Native American individuals. In the US, 31% of adults are overweight and approximately 10% are severely obese (18). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) data from 2017-18 suggest that the age-adjusted prevalence of overweight/obesity varies by race among adults, with the highest incidence among Non-Hispanic Black (50%), followed by Hispanic (45%), Non-Hispanic white (42%), and Asian (17%) individuals. Similar race/ethnic prevalence patterns were reported for type II diabetes mellitus: among Non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic individuals, the prevalence is 13.2% and 12.8% respectively, whereas in Asian individuals it is 7.6% and in non-Hispanic white individuals it is 9% (19). Addressing disparities in liver cancer incidence and mortality requires rigorous investigation of upstream factors that give rise to metabolic derangement and progression to NAFLD, fibrosis, and cirrhosis that eventually leads to liver decompensation, liver cancer, and death. Advances in (epi)genomic sequencing technologies may help identify molecular mechanisms and events that promote liver deterioration. Molecular markers of liver cancer, that include genetic variants in genes such as PNPLA3, and epigenetic shifts largely identified from array data, are being developed into early detection tools aimed at reducing HCC risk and inherent ethnic disparities. Here, we review clinical and lifestyle risk factors for liver disease, the potential role of environmental exposures in liver cancer development, and the emerging role of epigenetics as a marker of past exposure to environmental contaminants, and contributor to liver cancer risk.

Epidemiologic and lifestyle risk factors for liver disease

The Centers for Disease Control and the National Academy of Sciences estimates that environmental exposures account for at least 70% of variation in many chronic diseases risk, including liver diseases. Exposure to aflatoxin B_1 -lysine, cigarette smoking, mycotoxins, HBV and HCV infection, and poor access to treatment modalities increase liver disease risk including liver



cancer. These findings now inform clinical practice to prevent these exposures and/or reduce the risk of progression. Conversely, habitual coffee intake and long-term statin and metformin use have protective effects on the liver. Indeed, much of this information is included in public health education. Association between comorbidities and drugs used to treat them, lifestyle factors such as diet, physical activity, and non-chemical stressors/ social stressors and liver cancer are poorly characterized. Analgesics, such as acetaminophen, may also be linked to liver cancer. Together, data accumulated over the last two decades indicate that the prevalence of these risk factors disproportionately affects ethnic minorities, though data regarding risk factors among these populations remain sparse. Nonetheless, the prevalence of viral hepatitis infections, NAFLD, alcohol use, and exposure to mycotoxins, do not fully explain the continued HCC increase, especially the ethnic or geographic variation in liver disease.

Co-morbidities and the drugs used to treat them may also alter HCC risk. Prenatal acetaminophen exposure in mice results in loss of fetal liver stem cells, altering immune function (20, 21) and in adults, acetaminophen is the leading cause of acute liver injury/failure. Acetaminophen targets the liver and may interact with environmental contaminants such as cadmium that naturally target the liver, to increase risk of liver damage. Acetaminophen is used routinely by ~56% of the US population (22). Conversely, metformin and statins reduce HCC risk (23, 24). Accurate retrospective assessment of pharmaceuticals taken routinely for common ailments e.g., colds, or pain, is challenging. Another challenge is the lag in statistical methods development to investigate the effects of exposure to multiple drugs (i.e., drug mixtures).

Mounting evidence including high-quality randomized trials link anti-inflammatory diets, such a Mediterranean-style diet, to improvement in chronic diseases including cardiovascular diseases (25), reduced breast cancer incidence (26), and reduced metabolic diseases (27, 28). Coffee consumption is associated with lowered HCC risk while processed meat high in nitrates increases liver cancer risk and may also support liver cancer progression and mortality due to carcinogens released from nitrates that accelerate tumor growth. Diets rich in fruits, vegetables, and antioxidants reduce liver cancer risk, severity, and mortality (29-34). Certain dietary patterns (e.g., Mediterranean, glycemic index/load, or dietary inflammation index) decrease other biliary cancer risk (35-37), but little is known about the effects of diet on HCC prognosis. Moreover, non-pregnant minority adults report less adherence to these diets (38, 39). Mechanistically, antiinflammatory diets reduce systemic free radicals and oxidative stress, leading to decreased circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (40-43).

Physical activity may reduce liver cancer risk and severity and improve outcomes in human studies and animal models. Inconsistent evidence supports the association between light, moderate, or vigorous physical activity and low liver cancer risk (44–47). Lack of consistency in findings is likely because physical activity tends to benefit subsets of populations, likely with other risk factors, such as smokers or obese individuals. However, a recent meta-analysis found that physical activity helped reduce liver cancer risk and mortality in a dose-dependent manner. At a minimum, two hours/week of physical activity was associated with reduced risk of liver cancer mortality (48).

Cigarette smoking is a source of non-occupational exposure to multiple exogenous chemicals, including cadmium, a chemical with oncogenic potential, and alcohol is associated with alcoholic cirrhosis such that these lifestyle factors may either modify or directly interact to increase HCC risk. Conversely, meta-analyses using data accumulated over the last two decades suggest that coffee intake reduces HCC and other liver cancer risk (49–54). However, the mechanisms underlying these connections are unclear.

Social stressors

Social stressors captured at the neighborhood level are persistent risk factors for disparities in a range of cancer outcomes (55). In the US, neighborhood ethnic composition is a strong predictor of hazardous toxicant exposure (56–58). Early data suggests that the racial distribution of the geographic cluster with the highest cadmium exposure is 2% white, 78% Black, and 14% Hispanic (59). Neighborhood disadvantage scores revealed that disadvantage is associated with elevated exposure to environmental contaminants such as cadmium, a probable carcinogen, in adults (59).

Gender differences in HCC

HCC risk is higher in males and mortality varies by sex, as do competing risk factors, e.g., moderate/heavy alcohol intake while overweight status is more common in men and obesity is more common in women. Conversely, women have higher concentrations of contaminants in their bodies, such as cadmium, compared to men who experience similar exposure levels. This may result from higher gastrointestinal absorption of cadmium (60) in women or from competitive binding of cadmium to transporters that are typically bound by nutritive elements such as iron and selenium and may be depleted (60). Moreover, poor cadmium excretion leads to bioaccumulation and increased urinary cadmium with age.

Toxic environmental chemicals and liver diseases

Chronic environmental contaminant exposure is understudied yet may contribute substantially to metabolic dysfunction, fatty liver, fibrosis, and HCC. Increased industrial

applications of toxic metals such as cadmium, arsenic, and lead as well as per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) (e.g., perfluoro-octanoic acid; PFOA, or perfluoro-octane sulfonic acid; PFOS) coupled with their slow degradation has increased these environmental pollutants in atmospheric, terrestrial, and aquatic systems. Their persistence in the environment provides a stable exogenous source for human exposure. Once in the body, slow excretion leads to bioaccumulation in primary organs of metabolism, including the liver (61), with a half-life in the body of 30-45 years for cadmium (59, 62) and up to 5 years for PFOA (63-65). Toxic metals such as cadmium and arsenic are classified as probable human carcinogens by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (66) and ranked in the top ten environmental chemicals of concern by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) (67), while PFOA is classified as a possible carcinogen. Whereas hepato-toxic effects of contaminants such as cadmium at high levels characteristic of occupational settings are well-documented (reviewed in 66), data are limited regarding exposure at levels experienced by

the general population. PFAS are widely used in food packaging, flame-retardants, scratch-resistant coating, fire-fighting foam, and metal plating. Notably, PFAS were identified as drinking water contaminants throughout the US, with roughly 6 million Americans drinking water that exceeds EPA guidelines for safe levels of PFOA and PFOS (64). When all PFAS are considered or more stringent guidelines are used, the estimate is much higher. Additionally, metal exposure is also widespread; arsenic is naturally present in some water supplies and cadmium is a constituent of tobacco smoke and is present in some commercial fertilizers (68-71) such that ingestion of dietary staples contributes to exposure. In the US, dietary cadmium intake is estimated at $\sim 1 \mu g/day$ (72, 73). In pregnant women in Durham, NC, cadmium and PFOA were found to co-contaminate house dust that can be ingested or inhaled (59). Serum PFAS levels are also higher in non-Hispanic white and Hispanic than in non-Hispanic Black pregnant women (74, 75). Further, among all adults, rural African Americans have higher concentrations (76). In contrast, cadmium body burden is highest in African American and Hispanic individuals (62, 77, 78)-populations with a higher HCC incidence. The US National Toxicology Program has called for further research on the effects of these environmental chemicals on organ dysfunction, including liver cancers (79). Multiethnic cohort investigations are needed to determine the impact of toxic metals and PFAS exposure on liver fibrosis and HCC.

Data linking environmental contaminants to NAFLD or HCC are limited. Data from *in vitro* and *in vivo* models accumulated over the last decade support the hypothesis that exposure to PFAS or toxic metals such as cadmium and arsenic induces NAFLD/NASH and liver carcinogenesis (66). However, doses used to induce liver diseases in experimental settings were orders of magnitude higher than those

experienced by the general population. The hypothesis that exposure to chemicals such as cadmium increases fatty liver risk and progression to fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC is supported by weak evidence in humans. These data include autopsy data that demonstrate that concentrations of both toxic metals such as cadmium, and PFAS such as PFOS and PFOA, are higher in the liver than other organs sites with increasing cancer incidence (e.g., pancreas, ovary) (80-82), indicating that the liver is a main repository for these organic and inorganic chemicals. These autopsy data are supported by murine models data that have demonstrated significantly higher liver fat fractions consistent with fatty liver disease and hepatic neoplastic lesions, found in mice exposed to cadmium at concentrations equivalent to non-occupational exposure (83). In human populations, consistent with geographic information systems (GIS) data (59), findings based on a representative sample of Americans (NHANES) (84) suggest that urinary cadmium—an established dosimeter for long-term exposure, is higher in African American and Hispanic than in white individuals, and is associated with overall liver cancer risk, mortality, and the HCC precursors, NAFLD and NASH. However, there was a limited number of African Americans in the study and the data are cross-sectional.

Although these findings support higher body burdens of at least one toxic metal individually contributing to HCC and precursors such as NAFLD, NASH, and cirrhosis, multiple challenges to defining the link between environmental exposures and liver cancer remain. First, HCC incidence requires a population-based case-control design, relying on cancer registries for case identification. However, cancer registry-based rapid case ascertainment systems for case identification are ill-suited for studying HCC, since most (80%) cases are diagnosed solely based on radiographic imaging. Thus, case-control studies that rely on rapid case ascertainment systems may be biased toward the ~20% of cases whose identification relies on biopsy tissue from transplant patients. Consequently, ethnic minorities at higher risk of liver diseases are likely under-represented. Further, advances in mass spectrometry (MS) (e.g., liquid or gas chromatography (LC/GC) for PFAS and inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) for metals, human data from NHANES, and from our group support environmental cooccurrence of PFAS, such as PFOA and PFOS, and toxic metals, such cadmium, arsenic, and lead (85). These toxins also co-occur in the blood or urine of Americans (86-89). Interaction profiles from in vitro models of the ATSDR (67) also support that at least for toxic metals, the effects of toxic metals such as cadmium, lead, and arsenic are synergistic. Yet, statistical methods to identify chemical mixtures contributing to health outcomes are limited and may require large sample sizes. Studies that focus on surmounting these challenges will greatly benefit the field.

Epigenetic marks as biomarkers for early detection

Perhaps one of the biggest challenges in investigating the role of environmental contaminants in liver disease and cancer risk, in general, is the need for retrospective exposure assessment and comparing exposure odds in individuals with and without cancer. Indeed, case–control design is most efficient and is sufficient to investigate exposures such as urinary cadmium, an established dosimeter estimating the cumulative body burden over the life course, to investigate liver cancer etiology. However, the body burden of contaminants such as lead, arsenic, PFOA, and PFOS measured at cancer diagnosis are unlikely to reflect the body before diagnosis. This temporal ambiguity between environmental contaminant assessment and HCC is one of the main complications for causal inference. One way of circumventing this challenge requires molecular profiling that mediates exposure and outcomes.

While twin and familial studies estimate cancer heritability and its precursors such as obesity from 40 to 70%, cancer etiology is complex. Genetic loci contribute to less than 10% of obesity variation. Rather, heritable environmentally induced-epigenetic adaptation, including dysregulation of growth regulating genes, drives heritability, although the regions of the epigenome that contribute to liver diseases are undefined. Epigenetic marks act as exposure archives that approximate past exposure (90, 91). This is in part because epigenetic regulation, a means by which gene expression is altered in response to environmental exposures, can cause long-term changes in expression in mechanistic pathways contributing to liver injury, dysmetabolism, nutrient acquisition, fat deposition, appetite, and satiety. Both covalent DNA methylation at cytosines of CpG dinucleotides and histone modifications regulate chromatin structure and gene expression. The value of DNA methylation as an assay target is its stability. This enables its measurement from nearly any sample type, regardless of handling, by utilizing both targeted and highthroughput bisulfite sequencing methods.

Future research direction using epigenetics

Human epigenetic data linking liver cancer and its precursors to epigenetic dysregulation has three main challenges that hamper identification of epigenomic regions mechanistically involved in cancer development. First, clinically accessible peripheral cells (e.g., blood or buccal cells) may not be appropriate surrogates for tissue types of etiologic significance to liver cancer. Second, epigenetic marks respond to environmental cues throughout the life course such that without serial samples, inference of cause-and-effect between obesity and any epigenetic alterations is difficult. Additionally, epigenetic

marks associated with obesity are often identified from known regions or genes, targeted by function. Moreover, agnostic approaches use array technology (e.g., Golden Gate, 14K, 27K, 450K, or EPIC), but there are physical limitations such as the limited number of CpGs per array, and these approaches are selected based on predetermined criteria of likely significance. For example, while target regions have been selected to cover gene promoters and bodies, as well as CpG islands, with >28 million CpG sites in the genome, less than 5% are covered. Thus, the scope of affected regions is unknown. Another genome-wide tool, meDIP, covers ~40% of the genome, but is dependent on antibody precipitation of methylcytosine, and is thus more effective in CG-rich regions. Also, because meDIP captures only methylated sites, accurate quantitation of methylation percentage is not feasible. Reduced representation bisulfite sequencing is genome-wide but covers ~10% of CpG sites due to technological dependence on endonuclease recognition of specific sites. While these methods are all highly informative for measurable regions, many epigenetic regions occur at long (>10-20kb) distances from gene bodies, and in areas of low CG content. Thus, the coverage has selection/sequence bias.

Addressing these challenges in epidemiologic settings requires multiple approaches to identify epigenomic regions of functional relevance that link environmental exposures and liver dysfunction. These include using agnostic genome scale approaches such as whole-genome bisulfite sequencing or agnostic arrays (e.g., EPIC850 methylation array) and case and control specimens to identify genomic regions that differ between cases and controls in a cell type accessible for both cases and controls, e.g., blood. This step is followed by determination of the relevance of the marker, in affected cancer tissues. Among regions with a high likelihood of being functionally important, follow-up investigation determining if the epigenetic marks with casecontrol differences that are also found in relevant tissues are stable over time, and thus unlikely to be caused by disease, is performed to establish cause-and-effect. Finally, the biological significance in cancer is determined. Because these approaches have limitations to identifying epigenetic markers for liver cancer risk overtime, circumventing these challenges requires inclusion of molecular profiling that mediates exposures and outcomes in large cohorts with long-term follow up, such us the All of Us study (https://allofus.nih.gov/news-events-and-media/announcements/ all-us-research-program-initial-protocol).

Another limitation of epigenetics studies is that environmental exposures affecting the epigenome may cause temporary changes in methylation that could be reverted after the exposure is no longer present. Thus, it is important to focus on CpG methylation marks that are stochastically established before specifications that control metastable epiallele expression (92) and imprinting control regions (ICR) that regulate imprinted gene monoallelic expression (93, 94). Methylation marker stability with age also makes them long-term 'records' of early exposures that are difficult to obtain through questionnaires or other exposure

10.3389/fonc.2022.959852

assessment assays (93). CpG methylation of metastable epialleles and ICRs is established before gastrulation and are mitotically heritable. Thus, epigenetic marks are similar across tissues and cell types throughout the individual's life. Unlike metastable epialleles, however, ICRs are defined by parent-of-origin specific methylation marks that are important gene dosage regulators based on the allele's parental origin. Consequently, in contrast to epigenetic marks controlling metastable epiallele expression, methylation marks regulating imprinted genes are similar across individuals (95, 96). Importantly, changes in ICR methylation patterns are implicated in adult-onset diseases suspected to have fetal origins, including neurological disorders, cancers, and metabolic diseases stemming from abnormal growth and nutrient acquisition disorders (97, 98). With the recent publication mapping the complete repertoire of human ICRs (99), examining the effects ICR dysregulation on liver diseases, including cancer, should yield new insights.

Chronic exposure to environmental contaminants characteristic of non-occupational settings results in subtle molecular adaptive responses detectable as methylation marks at epigenetically labile CG dinucleotides (100-102). Targeted methylation sequencing approaches demonstrated that cadmium alone or in a mixture with arsenic is associated with hypermethylation of the DLK1/MEG3 imprinted domain in leukocyte-derived DNA (103). Conversely, untargeted whole genome bisulfite sequencing revealed that cadmium exposure was associated with differential methylation, at ~2,000 loci (104). Recent studies using Illumina Beadchip arrays also support that DNA methylation of two CG dinucleotides, measured in cell-free DNA, can distinguish HCC from cirrhosis with both sensitivity and specificity in excess of 90% (105). Intriguingly, these CG dinucleotides map to two genes that are key components of the extracellular matrix, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, and signaling (106). This is consistent with dying hepatocytes contributing to the pool of circulating DNA in plasma (107) and the observation that up to 70% of cell free DNA in HCC cases is contributed by the liver (107-109). While these data suggest methods for etiologic investigations and early detection using accessible cells of relevance circulating in plasma, the role of environmental contaminants in methylation alterations has not been examined. Further, racial minorities have not been included in case-control design, hampering causal inference.

Similarly, circulating cell-free RNA is comprised of different classes of RNA, including messenger, micro, circular, long-coding, transfer, ribosomal, and mitochondrial RNAs. RNA pools reflect physiological and pathophysiological insight into human health and have the potential for diagnostic and prognostic markers of disease and monitoring (110, 111). The most studied group of cell free RNAs are miRNAs that can target and regulate genomic output through multiple mechanisms (112) and are an emerging class of effector molecules regulated by diet (113). These miRNAs circulate throughout the body and due to their size and stability are found in most bodily fluids including blood, urine, saliva,

breast milk, and tears (114, 115). The epigenome regulates miRNAs and in turn, miRNAs reciprocally regulate DNA methylation by inhibiting DNA-modifying enzymes (116). However, inclusion of racial minorities under-represented in epidemiological research studies remains low, which challenges the interpretation of existing data. Better representation of these groups is needed to understand disparities in liver cancer and in the development of early detection methods.

Summary

Racial/ethnic disparities in the incidence of cancers such as HCC is paralleled by increased prevalence of environmental contaminants. The inflammatory effects of environmental exposures may be modulated by disparities in lifestyle factors, comorbidities, and higher body burden of environmental contaminants. Resilience factors such as anti-inflammatory diets may mitigate exposure effects and are linked with a lower liver cancer prevalence among ethnic minorities. However, establishing the effects of risk factors in epidemiologic studies is complicated by retrospective exposure assessment. These shortcomings may be circumvented by a more detailed knowledge of epigenetic responses linking environmental exposures to cancer outcomes.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

Funded by NIH R01HD098857, R01ES093351, and R01MD011746-S1.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher. 1. Kim D, Li AA, Perumpail BJ, Gadiparthi C, Kim W, Cholankeril G, et al. Changing trends in etiology-based and ethnicity-based annual mortality rates of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in the united states. *Hepatology* (2019) 69 (3):1064–74. doi: 10.1002/hep.30161

2. McGlynn KA, Petrick JL, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Hepatology* (2021) 73(Suppl 1):4–13. doi: 10.1002/hep.31288.

3. Islami F, Miller KD, Siegel RL, Fedewa SA, Ward EM, Jemal A. Disparities in liver cancer occurrence in the united states by race/ethnicity and state. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2017) 67(4):273–89. doi: 10.3322/caac.21402

4. White DL, Thrift AP, Kanwal F, Davila J, El-Serag HB. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in all 50 United States, from 2000 through 2012. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152(4):812-820 e815. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.11.020

5. Endeshaw M, Hallowell BD, Razzaghi H, Senkomago V, McKenna MT, Saraiya M. Trends in liver cancer mortality in the united states: Dual burden among foreign- and US-born persons. *Cancer* (2019) 125(5):726–34. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31869

6. Hallowell BD, Endeshaw M, McKenna MT, Senkomago V, Razzaghi H, Saraiya M. Cancer mortality rates among US and foreign-born individuals: United States 2005-2014. *Prev Med* (2019) 126:105755. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105755

7. Ha J, Yan M, Aguilar M, Bhuket T, Tana MM, Liu B, et al. Race/ethnicityspecific disparities in cancer incidence, burden of disease, and overall survival among patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. *Cancer* (2016) 122(16):2512–23. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30103

8. Ha J, Yan M, Aguilar M, Tana M, Liu B, Frenette CT, et al. Race/Ethnicityspecific disparities in hepatocellular carcinoma stage at diagnosis and its impact on receipt of curative therapies. *J Clin Gastroenterol* (2016) 50(5):423–30. doi: 110.1097/MCG.000000000000448

9. Wang S, Sun H, Xie Z, Li J, Hong G, Li D, et al. Improved survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and disparities by age, race, and socioeconomic status by decade 1983-2012. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(37):59820–33. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30103

10. Davila JA, El-Serag HB. Racial differences in survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in the united states: a population-based study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2006) 4(1):104–110; quiz 104-105. doi: 10.1038/srep33711

11. Ryerson AB, Eheman CR, Altekruse SF, Ward JW, Jemal A, Sherman RL, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer 1975-2012, featuring the increasing incidence of liver cancer. *Cancer* (2016) 122(9):1312–37. doi: 10.1016/S1542-3565(05)00745-7

12. Rahib L, Smith BD, Aizenberg R, Rosenzweig AB, Fleshman JM, Matrisian LM. Projecting cancer incidence and deaths to 2030: the unexpected burden of thyroid, liver, and pancreas cancers in the united states. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74 (11):2913–21. doi: 10.1002/cncr.29936

13. Llovet JM, Kelley RK, Villanueva A, Singal AG, Pikarsky E, Roayaie S, et al. Hepatocelllar carcinoma. *Nat Rev Res Primers* (2021) 7(1):6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0155

14. Younossi Z, Stepanova M, Ong JP, Jacobson IM, Bugianesi E, Duseja A, et al. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis is the fastest growing cause of hepatocellular carcinoma in liver transplant candidates. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2019) 17 (4):748–755 e743. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-00240-3

15. Ioannou GN. Epidemiology and risk-stratification of NAFLD-associated HCC. J Hepatol (2021) 75(6):1476-84. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.05.057

16. Rinella ME. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review. Jama (2015) 313(22):2263-73. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.08.012

17. Diehl AM, Day C. Cause, pathogenesis, and treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(21):2063-72. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.5370

18. Ogden CL, Fryar CD, Martin CB, Freedman DS, Carroll MD, Gu Q, et al. Trends in obesity prevalence by race and Hispanic origin-1999-2000 to 2017-2018. *Jama* (2020) 324(12):1208–10. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1503519

19. Rodríguez JE, Campbell KM. Racial and ethnic disparities in prevalence and care of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clin Diabetes* (2017) 35(1):66–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.14590

20. Karimi K, Keßler T, Thiele K, Ramisch K, Erhardt A, Huebener P, et al. Prenatal acetaminophen induces liver toxicity in dams, reduces fetal liver stem cells, and increases airway inflammation in adult offspring. *J Hepatol* (2015) 62 (5):1085–91. doi: 10.2337/cd15-0048

21. Thiele K, Solano ME, Huber S, Flavell RA, Kessler T, Barikbin R, et al. Prenatal acetaminophen affects maternal immune and endocrine adaptation to pregnancy, induces placental damage, and impairs fetal development in mice. *Am J Pathol* (2015) 185(10):2805–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.12.020

22. Blieden M, Paramore LC, Shah D, Ben-Joseph R. A perspective on the epidemiology of acetaminophen exposure and toxicity in the united states. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol* (2014) 7(3):341–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.06.019

23. Singh S, Singh PP, Singh AG, Murad MH, Sanchez W. Statins are associated with a reduced risk of hepatocellular cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 144(2):323–32. doi: 10.1586/17512433.2014.904744

24. Facciorusso A, Abd El Aziz MA, Singh S, Pusceddu S, Milione M, Giacomelli L, et al. Statin use decreases the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma: An updated meta-analysis. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12(4):874. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.10.005

25. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvadó J, Covas MI, Corella D, Arós F, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet supplemented with extra-virgin olive oil or nuts. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 378(25): e34. doi: 10.3390/cancers12040874

26. Toledo E, Salas-Salvadó J, Donat-Vargas C, Buil-Cosiales P, Estruch R, Ros E, et al. Mediterranean Diet and invasive breast cancer risk among women at high cardiovascular risk in the PREDIMED trial: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med* (2015) 175(11):1752–60. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1800389

27. Salas-Salvadó J, Bulló M, Babio N, Martínez-González MA, Ibarrola-Jurado N, Basora J, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with the Mediterranean diet: results of the PREDIMED-reus nutrition intervention randomized trial. *Diabetes Care* (2011) 34(1):14–9. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed. 2015.4838

28. Salas-Salvadó J, Bulló M, Estruch R, Ros E, Covas MI, Ibarrola-Jurado N, et al. Prevention of diabetes with Mediterranean diets: a subgroup analysis of a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* (2014) 160(1):1–10. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1288

29. Ji BT, Chow WH, Gridley G, Mclaughlin JK, Dai Q, Wacholder S, et al. Dietary factors and the risk of pancreatic cancer: A case-control study in shanghai China. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (1995) 4(8):885–93. doi: 10.7326/M13-1725

30. Gong Z, Holly EA, Wang F, Chan JM, Bracci PM. Intake of fatty acids and antioxidants and pancreatic cancer in a large population-based case-control study in the San Francisco bay area. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 127(8):1893–904. doi: 10.1002/ ijc.25208

31. Jansen RJ, Robinson DP, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Bamlet WR, de Andrade M, Oberg AL, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption is inversely associated with having pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* (2011) 22(12):1613–25. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25208

32. Heinen MM, Verhage BAJ, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA. Intake of vegetables, fruits, carotenoids and vitamins c and e and pancreatic cancer risk in the Netherlands cohort study. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 130(1):147–58. doi: 10.1007/s10552-011-9838-0

33. Chan JM, Gong Z, Holly EA, Bracci PM. Dietary patterns and risk of pancreatic cancer in a large population-based case-control study in the San Francisco bay area. *Nutr Cancer* (2013) 65(1):157–64. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25989

34. Jansen RJ, Robinson DP, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Bamlet WR, de Andrade M, Oberg AL, et al. Nutrients from fruit and vegetable consumption reduce the risk of pancreatic cancer. *J Gastrointest Cancer* (2013) 44(2):152–61. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2012.725502

35. Rothwell PM, Fowkes FGR, Belch JFF, Ogawa H, Warlow CP, TMeade TW. Effect of daily aspirin on long-term risk of death due to cancer: analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. *Lancet* (2011) 377(9759):31–41. doi: 10.1007/s12029-012-9441-y

36. Hu J, La Vecchia C, Augustin LS, Negir E, de Groh M, Morrison H, et al. Glycemic index, glycemic load and cancer risk. *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24(1):245–51. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62110-1

37. Shivappa N, Bosetti C, Zucchetto A, Serraino D, La Vecchia C, Hébert JR. Dietary inflammatory index and risk of pancreatic cancer in an Italian case-control study. *Br J Nutr* (2015) 113(2):292–8. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds235

38. Gonzalez-Nahm S, Mendez M, Robinson W, Murphy SK, Hoyo C, Hogan V, et al. Low maternal adherence to a Mediterranean diet is associated with increase in methylation at the MEG3-IG differentially methylated region in female infants. *Environ Epigenet* (2017) 3(2):dvx007. doi: 10.1017/S0007114514003626

39. McCullough LE, Miller EE, Calderwood LE, Shivappa N, Steck SE, Forman MR, et al. Maternal inflammatory diet and adverse pregnancy outcomes: Circulating cytokines and genomic imprinting as potential regulators? *Epigenetics* (2017) 12(8):688–697. doi: 10.1080/15592294.2017.1347241

40. Devaraj S, Mathur S, Basu A, Aung HH, Vasu VT, Meyers S, et al. A doseresponse study on the effects of purified lycopene supplementation on biomarkers of oxidative stress. *J Am Coll Nutr* (2008) 27(2):267–73. doi: 10.1080/ 15592294.2017.1347241

41. Meyer KA, Sijtsma FPC, Nettleton JA, Steffen LM, Van Horn L, Shikany JM, et al. Dietary patterns are associated with plasma F_2 -isoprostanes in an observational cohort study of adults. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2013) 57:201–9. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2008.10719699

42. Tamashiro KL, Moran TH. Perinatal environment and its influences on metabolic programming of offspring. *Physiol Behav* (2010) 100(5):560–6. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.1004.1008

43. Dancause KN, Laplante DP, Hart KJ, O'Hara MW, Elgbeili G, Brunet A, et al. Prenatal stress due to a natural disaster predicts adiposity in childhood: The Iowa flood study. *J Obes* (2015) 2015:570541. doi: 10.1155/2015/570541

44. Fock KM, Khoo J. Diet and exercise in management of obesity and overweight. J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2013) 28 Suppl 4:59–63. doi: 10.1155/2015/570541

45. Moore SC, Lee IM, Weiderpass E, Campbell PT, Sampson JN, Kitahara CM, et al. Association of leisure-time physical activity with risk of 26 types of cancer in 1.44 million adults. *JAMA Intern Med* (2016) 176(6):816–25. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12407

46. Yang H, Shi L, Wang Y, Duan G, Wang Y. RE: Physical activity and the risk of liver cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies and a bias analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2019) 112(6):651–652. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.1548

47. Zhang YB, Pan XF, Chen J, Cao A, Zhang YG, Xia L, et al. Combined lifestyle factors, incident cancer, and cancer mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Br J Cancer* (2020) 122(7):1085–93. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djz187

48. Junga L. Associations between physical activity and liver cancer risks and mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2020) 17(23):8943. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-0741-x

49. Wang A, Wang S, Zhu C, Huang H, Wu L, Wan X, et al. Coffee and cancer risk: A meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:33711. doi: 10.1038/srep33711

50. Alicandro G, Tavani A, La Vecchia C. Coffee and cancer risk: A summary overview. *Eur J Cancer Prev* (2017) 26(5):424-32. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.00000000000341

51. Godos J, Micek A, Marranzano M, Salomone F, Rio DD, Ray S. Coffee consumption and risk of biliary tract cancers and liver cancer: A dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Nutrients* (2017) 9(9):950. doi: 10.3390/nu9090950

52. Kennedy OJ, Roderick P, Buchanan R, Fallowfield JA, Hayes PC, Parkes J. Coffee, including caffeinated and decaffeinated coffee, and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* (2017) 7(5):e013739. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013739

53. Tamura T, Hishida A, Wakai K. Coffee consumption and liver cancer risk in Japan: a meta-analysis of six prospective cohort studies. *Nagoya J Med Sci* (2019) 81 (1):143–50. doi: 10.18999/nagjms.81.1.143

54. Tanaka K, Tamakoshi A, Sugawara Y, Mizoue T, Inoue M, Sawada N, et al. Coffee, green tea and liver cancer risk: An evaluation based on a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence among the Japanese population. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* (2019) 49(10):972–84. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyz097

55. Olden K, Olden HA, Lin YS. The role of the epigenome in translating neighborhood disadvantage into health disparities. *Curr Environ Health Rep* (2015) 2(2):163–70. doi: 10.1007/s40572-015-0048-x

56. Boberg E, Lessner L, Carpenter DO. The role of residence near hazardous waste sites containing benzene in the development of hematologic cancers in upstate new York. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* (2011) 24(4):327–38. doi: 10.2478/s13382-011-0037-8

57. Singer M. Down cancer alley: the lived experience of health and environmental suffering in louisiana's chemical corridor. *Med Anthropol Q* (2011) 25(2):141-63. doi: 10.1111/j.1548-1387.2011.01154.x

58. Lu X, Lessner L, Carpenter DO. Association between hospital discharge rate for female breast cancer and residence in a zip code containing hazardous waste sites. *Environ Res* (2014) 134:375–81. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2014.07.005

59. King KE, Darrah TH, Money E, Meentemeyer R, Maguire RL, Nye MD, et al. Geographic clustering of elevated blood heavy metal levels in pregnant women. *BMC Public Health* (2015) 15(1):1035. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2379-9

60. Vahter M, Marafante E. Effects of low dietary intake of methionine, choline or proteins on the biotransformation of arsenite in the rabbit. *Toxicol Lett* (1987) 37(1):41–6. doi: 10.1016/0378-4274(87)90165-2

61. Nawrot T, Plusquin M, Hogervorst J, Roels HA, Celis H, Thijs L, et al. Environmental exposure to cadmium and risk of cancer: a prospective populationbased study. *Lancet Oncol* (2006) 7(2):119–26. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(06) 70545-9

62. McKelvey W, Gwynn RC, Jeffery N, Kass D, Thorpe LE, Garg RK, et al. A biomonitoring study of lead, cadmium, and mercury in the blood of New York city adults. *Environ Health Perspect* (2007) 115(10):1435–41. doi: 10.1289/ehp.10056

63. Russell MH, Waterland RL, Wong F. Calculation of chemical elimination half-life from blood with an ongoing exposure source: The example of

perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). Chemosphere (2015) 129:210-6. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.07.061

64. Li Y, Fletcher T, Mucs D, Scott K, Lindh CH, Tallving P, et al. Half-lives of PFOS, PFHxS and PFOA after end of exposure to contaminated drinking water. *Occup Environ Med* (2018) 75(1):46–51. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2017-104651

65. Pizzurro DM, Seeley M, Kerper LE, Beck BD. Interspecies differences in perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) toxicokinetics and application to health-based criteria. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* (2019) 106:239–50. doi: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2019.05.008

66. Boffetta P. Carcinogenicity of trace elements with reference to evaluations made by the international agency for research on cancer. *Scand J Work Environ Health* (1993) 19 Suppl 1:67–70.

67. ATSDR. Agency for toxic substances and disease registry. In: *The ATSDR 2011 substance priority list* (2011). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC. Available at: http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/.

68. Webb S, Bartos J, Boles R, Hasty E, Thuotte E, Thiex NJ. Simultaneous determination of arsenic, cadmium, calcium, chromium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, and zinc in fertilizers by microwave acid digestion and inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry detection: single-laboratory validation of a modification and extension of AOAC 2006.03. J AOAC Int (2014) 97(3):700–11. doi: 10.5740/ jaoacint.13-408

69. Dharma-Wardana MWC. Fertilizer usage and cadmium in soils, crops and food. *Environ Geochem Health* (2018) 40(6):2739–2759. doi: 10.1007/s10653-018-0140-x

70. Rao ZX, Huang DY, Wu JS, Zhu QH, Zhu HH, Xu C, et al. Distribution and availability of cadmium in profile and aggregates of a paddy soil with 30-year fertilization and its impact on cd accumulation in rice plant. *Environ pollut* (2018) 239:198–204. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.024

71. Xu Y, Tang H, Liu T, Li Y, Huang X, Pi J. Effects of long-term fertilization practices on heavy metal cadmium accumulation in the surface soil and rice plants of double-cropping rice system in southern China. *Environ Sci pollut Res Int* (2018) 25(20):19836–19844. doi: 10.1007/s11356-018-2175-z

72. Organization, W. H, International Programme on Chemical Safety Environmental Health Criteria (INCHEM) and International Programme on Chemical Safety Environmental Health Criteria (INCHEM). Cadmium. *Environ Health Criteria* (1992) 134:1–201.

73. Organization, W. H. Cadmium chapter 6.3. In: Air quality guidelines second edition (2000).

74. Craig JA, Hoffman K, Stapleton HM, Calafat A, Ye X, Hoyo C, et al. Toxicological sciences under review (2020).

75. Hall SM, Patton S, Petreas M, Zhang S, Phillips AL, Hoffman K, et al. Perand polyfluoroalkyl substances in dust collected from residential homes and fire stations in north America. *Environ Sci Technol* (2020) 54(22):14558–67. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.0c04869

76. Kotlarz N, McCord J, Collier D, Lea CS, Strynar M, Lindstrom AB, et al. Measurement of novel, drinking water-associated PFAS in blood from adults and children in Wilmington, north Carolina. *Environ Health Perspect* (2020) 128 (7):77005. doi: 10.1289/EHP6837

77. Mijal RS, Holzman CB. Blood cadmium levels in women of childbearing age vary by race/ethnicity. *Environ Res* (2010) 110(5):505-12. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2010.02.007

78. Aoki Y, Yee J, Mortensen ME. Blood cadmium by race/hispanic origin: The role of smoking. *Environ Res* (2017) 155:193–8. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.02.016

79. Program NT. Report on carcinogens, fourteenth edition: Cadmium and cadmium compounds (2016). Available at: https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/ content/profiles/cadmium.pdf.

80. Aalbers TG, Houtman JP, Makkink B. Trace-element concentrations in human autopsy tissue. *Clin Chem* (1987) 33(11):2057–64. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/ 33.11.2057

81. Yeung LWY, Guruge KS, Taniyasu S, Yamashita N, Angus PW, Herath CB. Profiles of perfluoroalkyl substances in the liver and serum of patients with liver cancer and cirrhosis in Australia. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* (2013) 96:139–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2013.06.006

82. Buha A, Wallace D, Matovic V, Schweitzer A, Oluic B, Micic D. Cadmium exposure as a putative risk factor for the development of pancreatic cancer: Three different lines of evidence. *Biomed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:1981837. doi: 10.1155/2017/1981837

83. Jackson TW, Ryherd GL, Scheibly CM, Sasser AL, Guillette TC, Belcher SM. Gestational cd exposure in the CD-1 mouse induces sex-specific hepatic insulin insensitivity, obesity, and metabolic syndrome in adult female offspring. *Toxicol Sci* (2020) 78(2):264–280. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfaa154

84. Hyder O, Chung M, Cosgrove D, Herman JM, Li Z, Firoozmand A, et al. Cadmium exposure and liver disease among US adults. *J Gastrointest Surg* (2013) 17(7):1265–73. doi: 10.1007/s11605-013-2210-9

85. Adebambo OA, Ray PD, Shea D, Fry RC. Toxicological responses of environmental mixtures: Environmental metal mixtures display synergistic induction of metal-responsive and oxidative stress genes in placental cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2015) 289(3):534–41. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2015.10.005

86. Agarwal S, Zaman T, Tuzcu EM, Kapadia SR. Heavy metals and cardiovascular disease: results from the national health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES) 1999-2006. *Angiology* (2011) 62(5):422-9. doi: 10.1177/0003319710395562

87. Satarug S. Long-term exposure to cadmium in food and cigarette smoke, liver effects and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Curr Drug Metab* (2012) 13(3):257–71. doi: 10.2174/138920012799320446

88. Cousins IT, DeWitt JC, Glüge J, Goldenman G, Herzke D, Lohmann R, et al. Strategies for grouping per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) to protect human and environmental health. *Environ Sci Process Impacts* (2020) 22(7):1444–60. doi: 10.1039/D0EM00147C

89. Fenton SE, Ducatman A, Boobis A, DeWitt JC, Lau C, Ng C, et al. Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substance toxicity and human health review: Current state of knowledge and strategies for informing future research. *Environ Toxicol Chem* (2020) 40(3):606–30. doi: 10.1002/etc.4890

90. Hoyo C, Murtha AP, Schildkraut JM, Jirtle R, Demark-Wahnefried W, Forman MR, et al. Methylation variation at IGF2 differentially methylated regions and maternal folic acid use before and during pregnancy. *Epigenetics* (2011) 6(5):928–36.

91. Dolinoy DC, Weinhouse C, Jones TR, Rozek LS, Jirtle RL. Variable histone modifications at the Avy metastable epiallele. *Epigenetics* (2011) 5(7):637-44.

92. Kessler NJ, Waterland RA, Prentice AM, Silver MJ. Establishment of environmentally sensitive DNA methylation states in the very early human embryo. Sci Adv (2018) 4(7):eaat2624. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aat2624

93. Hoyo C, Murphy SK, Jirtle RL. Imprint regulatory elements as epigenetic biosensors of exposure in epidemiological studies. *J Epidemiol Community Health* (2009) 63(9):683–4. doi: 10.1136/jech.2009.090803

94. Skaar DA, Li Y, Bernal AJ, Hoyo C, Murphy SK, Jirtle RL. The human imprintome: regulatory mechanisms, methods of ascertainment, and roles in disease susceptibility. *ILAR J* (2012) 53(3-4):341–58. doi: 10.1093/ilar.53.3-4.341

95. Murphy SK. Targeting the epigenome in ovarian cancer. Future Oncol (2012) 8(2):151-64. doi: 10.2217/fon.11.152

96. Murphy SK, Adigun A, Huang Z, Overcash F, Wang F, Jirtle RL, et al. Gender-specific methylation differences in relation to prenatal exposure to cigarette smoke. *Gene* (2012) 494(1):36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2011.11.062

97. Kitsiou-Tzeli S, Tzetis M. Maternal epigenetics and fetal and neonatal growth. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2017) 24(1):43-6. doi: 10.1097/ MED.0000000000000305

98. Cassidy FC, Charalambous M. Genomic imprinting, growth and maternal-fetal interactions. J Exp Biol (2018) 221:1). doi: 10.1242/jeb.164517

99. Jima DD, Skaar DA, Planchart A, Motsinger-Reif A, Cevik SE, Park SS, et al. Genomic map of candidate human imprint control regions: The imprintome. *Epigenetics* (2022) 4: 1–24.. oi: 10.1080/15592294.2022.2091815.

100. Hou L, Zhang X, Wang D, Baccarelli A. Environmental chemical exposures and human epigenetics. *Int J Epidemiol* (2012) 41(1):79–105. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr154

101. Liu X, Zheng Y, Zhang W, Zhang X, Lioyd-Jones DM, Baccarelli AA, et al. Blood methylomics in response to arsenic exposure in a low-exposed US population. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol* (2014) 24(2):145–9. doi: 10.1038/ jes.2013.89 102. Vidal AC, Semenova V, Darrah T, Vengosh A, Huang Z, King K. Maternal cadmium, iron and zinc levels, DNA methylation and birth weight. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol* (2015) 16(1):20. doi: 10.1186/s40360-015-0020-2

103. House JS, Hall J, Park SS, Planchart A, Money E, Maguire RL, et al. Cadmium exposure and MEG3 methylation differences between whites and African americans in the NEST cohort. *Environ Epigenet* (2019) 5(3):dvz014. doi: 10.1093/eep/dvz014

104. Cowley M, Skaar DA, Jima DD, Maguire RL, Hudson KM, Park SS, et al. Effects of cadmium exposure on DNA methylation at imprinting control regions and genome-wide in mothers and newborn children. *Environ Health Perspect* (2018) 126(3):037003. doi: 10.1289/EHP2085

105. Zhang C, Ge S, Wang J, Jing X, Li H, Mei S, et al. Epigenomic profiling of DNA methylation for hepatocellular carcinoma diagnosis and prognosis prediction. J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2019) 34(10):1869–77. doi: 10.1111/jgh.14694

106. Holmila R, Sklias A, Muller DC, Degli Esposti D, Guilloreau P, Mckay J, et al. Targeted deep sequencing of plasma circulating cell-free DNA reveals vimentin and fibulin 1 as potential epigenetic biomarkers for hepatocellular carcinoma. *PloS One* (2017) 12(3):e0174265. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174265

107. Sun K, Jiang P, Chan KC, Wong J, Cheng YK, Liang RH, et al. Plasma DNA tissue mapping by genome-wide methylation sequencing for noninvasive prenatal, cancer, and transplantation assessments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2015) 112(40): E5503–5512. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1508736112

108. Lo YM, Tein MS, Pang CC, Yeung CK, Tong KL, Hjelm NM. Presence of donor-specific DNA in plasma of kidney and liver-transplant recipients. *Lancet* (1998) 351(9112):1329–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)79055-3

109. Zheng YW, Chan KC, Sun H, Jiang P, Su X, Chen EZ, et al. Nonhematopoietically derived DNA is shorter than hematopoietically derived DNA in plasma: A transplantation model. *Clin Chem* (2012) 58(3):549–58. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2011.169318

110. Drag MH, Kilpelainen TO. Cell-free DNA and RNA-measurement and applications in clinical diagnostics with focus on metabolic disorders. *Physiol Genomics* (2021) 53(1):33–46. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00086.2020

111. Larson MH, Pan W, Kim HJ, Mauntz RE, Stuart SM, Pimentel M, et al. A comprehensive characterization of the cell-free transcriptome reveals tissue- and subtype-specific biomarkers for cancer detection. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):2357. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22444-1

112. Vanderburg C, Beheshti A. MicroRNAs (miRNAs), the final frontier: The hidden master regulators impacting biological response in all organisms due to spaceflight (2020). Available at: https://three.jsc.nasa.gov/articles/miRNA_Beheshti.pdf.

113. Ramos-Lopez O, Milagro FI, Riezu-Boj JI, Martinez JA. Epigenetic signatures underlying inflammation: An interplay of nutrition, physical activity, metabolic diseases, and environmental factors for personalized nutrition. *Inflammation Res* (2021) 70(1):29–49. doi: 10.1007/s00011-020-01425-y

114. Weber JA, Baxter DH, Zhang S, Huang DY, Huang KH, Lee MJ, et al. The microRNA spectrum in 12 body fluids. *Clin Chem* (2010) 56(11):1733–41. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2010.147405

115. Carr LE, Virmani MD, Rosa F, Munblit D, Matazel KS, Elolimy AA, et al. Role of human milk bioactives on infants' gut and immune health. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:604080. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.604080

116. Ramzan F, Vickers MH, Mithen RF. Epigenetics, microRNA and metabolic syndrome: A comprehensive review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(9):5047. doi: 10.3390/ ijms22095047

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jennie L. Williams, Stony Brook University, United States

REVIEWED BY Cruz Nazario, University of Puerto Rico, Puerto Rico Stella E. Tsirka, Stony Brook University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Laura Fejerman lfejerman@ucdavis.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 10 May 2022 ACCEPTED 28 September 2022 PUBLISHED 26 October 2022

CITATION

Tamayo LI, Perez F, Perez A, Hernandez M, Martinez A, Huang X, Zavala VA, Ziv E, Neuhausen SL, Carvajal-Carmona LG, Duron Y and Fejerman L (2022) Cancer screening and breast cancer family history in Spanish-speaking Hispanic/Latina women in California. *Front. Oncol.* 12:940162. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.940162

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Tamayo, Perez, Perez, Hernandez, Martinez, Huang, Zavala, Ziv. Neuhausen, Carvajal-Carmona, Duron and Fejerman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cancer screening and breast cancer family history in Spanishspeaking Hispanic/Latina women in California

Lizeth I. Tamayo¹, Fabian Perez², Angelica Perez², Miriam Hernandez³, Alejandra Martinez⁴, Xiaosong Huang², Valentina A. Zavala², Elad Ziv⁵, Susan L. Neuhausen⁶, Luis G. Carvajal-Carmona^{7,8}, Ysabel Duron⁹ and Laura Fejerman^{2,8*}

¹Department of Public Health Sciences, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ²Department of Public Health Sciences, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ³Usion y Compromiso, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ⁴Promoters for Better Health, Pomona, CA, United States, ⁵Department of General Internal Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States, ⁶Department of Population Sciences, Beckman Research Institute of City of Hope, Duarte, CA, United States, ⁷Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Medicine, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁸Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States, ⁹The Latino Cancer Institute, San Jose, CA, United States

Background: Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women in the U.S. and the leading cause of cancer death among Hispanics/Latinas (H/L). H/L are less likely than Non-H/L White (NHW) women to be diagnosed in the early stages of this disease. Approximately 5-10% of breast cancer can be attributed to inherited genetic mutations in high penetrance genes such as *BRCA1/2*. Women with pathogenic variants in these genes have a 40-80% lifetime risk of breast cancer. Past studies have shown that genetic counseling can help women and their families make informed decisions about genetic testing and early cancer detection or risk-reduction strategies. However, H/L are 3.9-4.8 times less likely to undergo genetic testing than NHW women. We developed a program to outreach and educate the H/L community about hereditary breast cancer, targeting monolingual Spanish-speaking individuals in California. Through this program, we have assessed cancer screening behavior and identified women who might benefit from genetic counseling in a population that is usually excluded from cancer research and care.

Materials and Methods: The "Tu Historia Cuenta" program is a promotoresbased virtual outreach and education program including the cities of San Francisco, Sacramento, and Los Angeles. Participants responded to three surveys: a demographic survey, a breast cancer family history survey, and a feedback survey. Survey responses were described for participants and compared by area where the program took place using chi-square, Fisher exact tests, and t tests. Multinomial logistic regression models were used for multivariate analyses. **Results and Conclusion:** We enrolled 1042 women, 892 completed the cancer family history survey and 62 (7%) provided responses compatible with referral to genetic counseling. We identified 272 women (42.8% ages 40 to 74 years) who were due for mammograms, 250 women (24.7% ages 25 to 65 years) due for Papanicolaou test, and 189 women (71.6% ages 50+) due for colorectal cancer screening. These results highlight the need of additional support for programs that spread awareness about cancer risk and facilitate access to resources, specifically within the H/L community.

KEYWORDS

breast cancer health disparities, hereditary breast cancer, cancer education, Hispanic/ Latina, cancer family history

Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women in the United States (1, 2) and the leading cause of cancer death among Hispanics/Latinas (H/L) (3). Furthermore, H/L are less likely than Non-H/L White (NHW) women to be diagnosed in the early stages of disease and are less likely to have access to high-quality care because of factors such as lower socioeconomic status (SES), high uninsured rate (3, 4), and issues communicating with providers (5). Additionally, among women of all ages dying of breast cancer, H/L have a 164% higher risk of dying before the age of 50 years in comparison with NHW women (6).

Approximately 5-10% of breast cancer cases can be attributed to inherited genetic mutations (7). Women with pathogenic variants in high penetrance genes such as BRCA1 and BRCA2 have a 40-80% lifetime risk of breast cancer compared to 12% risk in the general population (8). Only about 10% of mutation carriers are aware of their mutation status (9). While awareness (10) and use (11) of genetic testing in different populations has increased over time, disparities in access to hereditary breast cancer risk assessment, genetic counseling, and genetic testing continue to exist in the United States (U.S.) (12), with awareness among H/L being particularly low (33.2%) compared to NHW women (51.9%, p<0.0001) based on data from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey (9, 10, 13). Screening for pathogenic mutations can open opportunities for cancer prevention and/or engagement in frequent cancer screening to detect it early (14). Past studies have shown that genetic counseling can help women and their families make informed decisions about genetic testing and early cancer detection or risk-reduction strategies (15, 16). Genetic counseling and testing for breast cancer survivors also is critically important as it can inform targeted treatment, risk management for second primary cancers, and targeted cascade testing for at-risk family members (17). An analysis including 64,717 women who underwent genetic screening between the years 2006-2007 demonstrated that the mutation rate of BRCA1 and BRCA2 was about the same in H/L and NHW women (18, 19); however, H/L were 3.9-4.8 times less likely to undergo genetic testing than NHW women (19). The lower use of genetic testing in H/L and other underrepresented populations compared to NHW women reduces the generalizability of genetic discoveries and leads to challenges in interpreting genetic results (20).

Lack of insurance and economic concerns often are the main barriers for obtaining a genetic risk assessment for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer, and limited English proficiency and cultural factors such as embarrassment, modesty and secrecy also reduce the rate of genetic testing (21). H/L are willing to engage and have a strong desire for counseling and screening despite barriers they experience (21-25), however, within a study of 1622 participants recruited through a state cancer registry and who reported receiving genetic testing, H/L were nearly two times less likely as NHW women to report discussing genetic testing with a health provider (26, 27). A study on H/L found positive attitudes towards genetic testing for cancer prevention, with 87% agreeing it was a good idea and 87.7% agreeing that everyone should get genetic testing for cancer prevention (28). Another study focused on low income women in California, including H/Ls, identified participants at high-risk for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer via a phone intervention and reported that 39% accepted and received genetic counseling during the intervention period (29).

Community health educators (*promotores*) are uniquely positioned to bridge the gap between the H/L community and

the health care system (30–34). Promotores are typically from the community in which they work, speak the same language, and understand the culture's idiosincracies (32). They are able to translate medical jargon into practical, realistic steps that can be better understood and followed by members of their communities (34). Promotores-led educational interventions are cost-effective in increasing cancer screenings in the H/L community (35–39). Interventions led by promotores significantly increase breast cancer-related knowledge among participants (37, 40).

There is currently limited work on increasing breast and ovarian cancer genetic screening among H/L (10, 13, 24, 41–43). To address this gap, the research team in partnership with The Latino Cancer Institute developed a program, "Tu Historia Cuenta" (THC), to conduct outreach and educate the H/L community, particularly targeting monolingual Spanish-speaking women (44). Materials were developed to train promotores about hereditary breast cancer as well as to facilitate the interaction between promotores and the community. In this paper, we provide a description of the demographic characteristics of the participants in the program and the results of the breast cancer family history and feedback surveys which highlights the need for further improvement in hereditary breast and ovarian cancer screening in this population.

Methods

Study population

Recruitment of participants started in June 2020 and was led by two promotores organizations in Southern and Northern California (45, 46). As of March 2022, 1062 H/L in California had registered for the THC education session. Of these, 1042 answered the demographic survey, 891 participants answered the breast cancer family history survey, and 525 participants answered the feedback survey. The demographic survey was provided to women after registration, before the educational session. Participants were asked to answer the cancer family history survey after the education session as to maximize their comprehension of the reason for those questions and how to respond to them. As a result, a small number of participants (N=20) registered for the education session but did not complete the demographic survey and 14% (N=151) of participants attended the education session but did not answer the family history survey.

The current report is based on all survey responses available on March 18th, 2022. The inclusion criteria for participants were 1) women 21-75 years of age, 2) Spanish-speaking or bilingual, and 3) self-identifying as H/L. Participants provided verbal informed consent. Data from all surveys were de-identified. The study was approved by the University of California, San Francisco Institutional Review Board.

Program description

THC is a promotores-led outreach and education program with materials developed using a continuous stakeholder engagement approach as previously described (44). The one-hour educational sessions provide participants basic background knowledge on breast cancer with a particular focus on hereditary breast cancer and genetics (44). THC participants completed three surveys: 1) a demographic information and general cancer screening history (i.e., mammography screening, colorectal cancer screening, cervical cancer screening) and exposure to genetic testing (i.e., cancer risk assessment) survey, 2) a breast/ovarian cancer-specific family history survey aimed at identifying women at higher risk of hereditary breast/ovarian cancer (47) that was adapted from the Pedigree Assessment Tool (48, 49), and 3) the post-education session feedback survey which assessed the utility, quality, and compressibility of the educational session components. The family history survey was selected for its ease of administration and its previous validation in low income population including H/L which was done by comparing it to genetic counselors' assessments (50) and to Referral screening tools (RST) (48). When researchers compared the family history survey to RST, the survey had high sensitivity (~92%), specificity (0.94%) and high AUROC (98%); additional details can be found elsewhere (51). Each 'Yes' response on the survey had an associated score of 2, 4, or 6 depending on the age of onset and type of cancer reported for self and family member. Participants with a scores of 6 or higher were considered to have responded in a manner consistent with a strong family history of breast/ovarian cancer.

Women identified as having strong family history based on their score in the breast cancer-family history survey received a recommendation to discuss their family history with a doctor and potentially a genetic counselor. For those without a usual source of care, we provided resources and support to facilitate access.

Survey content

The demographic survey contained questions including city of residence, zip code, age, number of years residing in the U.S., number of people in the household, and employment status. Information regarding English-language proficiency (a. monolingual Spanish speaker, b. limited English use, c. conversational English, d. fully bilingual), medical insurance (a. no insurance, b. public insurance, c. private insurance), and educational attainment (a. no school, b. elementary school, c. middle school, d. high school, e. associate degree, f. university degree) was obtained. In addition, the demographic survey contained questions regarding genetic testing such as previous knowledge and exposure to genetic testing, and interest in genetic testing. A subset of questions targeted cancer screening behavior (i.e., breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening).

The family history of breast cancer survey was adapted from a previously validated survey (51) and collected the following information on the participant and their first- and seconddegree relatives: breast cancer diagnoses before age 50 years, after age 50 years, and cancer in both breasts. This survey included additional questions on family history of ovarian cancer, three or more family members on the same side of the family with cancer of the breast, prostate, and/or pancreas, and male family member with breast cancer. At the end of the survey, participants were asked about their willingness to be contacted in the future to learn more about their respective cancer risk if they were identified as having a strong family history of breast cancer.

The feedback survey was given to participants at the end of the education session. This survey was anonymous and had nine questions to help understand how useful participants found the information provided and whether they felt motivated to share the information learned with family and friends and to seek additional information regarding breast cancer.

Data analysis

Average, dispersion (standard deviation-SD) and proportion measures were used to describe the characteristics of the participants and their survey responses. We used chi-square, Fisher's exact test, and two-sided t-tests to compare characteristics and responses between participants in the three areas of outreach: San Francisco, Sacramento, and Los Angeles County, as well as by breast cancer family history score (a. <6, b.6+) and screening status.

We used multivariate multinomial logistic regression analyses to assess the association between different demographic factors and screening behavior among THC participants. The 'never' screened category group was defined as reference in all regression models. All analyses were conducted in RStudio version 4.1.2 (52).

Results

Participants' demographic characteristics

A total of 1042 Spanish-speaking H/L women residing in San Francisco County, Sacramento and Los Angeles provided demographic information after registering for the THC

education session. The average age of participants was 43 years and ranged between 21 and 73 years (Table 1). Most individuals were born outside the United States (86.1%) and had lived in the US for an average of 18 years (Min: 1 year, Max: 54 years). Approximately 6.5% of participants reported no formal education, 22.6% graduated from elementary school only, 16.3% middle school, 32.1% high school, 11.9% had an associate degree and 9.1% a university degree. The program's target population was Spanish-speaking H/L, which was reflected by the responses related to English language proficiency: 17.7% were monolingual Spanish-speakers, 30.7% had basic knowledge of English, 36.9% conversational English, and 14.2% were fully bilingual. Half of the participants (50.0%) had public health insurance, 35.8% had no insurance, and 13.4% had private insurance. The average number of individuals leaving in the participants' household was 4.3 (SD= 2.1).

Differences in demographic characteristics between participants in Los Angeles, Sacramento, and San Francisco

Average age of participants varied between the Los Angeles County, Sacramento, and San Francisco recruitment groups, with San Francisco individuals having the lowest mean age (44.7, 42.3, and 40.5 years respectively) (Table 1). Participants from San Francisco had been in the US for an average of 16 years (SD=12), which was lower than the number of years reported by participants in Los Angeles County and Sacramento (20 years, SD=10, and 19 years, SD=8, respectively). Furthermore, San Francisco had the largest proportion of participants with at least conversational English language proficiency and high school education or higher (Table 1). In Los Angeles County and Sacramento, participants were more likely to report being uninsured (44.0%, 44.3%) compared to San Francisco (9.3%). San Francisco participants were more likely to report having public health insurance (77.0% vs. 36.0% for Sacramento and 44.3% for Los Angeles County) (Table 1). On average, participants in Sacramento lived in larger households (4.6 people) compared to participants in Los Angeles County (4.4 people) and San Francisco (3.8 people) (Table 1).

Screening behavior and knowledge about genetic testing

Most participants expressed interest in learning about genetics (98%), and only 1.3% of the individuals stated that they were not interested in learning about genetics or how genetics could be used to prevent or detect cancer early. More than half of the participants reported that they had not heard about genetic tests before (52.2%) (Table 2).

Variable, N (%) or Mean (SD)	Overall	Los Angeles	Sacramento	San Francisco	p-value
Number of participants	1042 (100)	530 (50.9)	264 (25.3)	248 (23.8)	
Age in years	43.06 (10.24)	44.68 (10.22)	42.26 (9.14)	40.47 (10.79)	< 0.001
Place of birth					
Foreign-born	897 (86.1)	420 (79.2)	250 (94.7)	227 (91.5)	< 0.001
US-born	101 (9.7)	73 (13.8)	13 (4.9)	15 (6.0)	
Missing	44 (4.2)	37 (7.0)	1 (0.4)	6 (2.4)	
Years in the United States	18.87 (10.15)	20.43 (9.94)	19.27 (8.25)	15.56 (11.63)	< 0.001
English Language Proficiency					
Monolingual Spanish Speaker	184 (17.7)	111 (20.9)	35 (13.3)	38 (15.3)	0.015
Limited English Use	320 (30.7)	152 (28.7)	97 (36.7)	71 (28.6)	
Conversational	384 (36.9)	185 (34.9)	91 (34.5)	108 (43.5)	
Fully Bilingual	148 (14.2)	76 (14.3)	41 (15.5)	31 (12.5)	
Missing	6 (0.6)	6 (1.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Health Insurance Status					
No Insurance	373 (35.8)	233 (44.0)	117 (44.3)	23 (9.3)	< 0.001
Public	521 (50.0)	235 (44.3)	95 (36.0)	191 (77.0)	
Private	140 (13.4)	54 (10.2)	52 (19.7)	34 (13.7)	
Missing	8 (0.8)	8 (1.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Educational Attainment					
No school	68 (6.5)	55 (10.4)	3 (1.1)	10 (4.0)	< 0.001
Elementary School	235 (22.6)	134 (25.3)	75 (28.4)	26 (10.5)	
Middle School	170 (16.3)	50 (9.4)	78 (29.5)	42 (16.9)	
High School	335 (32.1)	169 (31.9)	60 (22.7)	106 (42.7)	
Associate Degree	124 (11.9)	55 (10.4)	26 (9.8)	43 (17.3)	
University	95 (9.1)	54 (10.2)	22 (8.3)	19 (7.7)	
Missing	15 (1.4)	13 (2.5)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.8)	
Number of People in Household	4.32 (2.09)	4.41 (2.33)	4.62 (1.53)	3.84 (1.98)	< 0.001

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of 1042 'Tu Historia Cuenta' program participants in California overall and by recruitment area.

Among women within the age range of mammography screening guidelines (40-74 years), 56.1% were current with their mammogram (i.e., mammogram within the last 2 years), and 42.8% of the participants were due for mammograms (i.e., never had obtained a mammogram or their last mammogram was done more than 2 years ago). Of the 163 women who had never had a mammogram, 14% were navigated into the Every Women Counts program (EWC) (53), and of the 109 women who had their mammogram more than 2 years ago, 38% were navigated into this program. It is important to note that the THC education session included information about the EWC program that was shared with all participants. Due to this, women who had not previously received mammograms may not have expressed a need for navigation assistance but still taken advantage of the EWC program.

Cervical cancer screening for women between the ages of 21 to 65 years was observed for 82.1%, with 73.3% of the participants having obtained a Papanicolaou test within the last 3 years. Among participants 50 years of age and older, 23.5% reported ever having colorectal cancer screening (Table 2).

Differences in screening behavior and genetic testing knowledge between participants in Los Angeles County, Sacramento, and San Francisco

Most participants in the program expressed interest in learning about genetics and breast cancer (~98%), however, a larger proportion of participants who resided in the San Francisco area were aware of genetic testing (62.9%) compared to participants in Los Angeles County (42.3%) and Sacramento (41.3%) (Table 2).

A similar proportion of participants in Sacramento and San Francisco were up to date with mammography screening (60.6% and 60.8%, respectively), while a lower proportion was observed among participants in Los Angeles County (52.5%); this difference was not statistically significant (Table 2).

Differences between regions in cervical and colorectal cancer screenings were not statistically significant (Table 2). However, San Francisco had the highest proportion of participants reporting a Papanicolaou test within the last 3 years (84.9%), followed by Sacramento (79.3%) and Los Angeles County (64.8%). Similarly, 30% of participants from San Francisco who were 50 years and

TABLE 2 Screening behavior and interest in breast cancer genetics among 'Tu Historia Cuenta' study participants (N=1,042) overall and by recruitment area.

Interest and awareness, N (%)	Overall	Los Angeles	Sacramento	San Francisco	P-value
Number of Participants	1,042 (100)	530 (50.9)	264 (25.3)	248 (23.8)	
Interest in learning about genetics and BC					
No Interest	14 (1.3)	11 (2.1)	0 (0.0)	3 (1.2)	< 0.001
Some Interest	220 (21.1)	149 (28.1)	23 (8.7)	48 (19.4)	
Very Interested	801 (76.9)	364 (68.7)	240 (90.9)	197(79.4)	
Missing	7 (0.7)	6 (1.1)	1 (0.4)	0 (0.0)	
Genetic Testing Awareness					
Yes	489 (46.9)	224 (42.3)	109 (41.3)	156 (62.9)	< 0.001
No	544 (52.2)	297 (56.0)	155 (58.7)	92(37.1)	
Missing	9 (0.9)	9 (1.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Cancer Screening					
Breast Cancer Screening (Ages 40 to 74)	636	356	160	120	
Up to date with mammogram (<2 years ago)	357 (56.1)	187 (52.5)	97 (60.6)	73 (60.8)	0.200
Due for mammogram (never or 2+ years ago)	272 (42.8)	162 (45.5)	63 (39.4)	47 (39.2)	
Missing	7 (1.1)	7 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Connected to EWC Program (of those due for mammogram)	64 (23.5)	53 (32.7)	10 (15.9)	1 (2.1)	< 0.001
Cervical Cancer Screening (Ages 21 to 65)	1012	512	261	239	
Ever had a pap smear	831 (82.1)	380 (74.2)	233 (89.3)	218(91.2)	< 0.001
Up to date with pap smear	742 (73.3)	332 (64.8)	207 (79.3)	203 (84.9)	0.103
Due for Pap. Test (never or 3+ years ago)	250 (24.7)	165 (32.2)	52 (19.9)	33 (13.8)	
Missing	19 (1.9)	14 (2.7)	2 (0.8)	3 (1.3)	
Colorectal Cancer Screening (Age 50+)	264	158	56	50	
Up to date with colonoscopy	62 (23.5)	33 (20.9)	14 (25.0)	15 (30.0)	0.355
Due for colonoscopy	189 (71.6)	116 (73.4)	42 (75.0)	31 (62.0)	
Missing	13 (4.9)	9 (5.7)	0 (0.0)	4 (8.0)	

older obtained colorectal cancer screenings, followed by 25% of participants in Sacramento and 20.9% in Los Angeles County (Table 2).

Demographic characteristics and cancer screening behavior

Participant's age, years residing in the United States, English language proficiency level, health insurance status, educational attainment, and number of residents in the household were all associated with screening behavior (Table 3). In general, screening was more common among bilingual participants with health insurance and formal education. Educational attainment was strongly associated with colorectal cancer screening, with up to 52% of individuals with a university degree reporting colorectal cancer screening compared to 21% of those with only elementary education and 0% of those with no formal education (Table 3). Education was also associated with cervical cancer screening; the largest proportion of women reporting never having had a Papanicolaou test were those with no formal education (29%) (Table 3). English proficiency and insurance status were associated

with breast cancer screening; the lowest proportion of current mammograms was reported by monolingual Spanish speakers (42%) and the highest among those with private health insurance (72%) (Table 3).

Multiple factors were associated with mammography screening behavior in multivariate analysis. Age, educational attainment, English fluency and having private insurance were positively associated with being up-to-date with screening (Table 4). Additionally, program participants from Sacramento were approximately 2-fold more likely to be current with mammography screening in adjusted models compared to those from Los Angeles County (P-value 0.008)

Cervical cancer screening behavior was statistically significantly different when comparing participants in Los Angeles County to those in the Northern California cities, with the latter having a higher relative risk of being up to date (P-value <0.001) (Table 5). Participants with private insurance were 3.7 times more likely to be up to date with cervical cancer screening compared to those without health insurance (P-value 0.001).

Colorectal cancer screening behavior was statistically significantly different when comparing education attainment, with those with a high school education or higher having 6.4

Variable	Mammogr		phy Screening*Mean (SD) Cervical or N (%)) Cervical Cancer Screening*Mean (SD) or N (%) S) Colorectal Cancer Screening*Mean (SD) or N (%)				
	Up to Date	>2 years	Never	P- value	Up to Date	>3 years	Never	P- value	Yes	No	P- value
	357 (56)	109 (17)	163 (26)		742 (73)	88 (8)	162 (16)		62 (24)	189 (72)	
Age, years	50.5 (7.3)	51.3 (7.7)	45.5 (6.7)	< 0.001	42.2 (9.2)	43.7 (8.2)	42.2 (10.8)	0.360	57 (6)	56 (6)	0.312
Year in United States	23.2 (9.6)	21.0 (9.7)	19.0 (8.5)	< 0.001	18.2 (8.9)	20.7 (10.0)	18.4 (11.0)	0.113	28 (10)	24 (10)	0.010
Place of birth											
Foreign-born*	316 (57)	95 (17)	139 (25)	0.91	652 (76%)	71 (8)	131 (15)	0.077	54 (24%)	169 (76)	0.43
US-born	28 (56)	8 (16)	14 (28)		65 (66%)	10 (10)	23 (23)		7 (35%)	13 (65)	
missing	13 (45)	6 (21)	10 (34)		25 (62%)	7 (18)	8 (20)		1 (12%)	7 (88)	
English Language Proficiency											
Monolingual Spanish Speaker	45 (42)	22 (21)	39 (37)	0.015	114 (68)	16 (10)	38 (23)	0.003	7 (15)	41 (85)	0.01
Limited English Use	130 (59)	43 (20)	46 (21)		235 (75)	36 (12)	41 (13)		22 (24)	68 (76)	
Conversational	132 (58)	35 (15)	59 (26)		294 (80)	22 (6)	51 (14)		18 (22)	63 (78)	
Fully Bilingual	49 (64)	8 (11)	19 (25)		97 (68)	14 (10)	32 (22)		15 (47)	17 (53)	
Missing data	1 (50)	1 (50)	0 (0)		2 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)		0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Health Insurance											
No Insurance	104 (47)	45 (20)	73 (33)	< 0.001	240 (67)	49 (14)	68 (19)	< 0.001	11 (14)	67 (86)	0.013
Public	183 (60)	47 (15)	76 (25)		381 (77)	31 (6)	84 (17)		34 (27)	92 (73)	
Private	69 (72)	14 (15)	13 (14)		117 (87)	8 (6)	10 (7)		17 (37)	29 (63)	
Missing data	1 (20)	3 (60)	1 (20)		4 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)		0 (0)	1 (100)	
Educational Attainment											
No school	22 (44)	11 (22)	17 (34)	0.410	36 (64)	4 (7)	16 (29)	0.030	0 (0)	36 (100)	< 0.001
Elementary School	84 (58)	19 (13)	42 (29)		167 (74)	16 (7)	43 (19)		12 (21)	45 (79)	
Middle School	51 (51)	23 (23)	26 (26)		128 (76)	19 (11)	21 (12)		4 (12)	30 (88)	
High School	117 (60)	31 (16)	47 (24)		255 (79)	27 (8)	40 (12)		19 (30)	44 (70)	
Associate Degree	45 (60)	13 (17)	17 (23)		81 (69)	16 (14)	21 (18)		12 (38)	20 (62)	
University	38 (63)	10 (17)	12 (20)		68 (73)	6 (6)	19 (20)		15 (52)	14 (48)	
Missing data	0 (0)	2 (50)	2 (50)		7 (78)	0 (0)	2 (22)		0 (0)	0 (0)	
Number of People in Household	4.08 (1.8)	3.91 (1.8)	4.6 (1.7)	0.003	4.3 (1.9)	4.4 (1.9)	4.2 (1.9)	0.703	3 (2)	4 (2)	<0.001

TABLE 3 Cancer Screening behavior among Tu Historia Cuenta' study participants by demographic variables.

*The sample sizes for each screening rate is based on women who answered the survey between targeted age groups: Mammography screening 40-74 years, Cervical cancer screening 21-65 years and Colorectal cancer screening ages 50+

times the odds of being up to date compared to those with no schooling (P-value 0.001) (Table 6). In addition, living in a houseful with more people was negatively associated with being current with screening (P-value 0.042).

Breast cancer family history survey results

We used a previously validated family history survey to identify women with strong breast cancer family histories (51).

We obtained a preliminary score and for individuals with scores of 6 or higher, we re-contacted participants to confirm their answers to the survey. THC originally identified 178 participants with a breast cancer family history score of 6 or greater (the 'strong breast cancer family history' category). After confirmation by the promotores, the scores changed as follows: 62 participants maintained a strong breast cancer family history score of 6+, 43 participants moved down to the 'limited family history' category (scores between 2 and 4), and 73 participants moved to the 'no family history' category (score of 0) (Table 7). Reasons for moving categories included:

TABLE 4 Multivariate multinomial logistic regression model testing the association between breast cancer screening behavior and demographic factors among 'Tu Historia Cuenta' participants ages 40 to 74 (N=587, 42 excluded from 629 due to missing data).

Variable	RRR*	L95%CI	H95%CI	P-value
Never had mammography (reference)				
Mammography up to date				
Age	1.17	1.12	1.22	< 0.001
Years residing in the US	0.98	0.95	1.01	0.175
Immigration status (US born vs. foreign born)	0.95	0.34	2.61	0.917
Educational Attainment (ref: no schooling)				
Elementary	2.56	1.00	6.53	0.050
Middle school	1.54	0.52	4.53	0.435
High school	3.00	1.10	8.20	0.032
Associate degree	2.07	0.66	6.48	0.211
University degree	2.28	0.68	7.62	0.182
Region of residence (ref: Los Angeles)				
Sacramento	2.16	1.23	3.81	0.008
San Francisco	1.08	0.58	2.03	0.801
Insurance Status (ref: no insurance)				
Public	1.58	0.98	2.57	0.062
Private	3.19	1.46	6.98	0.004
English Fluency (ref: monolingual)				
Limited English Use	2.38	1.14	4.99	0.021
Conversational	2.16	1.10	4.25	0.026
Fully Bilingual	1.84	0.69	4.91	0.225
Number of people in the household	0.90	0.78	1.02	0.102
Mammography more than 2 years ago				
Age	1.18	1.12	1.25	< 0.001
Years in the US	0.97	0.94	1.01	0.118
Immigration status	0.94	0.23	3.79	0.927
Educational Attainment (ref: no schooling)				
Elementary	1.41	0.45	4.48	0.555
Middle school	2.05	0.55	7.63	0.283
High school	2.38	0.69	8.25	0.171
Associate degree	2.43	0.60	9.84	0.214
University degree	2.13	0.48	9.49	0.319
Region of residence (ref: Los Angeles)				
Sacramento	2.33	1.14	4.75	0.020
San Francisco	0.84	0.36	1.94	0.678
Insurance Status (ref: no insurance)				
Public	0.99	0.54	1.84	0.987
Private	1.63	0.61	4.33	0.329
English Fluency (ref: monolingual Spanish)				
Limited English Use	1.60	0.65	3.98	0.307
Conversational	1.18	0.51	2.76	0.694
Fully Bilingual	0.42	0.10	1.71	0.226
Number of people in the household	0.84	0.70	0.99	0.039

*Relative Risk Ratio.

typographical errors when providing answers, answers including distant relatives, confusion between ovarian and cervical cancers, and responses based on other cancer types not linked to breast cancer risk. Among the participants with a confirmed strong family history score (6+) (N=62), 7 (11.3%) had received genetic counseling before participating in THC, 8 (12.9%) reported having been diagnosed with breast cancer before the age of 50

TABLE 5 Multivariate multinomial logistic regression model testing the association between cervical cancer screening behavior and demographic factors among 'Tu Historia Cuenta' participants ages 21 to 65 (N=932, 80 excluded from 1012 due to missing data).

Variable	RRR*	L95%	H95%	P-Value			
Never had cervical cancer screening	Reference						
Cervical cancer screening up to date							
Age	1.00	0.98	1.03	0.929			
Years residing in the US	1.01	0.99	1.04	0.314			
Immigration status (US born vs. foreign born)	0.56	0.26	1.23	0.150			
Educational Attainment (ref: no schooling)							
Elementary	1.37	0.64	2.93	0.424			
Middle school	1.37	0.56	3.40	0.492			
High school	2.03	0.88	4.70	0.099			
Associate degree	1.24	0.48	3.20	0.663			
University degree	1.31	0.50	3.41	0.583			
Region of residence (ref: Los Angeles)							
Sacramento	2.57	1.56	4.22	< 0.001			
San Francisco	3.71	2.05	6.71	< 0.001			
Insurance Status (ref: no insurance)							
Public	1.06	0.70	1.62	0.776			
Private	3.73	1.67	8.34	0.001			
English Fluency (ref: monolingual)							
Limited English Use	1.21	0.65	2.28	0.548			
Conversational	1.46	0.83	2.55	0.184			
Fully Bilingual	0.64	0.29	1.40	0.264			
Number of people in the household	1.06	0.96	1.17	0.259			
Cervical cancer screening 3 years ago							
Age	1.02	0.98	1.06	0.419			
Years residing in the US	1.03	0.99	1.07	0.158			
Immigration status (US born vs. foreign born)	0.55	0.17	1.80	0.324			
Educational Attainment (ref: no schooling)							
Elementary	1.16	0.30	4.49	0.828			
Middle school	2.26	0.51	9.96	0.281			
High school	2.82	0.69	11.54	0.150			
Associate degree	3.65	0.80	16.73	0.095			
University degree	1.41	0.27	7.24	0.683			
Region of residence (ref: Los Angeles)							
Sacramento	2.58	1.27	5.26	0.009			
San Francisco	3.20	1.32	7.74	0.010			
Insurance Status (ref: no insurance)							
Public	0.36	0.19	0.69	0.002			
Private	0.77	0.25	2.33	0.638			
English Fluency (ref: monolingual)							
Limited English Use	1.25	0.48	3.22	0.645			
Conversational	0.86	0.35	2.13	0.747			
Fully Bilingual	0.78	0.23	2.57	0.678			
Number of people in the household	1.13	0.98	1.30	0.088			

*Relative Risk Ratio.

years, and one woman (1.6%) after the age of 50 years. Among the 43 participants originally identified as 6+ that moved to the 'limited family history' category, 3 (7%) reported a breast cancer diagnosis after age 50 years (Table 7). No participants had breast cancer diagnosed in both breasts. Among participants whose original breast cancer family history score was less than 6, 7 (0.9%) women reported being diagnosed with breast cancer before the age of 50 years, and 4 (0.5%) women after the age of 50 years. Overall, there were 23 participants (2.5%) who reported a personal history of TABLE 6 Multivariate logistic regression model testing the association between colorectal screening behavior and demographic factors among 'Tu Historia Cuenta' participants ages 50+ (N=240, 24 excluded from 264 due to missing data).

Never Colonoscopy as reference	OR	L95%	H95%	P-Value
Age	1.04	0.98	1.11	0.165
Years residing in the US	1.00	0.97	1.03	0.882
Immigration status (US born vs. foreign born)	0.98	0.24	3.98	0.980
Educational Attainment (ref: no schooling)				
Less than High School	2.78	1.24	6.47	0.015
High School or more	6.40	2.21	19.37	0.001
Region of residence (ref: Los Angeles)				
Sacramento	1.24	0.52	2.93	0.621
San Francisco	0.99	0.40	2.37	0.974
Insurance Status (ref: no insurance)				
Public	1.24	0.52	2.93	0.621
Private	0.99	0.40	2.37	0.974
English Fluency (ref: monolingual)				
Limited English Use	0.79	0.26	2.54	0.681
Conversational	1.02	0.35	3.14	0.971
Fully Bilingual	1.47	0.39	5.83	0.571
Number of people in the household	0.81	0.66	0.99	0.042

breast cancer, 15 with a diagnosis before the age of 50 years. Follow-up and navigation into genetic counseling and testing for women with a confirmed score of 6 + is currently underway.

Demographic characteristics by family history survey results

Place of birth and educational attainment both were associated with the breast cancer family history score, with a larger proportion of U.S.-born individuals in the 6+ category (strong breast cancer family history) (15%) compared to foreignborn individuals (6%). Furthermore, the proportion of 6+ score individuals was higher among those with a university degree (16%) compared to women with lower level of educational attainment (4-9%) (Table 8).

Feedback survey

Of the participants, 525 (50.3%) responded to the anonymous feedback survey (Table 9). Most of these participants found the educational materials useful when learning about hereditary breast cancer and stated that they would share the information learned from this workshop with

TABLE 7 Breast cancer family history score and personal history of breast cancer by post confirmation score, among individuals originally placed in the 'Strong Family History' category.

	Original	Original Family History Score <6		
New confirmed score	No Family History (0)	Limited Family History (2-4)	Strong Family History (6+)	
	N=73	N=43	N=62	N=756
Received Genetic Coun	seling prior to THC			
Yes	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	7 (11.3)	0 (0.0)
No	73 (100.0)	43 (100.0)	54 (87.1)	756 (100%)
Unsure	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.6)	0 (0.0)
Breast Cancer before 5	0 (self)			
Yes	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	8 (12.9)	7 (0.9)
No	73 (100.0)	43 (100.0)	54 (87.1)	749 (99.1)
Breast Cancer at 50+ (s	self)			
Yes	0 (0.0)	3 (7.0)	1 (1.6)	4 (0.5)
No	73 (100.0)	40 (93.0)	61 (98.4)	752 (99.5)

	Family History ScoreMean (SD) or N** (%)					
Variable	Strong (6+)	None & Limited(0-4)	P-value			
	60 (7)	800 (92)				
Age, years	45.1 (10.1)	42.7 (10.2)	0.09			
Year in United States	20.9 (9.9)	18.6 (9.6)	0.12			
Place of birth						
Foreign-born*	46 (6)	687 (94)	0.005			
US-born	13 (15)	73 (85)				
missing	1 (2)	40 (98)				
English Language Proficiency						
Monolingual Spanish Speaker	9 (6)	152 (94)	0.17			
Limited English Use	26 (10)	245 (90)				
Conversational	16 (5)	293 (95)				
Fully Bilingual	9 (8)	106 (92)				
Missing data	0 (0)	4 (100)				
Health Insurance						
No Insurance	23 (7)	303 (93)	0.17			
Public	25 (6)	395 (94)				
Private	12 (11)	96 (89)				
Missing data	0 (0)	6 (100)				
Educational Attainment						
No school	3 (5)	55 (95)	0.019			
Elementary School	13 (7)	179 (93)				
Middle School	10 (7)	130 (93)				
High School	12 (4)	263 (96)				
Associate Degree	9 (9)	93 (91)				
University	13 (16)	69 (84)				
Missing data	0 (0)	11 (100)				
Number of People in Household	4.2 (1.5)	4.3 (2.0)	0.226			

TABLE 8 Breast Cancer Family History among 'Tu Historia Cuenta' study participants by demographic variables.

*This includes individuals who were foreign born or moved to the US before 1 year of age.

**N=860, which is 31 less than all participants with family history information due to only 860 participants having their family history confirmed up to this time.

friends and family (97.7% and 94.9%, respectively). Additionally, individuals expressed interest in obtaining more information from their family about their cancer history (93%), and 64.4% responded that they would look for further information on the internet to learn more about breast cancer. Overall, individuals felt comfortable asking questions during the workshop and felt satisfied in the manner that their questions were answered (98.5%, 99.1%, respectively) (Table 9).

Participants were surveyed regarding which topics they found confusing. Half of the participants did not report confusing topics. Thirteen percent of participants reported that they were confused about the concept of the *BRCA*1/2 genes and 7.8% about the increased risk of breast cancer when carrying a *BRCA* mutation. Other concepts covered by the program (e.g., definition of cancer, benign disease, disease stage) were still unclear by the end of the session for 4-5.5% of participants who responded (Table 9).

Discussion

Tools to screen for breast cancer are important to diagnose cases early and improve outcomes (54). Disparities in breast cancer stage at diagnosis and risk of mortality between H/L and NHW women are partly due to the economic, educational, language, cultural and health care access barriers faced by members of the H/L community (3, 4). With improvement of genetic screening tools, the H/L community is at risk of being left further behind if programs are not in place to help with access and understanding of these opportunities for prevention (18, 19).

The goal of this study was to describe the results of a hereditary breast cancer outreach and education program for Spanish-speaking H/L in California and highlight the need for additional efforts to help the community move from awareness and understanding to screening and prevention.

TABLE 9 'Tu Historia Cuenta' education session feedback survey responses (N=525).

Question	N (%)
Video and discussion were useful to learn about hereditary BC	
Yes	463 (97.7
Somewhat useful	11 (2.3)
Prior awareness about hereditary genetic risk for BC	
Yes	208 (43.9
No	266 (56.1
Will try to obtain more information from family members about cancer history	
Yes	442 (93.2
No	6 (1.3)
Unsure	26 (5.5)
Will look for information on the internet to learn more about breast cancer	
Yes	302 (64.4
No	124 (26.4
Unsure	43 (9.2)
Will share the information learned from this workshop with friends and family	
Yes	445 (94.9
No	5 (1.1)
Maybe	19 (4.1)
Felt comfortable asking questions during the workshop	
Yes	463 (98.5
Somewhat comfortable	7 (1.5)
Felt satisfied in the manner questions were answered	
Yes	464 (99.1
No	3 (0.6)
More or Less	1 (0.2)
The activities conducted during the session were:	
Fundamental	372 (79.5
Enlightening	90 (19.2)
Unnecessary	6 (1.3)
Concepts that were still confusing after the session	
None	268 (51.0
Cancer definition	12(4.4)
Difference between benign and malignant tumor	12 (4.4)
Difference between common and hereditary breast cancer	29 (5.5)
Difference between early and advanced stages of breast cancer	21 (4.0)
What a mutation is and how is the mutation hereditary	29 (5.5)
BRCA1/2 Genes	68 (12.9)
Increased risk of breast cancer when there is a BRCA mutation	41 (7.8)
Early detection practices and preventative measures to control BC risk	23 (4.4)

The THC program's target population was Spanish-speaking H/L women in three California cities and surrounding areas (San Francisco, Sacramento, and Los Angeles), who due to their limited English proficiency, socioeconomic and health insurance status, and cultural barriers, might not have access to adequate information and resources for breast cancer prevention, particularly, for prevention of hereditary breast cancer. The demographic characteristics of the program participants were consistent with the target population and supports the crucial role of promotores in connecting with underserved communities (34, 40, 55, 56).

We limited the program to women older than 21 years of age, and the average age for all participants was 43 years, with some variation by geographic area, with San Francisco participants being younger than those in Los Angeles and Sacramento. The difference in the average age of participants at the different locations might be a reflection of the age of promotores in the different groups, since the average age of an individual's networks is likely to be concordant with their own age. For programs working with promotores, this may be important as it helps demonstrate that promotores may recruit individuals within their social circles that resemble some of their own characteristics. Having promotores of similar age of the target population of a specific program may be important.

California's Medicaid-managed care legislation established a two-plan model in 14 counties with the largest Medicaid population (57). Medicaid recipients in these counties can choose between a local initiative and a commercial plan, with the local initiative being the state's effort to help traditional safety net providers compete to retain Medicaid patients. The Los Angeles Care Healthy Plan and the San Francisco Health Plan resulted from this initiative. San Francisco additionally has a program called Healthy San Francisco which provides access to comprehensive health services for uninsured workers and residents of San Francisco (57, 58). The addition of the comprehensive health care program in San Francisco likely explains why a smaller proportion of individuals were uninsured (9.3%) compared to Los Angeles and Sacramento (44.3% and 44.0%, respectively). The differences in health care access across the cities and the different screening rates observed suggest universal health care may play a role in reducing disparities in cancer screening rates. Additionally, a larger proportion of participants in San Francisco had graduated from high school and had a higher level of English proficiency. Adult immigrants living and working in places where others share their ethnic backgrounds may be less likely to be proficient in English (59). This may explain some of the differences observed between English proficiency levels as H/L make up 48.6% of the population in Los Angeles, 28.9% in Sacramento and 15.2% in San Francisco. The characteristics of the promotores in the three cities might also explain the differences in the demographics of participants, even though the promotores had similar educational and linguistic backgrounds.

A study of breast cancer screening among H/L age 40 years and older in San Diego County found that 76.2% of women had received a mammogram in the past 2 years (60), which is higher than the 56.1% of H/L in our study. This difference may be because 52% of the San Diego County participants had private health insurance and a smaller percent of participants were born outside of the U.S. (76.3%). In addition, our study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic which may have affected cancer screening rates (61). However, other studies have also found rates consistent with what we found. A study including Mexican-American respondents of the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) found that among women who were uninsured or had no usual source of care and were 40 years and older, 37.8-54.6% reported a mammogram in the past 2 years (62), which is consistent with the proportion in our study population. Similarly, 73.3% of women in THC were up to date with cervical cancer screening which is within the range reported for Mexican-American women in the CHIS who were uninsured or had no usual source of care (60.0-80.9%) (62). Among the THC participants who were 50 years and older, 23.5% had obtained a colorectal cancer screening; this percentage is lower compared to past studies that identified 50.2-60% of H/L California residents aged 50 years and older who had ever received colorectal cancer screening (63, 64) but is similar to findings from a Northern California catchment area population assessment (65).

The THC participants who had never obtained a mammogram reported a higher average number of household members, which is a measure that correlates with socioeconomic status, thereby suggesting that participants who never had a mammogram within the THC study may also be those in the lowest income bracket.

Participants expressed interest in learning about hereditary breast cancer and genetics despite limited knowledge at the time of registration. The proportion of participants identified as having strong family history of breast cancer (~7%), is concordant with other estimates in studies assessing breast cancer family history in unaffected women (66-68). The larger proportion of women with a high breast cancer family history score among U.S.-born (15%) compared to foreign-born participants (6%) might be due to differences in the flow of information about cancer family history in these two groups. A similar interpretation can be posed for the higher proportion of women with university degrees with strong breast cancer family history. Comparing the rate of high penetrance mutations by place of birth and reported family history of cancer could provide important information about the carrier status predictive accuracy of the breast cancer family history survey by immigration status/generation among H/L in California.

There were 116 individuals whose breast cancer family history survey scores changed after a second conversation with promotores. Over-reporting of cancer family history has been noted in previous studies (69, 70). The most common reasons for the discordance between the original survey response and that after a second contact were unintentional errors when choosing options and confusion about type of cancer in the family (e.g., ovarian vs. cervical, which has been previously described (71)). Only participants who had initially had a high family history score (greater than or equal to 6) were part of the confirmation group, which could lead to underestimation of the proportion of participants in the strong family history category.

A strength of this study was that we were able to connect to a population that is often excluded from health studies (35.8% of the study participants did not have health insurance and ~48%

were either monolingual Spanish-speakers or had limited English proficiency). Another strength was that researchers worked closely with promotores to ensure the relevance and accessibility of the study materials and process, while engaging community members to obtain their perspective and perceptions of the program (44). Due to the pandemic, all the education sessions were held virtually. Hosting sessions virtually allowed more women to participate, as usual barriers for in person education were removed (e.g., transportation, child and elderly care responsibilities).

The study has some limitations. Participants were enrolled through the work of two organizations and individuals were recruited from promotores' social circles and networks. Consequently, results from this study may not be generalizable to the overall population of Spanish-speaking H/L in San Francisco, Sacramento, and Los Angeles County. Additionally, the education program advertised learning about hereditary breast cancer, which could have influenced people to participate if they had a personal interest based on their family history of cancer. However, the percentage of individuals in the THC study identified as candidates for genetic counseling (7%) was slightly less than what has been reported for the general population of unaffected women in the U.S. (8% to 12%) (66– 68), suggesting that the study sample is not enriched for people with strong family history of breast cancer.

Overall, participants found the THC education session to be useful, and most of the participants reported willingness to share the information they acquired in the session with their friends and family. We hope the sharing of information will lead to greater awareness about hereditary breast cancer in California Spanish-speaking H/L communities.

Conclusion

The THC promotores-led outreach, education and breast cancer family history assessment program implemented in San Francisco, Sacramento, and Los Angeles in June 2020 has reached more than 1000 Spanish-speaking H/L. Since then, we have identified 62 women (7%) which based on survey responses could benefit from genetic counseling, 272 (42.8%) women due for mammograms (64 of whom we have navigated to the EWC program), 250 (24.7%) due for Papanicolaou test, and 189 (71.6%) due for colorectal cancer screening. Follow-up of the THC participants who were referred to and/or navigated to genetic counseling and testing will be important to assess the long-term impact of the program on the prevention of advanced breast cancer diagnosis among Spanish-speaking H/L with strong family history of the disease.

The results from the THC study highlight the need for additional programs targeted to this underserved population in order to spread awareness about cancer risk and facilitate access to resources for prevention.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of California, Davis IRB. The patients/ participants provided their verbal informed consent to participate in this study. The current study is not subject to HIPAA rules and therefore waived from written informed consent requirements.

Author contributions

LT performed the statistical analysis and wrote the manuscript. LF conceived and designed the study and provided overall supervision of data analyses and manuscript writing. YD contributed to the conception and design of the study and to manuscript revision. FP controlled the quality of the data, organized the database, and contributed to manuscript revision. MH and AM supervised data collection. XH and VZ contributed to data curation and manuscript revision. EZ, SN, and LC-C contributed to manuscript revisions. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

EZ, SN, LGC-C and LF received support from the California Initiative to Advance Precision Medicine (contract OPR18111). LF receives support from the National Cancer Institute (R01CA204797). LGC-C cancer health disparities and community engagement efforts receive support from the NCI (P30CA093373, U54CA233306 and R01CA223978), National Center for Advancing Translational Science (UL1TR001860), the Heart, BrEast and BrAin HeaLth Equity Research (HEAL-HER) Program and the Auburn Community Cancer Endowed Chair in Basic Science. The opinions expressed in this article are the author's own and do not reflect the view of the National Institutes of Health, the Department of Health and Human Services, or the United States government.

Acknowledgments

We want to thank the 'Tu Historia Cuenta' participants for taking the time to attend educational sessions and respond to study surveys. In addition, this study would not have been possible without the passion, resilience and energy of the promotores who faced and overcame the difficulties of
implementing a virtual outreach and education hereditary breast cancer program in the middle of the Covid19 pandemic.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, et al. *SEER cancer statistics review*, 1975-2018. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute (2021). Available at: https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2018/

2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA: Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(1):7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654

3. Miller KD, Ortiz AP, Pinheiro PS, Bandi P, Minihan A, Fuchs HE, et al. Cancer statistics for the US Hispanic/Latino population, 2021. CA: A Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(6):466–87. doi: 10.3322/caac.21695

4. Velasco-Mondragon E, Jimenez A, Palladino-Davis AG, Davis D, Escamilla-Cejudo JA. Hispanic Health in the USA: a scoping review of the literature. *Public Health Rev* (2016) 37(1):1–27. doi: 10.1186/s40985-016-0043-2

5. Szalacha LA, Kue J, Menon U. Knowledge and beliefs regarding breast and cervical cancer screening among Mexican-heritage latinas. *Cancer Nurs* (2017) 40 (5):420–7. doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000423

6. Hendrick RE, Monticciolo DL, Biggs KW, Malak SF. Age distributions of breast cancer diagnosis and mortality by race and ethnicity in US women. *Cancer* (2021) 127(23):4384–92. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33846

7. Lynce F, Graves KD, Jandorf L, Ricker C, Castro E, Moreno L, et al. Genomic disparities in breast cancer among latinas. *Cancer Control* (2016) 23(4):359–72. doi: 10.1177/107327481602300407

8. Mehrgou A, Akouchekian M. The importance of BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes mutations in breast cancer development. *Med J Islamic Republic Iran* (2016) 30:369.

9. Drohan B, Roche CA, Cusack JC, Hughes KS. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer and other hereditary syndromes: Using technology to identify carriers. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2012) 19(6):1732–7. doi: 10.1245/s10434-012-2257-y

10. Mai PL, Vadaparampil ST, Breen N, Mcneel TS, Wideroff L, Graubard BI. Awareness of cancer susceptibility genetic testing. *Am J Prev Med* (2014) 46 (5):440–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.002

11. Rosenberg SM, Ruddy KJ, Tamimi RM, Gelber S, Schapira L, Come S, et al. BRCA1andBRCA2Mutation testing in young women with breast cancer. *JAMA Oncol* (2016) 2(6):730. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.5941

12. Daly B, Olopade OI. A perfect storm: How tumor biology, genomics, and health care delivery patterns collide to create a racial survival disparity in breast cancer and proposed interventions for change. *CA: A Cancer J Clin* (2015) 65 (3):221–38. doi: 10.3322/caac.21271

13. Vadaparampil ST, Moreno Botero L, Fuzzell L, Garcia J, Jandorf L, Hurtado-De-Mendoza A, et al. Development and pilot testing of a training for bilingual community education professionals about hereditary breast and ovarian cancer among latinas: ÁRBOLES familiares. *Trans Behav Med* (2021) 12(2):90–9. doi: 10.1093/tbm/jbab093

14. Watson M, Kash K, Homewood J, Ebbs S, Murday V, Eeles R. Does genetic counseling have any impact on management of breast cancer risk? *Genet Testing* (2005) 9(2):167–74. doi: 10.1089/gte.2005.9.167

15. Domchek SM, Friebel TM, Singer CF, Evans DG, Lynch HT, Isaacs C, et al. Association of risk-reducing surgery in BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation carriers with cancer risk and mortality. *Jama* (2010) 304(9):967–75. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1237

16. Domchek SM, Rebbeck TR. Preventive surgery is associated with reduced cancer risk and mortality in women with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *LDI issue Brief* (2010) 16(2):1–4.

17. Daly MB, Pilarski R, Yurgelun MB, Berry MP, Buys SS, Dickson P, et al. NCCN guidelines insights: Genetic/familial high-risk assessment: Breast, ovarian, and pancreatic, version 1.2020: featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J Natl Compr Cancer Network (2020) 18(4):380–91. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2020.0017

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

18. Dean M, Boland J, Yeager M, Im KM, Garland L, Rodriguez-Herrera M, et al. Addressing health disparities in Hispanic breast cancer: Accurate and inexpensive sequencing of BRCA1 and BRCA2. *GigaScience* (2015) 4(1):2–12. doi: 10.1186/s13742-015-0088-z

19. Power EJ, Chin ML, Haq MM. Breast cancer incidence and risk reduction in the Hispanic population. *Cureus* (2018) 10(2):1–12. doi: 10.7759/cureus.2235

20. Habin K. Disparities in cancer genetic risk assessment and testing. Oncol Nurs Forum (2016) 43(4):519–23. doi: 10.1188/16.ONF.519-523

21. Kinney AY, Gammon A, Coxworth J, Simonsen SE, Arce-Laretta M. Exploring attitudes, beliefs, and communication preferences of Latino community members regarding BRCA1/2 mutation testing and preventive strategies. *Genet Med* (2010) 12(2):105–15. doi: 10.1097/GIM.0b013e3181c9af2d

22. Gammon AD, Rothwell E, Simmons R, Lowery JT, Ballinger L, Hill DA, et al. Awareness and preferences regarding BRCA1/2 genetic counseling and testing among latinas and non-latina white women at increased risk for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer. *J Genet Couns* (2011) 20(6):625–38. doi: 10.1007/s10897-011-9376-7

23. Anderson EE, Tejeda S, Childers K, Stolley MR, Warnecke RB, Hoskins KF. Breast cancer risk assessment among low-income women of color in primary care: A pilot study. *J Oncol Pract* (2015) 11(4):e460-e7. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2014.003558

24. Gómez-Trillos S, Sheppard VB, Graves KD, Song M, Anderson L, Ostrove N, et al. Latinas' knowledge of and experiences with genetic cancer risk assessment: Barriers and facilitators. *J Genet Couns* (2020) 29(4):505–17. doi: 10.1002/jgc4.1201

25. Conley CC, Castro-Figueroa EM, Moreno L, Dutil J, García JD, Burgos C, et al. A pilot randomized trial of an educational intervention to increase genetic counseling and genetic testing among latina breast cancer survivors. *J Genet Couns* (2021) 30(2):394–405. doi: 10.1002/jgc4.1324

26. Cragun D, Weidner A, Lewis C, Bonner D, Kim J, Vadaparampil ST, et al. Racial disparities in BRCA testing and cancer risk management across a population-based sample of young breast cancer survivors. *Cancer* (2017) 123 (13):2497–505. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30621

27. Jagsi R, Griffith KA, Kurian AW, Morrow M, Hamilton AS, Graff JJ, et al. Concerns about cancer risk and experiences with genetic testing in a diverse population of patients with breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2015) 33(14):1584. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.5885

28. Guo F, Hirth JM, Fuchs EL, Cofie LE, Brown V, Kuo Y-F, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, willingness to pay, and patient preferences about genetic testing and subsequent risk management for cancer prevention. *J Cancer Educ* (2020) 37 (2):362–9. doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01823-0

29. Pasick RJ, Joseph G, Stewart S, Kaplan C, Lee R, Luce J, et al. Effective referral of low-income women at risk for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer to genetic counseling: A randomized delayed intervention control trial. *Am J Public Health* (2016) 106(10):1842–8. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303312

30. Rhodes SD, Foley KL, Zometa CS, Bloom FR. Lay health advisor interventions among Hispanics/Latinos: A qualitative systematic review. *Am J Prev Med* (2007) 33(5):418–27. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.07.023

31. Nuño T, Martinez ME, Harris R, García F. A promotora-administered group education intervention to promote breast and cervical cancer screening in a rural community along the US-Mexico border: A randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Causes Control* (2011) 22(3):367–74. doi: 10.1007/s10552-010-9705-4

32. Albarran CR, Heilemann MV, Koniak-Griffin D. Promotoras as facilitators of change: Latinas' perspectives after participating in a lifestyle behaviour intervention program. *J advanced Nurs* (2014) 70(10):2303–13. doi: 10.1111/jan.12383

33. Martínez-Donate AP. Using lay health advisors to promote breast and cervical cancer screening among latinas: a review. *WMJ* (2009) 108(5):259–62.

34. Findley S, Matos S. Bridging the gap: How community health workers promote the health of immigrants. New York: Oxford University Press (2015).

35. Larkey LK, Herman PM, Roe DJ, Garcia F, Lopez A, Gonzalez J, et al. A cancer screening intervention for underserved latina women by lay educators. *J women's Health* (2012) 21(5):557–66. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2011.3087

36. Reinschmidt KM, Hunter JB, Fernandez ML, Lacy-Martínez CR, Guernsey de Zapien J, Meister J. Understanding the success of promotoras in increasing chronic diseases screening. J Health Care Poor Underserved (2006) 17(2):256–64. doi: 10.1353/hpu.2006.0066

37. Livaudais JC, Coronado GD, Espinoza N, Islas I, Ibarra G, Thompson B. Educating Hispanic women about breast cancer prevention: evaluation of a homebased promotora-led intervention. *J women's Health* (2010) 19(11):2049–56. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2009.1733

38. Thompson B, Carosso EA, Jhingan E, Wang L, Holte SE, Byrd TL, et al. Results of a randomized controlled trial to increase cervical cancer screening among rural latinas. *Cancer* (2017) 123(4):666–74. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30399

39. Molina Y, Pichardo CM, Patrick DL, Ramsey SD, Bishop S, Beresford PhD SA, et al. Estimating the costs and cost-effectiveness of promoting mammography screening among US-based latinas. J Health Disparities Res Pract (2018) 12(6):10.

40. Hand T, Rosseau NA, Stiles CE, Sheih T, Ghandakly E, Oluwasanu M, et al. The global role, impact, and limitations of community health workers (CHWs) in breast cancer screening: A scoping review and recommendations to promote health equity for all. *Global Health Action* (2021) 14(1):1883336. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2021.1883336

41. Scherr C L, Vasquez E P, Quinn G, T Vadaparampil S. Genetic counseling for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer among Puerto Rican women living in the united states. *Rev Recent Clin trials* (2014) 9(4):245–53. doi: 10.2174/1574887110666150127110314

42. Hurtado-De-Mendoza A, Graves K, Gómez-Trillos S, Anderson L, Campos C, Evans C, et al. Provider's perceptions of barriers and facilitators for latinas to participate in genetic cancer risk assessment for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer. *Healthcare* (2018) 6(3):116. doi: 10.3390/healthcare6030116

43. Pagán JA, Su D, Li L, Armstrong K, Asch DA. Racial and ethnic disparities in awareness of genetic testing for cancer risk. *Am J Prev Med* (2009) 37(6):524–30. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.07.021

44. Almeida R, Lopez-Macha A, Dugatkin T, Joseph G, Duron Y, Hurtado De Mendoza A, et al. Community research collaboration to develop a promotoresbased hereditary breast cancer education program for Spanish-speaking latinas. *Health Educ Res* (2021) 36(3):319–36. doi: 10.1093/her/cyab011

45. Compromiso vy . Available at: https://visionycompromiso.org/.

46. Promotersforbetterhealth. Available at: https://www.promotersforbetter health.org/.

47. Joseph G, Kaplan C, Luce J, Lee R, Stewart S, Guerra C, et al. Efficient identification and referral of low-income women at high risk for hereditary breast cancer: A practice-based approach. *Public Health Genomics* (2012) 15(3-4):172–80. doi: 10.1159/000336419

48. Bellcross CA, Lemke AA, Pape LS, Tess AL, Meisner LT. Evaluation of a breast/ovarian cancer genetics referral screening tool in a mammography population. *Genet Med* (2009) 11(11):783–9. doi: 10.1097/GIM.0b013e3181b9b04a

49. Teller P, Hoskins KF, Zwaagstra A, Stanislaw C, Iyengar R, Green VL, et al. Validation of the pedigree assessment tool (PAT) in families with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2010) 17(1):240–6. doi: 10.1245/s10434-009-0697-9

50. Hampel H, Bennett RL, Buchanan A, Pearlman R, Wiesner GL. A practice guideline from the American college of medical genetics and genomics and the national society of genetic counselors: Referral indications for cancer predisposition assessment. *Genet Med* (2015) 17(1):70–87. doi: 10.1038/gim.2014.147

51. Stewart SL, Kaplan CP, Lee R, Joseph G, Karliner L, Livaudais-Toman J, et al. Validation of an efficient screening tool to identify low-income women at high risk for hereditary breast cancer. *Public Health Genomics* (2016) 19(6):342–51. doi: 10.1159/000452095

52. Team R. RStudio: Integrated development environment for r. Boston, MA: RStudio, PBC (2021).

53. Hayashi T, Farrell MA, Chaput LA, Rocha DA, Hernandez M. Lifestyle intervention, behavioral changes, and improvement in cardiovascular risk profiles in the California WISEWOMAN project. *J women's Health* (2010) 19(6):1129–38. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2009.1631

54. Barba D, León-Sosa A, Lugo P, Suquillo D, Torres F, Surre F, et al. Breast cancer, screening and diagnostic tools: All you need to know. *Crit Rev Oncol/ Hematol* (2021) 157:103174. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103174

55. Lloyd J, Davis R, Moses K. Recognizing and sustaining the value of community health workers and promotores Vol. 13. Center for Health Care Strategies, Inc. (2020).

56. Viswanathan M, Kraschnewski J, Nishikawa B, Morgan LC, Thieda P, Honeycutt A, et al. Outcomes of community health worker interventions. *Evidence report/technol Assess* (2009) 181):1–144. A1.

57. Jacobs K, Lucia L. Universal health care: Lessons from San Francisco. *Health Affairs* (2018) 37(9):1375–82. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0432

58. Katz MH, Brigham TM. Transforming a traditional safety net into a coordinated care system: Lessons from healthy San Francisco. *Health Affairs* (2011) 30(2):237–45. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0003

59. Beckhusen J, Florax RJGM, De Graaff T, Poot J, Waldorf B. Living and working in ethnic enclaves: English language proficiency of immigrants in US metropolitan areas. *Papers Regional Sci* (2013) 92(2):305–28. doi: 10.1111/pirs.12023

60. Castañeda SF, Malcarne VL, Foster-Fishman PG, Davidson WS, Mumman MK, Riley N, et al. Health care access and breast cancer screening among latinas along the California–Mexican border. *J Immigrant Minority Health* (2014) 16 (4):670–81. doi: 10.1007/s10903-013-9938-x

61. Velazquez AI, Hayward JH, Gregory B, Dixit N. Trends in breast cancer screening in a safety-net hospital during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Network Open* (2021) 4(8):e2119929-e. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.19929

62. Breen N, Rao SR, Meissner HI. Immigration, health care access, and recent cancer tests among Mexican-americans in California. *J Immigrant Minority Health* (2010) 12(4):433–44. doi: 10.1007/s10903-008-9198-3

63. Maxwell AE, Crespi CM. Trends in colorectal cancer screening utilization among ethnic groups in California: Are we closing the gap? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2009) 18(3):752–9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0608

 Walsh JME, Salazar R, Kaplan C, Nguyen L, Hwang J, Pasick RJ. Healthy colon, healthy life (Colon sano, Vida sana): Colorectal cancer screening among latinos in Santa Clara, California. J Cancer Educ (2010) 25(1):36–42. doi: 10.1007/ s13187-009-0007-z

65. Quino JE, Perez F, Perez A, Vang A, Leonie A, Dang J, et al. A cancer health needs assessment reveals important differences between US-born and foreign-born latinos in California. *Front Oncol* (2022) 12. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.883200

66. Shiyanbola OO, Arao RF, Miglioretti DL, Sprague BL, Hampton JM, Stout NK, et al. Emerging trends in family history of breast cancer and associated risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2017) 26(12):1753–60. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-17-0531

67. Tice JA, Miglioretti DL, Li C-S, Vachon CM, Gard CC, Kerlikowske K. Breast density and benign breast disease: Risk assessment to identify women at high risk of breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2015) 33(28):3137. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.60.8869

68. Cancer CGoHFiB. Familial breast cancer: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 52 epidemiological studies including 58 209 women with breast cancer and 101 986 women without the disease. *Lancet* (2001) 358 (9291):1389–99. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06524-2

69. Edwards E, Lucassen A. The impact of cancer pathology confirmation on clinical management of a family history of cancer. *Familial Cancer* (2011) 10 (2):373–80. doi: 10.1007/s10689-010-9407-9

70. Conway-Pearson LS, Christensen KD, Savage SK, Huntington NL, Weitzman ER, Ziniel SI, et al. Family health history reporting is sensitive to small changes in wording. *Genet Med* (2016) 18(12):1308–11. doi: 10.1038/gim.2016.45

71. Byrd TL, Chavez R, Wilson KM. Barriers and facilitators of cervical cancer screening among Hispanic women. *Ethnicity Dis* (2007) 17(1):129.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Folakemi Odedina, Mayo Clinic Florida, United States

REVIEWED BY Sandhya Annamaneni, Osmania University, India Lucas Delmonico, Oncoclinicas Group, Brazil Patricia Thompson, Cedars Sinai Medical Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Laura Fejerman Sejerman@ucdavis.edu

[†]These authors share senior authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 06 May 2022 ACCEPTED 30 January 2023 PUBLISHED 16 February 2023

CITATION

Zavala VA, Casavilca-Zambrano S, Navarro-Vásquez J, Tamayo LI, Castañeda CA, Valencia G, Morante Z, Calderón M, Abugattas JE, Gómez HL, Fuentes HA, Liendo-Picoaga R, Cotrina JM, Neciosup SP, Roque K, Vásquez J, Mas L, Gálvez-Nino M, Fejerman L and Vidaurre T (2023) Breast cancer subtype and clinical characteristics in women from Peru. *Front. Oncol.* 13:938042. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.938042

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Zavala, Casavilca-Zambrano Navarro-Vásquez, Tamayo, Castañeda, Valencia, Morante, Calderón, Abugattas, Gómez, Fuentes, Liendo-Picoaga, Cotrina, Neciosup, Roque, Vásquez, Mas, Gálvez-Nino, Fejerman and Vidaurre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Breast cancer subtype and clinical characteristics in women from Peru

Valentina A. Zavala¹, Sandro Casavilca-Zambrano², Jeannie Navarro-Vásquez³, Lizeth I. Tamayo⁴, Carlos A. Castañeda⁵, Guillermo Valencia⁵, Zaida Morante⁵, Mónica Calderón⁵, Julio E. Abugattas⁶, Henry L. Gómez⁵, Hugo A. Fuentes⁵, Ruddy Liendo-Picoaga⁷, Jose M. Cotrina⁶, Silvia P. Neciosup⁵, Katia Roque⁵, Jule Vásquez⁵, Luis Mas⁵, Marco Gálvez-Nino⁵, Laura Fejerman^{1,8*†} and Tatiana Vidaurre^{5†}

¹Department of Public Health Sciences, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ²Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Departamento de Patología, Lima, Peru, ³Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Departamento de Investigación, Lima, Peru, ⁴Department of Public Health Sciences, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁵Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Departamento de Oncología Médica, Lima, Peru, ⁶Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Departamento de Cirugía de Mamas y tumores Blandos, Lima, Peru, ⁷Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Banco de Tumores, Lima, Peru, ⁸University of California Davis Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States

Introduction: Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease, and the distribution of the different subtypes varies by race/ethnic category in the United States and by country. Established breast cancer-associated factors impact subtype-specific risk; however, these included limited or no representation of Latin American diversity. To address this gap in knowledge, we report a description of demographic, reproductive, and lifestyle breast cancer-associated factors by age at diagnosis and disease subtype for The Peruvian Genetics and Genomics of Breast Cancer (PEGEN-BC) study.

Methods: The PEGEN-BC study is a hospital-based breast cancer cohort that includes 1943 patients diagnosed at the Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas in Lima, Peru. Demographic and reproductive information, as well as lifestyle exposures, were collected with a questionnaire. Clinical data, including tumor Hormone Receptor (HR) status and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) status, were abstracted from electronic medical records. Differences in proportions and mean values were tested using Chi-squared and one-way ANOVA tests, respectively. Multinomial logistic regression models were used for multivariate association analyses.

Results: The distribution of subtypes was 52% HR+HER2-, 19% HR+HER2+, 16% HR-HER2-, and 13% HR-HER2+. Indigenous American (IA) genetic ancestry was higher, and height was lower among individuals with the HR-HER2+ subtype (80% IA vs. 76% overall, p=0.007; 152 cm vs. 153 cm overall, p=0.032, respectively). In multivariate models, IA ancestry was associated with HR-HER2+ subtype (OR=1.38,95%CI=1.06-1.79, p=0.017) and parous women showed increased risk for HR-HER2+ (OR=2.7,95%CI=1.5-4.8, p<0.001) and HR-HER2- tumors (OR=2.4,95%CI=1.5-4.0, p<0.001) compared to nulliparous women. Multiple patient and tumor characteristics differed by age at diagnosis (<50 vs. >=50),

including ancestry, region of residence, family history, height, BMI, breastfeeding, parity, and stage at diagnosis (p<0.02 for all variables).

Discussion: The characteristics of the PEGEN-BC study participants do not suggest heterogeneity by tumor subtype except for IA genetic ancestry proportion, which has been previously reported. Differences by age at diagnosis were apparent and concordant with what is known about pre- and post-menopausal-specific disease risk factors. Additional studies in Peru should be developed to further understand the main contributors to the specific age of onset and molecular disease subtypes in this population and develop population-appropriate predictive models for prevention.

KEYWORDS

breast cancer, genetic ancestry, Hispanics/Latinas, Indigenous American, tumor subtype

Introduction

Globally, breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer death in women (1, 2). Breast cancer risk and mortality vary based on several risk factors. Age, race/ ethnicity category, family history, genetics, lifestyle, anthropometric, reproductive, and hormonal factors have been associated with the risk of developing breast cancer (3–5). In addition, tumor subtype, socioeconomic status, education level, and access to care have been shown to impact mortality after diagnosis (6, 7). Analyses stratified by race/ethnicity category have shown that despite sharing risk factors for developing breast cancer, disease risk, clinical characteristics, and risk of mortality differ between populations (6, 8–10). For example, U.S. Hispanics/Latinas (H/Ls) are less likely to develop breast cancer than non-Hispanic White (NHW) and African American women (11). However, after diagnosis, H/L women are at higher risk of mortality compared with NHW women (12).

The use of gene expression profiles for molecular classification of breast cancer tumors (i.e., PAM50) has identified three main intrinsic subtypes: Luminal (A and B), HER2-enriched, and Basallike (13, 14). A combination of immunohistochemical markers for estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor 2 (HER2) are routinely used in clinic to classify tumors into these subtypes and to provide relevant information for individualized therapeutic decision making. Hormone receptor (HR) positive tumors, defined by ER and/or PR expression, are classified as HR+HER2- and HR+HER2+, based on the HER2 expression status, and are overrepresented among luminal intrinsic subtypes. HR-HER2+ and HR-HER2- are overrepresented among HER2-enriched and basal-like subtypes, respectively. Besides chemotherapy, patients with an HR+ disease diagnosis can benefit from endocrine therapy, such as tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors (15), whereas patients with HER2+ tumors can be treated with anti-HER2 therapy (mainly trastuzumab and pertuzumab) (16). For the HR-HER2- subtype, treatment options are limited. Currently, these patients receive systemic therapy, although targeted therapies, such as PARP and immune checkpoint inhibitors, are being evaluated in clinical trials and approved for BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers (17).

Multiple studies have suggested heterogeneity in the association between established breast cancer risk factors and tumor subtype. Family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative is associated with increased breast cancer risk (3, 18, 19), and specific patterns of cancer family history increase the risk of particular tumor subtypes (20, 21). For example, having one firstdegree relative with a history of breast cancer was shown to be associated with increased risk of HR+ subtypes, whereas having two or more was associated with increased risk of HR- disease (20, 21). However, some studies have failed to confirm these findings (3, 22-24). Among reproductive factors, early menarche, and late menopause increase the risk of developing breast cancer (3, 20, 25-27) with no evidence of heterogeneity by tumor subtype (3, 20, 26, 27). Parity is associated with reduced risk of HR+ disease (3, 19, 20, 27-33) and increased odds for developing HR- subtypes (3, 24, 27, 31, 33-35) in populations of European and African origins. Some studies have reported that older age at first full-term pregnancy was associated with increased risk of HR+ disease (27, 28, 30). Longer breastfeeding history is associated with reduced breast cancer risk with lower odds of developing HR- tumors (19, 20, 25-28, 30-34, 36). Among African Americans, prolonged lactation is associated with reduced risk of HR-, but not HR+ disease, with an increased risk of HR- disease among parous women who have not breastfed (34, 37). This observation has also been described among NHW women (32). Reports on lifestyle factors, such as alcohol intake and smoking history, have shown heterogeneity by tumor subtype, with a stronger association with HR+HER2- subtypes (3, 38).

The effects of some of the abovementioned factors are different among pre- and post-menopausal women. Controversial evidence shows that high BMI (obesity) is protective against breast cancer in premenopausal women, and conversely, it suggests that obesity increases the risk in postmenopausal women (39, 40), especially for HR+ subtypes (41–43). Other factors known to affect breast cancer risk in both groups in the same direction can present different magnitudes of the effect by menopausal status, such as alcohol intake (44), physical activity (45, 46), and breastfeeding (47).

Previous studies have assessed the association of breast cancer risk with numerous structural, social, environmental, and genetic factors (4, 48–50); however, these studies are primarily composed of individuals of European origin. Few breast cancer studies describe patient characteristics in Latin America (26, 51–54), a region characterized by cultural and genetic heterogeneity (55–57). For example, Indigenous American genetic ancestry estimates vary across different Latin American countries, ranging between ~5% in Puerto Rico and ~80% in Peru and Bolivia (56–58). Previous studies have identified that the degree of Indigenous American genetic ancestry may modify the magnitude and direction of association with currently known breast cancer risk variants among H/L women (59) and is associated with differential lifestyle risk factors (60). Latin American cohorts with high proportions of Indigenous American ancestry are underrepresented in breast cancer research (61).

The Peruvian Genetics and Genomics of Breast Cancer Study (PEGEN-BC) is a hospital-based cohort including patients from the Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas (INEN) in Lima, Peru. We have previously described the distribution of demographic, anthropometric, reproductive, lifestyle, and clinical factors for 1,312 breast cancer participants, with an emphasis on the distribution by breast tumor subtypes (62). Moreover, we reported that increasing Indigenous American ancestry is associated with higher odds of developing the HR–HER2+ subtype (62). The current report aims to provide a more complete and updated description of these variables by tumor subtype and age at diagnosis, including a total of 1,943 breast cancer patients, highlighting potential heterogeneity in the latter categories.

Methods

Study participants

The Peruvian Genetics and Genomics of Breast Cancer Study (PEGEN-BC) is a hospital-based cohort study. As of April 2022, we have recruited 1,943 participants from the INEN in Lima, Peru. Women were invited to participate if they had a diagnosis of invasive breast cancer in 2010 or later and were between 21 and 79 years of age when diagnosed. A blood sample was drawn by a certified phlebotomist at the INEN central laboratory. The present report includes analyses with a subset of 1,796 patients with available genetic ancestry estimates (63). This study was approved by the INEN and the University of California Davis Institutional Review Boards. All individuals provided written informed consent to participate.

Data collection

Each PEGEN-BC participant completed a standardized survey administered by a trained research coordinator at INEN. The survey includes questions regarding anthropometric (weight and height), demographic (place of birth and residence), lifestyle (alcohol intake and smoking history), and reproductive

(menopause status, age at first pregnancy, number of full-term pregnancies, and breastfeeding history) variables, and family history of breast cancer. Weight and height were assessed by trained nurses/professionals at INEN at the time of diagnosis. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kilograms) divided by height (meters) squared and categorized as underweight (BMI < 18.5 kg/m^2), normal (BMI $\ge 18.5 < 25 \text{ kg/}$ m²), overweight (BMI $\ge 25 < 30$ kg/m²), and obese (BMI ≥ 30 kg/ m²). Alcohol use was assessed as the self-reported frequency of glasses of alcohol consumed per day and categorized as < 1 glass/ day, > 1 glass/day, and non-drinker (never). Smoking status was classified into "ever" (current and former) and "never." If there was a history of familial breast cancer, the relative (i.e., mother, sister, and aunt) was indicated to determine cases with breast cancer family history in a first-degree relative. Clinical variables, including ER, PR, HER2, lymph node status, tumor grade, and clinical stage, were extracted from electronic records.

Genetic ancestry estimates for 1,796 PEGEN-BC participants were available from a previous study (63). Briefly, genome-wide genotype data obtained with the Affymetrix Precision Medicine Array were pruned using PLINK v.1.9 (64) [window size = 50, number of variants = 5, variance inflation factor threshold = 2] and merged with data from four reference populations from the 1000 Genomes project (65): Admixed Americans (Peru, Colombia, Mexico, Puerto Rico), Europeans (Americans with Northern and Western European Ancestry, Italy, Spain, Finland, Scotland), East Asians (China, Japan, Vietnam), and African populations (Nigeria, Kenya, Gambia, Sierra Leone). Individual continental, global genetic ancestry was estimated using ADMIXTURE (66) (unsupervised, k = 4), including 122,605 independent variants. The PEGEN-BC study includes a large proportion of patients with > 98% Indigenous American ancestry, as previously reported (62), and therefore provides a source of nonadmixed reference samples for this component.

Tumoral tissues were obtained from core biopsy or freshly resected invasive breast cancers pre-treatment that were formalinfixed and paraffin-embedded following standard protocols at INEN. Tumor subtypes were defined using immunohistochemistry (IHC) markers by a certified pathologist at INEN. HR positivity was defined at 1% or more cells showing ER and/or PR staining. HER2 positivity was defined as 3+ staining by IHC or by gene amplification detected by fluorescence in situ hybridization following a 2+ (borderline) IHC result. These markers were used to classify tumors as HR+HER2-, HR+HER2+, HR-HER2+, and HR-HER2-. Two independent pathologists from the University of California San Francisco reviewed the IHC slides at INEN for a subset of 52 patients. The concordance rate was 100% for ER, 87%for PR, and 85% for HER2. Most of the discordant calls for HER2 were scored as "negative" or 1+ at INEN and 2+ by the independent pathologists. Immunohistochemical subtype classification was not available for 141 samples (7%).

Statistical analysis

We performed descriptive analyses of available demographic, anthropometric, reproductive, and clinical characteristics by

breast cancer subtype. Differences in characteristics between tumor subtypes were tested by means of one-way ANOVA for normally distributed continuous variables and Chi-squared tests for categorical variables. Age at first full-term pregnancy presented a non-normal distribution; therefore, it was log₂ transformed. The correlation between genetic ancestry and continuous and categorical variables was performed using Pearson's correlation coefficient test and Point-Biserial Correlation Coefficient, respectively. Multinomial logistic regression models were used to calculate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the association of multiple variables and subtype-specific breast cancer. East Asian and African ancestry proportions were not included in multivariable models due to the low contribution of these components and high correlation with the Indigenous

TABLE 1	Distribution of demographic	, lifestyle, and anthropometrie	c characteristics of PEGEN-BC	patients overall and by tumor subtyp	e.
---------	-----------------------------	---------------------------------	-------------------------------	--------------------------------------	----

Variable	Overall	HR+HER2–	HR+HER2+	HR-HER2+	HR–HER2–	<i>p</i> -value
Number of patients, N (%)	1943 (100)*	945 (52.4)	337 (18.7)	232 (12.9)	288 (16.0)	
Demographic variables	1		1	1	1	
Age at diagnosis in years, mean (SD)	49.8 (11.0)	50.3 (11.1)	48.9 (10.2)	50.0 (10.9)	48.8 (12.0)	0.087
Missing, N (%)	7 (0.4)	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.34)	
Percent genetic ancestry**, mean (SD)			ł	1	<u> </u>	
Indigenous American	76.5 (16.9)	75.3 (17.4)	76.6 (16.8)	79.5 (14.78)	77.6 (16.5)	0.007
European	18.0 (12.5)	18.7 (12.9)	17.8 (12.0)	16.2 (11.36)	17.4 (12.5)	0.036
African	4.2 (7.7)	4.1 (7.6)	4.6 (8.9)	3.6 (6.26)	4.1 (7.1)	0.494
East Asian	1.4 (6.6)	1.9 (8.6)	1.0 (3.7)	0.8 (2.42)	0.9 (3.1)	0.026
Missing, N (%)	147 (7.6)	47 (5.0)	22 (6.5)	10 (4.3)	21 (7.3)	
Region of birth, N (%)			1	1		
Amazonian	145 (7.5)	69 (7.3)	22 (6.5)	18 (7.8)	23 (8.0)	0.737
Coastal	1078 (55.5)	522 (55.2)	178 (52.8)	124 (53.4)	165 (57.3)	
Mountains	708 (36.4)	346 (36.6)	137 (40.7)	88 (37.9)	98 (34.0)	
Other country***	12 (0.6)	8 (0.8)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.9)	2 (0.7)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Region of residence, N (%)	1		I	1	1	
Amazonian	120 (6.2)	56 (5.9)	18 (5.3)	11 (4.7)	24 (8.3)	0.138
Coastal	1530 (78.7)	757 (80.1)	264 (78.3)	174 (75.0)	216 (75.0)	
Mountains	293 (15.1)	132 (14.0)	55 (16.3)	47 (20.3)	48 (16.7)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Anthropometric and lifestyle variables	;				1	
Weight in kg, mean (SD)	64.8 (12.3)	65.2 (12.4)	64.8 (11.9)	63.6 (11.6)	64.6 (12.7)	0.350
Missing, N (%)	41 (2.1)	15 (1.6)	4 (1.2)	7 (3.0)	7 (2.4)	
Height in m, mean (SD)	153.3 (6.6)	153.3 (6.5)	153.7 (6.4)	152.1 (6.5)	153.4 (6.5)	0.032
Missing, N (%)	47 (2.4)	17 (1.8)	7 (2.1)	10 (4.3)	6 (2.1)	
BMI in kg/m ² , mean (SD)	27.54 (4.8)	27.7 (4.8)	27.4 (4.7)	27.5 (4.9)	27.4 (4.8)	0.705
Missing, N (%)	56 (2.9)	22 (2.3)	7 (2.1)	10 (4.3)	8 (2.8)	
BMI categorized, N (%)			I		<u> </u>	
Underweight***	22 (1.1)	11 (1.2)	4 (1.2)	4 (1.7)	2 (0.7)	0.852
Normal	564 (29.0)	263 (27.8)	109 (32.3)	65 (28.0)	84 (29.2)	
Overweight	779 (40.1)	383 (40.5)	129 (38.3)	93 (40.1)	117 (40.6)	
Obese	522 (26.9)	266 (28.1)	88 (26.1)	60 (25.9)	77 (26.7)	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Variable	Overall	HR+HER2-	HR+HER2+	HR-HER2+	HR-HER2-	<i>p</i> -value
Alcohol intake, N (%)						
< 1 glass/day	1335 (68.7)	655 (69.3)	223 (66.2)	159 (68.5)	186 (64.6)	0.603
> 1 glass/day	144 (7.4)	66 (7.0)	25 (7.4)	19 (8.2)	26 (9.0)	
Never	446 (23.0)	213 (22.5)	88 (26.1)	51 (22.0)	75 (26.0)	
Missing	18 (0.9)	11 (1.2)	1 (0.3)	3 (1.3)	1 (0.3)	
Smoking history, N (%)						
Never	1382 (71.1)	655 (69.3)	242 (71.8)	179 (77.2)	212 (73.6)	0.087
Ever	543 (27.9)	280 (29.6)	94 (27.9)	50 (21.6)	75 (26.0)	
Missing	18 (0.9)	10 (1.1)	1 (0.3)	3 (1.3)	1 (0.3)	

*Immunohistochemical subtype classification was not available for 141 samples (7%). **Estimates of individual continental ancestry were unavailable for 147 patients (7.6%). ***Category not included in the Chi-square test due to small sample size. "Missing" categories were excluded from tests.

American/European axis of ancestry variation. *P*-values (*P*) \leq 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All analyses were conducted in R v.3.6.0 (67).

Results

Demographics, anthropometrics, and lifestyle factors in the PEGEN-BC study by tumor subtype

The most common breast cancer subtype among PEGEN-BC study participants was HR+HER2– (52.4%), followed by HR+HER2+ (18.7%), HR-HER2– (16.0%), and HR-HER2+ (12.9%) (Table 1). The average age at diagnosis was 49.8 years (SD = 11), and differences by tumor subtype were not statistically significant (p = 0.087). PEGEN-BC study patients included individuals born in the three main biogeographic regions of Peru (Figure 1): The Coastal (55.5%), Mountainous (36.4%), and Amazonian (7.5%) regions. Less than 1% of the patients were born in another country (mainly Venezuela). These groups did not show statistically significant differences in their distribution by tumor subtype (Table 1). Most patients resided in the

Coastal region (7%), and differences in the proportion of patients who resided in each biogeographic area by tumor subtype category were not statistically significant (Table 1).

Estimates of individual continental genetic ancestry were available for 1,796 patients. Average Indigenous American ancestry among patients was 76.5%, followed by 18.0% European, 4.2% African, and 1.4% East Asian (Table 1). Furthermore, 92% of PEGEN-BC study participants had > 50% of Indigenous American ancestry, 25% at least 90%, and 12% at least 95% of Indigenous American ancestry (Figure 2A). Seven patients (0.4%) had more than 50% of East Asian ancestry, and eight (0.4%) had more than 50% African ancestry. Principal components analysis showed that the PEGEN-BC patients defined the Indigenous American cluster along principal component (PC) 1 when compared against 1000 Genomes Project reference populations (Figures 2B, C), reflecting the high degree of Indigenous American genetic ancestry that characterizes this cohort.

We found that the average Indigenous American ancestry proportion of participants was different across tumor subtypes. Individuals diagnosed with HR-HER2+ tumors showed the highest average proportion of Indigenous American ancestry (79.5%, SD = 15) (Table 1).





The average height of patients was 153.3 cm (SD = 6.6), with lower average height among patients diagnosed with HR-HER2+ tumors compared with all other subtypes (152.1 vs. ~153.6 cm, p = 0.032). There were no statistically significant differences in weight or BMI by tumor subtype, with a large overall proportion of patients being overweight (40.1%) (Table 1).

Most PEGEN-BC patients (68.7%) reported low levels of alcohol consumption (< 1 glass/day), whereas 7.4% reported consuming more than one glass per day. Moreover, 27.9% of participants reported being a current or past smoker. There was no statistically significant association between alcohol consumption, smoking history, and tumor subtype (Table 1).

Demographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle variables that did not show statistically significant differences by tumor subtypes did not show significant differences by HR status either (Supplementary Table S1).

Reproductive variables by tumor subtype

The average age at menarche among PEGEN-BC patients was 12.9 years (SD = 1.7), the average age at first full-term pregnancy was 23.2 years (SD = 5.7), and the average number of full-term pregnancies was 2.42 (SD = 1.8). Most study participants reported having had at least one child (83.5%), and 80% of parous women had at least two children (Table 2). The

frequency of parous women and number of births differed by tumor subtype, being higher among HR- tumors (p < 0.001) (Table 2).

Breastfeeding was a common practice among parous women (96.3%), and we did not observe the differences in the proportion of women who breastfed their children by tumor subtype category (Table 2).

More than 85% of women reported being menopausal at recruitment. Patients with HR+HER2– tumors were more likely to report being menopausal than patients with other tumor subtypes (p = 0.016). However, since many of these patients had induced menopause due to treatment, we did not consider this variable in subsequent multivariate analyses and stratified by age at diagnosis instead.

All these variables remained significant in analyses stratified by HR status (Supplementary Table S2). In addition, age at first full-term pregnancy showed a higher average age among patients diagnosed with HR+ disease compared with HR- (23.4 *vs.* 22.7, p = 0.043, Supplementary Table S2).

Clinical characteristics by tumor subtype

Overall, approximately 8% of PEGEN-BC study patients reported a family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative (Table 3).

TABLE 2 Distribution of reproductive variables overall and by tumor subtype.

Variable	Overall	HR+HER2-	HR+HER2+	HR-HER2+	HR-HER2-	<i>p</i> -value
Number of patients, N (%)	1943 (100)	945 (52.4)	337 (18.7)	232 (12.9)	288 (16.0)	
Age at menarche in years, mean (SD)	12.9 (1.7)	12.9 (1.8)	12.9 (1.7)	13.1 (1.7)	13.0 (1.7)	0.364
Missing, N (%)	34 (1.8)	17 (1.8)	3 (0.9)	7 (3.0)	2 (0.7)	
Parous, yes, N (%)	1623 (83.5)	765 (81.0)	273 (81.0)	207 (89.2)	263 (91.3)	< 0.001
Missing, N (%)	63 (3.2)	32 (3.4)	10 (3.0)	9 (3.9)	4 (1.4)	
Age at first full-term pregnancy in years, mean (SD)	23.2 (5.7)	23.5 (5.8)	23.0 (5.3)	22.9 (6.1)	22.5 (5.4)	0.095
Missing*, N (%)	72 (4.4)	40 (5.2)	7 (2.6)	13 (6.3)	6 (2.3)	
Parity, mean (SD)	2.4 (1.8)	2.3 (1.8)	2.3 (1.9)	2.7 (1.8)	2.7 (1.7)	0.002
Missing*, N (%)	6 (0.4)	4 (0.5)	1 (0.4)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	
Parity categories, N (%)		1	1	1		
No children	275 (14.2)	156 (16.5)	57 (16.9)	19 (8.2)	22 (7.6)	< 0.001
1 child	316 (16.3)	162 (17.1)	47 (13.9)	38 (16.4)	46 (16.0)	
2–3 children	888 (45.7)	410 (43.4)	161 (47.8)	105 (45.3)	148 (51.4)	
>3 children	413 (21.3)	189 (20.0)	64 (19.0)	63 (27.2)	69 (24.0)	
Missing, N (%)	51 (2.6)	28 (3.0)	8 (2.4)	7 (3.0)	3 (1.0)	
Breastfed*, yes, N (%)	1563 (96.3)	736 (96.2)	264 (96.7)	200 (96.6)	255 (97.0)	0.967
Missing*, N (%)	2 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Postmenopausal, N (%)	1681 (86.5)	839 (88.8)	287 (85.2)	198 (85.3)	240 (83.3)	0.016
Missing, N (%)	23 (1.2)	12 (1.3)	1 (0.3)	5 (2.2)	1 (0.3)	

*Proportion in relation to the total number of parous women. Missing categories were not included in the analysis.

Differences in breast cancer family history by breast cancer subtype were not statistically significant.

More than 90% of patients were diagnosed with Grades 2 and 3 tumors (Table 3). Patients with HR+HER2– tumors were more likely to be diagnosed with Grades 1 and 2 disease, whereas those with HR –HER2+ and HR–HER2– tumors were more likely to be high grade (Table 3). Most PEGEN-BC participants were diagnosed with stage II or III disease, with a larger number of stage I and II diagnoses among HR+HER2– patients than those with other subtypes (Table 3). Concordant with the distribution of tumor stage, we observed a high proportion of positive lymph node status among patients overall (64.3%), with a statistically significantly higher proportion of lymph node positivity among patients with HR–HER2+ tumors compared with those with other disease subtypes (78.2% *vs.* ~67%) (Table 3). Distribution of these variables by HR status is shown in Supplementary Table S2.

Distribution of patient characteristics by age at diagnosis

We compared the distribution of anthropometric, demographic, reproductive, clinical, and lifestyle risk variables between patients

diagnosed before the age of 50 years (N = 981) and at 50 years or older (N = 955). Compared with patients diagnosed at 50 years or older, younger patients had higher average Indigenous American ancestry (78.6 vs. 74.3, p < 0.001); they were more likely to reside in the Mountainous region (17.3% vs. 12.8%, p = 0.015), and they were 1.4 cm taller (p < 0.001) and had lower prevalence of obesity (25.4%) vs. 30.0%, p = 0.036) (Table 4). Additionally, there was a higher proportion of older patients with more than three children compared with the younger group (31% vs. 13%, p < 0.001), and a larger proportion of younger patients reported breastfeeding their children (98% vs. 95%, p = 0.001) (Table 5). Regarding clinical characteristics, younger patients reported lower family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative (6.5% vs. 9.5%, p = 0.02) and presented with more advanced disease (44% diagnosed at stage III compared with 42%, p = 0.017) (Table 5). We did not observe statistically significant differences in subtype distribution between both age categories.

Additional stratified analyses comparing demographic, anthropometric, reproductive, and clinical factors by tumor subtype in the two different age groups are included as Supplementary Materials (Supplementary Tables S3 and S4). As additional stratification reduced the number of observations per category, we suggest taking these results with caution.

TABLE 3 Distribution of clinical characteristics of PEGEN-BC study participants overall and by tumor subtype.

Variable	Overall	HR+HER2-	HR+HER2+	HR-HER2+	HR–HER2–	<i>p</i> -value
Number of patients, N (%)	1943 (100)*	945 (52.4)	337 (18.7)	232 (12.9)	288 (16.0)	
Positive family history of breast cancer**, N (%)	149 (7.7)	84 (8.9)	25 (7.4)	9 (3.9)	23 (8.0)	0.091
Missing	61 (3.1)	19 (2.0)	5 (1.5)	7 (3.0)	2 (0.7)	
Grade, <i>N</i> (%)		!				
1	72 (3.7)	58 (6.1)	6 (1.8)	0 (0.0)	4 (1.4)	< 0.001
2	803 (41.3)	550 (58.2)	117 (34.7)	36 (15.5)	37 (12.8)	
3	1005 (51.7)	317 (33.5)	209 (62.0)	192 (82.8)	239 (83.0)	
Missing	63 (3.2)	20 (2.1)	5 (1.5)	4 (1.7)	8 (2.8)	
Stage, N (%)		1		1	1	
Ι	122 (6.3)	67 (7.1)	18 (5.3)	7 (3.0)	23 (8.0)	< 0.001
П	840 (43.2)	480 (50.8)	134 (39.8)	70 (30.2)	109 (37.8)	
III	798 (41.1)	332 (35.1)	158 (46.9)	137 (59.1)	139 (48.3)	
IV	105 (5.4)	49 (5.2)	19 (5.6)	16 (6.9)	12 (4.2)	
Missing	78 (4.0)	17 (1.8)	8 (2.4)	2 (0.9)	5 (1.7)	
Positive lymph node status, N (%)	1249 (64.3)	585 (61.9)	227 (67.4)	176 (75.9)	177 (61.5)	0.002
Missing	90 (4.6)	43 (4.6)	9 (2.7)	7 (3.0)	21 (7.3)	

*Immunohistochemical subtype classification was not available for 141 samples (7%). **In a first-degree relative.

TABLE 4 Distribution of demographic and anthropometric variables by age at diagnosis categories.

	Age at diagnosis				
Variable	< 50 years old	>= 50 years old	<i>p</i> -value		
Number of patients, N (%)	981 (50.5)	955 (49.2)			
Demographic variables					
Age at diagnosis in years, mean (SD)	41.0 (5.9)	58.8 (7.0)	_		
Missing, N (%)	0 (%)	0 (%)			
Percent genetic ancestry*, mean (SD)					
Indigenous American	78.6 (15.1)	74.3 (18.3)	< 0.001		
European	16.84 (11.5)	19.1 (13.3)	< 0.001		
African	3.6 (6.6)	4.7 (8.6)	0.004		
East Asian	1.0 (4.2)	1.9 (8.4)	0.003		
Missing, N (%)	72 (7.3%)	73 (7.6%)			
Region of birth, N (%)			i		
Amazonian	71 (7.2)	73 (7.6)	0.904		
Coastal	548 (55.9)	526 (55.1)			
Mountains	355 (36.2)	351 (36.8)			
Other country**	7 (0.7)	5 (0.5)			
Missing, N (%)	0 (%)	0 (%)			
Region of residence, N (%)					
Amazonian	63 (6.4)	57 (6.0)	0.015		
Coastal	748 (76.2)	776 (81.3)			

(Continued)

TABLE 4 Continued

	Age at 0	diagnosis		
Variable	< 50 years old	>= 50 years old	<i>p</i> -value	
Mountains	170 (17.3)	122 (12.8)		
Missing, N (%)	0 (%)	0 (%)		
Anthropometric and lifestyle variables				
Weight in kg, mean (SD)	64.8 (12.4)	64.8 (12.3)	0.983	
Missing, N (%)	17 (1.7)	24 (2.5)		
Height in cm, mean (SD)	154.0 (6.3)	152.6 (6.7)	< 0.001	
Missing, N (%)	18 (1.8)	29 (3.0)		
BMI in kg/m ² , mean (SD)	27.3 (4.6)	27.8 (4.9)	0.009	
Missing, N (%)	24 (2.4)	32 (3.3)		
BMI categorized, N (%)	·			
Underweight ***	6 (0.6)	16 (1.7)	0.036	
Normal	305 (31.9)	255 (27.6)		
Overweight	403 (42.1)	375 (40.6)		
Obese	243 (25.4)	277 (30.0)		
Alcohol intake, N (%)			i	
< 1 glass/day	664 (67.7)	665 (69.6)	0.161	
> 1 glass/day	84 (8.6)	60 (6.3)		
Never	225 (22.9)	220 (23.0)		
Missing, N (%)	8 (0.8)	10 (1.0)		
Smoking history, N (%)				
Never	704 (71.8)	674 (70.6)	0.705	
Ever	270 (27.5)	270 (28.3)		
Missing, N (%)	7 (0.7)	11 (1.2)		

*Estimates of individual continental ancestry were available for 92.6% of patients diagnosed before 50 and 92.3% for patients diagnosed at 50 or above. **Category not included in the Chi-square test due to small sample size.

TABLE 5 Distribution of reproductive and clinical variables by age at diagnosis categories.

	Age at	diagnosis	
Variable	< 50 years old	>= 50 years old	<i>p</i> -value
Number of patients, N (%)	981 (50.5)	955 (49.2)	
Reproductive variables			
Age at menarche in years, mean (SD)	12.9 (1.7)	13.0 (1.7)	0.849
Missing, N (%)	15 (1.5)	19 (2.0)	
Parous, yes, N (%)	815 (85.9)	802 (86.7)	0.652
Missing, N (%)	32 (3.2)	30 (3.1)	
Age at first full-term pregnancy in years, mean (SD)	23.19 (5.53)	23.10 (5.83)	0.747
Missing*, N (%)	39 (4.8)	33 (4.1)	
Parity, mean (SD)	2.0 (1.34)	2.8 (2.11)	< 0.001
Missing*, N (%)	4 (0.4)	2 (0.2)	

(Continued)

TABLE 5 Continued

	Age at diagnosis						
Variable	< 50 years old	>= 50 years old	<i>p</i> -value				
Parity categories, N (%)							
No children	146 (14.9)	128 (13.4)	< 0.001				
1 child	190 (19.4)	125 (13.1)					
2-3 children	499 (50.9)	385 (40.3)					
> 3 children	122 (12.4)	290 (30.4)					
Missing, N (%)	24 (2.4)	27 (2.8)					
Breastfed*, yes, N (%)	798 (98.0)	759 (94.6)	0.001				
Missing*, N (%)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)					
Clinical characteristics		1					
Positive family history of breast cancer**, N (%)	62 (6.3)	87 (9.1)	0.020				
Missing, N (%)	23 (2.3)	38 (4.0)					
Tumor grade, N (%)							
1	37 (3.8)	35 (3.7)	0.421				
2	393 (40.1)	410 (42.9)					
3	523 (53.3)	482 (50.5)					
Missing, N (%)	28 (2.9)	28 (2.9)					
Positive lymph node status, N (%)	636 (64.8)	610 (63.9)	0.460				
Missing, N (%)	49 (5.0)	38 (4.0)					
Stage, N (%)		1					
Ι	45 (4.6)	77 (8.1)	0.017				
П	428 (43.6)	410 (42.9)					
Ш	417 (42.5)	381 (39.9)					
IV	53 (5.4)	50 (5.2)					
Missing, N (%)	38 (3.9)	37 (3.9)					
Tumor subtype, N (%)		1					
HR+HER2-	476 (48.5)	468 (49.0)	0.328				
HR+HER2+	178 (18.1)	159 (16.6)					
HR-HER2+	108 (11.0)	124 (13.0)					
HR-HER2-	155 (15.8)	132 (13.8)					
Missing, N (%)	64 (6.5)	72 (7.5)					

*Proportion in relation to the total number of parous women. **In a first-degree relative.

Correlation between Indigenous American genetic ancestry and other patient and tumor characteristics

We assessed the correlation between Indigenous American ancestry and patient and tumor characteristics to better understand the observed patterns in ancestry distribution and those factors by tumor subtype in the PEGEN-BC study. We observed an inverse correlation between Indigenous American ancestry and age at diagnosis (r = -0.15, p < 0.001), weight (r =-0.11, p < 0.001), height (r = -0.25, p < 0.001), age at first full-term pregnancy (r = -0.08, p = 0.002), family history of breast cancer in a firstdegree relative (r = -0.12, p < 0.001), smoking history (r = -0.11, p < 0.001), HR+ status (r = -0.06, p = 0.012) and a positive correlation with age at menarche (r = 0.06, p = 0.017) and HER2+ status (r = 0.053, p = 0.029).

Multivariable analyses testing the association between demographic, lifestyle factors, and breast cancer subtype

Variables that showed statistically significant associations at the 10% level with tumor subtype in the univariate analyses (Tables 1–3)

were included in a multivariate model, using HR+HER2– as reference (Table 6). Indigenous American ancestry remained associated with HR–HER2+ subtype (OR per 25% increment in ancestry = 1.38, 95% CI = 1.06–1.79, p = 0.02). Smoking history and height were no longer statistically significantly associated with subtype. Parous women were more likely to be diagnosed with HR–HER2+ (OR = 2.72, 95% CI = 1.53–4.83, p < 0.001) and HR-HER2- (OR = 2.47, 95% CI = 1.51–4.04, p < 0.001) disease compared with the HR+HER2– subtype. Family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative was not included as a covariate in the multivariate model because the number of patients that reported family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative was relatively small and rendered unstable estimates when included. We tested models excluding patients with a family history of breast cancer, and results were similar to those using the full dataset (Table 6).

Indigenous American ancestry, region of residence, height, BMI, breastfeeding history, number of full-term pregnancies, and family

history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative showed statistically significant associations at the 10% level with age at diagnosis categories. These variables were included in a multivariate model using age at diagnosis < 50 as reference (Table 7). We found that increasing Indigenous American ancestry and increasing height were associated with reduced odds of being diagnosed at 50 years or older (OR = 0.63, 95% CI = 0.53–0.75, *p* < 0.001 and OR = 0.96, 95% CI = 0.95-0.98, p < 0.001, respectively). Patients that resided in the Mountainous region had reduced odds of being diagnosed at 50 years of age or older compared with those in the Coastal region (OR = 0.63, 95% CI = 056–0.9, p = 0.004). Breastfeeding was associated with lower odds of being diagnosed at 50 years of age or older (OR = 0.35, 95% CI = 0.2-0.7, p = 0.001). Compared with nulliparous women, giving birth to at least one child increased the odds of being diagnosed at an older age (OR = 1.55, 95% CI = 0.2–0.7, p <0.001). Increasing BMI was no longer associated with age at diagnosis (Table 7).

TABLE 6 Multivariate multinomial logistic regression models testing the association between demographic and lifestyle variables and breast cancer subtype (HR+HER2– as reference).

		All patients*		Patie	nts without Fam	Hist	
Subtype	Variable	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
	Indigenous American ancestry (Every 25% increment)	1.09	0.89–1.34	0.402	1.14	0.91-1.41	0.255
HR+HER2+ HR+HER2+ HR-HR-HR-HRA	Age at diagnosis (Every 5-year increment)	0.99	0.98-1.00	0.062	0.99	0.98-1.00	0.188
HR+HER2+	Subtype Variable OR 95% CI p -value OR 957 Indigenous American ancestry (Every 5% increment) 1.09 0.89-1.34 0.402 1.14 0.91 Age at diagnosis (Every 5-year increment) 0.99 0.98-1.00 0.062 0.99 0.96 HR+HER2+ Height (Every 1-cm increment) 1.01 0.99-1.03 0.257 1.01 0.99 Parous (Reference: nulliparous) 0.81 0.60-1.10 0.178 0.84 0.60 HR-HER2+ Height (Reference: nulliparous) 1.20 0.83-1.74 0.335 1.43 0.99 HR-HER2+ Indigenous American ancestry (Every 5-year increment) 1.38 1.06-1.79 0.017 1.37 1.00 HR-HER2+ Height (Every 1-cm increment) 0.98 0.96-1.01 0.455 1.00 0.99 HR-HER2+ Height (Every 1-cm increment) 0.98 0.96-1.01 0.166 0.99 0.99 HR-HER2+ Height (Every 1-cm increment) 0.75 0.52-1.08 0.122 0.74 0.53 <tr< td=""><td>0.99-1.04</td><td>0.196</td></tr<>	0.99-1.04	0.196				
		0.81	0.60-1.10	0.178	0.84	0.61-1.15	0.267
		1.20	0.83-1.74	0.335	1.43	0.96-2.14	0.082
	÷ .	1.38	1.06-1.79	0.017	1.37	1.05-1.80	0.022
		0.99	0.98-1.01	0.455	1.00	0.98-1.01	0.717
HR-HER2+		0.98	0.96-1.01	0.166	0.99	0.96-1.01	0.266
		0.75	0.52-1.08	0.122	0.74	0.51-1.08	0.118
		2.72	1.53-4.83	< 0.001	2.60	1.46-4.64	0.001
	•	1.17	0.93-1.46	0.177	1.25	0.99–1.59	0.065
		0.99	0.98-1.00	0.100	0.99	0.98-1.01	0.467
HR-HER2-		1.01	0.99–1.03	0.446	1.02	0.99-1.04	0.205
	Smoking history (Ever vs. never [reference])	0.78	0.56-1.08	0.133	0.72	0.51-1.01	0.061
	Parous (Reference: nulliparous)	2.47	1.51-4.04	< 0.001	2.40	1.44-3.99	0.001

*Only samples for which genetic ancestry was available (n = 1,796) were included in this analysis. FamHist, family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative (n = 1,628).

TABLE 7 Multivariate logistic regression model testing the association between demographic and lifestyle variables and age at diagnosis (< 50 [reference] vs. >= 50).

Variable	OR*	95% Cl	<i>p</i> -value
Indigenous American ancestry (Every 25% increment)	0.63	0.53-0.75	< 0.001
Height (Every 1-cm increment)	0.96	0.95-0.98	< 0.001
Region of residence (Reference: Coastal region) Amazonian region Mountainous region	0.68 0.63	0.43-1.07 0.46-0.86	0.100 0.004
BMI (Every 1 kg/m2 increment)	1.02	1–1.05	0.080
Parity (Per each additional child)	1.55	1.43–1.69	< 0.001
Breastfed (Yes vs. no [reference])	0.35	0.20-0.70	0.001
Family history of breast cancer** (Yes vs. no [reference])	1.20	0.78-1.84	0.410

Only samples for which genetic ancestry was available (909 patients < 50 and 881 >= 50 years) were included in this analysis. *Patients diagnosed < 50 years old (reference) vs. >= 50 years. **In a first-degree relative.

Discussion

In the present report, we aimed to provide a more complete description of the distribution of anthropometric, demographic, clinical, and known breast cancer-associated risk factors among Peruvian women that are part of The Peruvian Genetics and Genomics of Breast Cancer Study (PEGEN-BC). This work constitutes an update of a previously reported study, including a larger number of recruited patients and extending analyses to describe the distribution of patient characteristics not only by tumor subtype but also by age at diagnosis (62).

Being a hospital-based cohort, the PEGEN-BC study included a large proportion of women who resided in the Coastal region, where the INEN main hospital is located (Figure 1). Despite this bias in terms of residential representation, when looking at place of birth, the proportion of the cohort's patients from the Coastal region followed closely that of the Peruvian population (58.0% Peru *vs.* 55.5% of cohort patients). The study has an overrepresentation of patients born in the Mountainous region (28.1% Peru *vs.* 36.4% of cohort patients) (68) and an underrepresentation of patients born in the Amazonian region (13.9% Peru *vs.* 7.5% of cohort patients) (68). The proportion of patients within each geographical region is consistent with what has been reported in two studies describing mortality of breast cancer (69) and incidence of triple-negative breast cancer tumors in Peruvian women (70).

A large proportion of patients were overweight/obese (67%), and the prevalence of exposure to alcohol and tobacco was higher than what has been previously reported for Peruvian women (71, 72). The average Indigenous American ancestry among the PEGEN-BC patients is 76.5%, which is higher than the average ancestry proportion of women in other breast cancer studies, including Latin America and U.S. Latinas (12, 51, 60, 73–89). In addition, the average height in our cohort was consistent with what has been reported in the literature for the Peruvian population (90) and with the known inverse correlation with Indigenous American ancestry (91). Overall, some reproductive variables showed a similar trend to what has been reported, including a similar age at menarche (92) and a high breastfeeding rate (93). The number of full-term pregnancies reported here (average of 2.8 children) was more closely related to what has been observed in rural areas of Peru (2.5) compared with urban areas (1.4) (94).

The distribution of tumor subtypes is similar to what has been previously described in other Latin American countries (95), with differences being partially explained by the inclusion of KI-67 expression and tumor grade for subtype classification (95), as indicated by the 2013 St. Gallen consensus (96). This classification criterion was not used in this report since KI-67 was not available for more than 20% of patients, and parameters for subtype determination based on this marker tend to be unstable across populations and studies (97). A study describing patient and tumor characteristics from Peruvian breast cancer patients at INEN diagnosed between 2000 and 2002 (80) (PEGEN-BC patients were recruited if diagnosed in 2010 or later) reported a lower proportion of HR+ tumors compared with PEGEN-BC (62.5% vs. 71.1%). This difference is likely to be explained by the higher positivity percentage cutoff value for HR+ status used in the previous report (10%, compared with 1% in PEGEN-BC), increasing the proportion of HR+ tumors in our cohort. Other characteristics, such as age at diagnosis and stage, presented similar distribution to the PEGEN-BC study cohort.

We found statistically significant differences by tumor subtype for Indigenous American genetic ancestry and height. In addition, we observed suggestive associations for age at diagnosis, family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative and tobacco exposure. Differences were mostly driven by the HR–HER2+ subtype. Among patients with HR–HER2+ disease, we observed that the average height was lower compared with patients diagnosed with other tumor subtypes and was less likely to report smoking or a positive family history of breast cancer in a first-degree relative. Even though subtype-specific associations have been reported for these variables in other populations (38, 98–101), results in the Peruvian cohort showed that of all the above variables Indigenous American ancestry proportion was the only one that was differentially distributed by tumor subtype in multivariable models.

We did not find statistically significant differences for age at menarche by tumor subtype. Some studies have shown consistent associations between age at menarche and reduced risk of HR +HER2– breast cancer (3, 19, 20). One multicenter study did not find subtype-specific associations (27), consistent with our study. The PRECAMA Study, a Latin American population-based case-control study of premenopausal breast cancer, reported reduced odds for HR– tumors among women who were > 12 years old at menarche, compared with those younger at menarche (26, 51). In the current study, we did not find a statistically significant difference in average age at menarche by tumor subtype despite the observed correlation between the former and Indigenous American ancestry proportion.

We observed a higher frequency of parous women diagnosed with HR- subtypes compared with HR+. Parity (ever vs. never) has been associated with a higher risk of HR-HER2- subtypes, especially among women of African origin (33-35). Higher number of fullterm pregnancies has been associated with reduced breast cancer risk (19, 31), with lower odds of developing HR+ tumors (3, 19, 20, 24-27, 29-35). We found significant differences in number of births by subtype, being higher among HR- subtypes compared with HR+ (2.7 compared with 2.3, respectively). Results suggested a larger proportion of women with > 3 children among those with HRdisease subtypes. This observation was consistent with studies in African American women reporting a higher number of reported fullterm pregnancies among women with HR- disease (33). Studies that have tested the association between age at first full-term pregnancy and subtype-specific risk have shown a decreased risk of developing HR+HER2- tumors with unclear associations for other subtypes (25, 27, 31). In African American cohorts, limited breastfeeding among parous women is associated with an increased risk for HR-HER2subtypes (34). The current study does not include detailed pregnancy and lactation history for the patients. As a result, we could not assess the association between time to breastfeeding cessation and cumulative time of breastfeeding and HR- subtypes.

There were statistically significant differences in the prevalence of demographic, anthropometric, and reproductive factors by age at diagnosis categories. The multivariate analysis showed that these variables are independently associated with age at diagnosis. Moreover, the differences in BMI by age at diagnosis were concordant with what is known about pre- and post-menopausal-specific disease risk factors (39–43). It must be considered that the observed differences in parity and height by age at diagnosis could be due to the correlation between age and the former (i.e., number of children and height are positively correlated with age) and not to an association between those variables and pre- *versus* postmenopausal disease.

The observed association between tumor subtype and Indigenous American ancestry could be due to a multiplicity of factors that we might not have collected information on in the PEGEN-BC study. For example, the study did not obtain information on the level of education or socioeconomic status of participants; both variables were previously shown to be associated with Indigenous American ancestry) among U.S. Latinas and Mexican women (76, 102, 103). Socioeconomic status can also impact screening, which in turn can affect tumor subtype distribution and mortality rates. Reports showed that less than 20% of Peruvian women 40–59 years of age have had a mammography, with vast differences according to socioeconomic status, educational level, health insurance, and region of residence (104, 105). Plan Esperanza, launched in 2012, has aimed to provide universal cancer screening and decentralize oncological health care across Peru, focusing on underserved commuties (106).

The PEGEN-BC study had some additional limitations. First, since menopause can be induced by treatment, most of the PEGEN-BC participants were postmenopausal at the time of the interview (86%). Therefore, we did not perform stratification by menopausal status and used age at diagnosis (< 50 vs. >= 50) instead to differentiate early onset versus late onset disease, as it has been widely used in epidemiological studies (107, 108). Even though menopausal status and age at diagnosis are highly correlated, studies have shown that age at diagnosis is a driver for breast cancer heterogeneity, acting as a confounder in analyses stratified by menopausal status (109). For this reason, the use of age as a proxy for menopausal status should be taken with caution. The second limitation concerns the relatively low variability of some of the assessed factors among PEGEN-BC study participants. For example, the assessment of the association between breastfeeding and the number of births and tumor subtype was hampered by the low prevalence of women without children and of women with children who did not breastfeed them. Additionally, we described the distribution of multiple factors across tumor subtypes, which provide evidence of heterogeneity; however, future case-control design studies should further explore subtype-specific breast cancer risk. Finally, average East Asian and African genetic ancestry components showed differences by subtypes in the univariate analyses. However, since ancestry estimates are correlated, and the proportions of East Asian and African genetic ancestries were relatively low as to provide reliable estimates, we focused the current description on the Indigenous American ancestry, which is the dominant component in Peruvians.

In summary, results confirmed the previously reported higher average Indigenous American ancestry among patients with HR –HER2+ breast cancer in this larger sample of PEGEN-BC study participants. Moreover, differences in tumor subtype by age at diagnosis were apparent and concordant with what is known about pre- and post-menopausal–specific disease associated risk factors. Larger studies are needed to understand the consistently observed association between ancestry, age of onset, and disease subtypes, considering the contribution of screening and treatment, to develop population-appropriate predictive models and targeted outreach and prevention campaigns.

Data availability statement

All data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of California Davis Institutional Review Boards and the Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas (INEN). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

LF= Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Writing- Review and editing, Supervision, Project administration, and Funding acquisition. VZ: Methodology, Investigation, Formal Analysis, Writing- Original Draft, Software, Data curation, and Visualization. TV= Conceptualization, Resources, Project administration at INEN. SC-Z= Resources, Project administration at INEN. JN-V= Investigation, Data curation. CC, GV, MC, JA, HG, HF, RL-P, JC, SN, KR, JV, LM, MG-N= Conducted patient recruitment investigation process. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The PEGEN-BC Study was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the (NIH) under award number [R01CA204797] for LF.

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin (2020) 70 (1):7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590

3. Barnard ME, Boeke CE, Tamimi RM. Established breast cancer risk factors and risk of intrinsic tumor subtypes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1856(1):73–85. doi: 10.1016/J.BBCAN.2015.06.002

4. Holm J, Eriksson L, Ploner A, Eriksson M, Rantalainen M, Li J, et al. Assessment of breast cancer risk factors reveals subtype heterogeneity. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77(13):3708–17. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2574

5. Jones ME, Schoemaker MJ, Wright LB, Ashworth A, Swerdlow AJ. Smoking and risk of breast cancer in the generations study cohort. *Breast Cancer Res* (2017) 19(1). doi: 10.1186/S13058-017-0908-4

6. Daly B, Olopade OI. A perfect storm: How tumor biology, genomics, and health care delivery patterns collide to create a racial survival disparity in breast cancer and proposed interventions for change. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2015) 65(3):221–38. doi: 10.3322/caac.21271

7. Newman LA. Breast cancer disparities: Socioeconomic factors versus biology. Ann Surg Oncol (2017) 24(10):2869–75. doi: 10.1245/s10434-017-5977-1

8. National Cancer Institute. SEER cancer stat facts: Female breast cancer. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute.

9. Zavala VA, Bracci PM, Carethers JM, Carvajal-Carmona L, Coggins NB, Cruz-Correa MR, et al. Cancer health disparities in racial/ethnic minorities in the united states. *Br J Cancer* (2021) 124:315–32. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6. Springer Nature.

10. Thompson B, Hohl SD, Molina Y, Paskett ED, Fisher JL, Baltic RD, et al. Breast cancer disparities among women in underserved communities in the USA. *Curr Breast Cancer Rep* (2018) 10(3):131–41. doi: 10.1007/s12609-018-0277-8

11. Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Ortiz AP, Fedewa SA, Pinheiro PS, Tortolero-Luna G, et al. Cancer statistics for Hispanics/Latinos, 2018. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68(6):425–45. doi: 10.3322/caac.21494

Acknowledgments

We want to thank the biobank at the Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Lima, Peru, for their assistance in managing and storing the material for the study. We also want to thank participants from the PEGEN-BC study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2023.938042/ full#supplementary-material

12. Fejerman L, Hu D, Huntsman S, John EM, Stern MC, Haiman CA, et al. Genetic ancestry and risk of mortality among U.S. latinas with breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73 (24):7243–53. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2014

13. Sørlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, et al. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2001) 98(19):10869-74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.191367098

14. Perou CM, Sørlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature.* (2000) 406(6797):747–52. doi: 10.1038/35021093

15. Shien T, Iwata H. Adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy for breast cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol (2020) 50(3):225–9. doi: 10.1093/JJCO/HYZ213

16. Wang J, Xu B. Targeted therapeutic options and future perspectives for HER2positive breast cancer. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2019) 4(1). doi: 10.1038/S41392-019-0069-2

17. Yin L, Duan JJ, Bian XW, Yu SC. Triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtyping and treatment progress. *Breast Cancer Res* (2020) 22(1). doi: 10.1186/S13058-020-01296-5

18. Liu L, Hao X, Song Z, Zhi X, Zhang S, Zhang J. Correlation between family history and characteristics of breast cancer. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1). doi: 10.1038/S41598-021-85899-8

19. Xing P, Li J, Jin F. A case-control study of reproductive factors associated with subtypes of breast cancer in northeast China. *Med Oncol* (2010) 27(3):926-31. doi: 10.1007/S12032-009-9308-7

20. Tamimi RM, Colditz GA, Hazra A, Baer HJ, Hankinson SE, Rosner B, et al. Traditional breast cancer risk factors in relation to molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2012) 131(1):159–67. doi: 10.1007/S10549-011-1702-0

21. Zhou W, Ding Q, Pan H, Wu N, Liang M, Huang Y, et al. Risk of breast cancer and family history of other cancers in first-degree relatives in Chinese women: a case control study. *BMC Cancer.* (2014) 14(1):1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-662

22. Phipps AI, Buist DSM, Malone KE, Barlow WE, Porter PL, Kerlikowske K, et al. Family history of breast cancer in first-degree relatives and triple-negative breast cancer risk. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2011) 126(3):671–8. doi: 10.1007/S10549-010-1148-9

23. Mavaddat N, Pharoah PD, Blows F, Driver KE, Provenzano E, Thompson D, et al. Familial relative risks for breast cancer by pathological subtype: a population-based cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res* (2010) 12(1). doi: 10.1186/BCR2476

24. Yang XR, Chang-Claude J, Goode EL, Couch FJ, Nevanlinna H, Milne RL, et al. Associations of breast cancer risk factors with tumor subtypes: a pooled analysis from the breast cancer association consortium studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2011) 103(3):250–63. doi: 10.1093/JNCI/DJQ526

25. Phipps AI, Malone KE, Porter PL, Daling JR, Li CI. Reproductive and hormonal risk factors for postmenopausal luminal, HER-2-overexpressing, and triple-negative breast cancer. *Cancer.* (2008) 113(7):1521–6. doi: 10.1002/CNCR.23786

26. Romieu I, Biessy C, Carayol M, His M, Torres-Mejía G, Ángeles-Llerenas A, et al. Reproductive factors and molecular subtypes of breast cancer among premenopausal women in Latin America: the PRECAMA study. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1). doi: 10.1038/S41598-018-31393-7

27. Brouckaert O, Rudolph A, Laenen A, Keeman R, Bolla MK, Wang Q, et al. Reproductive profiles and risk of breast cancer subtypes: a multi-center case-only study. *Breast Cancer Res* (2017) 19(1). doi: 10.1186/S13058-017-0909-3

28. Lambertini M, Santoro L, Del Mastro L, Nguyen B, Livraghi L, Ugolini D, et al. Reproductive behaviors and risk of developing breast cancer according to tumor subtype: A systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2016) 49:65–76. doi: 10.1016/J.CTRV.2016.07.006

29. Ellingjord-Dale M, Vos L, Tretli S, Hofvind S, dos-Santos-Silva I, Ursin G. Parity, hormones and breast cancer subtypes - results from a large nested case-control study in a national screening program. *Breast Cancer Res* (2017) 19(1). doi: 10.1186/S13058-016-0798-X

30. Turkoz FP, Solak M, Petekkaya I, Keskin O, Kertmen N, Sarici F, et al. Association between common risk factors and molecular subtypes in breast cancer patients. *Breast.* (2013) 22(3):344–50. doi: 10.1016/J.BREAST.2012.08.005

31. Sanderson M, Pal T, Beeghly-Fadiel A, Fadden MK, Dujon SA, Clinton C, et al. A pooled case-only analysis of reproductive risk factors and breast cancer subtype among black women in the southeastern united states. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2021) 30(7):1416–23. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-1784

32. Fortner RT, Sisti J, Chai B, Collins LC, Rosner B, Hankinson SE, et al. Parity, breastfeeding, and breast cancer risk by hormone receptor status and molecular phenotype: results from the nurses' health studies. *Breast Cancer Res* (2019) 21(1). doi: 10.1186/S13058-019-1119-Y

33. Ambrosone CB, Zirpoli G, Ruszczyk M, Shankar J, Hong CC, McIlwain D, et al. Parity and breastfeeding among African-American women: differential effects on breast cancer risk by estrogen receptor status in the women's circle of health study. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2014) 25(2):259–65. doi: 10.1007/S10552-013-0323-9

34. Palmer JR, Viscidi E, Troester MA, Hong CC, Schedin P, Bethea TN, et al. Parity, lactation, and breast cancer subtypes in African American women: results from the AMBER consortium. J Natl Cancer Inst (2014) 106(10). doi: 10.1093/JNCI/DJU237

35. Millikan RC, Newman B, Tse CK, Moorman PG, Conway K, Smith LV, et al. Epidemiology of basal-like breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2008) 109(1):123–39. doi: 10.1007/S10549-007-9632-6

36. Gaudet MM, Press MF, Haile RW, Lynch CF, Glaser SL, Schildkraut J, et al. Risk factors by molecular subtypes of breast cancer across a population-based study of women 56 years or younger. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2011) 130(2):587–97. doi: 10.1007/S10549-011-1616-X

37. Shinde SS, Forman MR, Kuerer HM, Yan K, Peintinger F, Hunt KK, et al. Higher parity and shorter breastfeeding duration: association with triple-negative phenotype of breast cancer. *Cancer.* (2010) 116(21):4933–43. doi: 10.1002/CNCR.25443

38. Ellingjord-Dale M, Vos L, Hjerkind KV, Hjartåker A, Russnes HG, Tretli S, et al. Alcohol, physical activity, smoking, and breast cancer subtypes in a Large, nested casecontrol study from the Norwegian breast cancer screening program. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2017) 26(12):1736–44. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-17-0611

39. García-Estévez L, Cortés J, Pérez S, Calvo I, Gallegos I, Moreno-Bueno G. Obesity and breast cancer: A paradoxical and controversial relationship influenced by menopausal status. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:3114. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.705911

40. Schoemaker MJ, Nichols HB, Wright LB, Brook MN, Jones ME, O'Brien KM, et al. Association of body mass index and age with subsequent breast cancer risk in premenopausal women. *JAMA Oncol* (2018) 4(11). doi: 10.1001/JAMAONCOL.2018.1771

41. Bandera EV, Chandran U, Hong CC, Troester MA, Bethea TN, Adams-Campbell LL, et al. Obesity, body fat distribution, and risk of breast cancer subtypes in African American women participating in the AMBER consortium. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2015) 150(3):655–66. doi: 10.1007/S10549-015-3353-Z

42. Gravena AAF, Lopes TCR, Demitto M de O, Borghesan DHP, Dell' Agnolo CM, Brischiliari SCR, et al. The obesity and the risk of breast cancer among pre and postmenopausal women. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2018) 19(9):2429–36. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.9.2429

43. Gathirua-Mwangi WG, Palmer JR, Champion V, Castro-Webb N, Stokes AC, Adams-Campbell L, et al. Maximum and time-dependent body mass index and breast cancer incidence among postmenopausal women in the black women's health study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2022) 191(4):646–54. doi: 10.1093/AJE/KWAC004

44. Petri AL, Tjønneland A, Gamborg M, Johansen D, Høidrup S, Sørensen TIA, et al. Alcohol intake, type of beverage, and risk of breast cancer in pre- and postmenopausal

women. Alcohol Clin Exp Res (2004) 28(7):1084-90. doi: 10.1097/ 01.ALC.0000130812.85638.E1

45. Ángeles-Llerenas A, Ortega-Olvera C, Pérez-Rodríguez E, Esparza-Cano JP, Lazcano-Ponce E, Romieu I, et al. Moderate physical activity and breast cancer risk: the effect of menopausal status. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2010) 21(4):577–86. doi: 10.1007/S10552-009-9487-8

46. Si S, Boyle T, Heyworth J, Glass DC, Saunders C, Fritschi L. Lifetime physical activity and risk of breast cancer in pre-and post-menopausal women. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2015) 152(2):449–62. doi: 10.1007/S10549-015-3489-X

47. Unar-Munguía M, Torres-Mejía G, Colchero MA, González De Cosío T. Breastfeeding mode and risk of breast cancer: A dose-response meta-analysis. J Hum Lact. (2017) 33(2):422–34. doi: 10.1177/0890334416683676

48. Nickels S, Truong T, Hein R, Stevens K, Buck K, Behrens S, et al. Evidence of geneenvironment interactions between common breast cancer susceptibility loci and established environmental risk factors. *PloS Genet* (2013) 9(3). doi: 10.1371/ JOURNAL.PGEN.1003284

49. Rudolph A, Chang-Claude J, Schmidt MK. Gene-environment interaction and risk of breast cancer. *Br J Cancer.* (2016) 114(2):125–33. doi: 10.1038/BJC.2015.439

50. Dierssen-Sotos T, Palazuelos-Calderón C, Jiménez-Moleón JJ, Aragonés N, Altzibar JM, Castaño-Vinyals G, et al. Reproductive risk factors in breast cancer and genetic hormonal pathways: a gene-environment interaction in the MCC-Spain project. *BMC Cancer.* (2018) 18(1). doi: 10.1186/S12885-018-4182-3

51. Olivier M, Bouaoun L, Villar S, Robitaille A, Cahais V, Heguy A, et al. Molecular features of premenopausal breast cancers in Latin American women: Pilot results from the PRECAMA study. *PloS One* (2019) 14(1). doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0210372

52. de Almeida LM, Cortés S, Vilensky M, Valenzuela O, Cortes-Sanabria L, de Souza M, et al. Socioeconomic, clinical, and molecular features of breast cancer influence overall survival of Latin American women. *Front Oncol* (2022) 0:556. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2022.845527

53. Carvalho FM, Bacchi LM, Pincerato KM, Van de Rijn M, Bacchi CE. Geographic differences in the distribution of molecular subtypes of breast cancer in Brazil. *BMC Womens Health* (2014) 14(1). doi: 10.1186/1472-6874-14-102

54. Cazap E, Buzaid AC, Garbino C, de la Garza J, Orlandi FJ, Schwartsmann G, et al. Breast cancer in Latin America: results of the Latin American and Caribbean society of medical Oncology/Breast cancer research foundation expert survey. *Cancer*. (2008) 113(8 Suppl):2359–65. doi: 10.1002/CNCR.23834

55. Homburger JR, Moreno-Estrada A, Gignoux CR, Nelson D, Sanchez E, Ortiz-Tello P, et al. Genomic insights into the ancestry and demographic history of south America. *PloS Genet* (2015) 11(12):e1005602. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005602

56. Adhikari K, Chacón-Duque JC, Mendoza-Revilla J, Fuentes-Guajardo M, Ruiz-Linares A. The genetic diversity of the americas. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet* (2017) 18(1):277–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genom-083115-022331

57. Norris ET, Wang L, Conley AB, Rishishwar L, Mariño-Ramírez L, Valderrama-Aguirre A, et al. Genetic ancestry, admixture and health determinants in Latin America. *BMC Genomics* (2018) 19(S8):861. doi: 10.1186/s12864-018-5195-7

58. Heinz T, Álvarez-Iglesias V, Pardo-Seco J, Taboada-Echalar P, Gómez-Carballa A, Torres-Balanza A, et al. Ancestry analysis reveals a predominant native American component with moderate European admixture in bolivians. *Forensic Sci Int Genet* (2013) 7(5):537-42. doi: 10.1016/j.fsigen.2013.05.012

59. Fejerman L, Stern MC, Ziv E, John EM, Torres-Mejia G, Hines LM, et al. Genetic ancestry modifies the association between genetic risk variants and breast cancer risk among Hispanic and non-Hispanic white women. *Carcinogenesis.* (2013) 34(8):1787–93. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt110

60. Fejerman L, Stern MC, John EM, Torres-Mejía G, Hines LM, Wolff RK, et al. Interaction between common breast cancer susceptibility variants, genetic ancestry, and nongenetic risk factors in Hispanic women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2015) 24 (11):1731-8. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-15-0392

 Fejerman L, Ramirez AG, Nápoles AM, Gomez SL, Stern MC. Cancer epidemiology in Hispanic populations: what have we learned and where do we need to make progress? *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2022) 31(5):932–41. doi: 10.1158/ 1055-9965.EPI-21-1303

 Marker KM, Zavala VA, Vidaurre T, Lott PC, Vásquez JN, Casavilca-Zambrano S, et al. Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2–positive breast cancer is associated with indigenous American ancestry in Latin American women. *Cancer Res* (2020) 80(9):1893– 901. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-3659

63. Zavala VA, Casavilca-Zambrano S, Navarro-Vásquez J, Castañeda CA, Valencia G, Morante; Z, et al. Association between ancestry-specific 6q25 variants and breast cancer subtypes in Peruvian women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2022) 31(8):1602–9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-22-0069

64. Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K, Thomas L, Ferreira MAR, Bender D, et al. PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *Am J Hum Genet* (2007) 81(3):559–75. doi: 10.1086/519795

65. Consortium T 1000 GP, Campbell CL, Scheller C, Horn H, Kidd JM, Doddapaneni H, et al. A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*. (2015) 526(7571):68–74. doi: 10.1038/nature15393

66. Alexander DH, Novembre J, Lange K. Fast model-based estimation of ancestry in unrelated individuals. *Genome Res* (2009) 19:1655-64. doi: 10.1101/gr.094052.109.vidual

67. Team RC. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2018).

68. Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática. Censos nacionales 2017: XII de población, VII de vivienda y III de comunidades indígenas. (2018).

69. Torres-Roman JS, Martinez-Herrera JF, Carioli G, Ybaseta-Medina J, Valcarcel B, Pinto JA, et al. Breast cancer mortality trends in Peruvian women. *BMC Cancer*. (2020) 20 (1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/S12885-020-07671-X/FIGURES/4

70. De-La-Cruz-Ku G, Luyo M, Morante Z, Enriquez D, Möller MG, Chambergo-Michilot D, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer in Peru: 2000 patients and 15 years of experience. *PloS One* (2020) 15(8). doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0237811

71. Machado MPA, Opaleye DC, Pereira TV, Padilla I, Noto AR, Prince M, et al. Alcohol and tobacco consumption concordance and its correlates in older couples in Latin America. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2017) 17(11):1849–57. doi: 10.1111/GGI.12974

72. Champagne BM, Sebrié EM, Schargrodsky H, Pramparo P, Boissonnet C, Wilson E. Tobacco smoking in seven Latin American cities: the CARMELA study. *Tob Control.* (2010) 19(6):457-62. doi: 10.1136/TC.2009.031666

73. Shieh Y, Fejerman L, Lott PC, Marker K, Sawyer SD, Hu D, et al. A polygenic risk score for breast cancer in U.S. latinas and Latin-American women. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2019) 112(6):590–8. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djz174

74. Slattery ML, Lundgreen A, Hines L, Wolff RK, Torres-Mejia G, Baumgartner KN, et al. Energy homeostasis genes and breast cancer risk: The influence of ancestry, body size, and menopausal status, the breast cancer health disparities study. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2015) 39(6):1113–22. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2015.08.012

75. Fejerman L, John EM, Huntsman S, Beckman K, Choudhry S, Perez-Stable E, et al. Genetic ancestry and risk of breast cancer among U.S. latinas. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68 (23):9723–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2039

76. Engmann NJ, Ergas IJ, Yao S, Kwan ML, Roh JM, Ambrosone CB, et al. Genetic ancestry is not associated with breast cancer recurrence or survival in U.S. latina women enrolled in the kaiser permanente pathways study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2017) 26(9):1466–9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-17-0148

77. Sanchez SS, Tachachartvanich P, Stanczyk FZ, Gomez SL, John EM, Smith MT, et al. Estrogenic activity, race/ethnicity, and indigenous American ancestry among San Francisco bay area women. *PloS One* (2019) 14(3). doi: 10.1371/JOURNALPONE.0213809

78. John EM, Sangaramoorthy M, Hines LM, Stern MC, Baumgartner KB, Giuliano AR, et al. Overall and abdominal adiposity and premenopausal breast cancer risk among hispanic women: the breast cancer health disparities study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2015) 24(1):138–47. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1007-T

79. Slattery ML, Lundgreen A, John EM, Torres-Mejia G, Hines L, Giuliano AR, et al. MAPK genes interact with diet and lifestyle factors to alter risk of breast cancer: the breast cancer health disparities study. *Nutr Cancer*. (2015) 67(2):292–304. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2015.990568

80. Vallejos C, Gómez H, Cruz W, Pinto J, Dyer R, Velarde R, et al. Breast cancer classification according to immunohistochemistry markers: Subtypes and association with clinicopathologic variables in a peruvian hospital database. *Clin Breast Cancer*. (2010) 10 (4):294–300. doi: 10.3816/CBC.2010.n.038

81. Macari A, Soberanis-Pina P, Varela-Santoyo E, Valle-Sanchez MA, Leal-Hidalgo JL, Torres-Guillen VM, et al. Prevalence and molecular profile of breast carcinoma using immunohistochemistry markers in Mexican women. *World J Oncol* (2021) 12(4):119–23. doi: 10.14740/WJON1392

82. Gómez R, Ossa CA, Montoya ME, Echeverri C, Ángel G, Ascuntar J, et al. Impact of immunohistochemistry-based molecular subtype on chemosensitivity and survival in Hispanic breast cancer patients following neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Ecancermedicalscience*. (2015) 9. doi: 10.3332/ECANCER.2015.562

83. Romero-Cordoba SL, Salido-Guadarrama I, Rebollar-Vega R, Bautista-Piña V, Dominguez-Reyes C, Tenorio-Torres A, et al. Comprehensive omic characterization of breast cancer in Mexican-Hispanic women. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1). doi: 10.1038/S41467-021-22478-5

84. Serrano-Gomez SJ, Sanabria-Salas MC, Hernández-Suarez G, García O, Silva C, Romero A, et al. High prevalence of luminal b breast cancer intrinsic subtype in Colombian women. *Carcinogenesis.* (2016) 37(7):669–76. doi: 10.1093/CARCIN/BGW043

85. Fernandes GC, Michelli RA, Galvão HC, Paula AE, Pereira R, Andrade CE, et al. Prevalence of *BRCA1/BRCA2* mutations in a Brazilian population sample at-risk for hereditary breast cancer and characterization of its genetic ancestry. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7 (49):80465–81. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12610

86. Fejerman L, Chen GK, Eng C, Huntsman S, Hu D, Williams A, et al. Admixture mapping identifies a locus on 6q25 associated with breast cancer risk in US latinas. *Hum Mol Genet* (2012) 21(8):1907–17. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr617

87. Hoffman J, Fejerman L, Hu D, Huntsman S, Li M, John EM, et al. Identification of novel common breast cancer risk variants at the 6q25 locus among latinas. *Breast Cancer Res* (2019) 21(1):3. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-1085-9

88. Fejerman L, Sanchez SS, Thomas R, Tachachartvanich P, Riby J, Gomez SL, et al. Association of lifestyle and demographic factors with estrogenic and glucocorticogenic activity in Mexican American women. Carcinogenesis. (2016) 37(9):904-11. doi: 10.1093/ CARCIN/BGW074

89. Bonilla C, Bertoni B, Hidalgo PC, Artagaveytia N, Ackermann E, Barreto I, et al. Breast cancer risk and genetic ancestry: a case-control study in Uruguay. *BMC Womens Health* (2015) 15:11. doi: 10.1186/s12905-015-0171-8

90. A century of trends in a dult human height. Elife (2016) 5. doi: 10.7554/ ELIFE. 13410

91. Ruiz-Linares A, Adhikari K, Acuña-Alonzo V, Quinto-Sanchez M, Jaramillo C, Arias W, et al. Admixture in Latin America: Geographic structure, phenotypic diversity and self-perception of ancestry based on 7,342 individuals. *PloS Genet* (2014) 10(9): e1004572. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004572

92. Barrios YV, Sanchez SE, Nicolaidis C, Garcia PJ, Gelaye B, Zhong Q, et al. Childhood abuse and early menarche among Peruvian women. *J Adolesc Health* (2015) 56 (2):197. doi: 10.1016/J.JADOHEALTH.2014.10.002

93. UNICEF. The state of the world's children. (2021).

94. Huayanay-Espinoza CA, Quispe R, Poterico JA, Carrillo-Larco RM, Bazo-Alvarez JC, Miranda JJ. Parity and Overweight/Obesity in Peruvian women. *Prev Chronic Dis* (2017) 14. doi: 10.5888/PCD14.160282

95. Yábar A, Meléndez R, Muñoz S, Deneo H, Freire J, Domínguez V, et al. Effect of ki-67 assessment in the distribution of breast cancer subtypes: Evaluation in a cohort of Latin American patients. *Mol Clin Oncol* (2017) 6(4):503–9. doi: 10.3892/MCO.2017.1185

96. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thürlimann B, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St gallen international expert consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2013. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol* (2013) 24(9):2206–23. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt303

97. Guth AA, Chun Kim J, Schwartz S, Montes J, Snyder RA, Axelrod D, et al. The relationship of race, oncotype DX, and Ki67 in a population highly screened for breast cancer. *Breast J* (2017) 23(2):177–81. doi: 10.1111/TBJ.12781

98. Cai S, Zuo W, Lu X, Gou Z, Zhou Y, Liu P, et al. The prognostic impact of age at diagnosis upon breast cancer of different immunohistochemical subtypes: A surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER) population-based analysis. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1729. doi: 10.3389/FONC.2020.01729

99. Clarke CA, Keegan THM, Yang J, Press DJ, Kurian AW, Patel AH, et al. Agespecific incidence of breast cancer subtypes: understanding the black-white crossover. J Natl Cancer Inst (2012) 104(14):1094–101. doi: 10.1093/JNCI/DJS264

100. Butler EN, Tse CK, Bell ME, Conway K, Olshan AF, Troester MA. Active smoking and risk of luminal and basal-like breast cancer subtypes in the Carolina breast cancer study. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2016) 27(6):775. doi: 10.1007/S10552-016-0754-1

101. Kawai M, Malone KE, Tang MTC, Li CI. Active smoking and the risk of estrogen receptor-positive and triple-negative breast cancer among women ages 20 to 44 years. *Cancer.* (2014) 120(7):1026–34. doi: 10.1002/CNCR.28402

102. Santiago-Torres M, De Dieu Tapsoba J, Kratz M, Lampe JW, Breymeyer KL, Levy L, et al. Genetic ancestry in relation to the metabolic response to a US versus traditional Mexican diet: a randomized crossover feeding trial among women of Mexican descent. *Eur J Clin Nutr* (2017) 71(3):395–401. doi: 10.1038/EJCN.2016.211

103. Ziv E, John EM, Choudhry S, Kho J, Lorizio W, Perez-Stable EJ, et al. Genetic ancestry and risk factors for breast cancer among latinas in the San Francisco bay area. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2006) 15(10):1878–85. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0092

104. Chang-Cabanillas S, Peñafiel-Sam J, Alarcón-Guevara S, Pereyra-Elías R. Social determinants of mammography screening among women aged 50 to 59, Peru 2015. *Health Care Women Int* (2021) 42(1):1–15. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2020.1786093

105. Hernández-Vásquez A, Chacón-Torrico H. Use of mammography in Peruvian women: An analysis of the 2018 demographic and health survey. *Medwave*. (2019) 19(9): e7701. doi: 10.5867/MEDWAVE.2019.09.7701

106. Vidaurre T, Santos C, Gómez H, Sarria G, Amorin E, López M, et al. The implementation of the plan esperanza and response to the imPACT review. *Lancet Oncol* (2017) 18(10):e595–606. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30598-3

107. Research on the menopause in the 1990s. Report of a WHO Scientific Group. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. (1996) 886:1–107.

108. Phipps AI, Ichikawa L, Bowles EJA, Carney PA, Kerlikowske K, Miglioretti DL, et al. Defining menopausal status in epidemiologic studies: A comparison of multiple approaches and their effects on breast cancer rates. *Maturitas*. (2010) 67(1):60–6. doi: 10.1016/J.MATURITAS.2010.04.015

109. Chollet-Hinton L, Anders CK, Tse CK, Bell MB, Yang YC, Carey LA, et al. Breast cancer biologic and etiologic heterogeneity by young age and menopausal status in the Carolina breast cancer study: A case-control study. *Breast Cancer Res* (2016) 18(1):1–10. doi: 10.1186/S13058-016-0736-Y/TABLES/3

Frontiers in Oncology

Advances knowledge of carcinogenesis and tumor progression for better treatment and management

The third most-cited oncology journal, which highlights research in carcinogenesis and tumor progression, bridging the gap between basic research and applications to imrpove diagnosis, therapeutics and management strategies.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



